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FINANCIAL PROBLEMS 0F SMALL BUSINESS

TUESDAY, JUNE 12, 1945

HoUsk oF REPRESENTATIVES,
SerecT COMMITTEE ON SMALL BUSINESS,
Washington, D, C.
The select committee met, pursuant to notice, at 10 a. m., in room
1011, New House Office Building, Hon., Wright Patman (chairman)

presiding.
Pregent: Representatives Patman (chairman), Howell, Jackson,
Hall, and Keogh.

Also present: Dan W. Eastwood, chief investigator; William J.
Deegan, Jr., investigator; and C. . Cambra, investigator, for the
select committee.

The Crarrsran. I would like to insert in the record at this point, the
recommendations of our Committee on Small Business that were made
December 4, 1944, commencing with the recommendations on page 9
of the report, down to the end on page 10.

(The recommendations referred to are as follows:)

RECOMMENDATIONS

I. The Office of Price Administration should immediately appoint an industry
advisory ecommittee to represent the crude-petroleum producers. This committee
should be appointed on a Nation-wide basis and the independent producers shonld
be given representation proportionate with their percentage of national produc-
tion and of number of firms engaged in that business.

1XI. The Office of Price Administration should immediately initiate a study of
the finding, developing, and operating costs of the crude oil producing industry
in accordance with the recommendations listed in the above conclusions.

III. The Office of Price Administration should immediately initiate a study of
the operating costs of the refiners.

IV. The Office of Price Administration should take greater cognizance of the
role of the independent and other producers in the field of exploration and should
include amortization of exploration costs as part of the permissible costs used as
a basis for calculating price ceilings on crude oil

Y. Because of the impracticability, from a marketing standpoint of granting
price increases to individual producers in a given pool at a time when other
producers retain lower ceilings, the Office of Price Administration, upon the con-
clusion of the proposed cost studies, should grant such over-all increases in the
price of crude petroleum on a Nation-wide basis as will permit all producers whose
operations dre conducted in a normal and efficient manner to make a fair profit
on their production operations.

VI. A premium price plan for stripper wells should be maintained if such an
increase in the over-all price is put into effect, in order to prevent abandonment
of those stripper wells whoSe costs still remained too high, and, also, to continue
the flow of their product into essential war and civilian uses.

VII. In order to avoid the necessity of increasing the price of any petroleum
product to the consumer, the Office of Price Administration should grant a sub-
sidy -to marginal cost refiners whose profits might be ddversely affected by any
further increase in the ceiling price of crude petroleum.
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1292 FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS

VIIL. The independent producers, through their duly accredited individual
representatives, should render full cooperation to the Office of Price Administra-
tion in accordance with the rules and regulations of that ageney, in the further-
ance of the above suggested program.

IX. A time limit of 90 days from date should be set as the maximum period
required by the Office of Price Administration to conclude the suggested cost
studies, It is assumed that the industry will continue to show its willingness to
cooperate in these matters of fact finding.

The Crammax. I would also like to insert in the record at this
point a letter from the chairman of the committee dated March 12,
1945, to Mr. QOrville D. Judd, Associate Director of the Fuel Division
of the Office of Price Administration, and Mr. Judd’s reply of March
24, and also another letter to Mr. Judd of March 28, and Mr. Judd’s
reply of April 17, 1945.

(The correspondence referred to is as follows:)

MarcH 12, 1945,
Mr. Orvirrg D. Jopp,
Associate Director, Fuel Division, Office of Price Administration,
Washington, D. C.
Desr Mr. Jupp:
* * * »* * % *

For the information of this Committee on Small Business, I am wondering if
you would be kind enough to supply us the answers to the following questions at
Yyour convenience:

Question 1.—Why does OPA decline to give consideration to replacement
costs of finding and developing crude oil when considering the need for possible
price increases for this product?

Question 2—What provision have you made to permit the crude oil industry
committee or a representative of that committee to lhiave access to the detailed
information about to be collected through your crude oil cost study? Will an
authorized member of that committee be permitted to work with your staff on
the examination, analysis, and interpretation of the detailed cost figures to be
reported to you by the producers? If so, please tell us the exact extent to which
such a representative will be permitted to participate in this work.

If you will supply us with the answers to these two questions, it is possible
that we may be able to assist you in arriving at a more complete understanding
with the other interested parties to this study in an informal manner., We are
very sympathetic with the burden which this proposed survey places on you
and your staff and fee]l that everything possible should be done by all of us to
prevent the industry and its committee from gathering the impression that the
Government is not willing to agree to industry requests on matters of procedure
as far as is reasonably possible.

With kindest regards,

Sincerely yours,
WRIicHT PATMAN, Chairman.

OFFICE OF. PRICE ADMINISTRATION,
Washington, D. C., March 24, 1945.
Hon. WRIGHT PATMAN,
Chairman, Select Committee on Small Business,
House of Representatives, Washington, D. O.

Dear Mg. Patman: I deeply appreciate your letter of March 12, 1845, in which
you indicate your.feeling that this Branch has a difficult task to perform and
your willingness to aid us in solving some of the difficulties.

The survey on both crude production and refining have become quite involved
due to the desires of industry on the one hand to provide information which
indicates the need for price relief and the necessity on our part to see that such
jnformation and the findings therefrom conform to the standards of the Office.

You ask “Why does QPA decline to give consideration to replacement costs
of finding and developing crude oil when considering the need for possible price
increases for this product?’

The answer is that we do give full consideration to finding and developing cost
but that we do not give such consideration on the basis of estimated reserves
found. In other words, we have advised the industiry that all costs should .be
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FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS 1293-

set forth on the proposed questionnaire but that in our determinations we will
not use an estimate reserve figure but will use the actual dollars received by the
industry for production sold during the same period. As you undoubtedly
know, reserve figures are at the best mere estimates. If you will refer to the
reserves as set forth by the American Petroleum Institute and the Petroleum
Administration for War each year you will find that such figures are ultra-
conservative and have resulted in crediting to former years a minimum of 114
billion barrels of crude reserves each year. The conservative basis of industry
reporting is certainly satisfactory for the reasons for which it was devised, but
it is not factual enough for a price-control agency to make far-reaching decisions
involving the price of oil. It is safe to assume on‘the basis of past experience
that the actual reserves found by exploratory efforts in 1944 will not be known
to any great degree of accuracy for a period of at least 5 to 10 years in the tuture.
Therefore, this agency does not feel it can pass judgment on oil prices on such an
inaccurate basis.

The industry has said in effect that they are selling oil today due to the
increased demands of war which it could sell at a later period if such demands
were not present. With oil prices today, higher than they have been in the past
16 years and with the feeling on some parts of the industry that postwar prices
for oil may be less than today’s prices, it is difficult to believe that industry is
selling' the goods “from its shelves” at less than replacement cost. Again the
factors involved are too indeterminate to use as a basis for a price adjustment
during the war emergency. )

We have advised industry that we will take their expenditures as against
their gross return this year and in subsequent years, and if it is found that
their net position is not as good as it was in the base period (1936-39%) we will
grant price increases which will permit that net position to be brought to that
level. We have felt that such a position is in accordance with the mandates of
Congress.

Your second question is: “What provision have you made to permit the crude
oil industry committee or a representative of that committee to have access to
the detailed information about to be collected through your erude oil cost study?
Will an.authorized member of that committee be permitted to work with your
staff on the examination, analysis, and interpretation of the detailed cost figures
to be reported to you by the producers?”

The answer to the first part of your question is that we have consulted
continually with the industry committee as a whole, its subcommittee on the
questionnaire form, and Mr. J. V. Brown, secretary of the committee. We have
kept them advised as to the exact contents of the form, the names and locations
of the industry members to be sampled and the method we intend to employ in
making a finding. We have also advised them we will make no changes in any
of the returns, in making our compilations, without definite information as to
the changes made and the reasons for such changes. :

As to the second part of your question, no member of the committee will be
permitted to work with our staff on the examination, analysis, and interpreta-
tion of the detailed cost figures, although we have agreed to submit to the com-
mittee or any authorized member thereof any totals on any divisions of the
industry and to advise them as to any methods we employ in making our com-
putations. Our reasons for refusing to give individual return to members of the
committee or to permit members of the committee to have access to the forms
during compilation is that such information is regarded to be confidential
and, therefore, we can only supply totals by segments go that the individual’s
identity is concealed. From prior experience on other surveys, it has been
found that certain members of industry will refuse to disclose the type of infor-
mation we desire unless they have been assured that such information will be
keld in strict confidence and used only by this agency in making proper deter-
minations. Y doubt seriously that some members of the committee would permit
their own returns to become the property of the committee as a whole and I
believe, as a whole, the committee is in full sympathy with the stand which we
have taken in this respect.

If your understanding is to the contrary or if you are not thoroughly in
aceord with any of the statements set forth in this letter, I will be most happy
to further elaborate on such statements either by letter or by conference as you
may desire.

Sincerely,
0. D. Juop,
Associate Director, Fuel Division.
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1294 FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS

MarcH 28, 1945.
Mr. O. D. Jupp,
Associate Director, Fuel Division, Office of Price Administration,
Washington, D. C.

DEeAr Mru. Juop: As indicated in my letter of the 26th, I have had an opportunity
to study carefully your letter of March 24 and wish to offer the following com-
ments:

In your letter of March 24 and in answer to a question propounded to you by
me a8 to why your office declined to give consideration to replacement costs of
finding and developing crude o0il when considering the need for possible pricg
increases, you stated: “The answer is that we do give full consideration to finding
and development cost but that we do not give such congideration on the basis of
estimated reserves found.”

It becomes difficult for me fo readily understand this answer and to reconcile
the first part of it with the second. You further say that in your determinations
‘yve will not ure an estimate reserve figure but will use the actual dollars received
by the industry for production sold during the same period.” If by this you
mean that your construction of replacement costs means Onlj, production costs,
then you have not actually given any weight to the increase in finding or explora-
tion cost.

The nature of your answer leads me to believe that I may possibly have im-
properly phrased my first question. What I was particularly interested in was
why effect was not separately given to finding or exploration costs; that is, the
actual cost ot searching for and finding crude oil to replace the oil which is cur-
rently being produced. However, since you have indicated that no separate
consideration was given to either “finding” or “development,” I believe the fol-
lowing remarks will be pertinent in any event.

Ag I understand the effect of your policy as reflected by this statement, you
will consider finding or exploration costs as a part of the total expenditures of
the companies and compare that with the total income for the compuny for the
same period, and if there remains a margin of profit, you consider that prices
need no adjustment. To me thig is ntot the proper approach to the problem. We
all understand that in ordinary times a certain portion of an oil company’s in-
come is required to prodice the oil that has already been discovered. An addi-
tional part of the company’s income ig devoted to exploration and the finding of
new reserves, and a further part to the development of such reserves as may be
found. I have been informed and have reason to believe that in the case of
many independent producers the production costs as of today are approximately
200 percent of the amount they were in 1941. The cost of developing such new
reserves as have been found will vary with the nature and extent of the dis-
coveries but in all cases has materially increased. The total income of the
same companies has increased approximately 10 percent, but such increase is
due almost entirely to an accelerated rate of production, which only means that
these cmnp(mie~ are lignidating their assets at an increasing rate. The amount,
thevefore, that is left for exploration is becoming increasingly less and, if the
same eontinues, will be reduced to nothing. In view of the expressed dealre on
the part of the President, the Petrolemin Administrator for War, and other re-
sponsible officials, that exploration should be conduected with increasiug vigor
cal]ing for the expendifure of larger amounts of money, it is my opinion that a
price policy which does not tend in this direction is unsound.-

I have received a graph prepared by PAW entitied “prlorﬂtoq Drilling, New
Reserves Discovered and Production,” with whiech I am sure you are familiar, but
in case you have not seen it, I am attaching a copy for your information. From
this it will be readily seen that the rate of produection since 1934 to date has
increased in a more or less uniform line. The number of wildcats drilled per
year has likewise increased, but to a greater extent. However, it furtber indi-
cates that since 1936 the dmmveues of new erude-oil reserves have rather rapidly
diminished, with the result that today we are each year producing far more erude
oil than is bemg discovered. From testimony that has been furnished our com-
mittee, I am inclined to believe that such a trend will continue. From the fore-
going, I can only conclude that the cost of finding new reserves is coustantly in-
ereasing in & rather astounding manner, and unless considerable weight is given
to. this fact in your deliberations it does not seem that there will be money avail-

able to the mdependent producer to continue his exploratory work.

I believe some confusion has arisen in connection with this matter by reason
of the fact that a certain group of the oil indusiry, generally referred to as inte-
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FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS 1295

grated companies (those who both refine and produce), have in recent years
shown a considerable inerease in profits, and since these companies are the besg
known and most talked about, it has led to the general impression that all of the
oil industry is now increasing its earnings in a rather substantial way. From
information which I have, T am certain that this is not the case. The profit per
barrel made by the independent producer is now considerably less than it was
at the time the maximum price of crude oil was established. I am sure you are
concerned with the prevention of inflation to the same extent that we all are,
and it is-not our desire to increase the amount which the consumer must pay for
any commodity. However, it is my opinion that if a new ceiling were set for
crude oil, the only result of such action on your part would be to permit an
adjustment as between the independent producer and the integrated companies.
In this connection it seems to me that if you establish new maximum prices for
crude oil, the change, it any, that takes pliace will ba gradual and will take place
only to the extent that the purchasing companies can afford to increase the price
they pay for the crude oil they do not themselves produce. It does not seem to
me that the actual price paid for c¢rude oil would immediately increase in all
cases, but would increase only gradually and as an economic adjustment which
would seek its proper level. I would apprecizte it particularly if you would
consider this point and advise me as to your opinion,

In another part of your letter you say that oil prices today are higher than
ihey have been in 16 years. I was a litile surprised at this since it was my
information that the general price for crude oil existing prior to the creation
of your oflice was established and set as the maximum price at which erude oil
could thereafter be sold. (Of course, I understand that there have becn some
minor adjustments in local areas and that certain subsidies have been paid for
stripper-well production, but I did not believe that these two items togethér
would have been sufficient to raise the general price substantially above that
previously paid. In this connection we should not lose sight of what a barrel
of oil-will buy today with reference to labor as compared to 1941; what a barrel
of 0il will buy today with reference to footage in digging another well; what a
barrel of oil today will buy in material that has to be replaced and purchased for
additional development; what a barrel of oil today will buy as to geological
and geophysical exploration development.

In connection with the subsidy program, I would appreciate it if you would
furnish me information at your conveunience indicating the manner in which
this is distributed; that is, I would like to have a break-down showing the per-
centage of the subsidy that is paid to the major compariies and their subsidiaries,
and the percentage paid to the balance of the indusiry. It may be difficult for
you in some cases to recognize an integrated .compiany’s subsidiary, and to the
extent that you are not sure, you could indicate such payments in a separate
column as distingnished from the balance. - .

You also indicated in your letter that there is a “feeling” on some parts of the
industry that postwar prices for oil may be less than today’s prices. Testimony
before our Small Business Comimittee of the House which stands unchallenged, is
to the effect that many integrated companies have purchased wells in the Bast
Texag field and in other places at a price out of all proportion if based on present-
day allowables and present estimates of reserves as related to present. prices, and
can be justified only on the gronund that the intrinsic value of the oil purchased is
in excess of the actual posted price for such oil. )

*Considerable point is made in your letter of the fact that it is difficult and im-
practical to estimate erude-oil reserves and therefore you refuse to give any weight
to such estimates in fixing crude-oil prices. This seems strange fo me in view of
the faet that PAW considers and accepts the findings of petrolenm engineers as to
reserves for the purpose of allocating production over the Nation. Likevwize the
Securities and Exchange Commission, in permiting sales of seécurities, and banks
in making large loans to oil operators, not only accept these estimates but require
them. Why, then, should not OPA accept these accepted standards and practices?

You have further indicated that the basis used by the industry in-reporting such
reserves was very conservative and for that reason might not be sufficlently
factual. However, let me point out for your purpose in fixing prices all you need
to consider is the relative position of the industry with respect to reserves during
the base period and from that period to the present time. There would seem fo
be no question but that the estimates will at all times be made on the same basis
and therefore furnish a reasonable means of determining the relative position
which you must determine under the act.

Digitized for FRASER
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



1296 FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS

In summary, I have pointed out to you, I believe, the fact that the consideration
that you state you will give to what you eall finding and development costs, in
effect, will result in no weight whatever being given to any increase in replace-
ment costs; and, in the end, might well result in the liquidation of thousands of
independent oil producers, contrary to the Price Control Act and to the desire of
Congress in epacting it, * * ¥

For your information, we are being urged to hold additional public hearings on
this matter of crude-oil-pricing policies and to do this immediately. It is our
preference to avoid doing this at this time if posslble. In the absence of a more
satsfactory explun‘ltmn than the one given in your letter of the 24th, we have ne
other choice in the matter. Please, therefore, give me as prompt a reply to this
letter as you can in the hope that it may serve the purpose of giving us a better
understanding of your reasons for opposing cousideration of replacement costs,
ete.

Sincerely yours,
WriGHT PATMAN, Chairman.

OFFICE OF PRICE ADMINISTRATION,
Washington, D. C., April 17, 1945.
Hon. WRIGHT PATMAN,
House of Representatives, Washington 25, D. C.

Drear Mg, PaTaran: This will acknowledge receipt of your letter of March 28,
1945, in which you request o clarification of my letter of March 24, 1945, * * *

Apparently the following sentence was confusing: “The answer is that we do
give full consideration to finding and developing costs but that we do not give
such consideration on the basis of estimated reserves found.” In this sentence,
I attempted to explain that we allow for all costs and in our recent question-
naire to the trade have made provision for the full reporting of such costs.
However, I note from a review of the correspondence that I failed to make
a definite distinetion between the committee’s proposed use of replacement costs
and our intention to use sustained depletion costs based on the books of the
individual operator,

Industry requests that we use operating cost figures in a manner shown by
their books but that the finding and development costs which their books show
should be disregarded and that we substitute figures calculated on a different
basis. For finding costs we are requested to substitute an estimate of the cost
of finding oil today, and to apply this eost to every barrel of oil being lifted to-
day, regardless of what was actually spent to find this oil. We are requested to
use a similar prineiple with respeet to developmenml costs. To grant this
request of industry and raise the ceiling prices accordingly would introduce
into wartime price control a direct relatiouship between replacement cost and
price which never existed in peacetime. Prices of crude oil were never estab-
lished or changed in direct and immediate relation to increases or decreases in
the replacement cost of oil. In faet, the replacement cost.of oil fluctuates
greatly depending chiefly on the quantity of oil discovered, which quantity
varies materially from year to year. Oil prices advanced as demand increased
relative to supply and not because exploratory costs on the basis of estimated
reserves had increaged.

As you know Congress decided that priees should not be permitted to respond
to war-inflated @emand but that the Office of Price Administration should cob-
trol such prices under standards permitting prices which are generally fair and
equitable, Our standards do not limit industry profit gained through increased
volume of sales but do prevent increases in prices unless industry profits, be-
fore. taxes and after adjustment for increased investment, fall below peacetime
profit levels.

In line with the policy ontlined above, I stated in my former letter that we
would take industry expense as against their gross return and if it is found that
industry’s net-position is not as good as it was in the base period (1936-39) we
wiil grant price increases which will permit the net position of the industry to
be brought to the base period level. The survey now being made should definitely
indicate the industry’s position in this respect.

As indicated in your letter, some operating costs have undoubtedlv increased.
Some of these increased costs have been offset by increased production and tbe
amount of increase, if any, will be ascertained by the survey now in progress. If
the survey indicates that increased costs do exist, and can be absorbed by the
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FINANCIAL FPROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS 1297

producing industry without reducing their profit below base period levels, then
under the standards of this agency no price increase will be warranted. To do
otherwise would be to treat the oil industry ditferently from other industries—
either manufacturing or extractive. To permit inereases in prices by giving effect
to increased labor and material costs, without regard to the ability to absorb
would, of course, result in pure cost-plus prieing which would stimulate the cost-
price inflationary spiral which the stabilization legislation was intended to prevent.

Your suggestion that an increased ceiling price for oil would not in itself oceca-
sion an immediate increase in the price of all oil sold and whatever increase might
be occasioned could be absorbed by the integrated segment of the industry, poses
for us a new consideration in pricing. We have never attempted to redivide
profits between segments of the industry. There have been a few cases where
an increase in the price of erude oil was indieated, and where the absorption of
‘this increase, by the purchasers of such oil, was possible without reducing the
earnings of such purchasers below peacetime levels. Those increcases were granted
because special conditions warranted such inereases and not because this Office
felt that eertain profits aceruing to one segment sliould be redivided so that an-
other segment profited by such a division. As our past actions show, we do not
think that price increases should be permitted simply because they might be
absorbed out of profits at later stages of processing or distribution.

Under generally accepted principles of accounting the amount of profit or loss
of any income-producing enterprise is determined by applying against the income
earned all of the related costs incurred In producing the income. In determining
such related costs the expenditures made for acquisition of assets, to be used in
production, are properly includible only as the assets are consumed in the pro-
duction process.

The information which we have requested in the crude-oil survey now being
conducted will enable us to determine these production costs of the reporting
companies for-the years surveyed. The only possible limitation may be in cases
where operators have not kept their books wholly in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

The charging of capital assets to production, at amounts required to replace
them, be such amounts greater or less than the cost of the asscts consumed, is
contrary to sound accounting procedure. The practice is not tollowed by the oik
industry itself in its corporate accounting or by any other industry of which our
accounting staff has any knowledge. Should you desire to explore this point
further our accounting department would be glad to supply you with authorita-
tive accounting references on the subject. As the United States Supreme Court
said in the Natural Gas Pipeline Cn. case: “There is no constitutional require-
ment that the owner who embarks in a wasting-nsset business of ‘limited life
shall receive at the end more than he has put into it.”

Strictly speaking, an oi} operator does not use the income from production for
exploration, finding, or development work. Such work is financed by the capital
which the owners and creditors have invested in the project. Out of income the
business is reimbursed for the working capital advanced for the payment of
operating expenses and for the fixed eapital consumed in production. By this
procedure the capital is maintained intact and is available for reinvestment in
new producing properties.

As long as the investor sustains no loss——which I understand is not being
claimed by the oil industry—he is certainly not being liquidated in the ordinary
sense of the term. If the owner desires or is required to invest more capital in
the business than he had before, the problem is one of eapifal finaneing. Certainly
the wartime congumer should not be required to provide additional capital funds
for the industry in the price he pays for oil.

It would appear that the best proof of what industry will do with respect to
exploration under present oil prices is a record of wildeat wells drilled during
the past several years, This record definitely indicates increasing activity as
shown by the following figures taken from the American Petroleum Institute
release dated February 22, 1945

Number of wildeat wells drilled

1937 2,224 | 1941 3,264
1938__ 2,638 | 1942 8,223
1938 . *. 2,589 {1943 3,512
1940 3,038 | 1944 3,831
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These figures are the more impressive when adequate consideration is given to
the fact that shortages of manpower and materials made such a record, during
the war years, doubly difficult,

While it'is true that fewer large pools have been discovered in recent years, it
is equally true that the total of estimated reserves discovered each year plus
extensions to known flelds and revisions of previous estimutes have exceeded pro-
duction every year except 1943. 1n that year production exceeded such a total by
18,641,000 barrels.

Estimated total reserves have increased yearly since 1936, with the exception
of 1943, and last year showed an increase of approximately 339,000,000 barrels
over the preceding year, even after abnormal wartime withdrawals. As a result
reserves now total 20,4563,231,000 barrels as compared with total 1941 reserves of
19,589,296,000 barrels.

The composite chart indicates the production each year since 1937 together
with estimated reserves developed, contrasting such data with the information
you supplied.

You indicate there may exist an impression that all segments of the oil industry
have fared as well as the integrated companies during the war years. We have
never faken the condition of integrated companies as a basis for making over-all
industry determinations. In fact, in the survey now in progress, we intend to
separate the returns received into four groups; namely, integrated companies,
large independents, and others. We intend to determine the status of each of
these groups aud, if at all possible, provide for specific relief for any segment
of the oil industry where such relief is indicated. ]

In attempting to work along this general line we placed in effect last year, as
you know, the premium-payment plan, which permitted premiums to pools where
daily production averaged less than 9 barrels per well. Later this plan was
revised to include, upon the submission of necessary cost data, high-cost pools
whose daily production exceeded 9 barrels per well. 1 am sorry that, due to
the manner in which the plan works, we do not have information as to the break-
down of premium payments so as to show the percentage going to major com-
panies and their subsidiaries and the pereentage going to the independent seg-
ment of the indusiry. The plan was so formulated that no direct contact was
maintained between the Govermment and the individual producers and I am
informed by the Defense Supplies Corporation, the Agency which makes payments
to the first purchasers, that they have no records which would indjeate who the
individual producers are in the various pools involved.

As indicated in my former letter certain segments of the industry have grave
doubts as to whether present prices can be maintained in the immediate postwar
years. Individual operators, as well as some officials of the major companies,
have expressed the opinion that a floor under petroleum prices might be much
more important, in the postwar period, than ceiling prices. They have indicated
that their feelings in this respect stem from the fact that the heavy withdrawals
by the armed forces will be comsiderably decreased. Further, automobile use
may be restricted because of rubber conditions or lack of cars and, therefore, the
use of motor gasoline will not be able to replace the drop in military require-
ments. They also feel that the manufacturing of oil-burning equipment will not
keep pace, during the early phases of reconversion, with the ability of the oil in-
dustry to produce.

In connection with the purchases, made by the large companies of producing
properties at high prices, it must be borne in mind that a large refinery without
adequate crude production is in a very vulnerable position and, therefore; the
major companies will pay premium prices for producing properties as a safeguard
for their large investments.

In conclusion, permit me to sfate that we intend to continue to give the oil
industry every consideration to which it is entitled. We believe that every seg-
ment of the industry should be as free from control as is cousistent with the
purposes of the antiinflation program. Such purposes require that standards of
general applicability be establishedand adhered to in dealing with all industries.
The Petroleum Branch must conform to the standards in general use throughout
the Agency. We desire the present survey to permit a factually accurate deter-
mination of the fairness and equity of the prezent maximum prices.

Sincerely yours,
Q. D. Joop,
Associate Direclor, Fuel Division.

The Crarrarax. Mr. Becker.
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STATEMENT OF MERLE BECKER, VICE PRESIDENT, W. C. McBRIDE,
INC., ST. LOUIS, M0., AND MEMBER OF NATIONAL CRUDE OIL
INDUSTRY ADVISORY COMMITTEE OF THE O0PA

Mr, Beoxer. My name is Merle Becker and T am the vice president
of W. C. McBride, Inc., of St. Louis, Mo. Our organization and its
predecessor company have been in the business of finding, developing,
and producing crude oil for the past 35 years. The founder of our
company, William Cullen McBride, operated as an independent for
about 20 years prior to incorporating.

We own royalties and producing o1l and gas leases in 10 States.

I am also chairman of the subcommittes on cost of production of
crude petroleum of the committee on crude oil requirements represent-
ing 37 trade associations of the oil industry. I am also a member of
the National Crude Oil Industry Advisory Committee of the Oflice
of Price Administration.

On September 20 and 21, 1944, representatives of the crude oil
industry appeared before your committee sitting at Austin, Tex., and
told you of their problems. Under date of December- 4, 1044, the
sixth interim report in two parts was issued, one part dealing with
the Unfavorable Effect on Present Price Policies, and the other with
Trend Toward Monopoly in Crude Production.

Your recommendations in this report, insofar as it deals with the
producer, contained. the following:

1. The Oftice of Price Administration should immediately appoint an Industry
Advisory Committee to represent the crude petroleumn producers. This com-
uiittee should be appointed on a Nation-wide basis and the independent producers
should be given representation proportionate with their percentage of national
production and of the nimber of firms engaged in that business.

2. The Office of Price Administration should iminediately initiate a study of
the finding, developing, aund operating costs of the crude-oil-producing industry in
accordance with the recommendations listed in the above conclusions.,

3. The Office of Price Administration should take greater cognizance of the
role of the independent and other producers in the field of exploration and
should include awortization of exploration costs as part of the permissible costs
used as a basis for correlating price ceilings on crude oil.

4. The premium price plan for stripper wells should be maintained if such an
increase in the over-all price is put into effect in order to prevent abandonment
of those stripper wells whose costs still remain too high and also to continue the
flow of their production into essential war and civilian uses.

5. The independent producers, through their duly aceredited independent repre-
sentatives, should render full cooperation to the Office of Price Administration
in accordance with the rules and regulations of that agency in the furtherance of
the above suggested program.

6. A time limit of 90 days from date should be set as the maximum period re-
quired by the Office of Price Administration to conclude the suggested cost studies,
It is assumed that the industry will continue to show its willingness to cooperate
in these matters of fact-finding.

As g result of your recommendations, the National Crude Oil In-
dustry Advisory Committee was appointed on January 3, 1945, and
the independent producers have been given proper representation on
that committee. * A cost study has been initiated, a questionnaire sent
to approximately 700.0il producers arid the dead line of June 1 has been
set for its return to the OPA. More will be said later in the statement
about the No. 3 recommendation. The premium price plan for strip-
per wells has been maintained. The independent producers have ren-
dered full cooperation to the OPA in accordance with your suggestion.
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The-Office of Price Administration, in appointing the members of
the committee to represent the crude petrolenm producers, said: “The
purpose of this committee will be to aid the Office of Price Administra-
tion in determining whether the prices of crude petroleum are generally
fair and equitable.”

The Committee and the Office of Price Administration agreed that
the first step in determining whether or not the price of erude petro-
Jeum is fair and equitable is a survey of crude petroleum costs, how-
ever, there is a basic difference of opinion as to the method of de-
termining costs and aggregate earnings to be used in fixing petroleum
maximum price ceilings. The Office of Price Administration main-
tains that it is limited by law to the use of bookkeeping profit-and-loss
data. The Advisory Committee believes that the replacement costs
must be considered and that the law permits'it. Yt has been impussi-
ble to reconcile these differences of opinion. The replacement cost
theory is a long established accounting practice recognized by prae-
tically all agencies of Government and in practically all industries
generally referred to as the “last in, first out” method of inventory
accounting. Simply stated, this method contemplates the use of the
Jatest inventory costs in arriving at the cost of goods sold.. This
method is recognized by the Bureau of Internal Revenue for certain
cost purposes in determining taxable net incomes. The OPA admits
that they use this method in certain industries where replacement costs
are readily determinable, however, in all its past production cost sur-
veys it has refused to recognize replacement costs in erude petroleum
production, and has now refused to recognize such costs in its proposed
survey which it has commenced at the request of the Small Business
Committee of the House of Representatives.

It has informed the Petroleum Trade Press that “under its power it
«an grant increases in ceiling prices only on a showing a hardship based
on current operating and inventory costs.” -While OPA has agreed to
include in its survey questionnaire provisions “to obtain data on both
historieal costs and present discovery.costs—OPA officials have warned
that they cannot give any consideration to the latter.” The Industry
Advisory Committee is of the opinion that the costs applicable to each
of the three activities, namely finding, developing and producing crude
oil, must be. considered in connection with the volumes of oll with
which they are directly related. The approximate replacement cost
per barrel should be determined separately for each of the three ac-
tivities as outlined below:

1. The total operating costs, including overhead, divided by net pro-
duction, will disclose production costs per barrel.

2, The total costs of oil wells completed each year, divided by the
estimated reserves recoverable from such wells will approximate de-
velopment costs per barrel on a replacement basis.

3. The total of finding costs incurred by the entire industry for each
year divided by the Petroleum Administration for War estimate of
new reserves discovered in the same year will furnish a reasonable
approximation of finding cost per barrel on a replacement basis.

- The sum of the three separate unit costs will give the total cost of
finding, developing, and producing crude oil on a current replacement
basis. \
~ For more than 80 years price has been the principal factor in deter-
mining our petroleum supply. Through the history of the industry-in
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war and in peace these objectives have been accomplished through the
normal economics of the industry. Price has been the primary stim-
ulus to encourage search for petroleum reserves. This is the experi-
ence on which the industry has been built. Some of the price factors
are as follows:

1. ‘The cost of raw material crude oil is basic and the price should be
sufficient to cover not only all costs of operating proven oil properties
but also the cost of exploring for, discovering and developing new
reserves of crude oil to replace the oil currently produced.

2. The price of crude oil affects the ability of stripper wells to con-
tinue in operation and to recover the reserves underlying such proper-
ties without premature abandonments.

3. Price directly affects the extent of exploration work. the number
of new oil-producing areas discovered and the quantity of new proven
reserves made available. The price of crude oil in relation to the price
of salvage material and equipment has a direct influence to abandon
wells. '

4. The price of crude oil, if sufficiently high, will serve as a conserva-
tion measure by encouraging the use of substitute fuels for less essen-
tial purposes.

5. The prices of all other commodities, particularly raw materials,
enter into the cost of oil and some equitable relationship must exist
between oil prices and other prices if adequate quantities of crude oil
are to be made available.

6. The margin above cost should be sufficient to provide for:

(@) Funds for the exploration needed to find adequate new reserves.

() Funds to cover replacement costs.

(¢) A reserve fund for secondary recovery or other conservation
measures. ¥

(d) A fair return on borrowed and invested capital taking into
consideration the extreme hazards involved in searching for and
finding oil.

(¢) To maintain the industry as a healthy, going concern.

It is impossible to tell exactly what it will cost to replace a barrel
of oil during the year of 1945 or in subsequent years, but we do know
that venture money cannot be expected to seek an outlet in a business
as hazardous as searching for oil unless there is a very substantial
margin of profit, much greater than would be necessary in a less
hazardous undertaking. :

It must be recognized that prices based on historical costs will not
provide the necessary incentive for venture money to enter into
exploratory effort. To accomplish that purpose it 1s essential that
prices be.based on replacement costs.

Statistics indicate a definite upward trend in costs to the extent

_that present prices are substantially below the cost of replacement.

At no time since 1926 has a price index of crude oil been on a parity
with the price index of all commodities or the price index of all raw
materials, but it has at all times been subnormal, and since the price
of crude oil was frozen by Governmental action in 1941 the price
index for ‘all commodities and for all raw materials has increased
rapidly. .

A price ceiling on crude petroleum should be such as to permit
crude oil prices to increase at least to the point that they may be
equivalent to the average price index of all raw materials.
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Determination of the price which will be sufficient to bring about
the desired result can only be made when related to quantities of re-
serves discovered. If the finding rate is declining, as it has been for the
past several years, the additional expenditures required to replace the
depleted reserves must be provided out of incieased income. As it
becomes more and more difficult to find new reserves, the price must
be adjusted to the extent required to get the job done. The increas-
ingly poorer discovery record for the past several years is a direct
indication that it is becoming more and more difficult to find new oil
deposits, particularly in regions in which proven trends have been con-
centrated. Because of the long period of depressed prices little of the
bold exploratory effort has been employed in the industry and favor-
able prospects have about played out. Prospects which are now con-
sidered first class would have been classed as second and third class
several years ago. A search has extended to greater drilling depths
in recent years. While appreciable quantities of new reserves will
be found with greater depths within the present limits of drilling,
structures usually are found to be more complex with the increasing
depth.  The cost of exploring and developing increases and the risk
becomes greater so that greater sums of money must be set aside
for probable loss.

The price of crude petrolenm plays an important part in its pro-
duction and discovery. It represents something of much more im-
portance than profit as such. Profit, the amount by which returns
exceed total outlay, is the measure of economic strength added to the
unit. Continuing profit in this sense represents the growing ability
to produce. Lack of continued profit robs industry of this all-im-
portant eapacity. Price is the most important tool of the oil industry.
Without it all other tools become useless.

We have repeatedly called attention to various agencies of the
Government and to congressional committees of the necessity for hav-
ing an increase in the price of crude oil. Invariably these committees
after hearing the facts have recommended an inecrease in the ceiling
pries of crude oil, but these recommendations have fallen upon the
deaf ears of governmental agencies. The following is a résumé of
the times that the oil industry has testified or called attention to
congressional committees and agencies of the necessity for an increase
in the price of crude oil: '

1. July 26, 1941: A memorandum on the price of crude oil was
submitted to the Office of Petroleum Coordinator, now the Petroleum
Administration for War, and to the OPA.

2. November 1941: OPA Administrator Leon Henderson advised
Mr. Buttram, president of the IPAA, that he would not discuss price
with associations.

3. December 2, 1941: Mr. Buttram wrote to Administrator Hender-
son insisting on the right of associations to discuss the price of crude
oil with his oflice.

4. December 16, 1941: Witnesses appeared before the Senate Com-
mittee on Banking and Currency during the hearing on H. R. 5990
which was amended to authorize OPA to confer with associations.

5. July 1942: Subcommittee on Mineral Resources of the Senate
Committee on Public Lands and Surveys held hearings in Wyoming,
New Mexico, and west Texas. Witnesses testified at all the hearings
as to the need for an increase in the price of crude oil. h
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6. October 1942: Subcommittee on Mineral Resources of the Senate
Committee on Public Lands heard witnesses testifying about -the
price of crude oil.

7. October 22, 1942: Chairman Cole, of the Cole committee, wrote
to the President urging a better price for crude oil.

8. November 25, 1942: Witnesses appeared before the petroleum
subcommittee of the House Interstate and Foreign Commerce Com-
mittee now known as the Lea committee and presented data with regard
to supply of petroleum showing a need for price increase.

9. December 4 and 3, 1942: Subcommittee of the Senate, of which
Harry S. Truman was chairman, conducted hearings in Oklahoma
City and heard testimony regarding price of crude oil.

10. January 18-22, 1943: Special committee headed by Senator
Clark of Missouri, conducted hearings on the fuel situation including
oil, in Kansas City and Oklahoma City. Many witnesses appeared
and testified.

11. February 3, 1943: Petroleums Industry War Council recom-
mended to the Petroleum Administrator for War that the ceiling on
crude oil prices be lifted.

12, April 7, 1943 : Petroleum Administrator for War Ickes stated
that he had recommended to OPA that the ceiling price on crude oil
be lifted an unspecified amount.

3. April 13-16, 1943: Select Committee on Small Business, headed
by Wright Patman, and the Petroleum Subcommittee, headed by Clar-
ence Lea, conducted hearings on crude oil situation before which many
independent producers appeared and testified. Emphasis was placed
on need for increase in price. Mr. Ickes also testified that he had rec-
ommended lifting the price ceiling an average of 35 cents per barrel.

14. April 26, 1943: Senator Thomas of Oklahoma introduced a
resolution providing as follows:

That it is the sense of the Senate that the Federal agency havling control of
price ceilings should take immediate action to raise the ceiling price on oil to
such a point as will be instrumental in promoting oil exploration, development,
discovery, and production of sufficient oil to serve the war effort as well as the
necessary domestic needs of our people.

15. May 3, 1943: OPA Administrator Prentiss Brown rejected the
PAW request for an increase in crude oil price ceilings and, recom-
mended a system of subsidies as an alternative.

16. May 10, 1943 : Select Committée on Small Business of the House
of Representatives in their report said:

We recommend that the Federal governmental agencies make effective the
price increase recommended in our preliminaty report (35 cents per barrel) to the
end that immediate capital money be issued the industry to increase production
of crude petroleum.

17. May 12, 1943: Congressman Patman of Texas introduced a res-
olution in the House providing—
that it is the sense of the House of Representatives that the President—and the
Federal agencies having control of price ceilings—should take immediate action
to raise the eeiling price of oil at least an average of 35 cents per barrel.

18. June 7, 1943: Congressman Disney of Oklahoma introduced a
resolution in the House providing for the transfer of powers and fune-
tions formerly conferred on the OPA with reference to crude-oil price
ceilings to PAW and providing that no price ceiling should be fixed
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on crude petrolenm or its products below a price equal to the price
index of all commodities.

19. June 20-27, 1943: Subcommittee of the House Naval Affairsg
Committes with Chairman L. Mendel Rivers, of South Carolina, con-
ducted hearings on the crude oil situation in Illinois, Arkansas, Mis-
sissippi, Texas, and Louisiana. Many witnesses were provided for
these hearings.

20. June 25, 1943 : Senate subcommitee of the Committee on Appro-
priations of which Senator Thomas of Okluhoma is chairman ex-
plored the domestic petroleum situation particularly with reference
to the remaining undiscovered reserves of petroleum in the United
States as well as the current and immediate future supply. Witnesses
appeared before this committee and stressed the need for increased

rice ceilings on crude oil.

21, July 38, 1943: The Special Committee on Petroleum Investiga-
tion of the Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce, of which
Congressman Lea, of California, is chairman, submitted its report to
the House with the following observation:

The importance of price as an ineentive and requisite for needed production can
scarcely be a matter for debate by wen of practical experience.

22. And the committee recommended that PAW be given unified
control over problems of Government as to the production, supply,
and price ceilings of oil and petroleum produets. '

28, July 6, 1943: Chairman Rivers, of the subcommittee of the
House Naval Affairs Committee, reported to the House that the hear-
ings conducted by his committee had developed.

24, August 7, 1943: OPA rejected Petroleum Administrator for
‘War Ickes’ recommendation that crude-oil price ceilings bs increased
an average of 35 cents per barrel.

25. October 4, 1943: Senator Thomas, of Oklahoma, introduced a
bill in the Senate providing for consideration to be given to parity in
fixing or establishing prices for crude petroleum or its products. The
bill also provided that no ceilings on crude petroleum should be less
than 35 cents per barrel above present ceilings.

26. October 6, 1943: More than 100 members of the House of Rep-
‘resentatives met to discuss the oil-supply situation, the consumer in-
‘terest being evidenced by many Congressmen from non-oil-producing
States. They. decided to discuss the price problem with Judge Fred
M. Vinson, Director of the Office of Economic Stabilization, and pro-
ceed by the legislative route if relief was not forthcoming: from the
-executive department, ;

27. October 19,1943 : The Special Committee to Investigate the Fuel
Situation in the Middle West, headed by Senator Clark, of Missouri,
reported “the committee is definitely of the opinion” that every cir-
cumstance justifies an increase in. the price of crude oil. The com-
mittee doubts whether the increase suggested by Petrolenm Adminis-
trator for War Ickes of 35 cents per barrel is sufficient to bring the
necessary added exploration. The committee is more disposed to the
thought that in view of the continued increasing cost prevalent
throughout the entire producing oil fields, a minimum of 50.cents per
barrel increase should be allowed. In fact the committee believes
perhaps a 60 cents increase is necessary.
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-28. October 1943: A subcommittee of the House Naval Affairs Com-
mittee with Congressman Rivers, of South Carolina, as chairman,
after several hearings in Washington and throughout oil-producing
States, reported—

the immeasurable benefits of petroleum fo the war effort, to the civilian popula-
tion of today and to the generations yet unborn cannot be measured in dollars
and cents. We feel therefore that if it is necessary to raise the price of crude
oil and refined products to' get the increase in the cost of finding, developing,
and producing adequate amounts of petroleum, patriotism demands such a
course. We should not take a chance on a matter so vital to the economy of
our Nation.

The committee further stated—

we are of the opinion that the price ceilings on crude oil should be raised to cover
such increased costs immediately and without further delay.

29. October 30, 1943: Fred M. Vinson, Director of the Office of
Economic Stabilization, announced its refusal to permit the proposed
increase in the price of crude oil.

30. December 13, 1943: The House passed the Disney bill, H. R.
2887, requiring OPA to increase price ceilings for crude petroleum
to at least 80 percent of parity. The bill then went to the Senate and
was referred to the Banking and Currency Committee,

31. July 6, 1944 : Judge Fred M. Vinson, Director of the Office of
Economic Stabilization, announced a plan for subsidies to be paid for
-0il from small wells,

32. July 17, 1944: A Special Senate Committee to Investigate the
Fuel Situation in the Middle West met in Kansas City, Mo. A num-
ber of independent producers testified regarding the price of crude oil.

33. September 20-21,1944 : The Select Committee on Small Business,
with Congressman Wright Patman, of Texas, as chairman, conducted
hearings in Austin, Tex. Many oil producers appeared and testified
regarding the need for an increase in the price of crude oil.

34. December 4, 1944: An interim report of the Select Committee
on Small Business asserted that the price policies of OPA are re-
tarding further exploration for new reserves of crude petroleum by
independent producers and that increased exploratory effort is needed
to regain the balance between discovery and use of oil.

Since 1941 these independent producers have found their path strewn with
-obstacles not of their own making. Despite lack of experienced manpower,
inability to secure equipment and all other essential materials in volume and
in’the face of a price policy on the part of the Government which has dis-
couraged rather than encouraged production, this group has maintained a
‘production record which has been one of the outstanding contributions to the
war effort. It is to the everlasting credit of this group that many of their
numbers have operated at an actual loss of profit, but despite that they have
continued to pour into the pipe lines the fuel which is the lifeblood of the war
effort.

35. January 2, 1945: The petroleum subcommittee of the House
Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce submitted its final
report under resolution of the Seventy-eighth Congress:

0il, from the standpoint of its inherent value, is one of the cheapest products
‘that .man can buy. ‘This eommittee has heretofore expressed its approval of
proper prices to give. the producer of crude oll a reasonable price for his
product. We believe that the production of crude is an industry in itself and
that it should be placed on a healthy, self-supporting basis in its own right

and not to be made dependent upon a better income from the refining, trans-
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portation, or distribution phaseg of the oil industry. In any event from the-
standpoint of preserving a healthy industry, prices must provide reasonable
compensation and have a changing relution in proportion to costs. ’

36. January 3, 1945: OPA, in response to a request from the Select
Committee on Small Business, appointed the National Crude Oil
Industry Advisory Committee with 23 members, all of whom were
present at the first meeting in Washington, January 18. This com-
mittee immediately started work on the form of a questionnaire to.
be sent to a sampling list of producers.

37. March 14, 1945: Russell B. Brown appeared before the Bank-
ing and Currency Committee of the Senate on behalf of the members
of the TPAA, seeking relief from an onerous and oppressive crude-
oil price structure. The committee at that time had under considera-
tion extension of the Price Stipulation Act.

38. April 7, 1945: Senator O’Mahoney, of Wyoming, chairman of
the Special Committee Investigating Petroleum Resources, filed a
report with the Senate outlining hearings which the committee would
conduct. No. 8 on that list is the independent company.

39. April 1945: Congressman Boren, of Oklahoma, introduced H..
R. 2940 to fix the price of crude petroleum and its derivatives and fix
a parity formula. This bill is the same as the Disney bill which was
gassed by the House in December 19438, but died in committee in the

enate.

40. May 17, 1945: Senate Special Committee Investigating Petro-
leum Reserves, with Senator O’Mahoney as chairman, started hearings.

The purpose of enuinerating the times that we have told our story
1s to emphasize the number of times that recommendations in Congress
have fallen upon the deaf ears of governmental agencies, and to give:
you a reason for the reluctance on the part of a number of operators
to fill out and file the questionnaire on costs recently sent to them.

The independent oil producer is a man of patience. Impatient men
do not fit into the business of producing oil. There are many sef-
backs and. reverses. The failures and the successes are seldom dis-
tributed evenly ; sometimes the independent oil producer has to swal-
low several failures—dry holes—before he tastes a bite of success.

So it was that the independents were equipped with ability to wait
on the price-control officials. They realized that these officials were-
new and inexperienced, that they first had to learn something about
oil before they could make decisions. The oilmen were prepared to
allow plenty of time, They were also prepared for mistakes. They
asked only that mistakes be corrected when they were pointed out.

But 4 years and 40 hearings, and so forth, from the day.the oilman
settled down to wait, he is beginning to wonder whether patience is a
virtue without limit.

Their attitude is that it will be costly and that without a doubt it
is just another of these quesiionnuires that will never result in an
inerease in the price of crude oil.

The independent companies are not the only ones who are of the
opinion that the price of crude oil should be increased or that the
expenses involved 1n finding, developing, and producing crude oil have
greatly increased. The following are quotations taken from annual
reports of some oil companies to stockholders for 1944. ]

I have following here, Mr. Chairman, a number of quotations taken
from the 1944 reports of major oil companies to their stockholders.
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The Cuastryan. Briefly, what do the quotations indicate?

Mr. Becker. They are telling their stockholders that the cost of
finding oil is increasing, that they are drawing on their reserves dis-
covered a decade ago and they cannot replace those reserves for the
price they are selling them for. They call aitention to the fact that
the price of crude oil is only 3 cents a barrel higher than it was in
1937 while raw materials have advanced 85 percent and labor a similar
amount. That was Humble. The quote from Amerada is relative to
present abnormally high drilling expenditures; Phillips says that the
Federal subsidy won’t do the job; Standard Oil of New Jersey, relative
to current costs of discovery substantially higher. The Texas Co.
repeats what they said a year ago, that a more equitable price is
necessary to stimulate exploratory drilling, and so forth.

The Cuammax. Very well,

Mr. Becger. The Humble Oil & Refining Co. in its report to the
stockholders of April 14, 1945, covering the calendar year of 1944
stated :

Higher costs are being experienced in replacing the large volue of oil which
Humble is producing to meet war demands.

* % * Humble is drawing heavily on its reserves discovered in the preceding
decade in order to provide oil for military purposes to the extent that this oil is
being replaced; it is at higher costs. This should be taken into account when
considering the financial results for the year.

The higher cost of discovering and developing reserves experienced by Humble
in 1944 is part of the general trend for the entire industry. The fact that dis-
coveries ‘'of new o0il are running substantially less than they did during the
previous decade while expenditures for exploration and development are now far
above that level demonstrates clearly that the industry’s replacement cost is
greater than the cost of the oil now being produced. The current favorable
operating results in the industry are due to high rates of production and the suc-
cessful finding spree of the 1930's. The petroleum industry will experience
substantially higher unit costs of petroleum when output declines from the
present abnormal levels and a larger proportion of the fotal ig the high cost
oil tound now and in the future.

The realization on crude oil continued to be limited by price ceilings to an
average of $1.22 per barrel at the well, practically the same as in 1943. The
average price realized by Humble last year was only 3 cents per barrel higher
than in 1¢87. This represents a gain of 2.5 percent in erude-oil prices over the
past § years. In this same period commodity prices generally have advanced 20
percent. Raw materials have advanced 35 percent and the cost of labor has
inereased in gimilar proportion.

The future supply of oil for civilian needs and national security is endan-
gered by * * * the continued restriction of prices to prewar levels. Prices
currently are at the levels that prevailed in 1837 even though the cost of replacing
oil iz now much greater. Present prices do not provide sufficient incentive for
experienced operators to search for and develop new reserves. Exploration work
will have to be expanded even above current levels before new discoveries equal
production, This is not likely to occur unless oil prices are raised. The increase
required to maintain adequate reserves will be greater if added tax burdens
reduce the return to producers. The time to increase prices is now for the rela-
tion of supply and demand in the postwar transition period will make it difficult,
if not impossible, to seeure higher prices. An inerease in the price of crude oil
with corresponding changes in product prices should be authorized promptly to
assist in maintaining adequate petroleum supplies.

_ This company is the principal producing subsidiary of the largest
integrated oil company in the United States, the Standard Oil Co. of
New Jersey. .

Amerada Petroleum Corp., April 9, 1945—* * * present abnormally high
drilling expenditures.
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Phillips Petroleum Co., March 15, 1945 :

Federal subsidy granted August 1, 1944, will provide little, if any, stimulation
to costly exploration efforts of the kind upon which this Nation must rely to-
discover large reserves dnd to sustain present and anticipated rateg of crude
oil withdrawal.

Any petroleum enterprise, therefore, which possesses ample natural resources,
complete integration, technical ability, and effective organization and muanage-
ment, bids well to achieve successful results over an extended period.

Standard Oil Co. (incorporated in New Jersey) :

Current costs of discovery are substantially higher. Replacement of crude
oil now bheing drawn from the ground is of course essential. Continuation of’
high findiug costs, therefore, will make desirable an upward revision of the
price of crude to support the exploration required for extensive new discoveries.

Extensive new discoveries of oil will be needed in the postwar years to provide
the backlog of resources necessary for national security, for efficient operations
and to supply expanded postwar markets.

The Texas Co. and subsidiary companies:

The new oil found in 1944 was only approximately 511,000,000 barrels, or less
than one-third of the withdrawals during the year. A substantial part of this
new 0il was found by deeper drilling in existing fields.

Because of the record demand for petrolemm, some of the more important.opit
fields have been, and continue to be, overproduced, resulting in possible reservoir
damage and the eventual loss of oil nnderground. As the reservoir pressures de-
crease, production costs will increase due to the necessity of puwrping a larger
volume of the ultimate oil to be recovered.

It should be recognized that the industry still continues to draw on the back-
log of oil reserves discovered and developed at a low ecost during the 1930’s, and’
that the reserves so produced are being only partially replaced with new crude
oil reserves discovered and produced at much higher cost. The industry is dis-
posing of its inventory in the ground (crude oil reserves) at prices which do not
stimulate exploratory drilling on the part of the small independent producer, and
are not in keeping with the increased cost of new discoveries.

In view of these conditions, the management repeats its statement made in
the 1943 annual report, and reaffirms the following conclusions:

(1) Unless there is developed an entirely new or improved technigue for lo--
cating deposits of oil, new discoveries will be less frequent and new production
will be more costly than in the past.

(2) It is believed that a more equitable price is necessary to stimulate explora-
tory drilling particalarly on the part of the small producer., The number and
depth of these exploratory wells must, in our opinion, be increased far beyond
that considered normal in the past.

(8) Unless new immportant reserves are discovered in the United States, this.
country must become a substantially larger importer of petroleum in order to
provide for its military, industrial, and civilian requirements.

The price-control authorities, OQPA and OES, are impeding the-
securing of the maximum needed supply of petroleum for war, in-
dustrial, and essential civilian requirements through:

(1) Maintaining erude petroleum price ceilings below a generally
fair and equitable level ;

(2) Discriminating against the erude petroleum producing indus-
try, particularly the independents; . .

(?E Fostering and encouraging monopoly by maintaining a situa-
tion in petroleum prices favorable to a few large companies and
detrimental to thousands of independent oil producers;

(4) Contending that the crude petroleum industry must use 1936-39
a8 1 representative peacetime level as a standard below which current
earnings in that industry must fall before upward revision in price
ceilings could be allowed ; and

Digitized for FRASER
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS 1309

(8) Under price control the Price Administration permitted the
prices of petroleum products to rise in 1941 and prevented crude prices
from rising and then froze crude prices at a depressed level.

The effect of the administration of the Price Control Law is the
liquidation of the independent petroleum producer.

The Cratrman. This point reminds me that T heard a while back
down in Texas that more than 50 percent of the producers in Texas
did not have to pay .an income tax last year. Do you have any
figures along that line?

Mr. Brorer. No, sir; I do not.

- The Cmamyaw. I wonder if that coincides with the information
that you have, or if it could be an exaggerated statement?

Mr. Broker. I am unable to tell that, but I know that there are a
good many that would have no income taxes to pay. That can come
about by a number of reasons, however. They could be doing so
much development work that they would have no taxable income
or their costs could be high enough along with their depletion on
their production that they would have no tazable income. (Con-
tinuing:) (&) The oil we have been producing during the war was
found at a time when finding costs. were below present finding costs
which costs are continuing to increase.

(¢) This o1l found at lower costs is now being exhausted and no
provision is allowed to cover replacement of these reserves to pro-
vide oil required for future sales. ’

(d) The shortage of material and manpower makes difficult and
expensive the operations necessary to maintain supply. Those com-
panies that have large capital from Increased earnings under OPA
regulations are therefore the first to get the available men and ma-
terial. The money normally used for this purpose, being our cash
receipts, remains on our books and is treated as profits. The fact
that we are not spending this money does not dispose of the necessity
of such expenditure; it only postpones the time of such expenditure
and part of the money must now be paid to the Government as taxes.
This means that when these expenditures are required the money for
such will not be available.

The responsibility for the future supply of petroleum in the United
States must now be assumed by the Congress. The Office of Price
Administration has assumed a position directly contrary to further
advancement. The efforts of the Petroleum Administrator for War
seems lost in administrative frustration. No one is now assuming this
Important responsibility.

This Committee of the House on Small Business has the opportunity
of leadership. Most of the oil producers are small businessmen.
You have already sensed our necessities. Your reports have re-
flected an understanding of our problem and the importance of our
calse.

You have attempted to suggest remedies. These remedies have thus
far been ignored. '

. You have suggested a price increase in line with the recommenda- -
tion of the Petroleum Administrator for War. You have suggested
‘that if subsidies were the only remedy that such program should be
simplified and effective, and you have outlined such program on =z
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basis that would work to meet the needs of the producers with much
less administrative effort than is invelved in the present inadequate
program for subsidies on production.

You could now encourage the producers of petroleum if you would
insist on one of the following programs:

1. Uniform price increase on crude petroleum in line with the system
used by the industry in periods of free economy.

2. Uniform price increase for crude petroleum to be paid by pur-
chasers. If there is no other way of supporting this payment, it could
be accomplished in the manner of your seventh recommendation con-
tained on page 9 of the Sixth Interiin Report from the Committee on
Small Business, December 4, 1944 :

In order to avoid the necessity of inereasing the price of any petroleum product
to the consumer, the Office of Price Administration should grant a subsidy to
marginal cost refiners whose profits might be adversely affected by any further
increase in the ceiling price of crude petroleum.

3. Complete withdrawal of price ceilings on crude petroleum, re-
taining product ceilings where proper.

The Csatrayran. Now, Mr. Becker, you state your company has been
in business about 35 years?

Mr. Brcxer. That is right.

The Cramrman. You are vice president of the McBride Co.?

Mr. BecgER. Yes, sir.

The CHarrvaN. Are you engaged solely in exploring for oil as an
independent producer, or do you have refineries?

Mr. Breger. We are strictly a producer.

The CrairMaxN. Just a producer ?

Mr. Broker. No refineries.

The Cramryax. You do not have any distribution?

Mr. Becker. None at all.

The Caairmax. Strictly a producer?

Mr. Broger. Yes, sir.

The Cuamrmax. How many wells did you drill last year?

Mr. Becker: Last year we drilled fifty-some-odd.

The Caamrman. Fifty-some-odd?

Mr. Becker. Yes, sir.

The Cramman. How many 2 years before?

Mr. Brcker. In the seventies,

The Cramraran. In the seventies?

Mr. BeckEer, Yes, sir.

The Cmamyax. Why did you cut down in 1944 as compared with
1942 and 1943%

Mr. Becrer. 'Well, there are a number of reasons for it. Wehad in
1942 and 1943 been drilling a considerable number of wells in Illinois,
and the favorable locations were not as good in 1944 so we did not do
as much drilling in Illinois at that time. We do try to keep our drill-
ing operations in line with our income.

The Cuatraay. How many of these wells were dry out of the 50?

Mr. Becger. I cannot tell you offhand.

The Crrarrsran. What is your usual percentage of dry holes?

Mr. BEckrr. Our usual percentage of dry holes will run around 25
percent. We do not go out and do much wildcatting. '

The Crairaran, If replacement costs were granted, how would that
affect the price of crude? I know you recommend a 35-cent per barrel
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over-all price increase. So did Secretary Ickes. What would be the
replacement cost—I mean the increased price per barrel—to make up
for replacement costs, if it were allowed ?

Mr. Brexer. Well, T am of the opinion, as indicated by my testimony
before your committee in Austin last September, and it has not changed
much since then, I think the price of crude oil should be increased 63
cents per barrel.

The Cratrman. The make-up replacement costs?

Mr. Becker. Yes, sir.

The Cnamman. It would require 63 cents increase to give you re-
placement costs ?

Mr. Becrrr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Easrwoop. That was not made up altogether of replacement
costs, was it?-

Mr. Brorer. Not altogether, but that would give us a proper allow-
ance of profit and replacement costs. _

Mr. Eastwoon. That was broken down in your testimony, as I recall.

The Criamrarax. Did you want to ask any questions, Mr. Hall?

Mr. Haxrr. No, sir.

The Cramraran. Did you want to ask any questions, Mr. Eastwood ¢

Mr. Eastwoon. I would like to ask one question. I gathered from
Mr. Becker’s testimony that our committee had suggested remedies
and that the remedies had thus far been ignored. I think, in fairness
to the OPA, it should be noted that some of our recommendations
have been accepted and acted upon, such as the appointment of the
advisory committee,

The CramraraN. Do you have a witness who will testify as to what
is being done by the advisory committec?

Mr. Easrwoon. Yes: we have two witnesses, one is the counsel, Mr.
Russell Brown, and the other is the secretary, Mr. James V. Brown. I
do not know of the order in which they desire to appear.

Myr. Russell Brown, will you come up now?

The Crarraran. Do you have a prepared statement, Mr. Brown?

Mr. Browx. Yes, sir; I do.

The Crratrmax. Will someone pass them around to the committee
and other interested people?

STATEMENT OF RUSSELL B. BROWN, GENERAL COUNSEL, INDE-
PENDENT PETROLEUM ASSOCIATION OF AMERICA

Mr. Browx. My name is Russell B. Brown. T am general counsel
for the Independent Petroleum Association of America.

I want to thank you for the consideration you have given me in
the many opportunities you have afforded me to appear before this
committee and for the courtesies you have extended and the patience
with which you have received me.

The Crarmrarax. Now, suppose we get you identified for the record a
little more in detail. In addition to your being general counsel for.
the Independent Petroleum Association of America, you are also coun-
sel for the advisory committee? o '

Mr. Hari. By appointment of the association or the OPA?

Mr. Browx. By appointment of the committee. OPA permits an
election and the committee selects its officers, and they then approve
them.
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Mr, HarLr., You were first put on the advisory board, were you?

Mr. Browx. I am not on the advisory board. The advisory board
meets with OPA and selects its officers, chairman, secretary, and coun-
sel, and then that is submitted to the OPA, and unless it is dissap-
proved:

Mr. Hatr. They can take a counsel outside of the advisory com-
mittee?

Mr. Brown. Yes, sir.

Mr. Hari. And you were chosen in that way?

Mr. Browx. Yes, sir.

Mr. Harr. Thank you.

Mr. Brown. Your efforts to assist the producers of crude petroleum

have been encouraging to many in the industry. Your reports follow-
ing the Austin hearings brings out very clearly the unfavorable effect
of present price policies and the trend toward monopoly in crude-oil
production.
. The facts and assumptions which you recited in the sixth interim
report published December 4, 1944, have not, to my knowledge, been
denied or refuted by anyone. The statements made therein are sound.
The findings of your committee at that time describe fully the situation
as it was and that sitnation has grown steadily worse. Your recom-
mendaions that OPA. appoint an industry advisory committee and
the initiation of a study of finding, developing and operating costs of
crude oil was constructive. :

Independent oil producers were encouraged. That hope soon died,
however, and oil producers became discouraged by the numerous an-
nouncements by OPA officials.

As a beginning of my contribution to the hearings today, I would
like to quote from the first quarterly report of the Office of Price
Administration: ,

At the time the defense program was launched the petroleum indusiry was
depressed. Production of crude oil in Illinois had been unrestricted and the excess
supply had resulted in a weakened price structure throughout the midcontinent
area. Under the influence of the defense program the demand for motor fuel
and other petrolenm produets increased at a4 rapid rate and prices began to rise.

That quotation is on page 150 of the report.

Elsewhere in the report the Director of the OPA established the
date of the start of the defense program as May 16, 1940.

The quotation from the report expresses the viewpoint which the
Office of Price Administration has had from beginning to end. In
its opinion, the cure for the depressed situation was in the improve-
ment of the refined products prices. This recovery did take place but
it did not extend to the oil producing division of the industry.

The depression in crude-oil production existed then and it exists
now.

Your committee has shown a deep and continuous interest in this
matter and in the reports issued has found on the basis of the com-
prehensive evidence presented that the contentions of the oil men
whose activities are confined to the producing division have been
sound and reasonable. For the efforts of the committee, these pro-
ducers are grateful. They are grateful also that the committee is
undertaking now to ascertain the reason for the delay in the comple-
tion of the cost study recommended by the committee and for the
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unwillingness of the price officials to recognize certain cost items in
their program of price fixing, which items are matters of standard
industry accounting,

We in the industry are interested in finding out why industry
practices in accounting have been consistently ignored. The statute
itself directs that they be followed. In another statement we shall
set forth specifically our view as to the departure from the statute
which the OPA hasg consistently practiced with regpect to the fixing of
prices of crude oil.

It was our hope at the beginning of price control, even prior to the
enactment of the statute of 1942, that a fair, open-minded examination
of the facts would be undertaken by the Office of Price Administration
-and Civilian Supply, which was created by the President on April
11, 1941. Even prior to that, policies and programs had been in
process of formulation'by the Price Stabilization Division of the
Council of National Defense.

The producers have been given no opportunity by the OPA or its
predecessor agencies to present their case. The production of oil is a
national matter, There is a transmission of cause and effect across
State boundaries, No recognition of this fact has been given to date
under the wartime control of prices; instead, small bits of the pro-
ducing industry have been studied by the price control staff and small
local “adjustments” have been made. Some of these were so small
as to he humorous, as, for example, the one in Wyoming permitting a
5-cent-per-barrel raise on the 4 barrels-per-day production in one field.
I& is unlikely that the 20 cents additional income inspired additional
etfort.

It would not be possible to state the over-all result of the policy pur-
sued to date more clearly than your committee did in its report of De-
cember 4, 1944, when you said:

* % % Although permitfing and admitting an inecrease in the price of gaso-
line to the retail customer of 92 centg per barrel, which has been directly reflected
in the inecreased profits of the majors, the Office of Price Administration has
granted only almost imperceptible increases to the producer of erude oil. These
total approximately 6 cents per barrel as compared with the estimated inecrease
in finding, developing, and production costs of 71.6 eents per barrel.

Within the limits of its consideration of producing costs which
the OPA established long ago, I believe they have been quite pains-
taking. In fact, the meticulous care has accounted for 4 years of time.
In the effort to locate decimal points precisely, large questions have
gone unscen. One is the disappearance from the industry of .many
of the independent producers.” They have been selling out to the
strong companies—to thosé who recovered from the depression re-
ferred to by the first Administrator of OPA by the increase in volume
and price of the products they refined and sold.

Mr. Hawe, Right there, Mr. Brown.” Have you any figures as to
how many independents have gone out of business?

Mr. Browx. It is very difficult to get an exact figure. The figure
that has been variously estimated as probably the most accurate, is the
reflection of those companies engaged exclusively in the producing of
oil as reported by the Treasury Department. That shows 25-percent
decrease in'the number of filing income-tax returns. Now, there have
been various studies made, but it is difficult to get an accurate study.
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I think probably Wichita Falls, Tex., was one of the greatest centers:
of independents in the country, and the boys of that area tell me that
it runs constderably more than 25 percent in that area.

Mi. Hatr. Does that include those who have failed and those who
have sold out to larger companies?

The Wrrxess. That is right. They have not all gone broke and
gone out of business. Many of them have sold out at a fairly good
price. I do not mean to leave that impression. The fact is that we
have lost the people though, and that is the point.

Mr. Harr. Yes,

Mr. Browx (continuing). Twenty-five percent of the oil-producing
corporations disappeared from the income-tax records between 1938
and 1942, according to the Treasury Department. I am sure they
have not been replaced. Many more went since 1942. Their business
obituaries were published in the newspapers of the oil country in the
form of announcements of sale,

One explanation of this, in the many explanations the OPA has
made, was to the effect that crude-oil prices were so satisfactory that
both buyer and seller were indeed to trade with each other. This
assertion, should it be made again, should be placed alongside the
statement made by Dr. Robert E. Wilson, chairman of the board of
the Standard Oil Co. of Indiana, to the stockholders of that company
in the annual meeting, June 1. He was quoted by the Associated
Press as follows:

Insofar as these profits (Standard of Indiana, first guarter of 1943) come-
from crude production, they are to some extent fictitious because we are in
eflect selliug off our shelves goods which cannot be replaced at anything like-
the previous cost.

The OPA justifies ceiling prices on erude oil on the basis that most producing-
companies are showing good earnings, but this overlooks the fact that the cost
of finding new domestic crude reserves has increased three or four fold during
the past decade. !

The Standard Oil Co. of Indiana has been one of the largest buyers.
of prodncing properties from independents since the war began. It
has been protecting its supply of crude oil for its refineries. It was
not stimulated by the present price of crude 0il to pay the prices for-
properties it did. Dr. Wilson’s statement indicates the exact opposite.
It was better business to buy the already discovered and developed
producing properties than to pay the price of finding an equivalent
amount at the greatly increased costs of discovery. The producer
who sold was no better off so far as continuing in the business was con-
cerned. "He was in the position of the man who sells his home and
replaces it with one that costs more. The only way the oil producer
can benefit is to go into another line of business where he ‘can do more
with his money, as so many of them have done.

Society loses when this happens, for the producer who sells out
and quits the business takes with him a knowledge acquired over the
years, through alternating failures and successes in drilling for. oil.
This knowledge is needed. There is a big job aliead of replacing
the reserves so heavily drawn on for this war. They should be re-
placed in the interest of national security and of an assured supply
of oil for restoring and rebuilding our economy. The time is now..
War-induced prosperity is beginning to fade and war-time employ-
ment is being reduced. The transition period is here.
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Your committee is meeting today to weigh judicially the answers
to certain points raised by your chairman in his June 6 announcement
of these hearings. - With that announcement, there was released several
letters which were written by him to Mr. Judd, of the OPA, and the
replies by Mr. Judd. With your permission, 1 should like to devote
the rest of my statement to some comment on this correspondence.

The letter of March 24 from Mr. Judd states that the survey on
both crude production and refining—
have become quite involved due to the degires of the industry on the one hand
to provide information which indicates the need of price relief and the necessity
on our part to sce that such information and the findings therefrom conform
to the standards of our oflice.

Confusion is added by the coupling of production and refining. The
studies recommended by your commitiee were to be separate. Cer-
tainly, they could not be joined nor could a conclusion as to producing
costs be made contingent upon what a refining survey might show.
The commitee on produétion was formed January 15. The one on
refining was organized on April 15. It is.our impression that the
latter committee decided it should await the result of the crude cost
study which is logical, as a refiner’s cost is affected by the price of
crude. The reverse is not tine and there is no warrant for implying
that complexity was added to the study because of the refining cost
survey.

Thg second part of the assertion by Mr. Judd may well be noted
carefully. The whole trouble for 4 years has been due to the inability
of the mndustry to adapt itself to the standards of the OPA. The
statute was and is broad enongh, but the standards and procedures of
the price agency were cast in a narrow and inflexible mold.

In the reply of Mr. Judd, dated March 24, he assigns as a reason
for his unwillingness to believe that the industry is selling its oil
below replacement costs the “feeling” in some parts of the industry
that postwar prices for crude “may” be less than present prices. To
borrow his word, I believe such an intangible factor as that is “inde-
terminate.” The statute directs the QPA to deal in facts and con-
tains no authority for attempting to predict the postwar future,

Tn the saine letter Mr. Judd offers to compare expenditures and gross
returns this year “and in subsequent years” and to further compare
the results with the base period of 1936-39. 'This promises nothing
except further delay. This year is only half gone. TIts results cannot
be known until next January. As for the “SLﬁ)sequent years,” we are
hopeful that the OPA will not have to concern itself with many of
them.

The chairman of this committee replied to Mr.- Judd’s letter of
March 24, and his analysis of the several points asserted by Mr. Judd
might well serve as the reply of those of us who have been so long
engaged in this attempt to present our case to the OPA.

Mr. Judd’s next letter to the chairman, dated April 17, clarified one
point of confusion contained in his former letter. He did say that the
replacement cost figure would not be given weight in the conclusions
reached as the result of the current survey.. That being a principal
point at issue, we now conclude that the OPA’s position has thus been
definitely announced.

In the'second of the two letters from Mr. Judd that were released by
your chairman, Mr. Judd asserts further that “Our standards do not
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limit industry profit gained through increased velume of sales,” and.
so forth. T quote that much merely to say that the majority of the
producers represented by the Independent Petroleum Association of’
America are not in position to escape the operations of the OPA price
policy in that manner because they have no increased volume of sales.
A few of the large companies account for the national increase in pro-
duction since war began. This they have been able to do partly because
they had a large producing capacity that was not being used and partly
because of the purchases of properties from the independents.

Much of this letter is then devoted to a discussion of the theory of
accounting—the sort of thing which has occupied so much time in the
past 4 years. Typical of what we had contended with in the past is
the discussion given by Mr. Judd as to how exploration, finding and’
development work are conducted. He attaches importance to his state-
ment that “such work is financed by the capital which the owners and
creditors have invested in the project.”

In other words, it is deficit financing of the finding and development,
as imagined by Mr. Judd and his associates. There was a brief period
when a considerable number of persons thought that primary capital
alone was important and set out to obtain it by selling stock. Some
of them, I believe, are still in Federal prisons. Disregarding the brief
contribution they made to oil-discovery financing, I believe we may
say that income from oil is the principal factor.

A labored distinction on whether an operator borrowed some money
and then repaid it out of production or did it some other way is to
argue the order of precedence of the chicken and the egg. Had oil
exploration of the past been delayed while such metaphysical discus-
sions were conducted, I fear we should have faced the Axis Nations
with much less provision for supplying oil when and where needed.

I have been unable to find in the two replies which OPA made to
your letters any sound reasoning for the refusal of its price officials to
recognize, first, what is fundamental in pricing any commodity, that
is the return of all proper costs and a fair margin of profit; and,
second, the refusal to abide by the provisions of the Emergency Price
Control Act.

I do not need to go into detail on replacement costs, nor shall I
attempt to discuss question 2 in your letter to the OPA official. The
secretary of the Crude Oil Industry Advisory Committee is here to
speak on the committee’s activities. And I .believe the chairman’s
replies to Mr. Judd’s letters constitute an adequate discussion of the
replacement-cost question. <Another witness is also prepared to
discuss this point,

Many companies, both large and small, are reporting to their stock-
holders the problem facing oil producers today of replacing reserves
which are being rapidly exhausted. The sixth interim report of this
committee contained a number of such quotations. I would like to
quote the statement of Mr. Reese H. Taylor, president of the Union
Oil Co., of California, in his report to shareholders at their annual
meeting April 8, 1945

The difficulty of increasing reserves through new discoveries alone is stressed
by the record of the industry in California last year.  During that period 214
wildeat wells were drilled, but only 15 found any 0il. These 15 were credited
with discovering a reserve of 11,000,000 barrels—less than .4 percent of the oil
withdrawn from the State duripng the year, * * *
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Discouragement develops not from the inability to find new oil but from the
cost of finding it compared wih present-day sales prices. Today the average
barrel of oil sells for $1.02. But by comparison it has been estimated that to
find new reserves of 11,000,00¢ barrels of oil last year the California industry
spent around $14,000,000, or at a rate of slighly over $1.25 per barrel. Betore the
oil ig finally recovered this eost will be still higher, for a great number of develop-
ment wells must be drilled. And drilling and other production costs are so much
greater today than they were before the war., Advanced wages, accentuated by
overtime, as well as increased costs of tools and materials, account for this rise,

While in 1820 it only cost $2,500 to drill an average well in the California
fields—today, because we go much decper, and use such expensive equipwent, it
costs almost 26 times as much.

If oil prices were not largely historical in their origin—and in no way realistic
under today’s operating conditions—adjustieents balancing increased costs would
have been made long ago. Unfortunately, Government pricing authorities cannot
grasp the true situation—or do not wish to recognize present inequities—in spite
of the fact that oil is internationally considered one of war’s foremost munitions.

In view of the high costs of discovering and producing oil, Union has aecquired
proved reserves by direct purchase wherever practical. During 1344 such trans-
actions increased our underground supplies by around 24,600,000 barrels. * * *

However, we can’t rely on such purchases to meet all our requirements. There-
fore, we have expanded exploration and development activities wherever we have
felt there is any possibility of finding oil.

But with fair adjustment of prices, Union Oil and the rest of the industry
could afford to go farther afield in its search for oil. We could also expand
development and research activities to stretch the over-all supply.

OPA in its replies to your committee told you that the industry
requests certain data shown by their books be disregarded and that
OPA substitute figures calculated on a different basis.

OPA in its costs surveys ignores the books and sets up a formula
in determining costs and margin in the production of oil which do not
conform with the provision in section 2 (a) of the Emergency Price
Control Act which provides:

That no such regulation or order shall contain any provision requiring the
determination of costs otherwise than in accordance with established accounting
methods.

It has long been an established accounting method on the part of
most of the producers of crude petroleum to write off intangible drilling-
costs. It has equally as long been an established accounting method
Lo compute depletion in accordance with the right given by Congress—
that is, percentage depletion—yet OPA ignores the mandate on the
amendment inserted last year in the Emergency Price Control Act
cited above. ]

The law was also amended directing the OPA insofar as practicable
in adopting price regulation, to advise and consult with representative
members of the industry which will be affected by such regulations or-
order “and shall give consideration to their recommendations.” Con-
gress repeated this provisions in the act, indicating it considerated the
recommendations of industry advisory committees to OPA should
be given proper consideration. So far, the recommendations of the
National Crude Oil Industry Advisory Committee, of which I am
counsel, with regard to methods of cost finding, have not only been
ignored but the imdustry, the public and your committee has been in-
formed by OPA that it will not consider current replacement costs
in determining whether or not an adjustment is necessary in fixing:
crude petroleum price cetlings.

It is important that OPA be directed to follow the will of Congress.
It should be directed to recognize in determining costs, the established
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methods of accounting in the finding, developing, and production of
crude petroleum. The National Crude Oil Industry Advisory Com-
mittee is qualified to know what is proper in cost finding for price-
fixing purposes in that industry and its recommendations on that
subject should not be ignored.

Replacement costs are essential to any continuing business. If a
business continues to sell its products below the cost of replacement
to that extent the business is being liquidated.

If we are denied replacement costs we ave denied the use of the
long cstablished “last in and first out” method of accounting used
in other industries. This method is recognized by the accounting
profession and by Government agencies as sound. If we are required
to determine our costs otherwise than in accordance with established
accounting methods as provided by law, such as statutory depletion
and intangible write-offs, then what method must we employ ?

This position of refusal to use the accounting system on which the
industry has been built is confusing and attempts to deny the industry
the normal method of establishing a base for fair price.

The Crmamrmaw. I wonder if it would be all right, after we hear
the next witness, to permit anyone connected with the OPA, Mr, Judd,
or anyone selected by him, to interrogate these three gentlemen?
Would you like to have that privilege, Mr. Judd, or not? Would you
like to wait and make your presentation tomorrow ?

Mr. Juop. Yes, that will be all right.

The Crarrmax. All right, suppose we go ahead. Would you like
to ask Mr. Russell Brown any questions? I thought we would finish
with the three witnesses. Don’t you think that would be better?

Mr, Green?

Mr. Green. My name is Paul M. Green, OPA Deputy Administra-
tor for Accounting.

Mr. Brown, I have a list of oil companies submifting reports to
the SEC. Of 92 companies, only 8 followed percentage depletion
methods. All of thase reports were made to the SEC, certified to by
reputable accounting firms, as - being in accordance with accepted aec-
counting practices. It seems to me that that is at variance with your
testimony. Would that be any evidence as to practice on sustained
depletion accounting in the industry?

Mr. Brown. I do not see where that varies. Did you find any
aceounting in any company that does not reflect percentage depletion
on the books?

. Mr. Green. Of 92 companies only 8 used percentage depletion. Of
the 8, 6 were very small companies. Tswo were of a very, very small
small size.

Mr. BrownN. Of course, I do not know what the objectives of SEC
ig.  Maybe Mr. Brown would know. Could you come. over here?
He is an accountant and T am not.

Mr. Green. Fine.

The CuamrmaN. Mr. Brown, if you wish to refer to any of these
questions to someone else, that will be satisfactory.

Mr. RusserL Browx. I am not an accountant, but Mr. James Brown
is.

The Cramuman, Will you identify yourself for the record?
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Mr. Janes Brow~. My name is James V. Brown, secretary of the
National Crude Oil Industry Committee, with offices in Washington,
D.C

Mr. Greex. You are an accotntant, Mr. Brown?

Mr, Janmes Brown. I was with the Treasury Department as an
internal-revenue agent -from 1924 to 1929. I have been an oil ac-
countant from 1929 on-—rather, long before I went to the Treasury
Department. In my work with the Treasury Department T was on
natural-resources cases. Does that give you any indication?

Mr. Green. Yes; I wanted to ask if you agreed with the witness
about the testimony that it was accepted accounting practice in the
oil industry to kecp the records on percentage depletion?

Mr. James Brown. I agree.

Mr. Green. How would you explain it? ,

Mr. James Brown. Referring to your sample of 100 I would say
that would be too small a sample to use in classifying the industry as
a whole.. That 100 is taken from the largest companies in the in-
dustry—those who are equipped with offices having accountants
trained in the technicalities of sustained depletion as well as statutory
depletion. If you go out through the country and examine the books
and records of the thousands of independent producers, small pro-
ducers whose statements do not go to the SEC and whose statements
are not published, and who, perhaps, do not have competent account-
ants, they invariably keep their records on the income depletion basis.
That is the only depletion they know. To get the sustained depletion
you-have got to have engineers. Engineers are costly, and trained
accountants are costly. The average producer of petroleum—and
there are eighteen to twenty thousand of them according to the Tariff
Commission’s standards—the bullk of them, do not keep sustained de-
pletion. They do not even know what the answer 1s on sustained
depletion.

Mr. Green. In other words, the oil companies that have competent
accountants follow sustained depletion?

Mr, James Brown., They figure it both ways. They put on their
public statement the sustained depletion and in their income-tax rec-
crds the majority of them use statutory depletion.

Mr, GreeN. And you still say we do not follow accepted accounting
practice with those companies that have competent accountants and
the leading accounting firms certifying that is In accord ?

Mr. Jamzs Brows. I am talking about the whole industry.

Mr. Greex. Could you produce—well, T think I would be safe in
saying 1. Could you produce 10 companies out of this 26,000 or what-
ever number 1t is that keep their records on replacement cost basis,
where any competent accountant has said that it was in accord with
accepted accounting practice?

‘We wish to follow the best accounting practice we can. "We are
open to conviction. If you can produce out of 26,000 as many as 10
companies, it would be at least a little bit of evidence of the validity
of these charges you are making against us. .Now, I have these com-
panies from the SEC. The May issue of the Journal of Accountancy
sets forth a statement concerning the position I have taken with re-
gard to Mr. Brown’s testimony before the other committee. I am

T4113—45 pt. §——3

Digitized for FRASER
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



1320 FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS

perfectly ‘willing to leave the issue with the American Institute of
Accounfants, probably the highest accounting authority in the land.
‘We welcome any examination of our accounting methods.

Mr. Russkrr, Browwn. If I may make a comment right there, I think
you unconsciously put your finger on our difficulty. You go natu-
rally—and I am not finding fault with that—but in your accounting
studies, you go naturally to the larger companies. They do carry a
sustained depletion accounting constantly because often it is more
desirable, particularly when they are buying properties as they are
now. The ordinary small group of operators—and I think this comes
from a vast experience of going through their accounts—very few of
the small operators ever carry sustained depletion. Now, Mr. James
Brown here was with the Tariff Commission some time examining
books throughout the United States. I do not know what his experi-
ence was on that, but I doubt very much if he found many, except
the integrated companies, who carried the sustained depletion on their
books. I think maybe vou have suggested the very trouble we are
having and that is why we are inviting you to study the smaller point
of view. I think you are probably correct in saying that all of the
integrated companies carry also the sustained depletion.

Mr. Greex. The leading accounting firms in the country certify
this is in accordance with the accepted accounting practice. You say
we do not do it. We submit Haskins & Sells; Price, Waterhouse;
and the 25 biggest accounting firms in the country. You pick them,
and we will stand by their method.

Mr. Russers Browx. Now, the next point you make, if I may com-
ment before Mr, Brown makes a technical answer—that is, as to re-
placement costs. I know of no oceasion in the normal. producer’s
accounting system that would require him to carry a reflection of re-

lacement costs. Yet under 2 fixed economy he must go back and
ring that out and reflect it on the books. ,

Mr. Geren. T have no quarrel with you on what your price should
be, whether you should have replacement costs, but let’s call a spade
a spade, and don’t come in and attack us on not using accepted ac-
counting practice. Now, in the Internal Revenue Act there are sev-
eral provisions in favor of the oil companies. One is percentage
depletion, Another is the provision that you could write off intan-
gible drilling costs, and a third one is that since you have broken your
tie be@ween cost and depletion, the oil companies are permitted to
write In an excessive amount of expenses. In other words, when you
tie depletion to cost then it makes not too mnch difference whether
you take it this year or next year, and probably does not make any
difference to the Internal Revenue. To us it would. When you
breal this tie and swing over to a percentage depletion basis, then it
is certainly to your advantage to throw everything you can in costs
and that is what the oil companies have -done. In addition to that.
there is still a fourth thing. Where you have a provision that per-,
centage depletion could not be more than 50 percent of income it has
been broken down by leases so that you do not have to balance ong
against the other. So you have four pretty important things there
that in my humble opinion are indirect subsidies to the oil indust
I do not care about that. If you are coming to us to attack the ac.
cepted accounting methods, T am here to defend myself or any place
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to defend myself, and I can get support from the highest authority
in the land on accepted accounting practice. Now, if it is something
that has to be done 1t is perfectly all right with me. My responsibility
is only on accounting. Mr. Judd will talk of the pricing angle.
have all the evidence any committee would look into on whether we
do or do not follow aceepted accounting practice. We will welcome
investigation and submit our case to any authority.

Mr. Rosserr, Brown. I do not quite understand the purpose of your
injecting that—that the oil industry has a favored position.

Mr. Green. The purpose was to list four places where you have
indirect subsidies.

Mr. Russect Brown. That is your interpretation.

Mr. Green. Yes; it is my interpretation. It would also be the
interpretation of leading accounting authorities. I have a letter here
with me from the director of research for the American Institute of
Accountants in which he specifically covers replacement costs and
points out the indirect subsidy nature of these things. That is neither
here nor there as far as this case is concerned. All T object to is the
oil industry trying to get the same advantages in the procedures of
OPA under the accepted accounting practice provision. We are forced
by law to follow accepted accounting practice, and before we were
forced by law we certainly did it.

Mr. Russerr Browx. The accounting, though, to which you refer
is tyhe accounting established by Congress after long and careful study,
isn’t it?

Mr. Green. No; I would not say that. It was established by the
Congress as it should have been. It was a deduction method for
income-tax purposes; it was not an accounting method for the pur-
pose of cost determination. I will leave that to any accounting au-
thority you may pick.

Mr. Russerr, Brown. Let’s see.  Of course, you indicate a prejudice
against our position by stating——

Mr. Grer~. Noj;T do not.

Mr. Russern BrowN. I think that is our difficulty, because you indi-
cate that prejudice to begin with. You say we are favored. Of
course, we do not believe that. We think the result of these account.
ing systems are the studies Congress has made and found proper.
They have reviewed them year after year, after year. The special
committee spent months and months studying them back in 1926.

Mr. Green. That is right.

Mr. Russern BrowN. And they came out with this and you come in
and indicate your prejudice by saying we are in a preferred position.

Mr. GreeN. It is all right with me, if Congress gives you the moon,
Mr. Brown. The only thing is that since I am under responsibility
to follow accepted accounting practice, I do not want Congress to give
you the moon under the cloud of accepted accounting practice. I want
the Congress, in support of your request, to lock into our accounting
practice and trace it down and see how far off base we are. We wel-
come any investigation Congress wants to make—any committee that
you set up—wants to make.

Mr. Russein Brown. That is why we thought that we should be
thoroughly frank. I think we have called a spade a spade. If I
have not I meant to call it one and I meant to be fair about it.
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Mr, Grren, That is all T ask. 'The witness right before you. was
talking about operating costs. He said “operating costs and deple-
tion.” There is an admission that depletion is not operating cost.
1 just sat there and listened to his statement. In defining profit, he
sald profit was income less outlay. ‘There agein he included in his
profit percentage depletion. Maybe he did not mean to do that.
Maybe that was an oversight but twice in his testimony inadvertently
he admitted that at least part of percentage depletion was not cost.
An examination of the statement will show it.

Mr. Russerr, Brown. You could help me and probably clarify where
I might misjudge you, if you tell me how the operator who does not
get enough money to go back and get another barrel—how does he
stay in business under your system?

Mr. GreeN. I do not have any system.

Mr. Russern Brown. Well, under the one you are supporting. Can
you explain how the fellow who sells a barrel of oil for $1, and it
cost him $1.25 to get another, how is he going to stay in business?

Mr. Green. There are two ways in business to do that—in other
‘Lusinesses, and I think the oil business would be normal. One is to
wo out and seek additional capital, and the other is to plow back earn-
ings. If I am informed correctly, in the oil industry those earnings
are certainly adequate.

Mr. Russerr. Browxn. You are not corréctly informed.

Mr. Green, I am sorry.

Mr. Russern, BrowN. Now, if he is losing 25 cents a barrel, and he
goes to his bank to get money as you suggested, or to sell stock, what
sort of position does he have when he goes either to the bank or to the
fellow who buys stock and he says, “I am in the business where my
oil is bringing me a dollar a barrel. I am selling my goods over the
shelf but I must get some more. It is going to cost me $1.25 to get
more.” Do you think as an investor you would get enthusiastic
about that?

Mr. GreeN. Let me counter that, Mr. Brown, with another question.
Suppose the replacement cost of cil was less than the oil you now have.
Would you still hold the same position ?

Mr. Russert, BrowN. I do not know. I probably would not even
have this price question up.

Mr. GreeN. Why?

Mr. RusseLr BrownN. I might not need to.

Mr. Green. That is right.

Mr. RusseLL BrowN. But this is a need today. We are talking
about factual things. I appreciate this chance to discuss it with you
because I have not had that answered yet. I am anxious to gef it.
That is, the fellow asks me, “How am I going to stay in business if it
costs me more to replace my stock than I am getting 7

Mr. Green. Technically, that is none of my responsibility. I know
that is no answer to your guestion.

Mr. Russery. BeowN. Noj; that deesnot help me any.
~ Mr. Green. The two methods, though, which I suggested, are the
only ones I know. If the Congress wants to make some special pro-
vision to be more liberal with you, to tell OPA' to be more liberal with
you, I have no objection at all. That is not my problem. But I do
have a very deep concern when you attack us on accepted accounting
practices.
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Mr. Russern Broww. Ido not think itis an attack.

Y am only quoting what you say yourself.

Mr. Greex. Here is a statement by a gentleman by the name of
Forasté:

DEPLETION IN THE OIL INDUSTRY

Practically all oil-producing companies in the United States record cost deple-
tion on their corporate books. The 32 companies which cooperated in the
survey by completing the questionnaire follow this practice. The 36 companies.
listed on the New York Stock Exchange, most of which are listed on the ques-
tionnaire, all record cost depletion.

Mr. Russern Brown. I think that is true.

Mr. Greex. Now, if we are wrong in saying that cost depletion is
accepted accounting practice on the basis of what we can find out about
the oil industry, what we can find out from published accounting
sources, and what we can find out from accounting periodicals, what
we can find out from the four large national accounting associations,.
what we can find out from reports submitted to the SEC, and from
accounting authorities, then I think it is your duty to give us some
information. )

Mr, Havrt. Mr, Green, may I ask a question ?

Mr, GreeN. Yes, sir, .

Mr. Harr. I know nothing about accounting, but from listening
to your testimony now, I would take it that the information that you
have does come from the bigger companies. In other words, you are
speaking about the companies which file reports with SEC.

Mr. Grerx. Most of them are large companies.

Mr, Hanr. You are speaking about the Haskins Sells Co.; Price,
Waterhouse, and 'so forth, and they represent, I think, the larger
companies.

Mr. Green.. That is right.

Mr. Hawo. Have you, at any time, investigated the accounting
system used by these thousands of independents thronghout the
country ?

Mr. Greex. No.

Mr. Harr. In other words, I am not an accountant, but I do not see
how you can appraise this question unless you do know what account-
ing system some of these thousands use, because certainly Price,
Waterhouse in the reports filed with the SEC do not cover the inde-
pendents. I am speaking as a complete amateur, but I think I am
right; don’t you?

Mr. GreeN. Yes.

Mr. Harr. How can youn answer that question, unless you have in-
vestigated it?

Mr, Greex. I'have this statement here, Congressman:

Practically all oil-producing companies in. the United States record cost
depletion on their books.

Mr, Harr. Who made that statement?

_ Mr. Green. This gentleman, Forasté, who made a study of the oil
mdustry in 1943.

Mr. Harr. I think this gets down to a matter of fact, and it would
seem to me it is something easily determined, but T do not believe your
answer 1is the complete answer because you certainly are referring to
the larger companies. I am familiar with Price, Waterhouse; and I
am familiar with Haskins and Sells; and I am familiar with the type
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of companies that filed with the SEC. I do not think that answers
the question, to my mind at least, Mr. Chairman. I would like to
know what the little independent does.

The Caamryvan. Suppose we hear Mr. James Brown.

Do you have your testimony prepared, Mr. Brown ¢

Mr. James Brown. Yes; I have.

The Crarman. Suppose we finish up with him? _

Mr. James Brown. I wonder if T might attempt right here to meet
the Congressman’s question as to what the thousands of independents
do. I did not state in my identification that I was with the Tariff
Commission when they made their cost survey in 1941 and 1942, That
covered 2,500 companies and brought in nearly 15,000 separate returns.
I was second in charge of that survey. I saw those returns. I know
what those men were doing, from those questionnaires. This Mr.
Forasté—his statement I believe covers 32 or 38 companies. Mr,
Forasté is with the Standard Oil Co. of New Jersey, if I remember
correctly. I do not dispute his figures. There is much information
in his report to show that there is conflict in accounting even among
those 32 companies, but the 2,500 returns that came from the Tariff
Commission show that the practice of the majority is to follow
statutory depletion, and write off intangibles.

Mr. Eastwoop. Mr. Chairman, I have just noted in the introduc-
tion that it says it just referred to the 100 large, medium-size, and
small companies, and only referred to 100 companies,

Mr. Havr. It seems to me it would be an easy matter to determine,
Why areue about it?

The Cuamyan. Do you have copies of your testimony available,
My, Brown?

Mr. Janmes BrowN. Yes, sir.

The CramyaxN. You may proceed, Mr. Brown.

STATEMENT OF JAMES V. BROWN, SECRETARY, NATIONAL CRUDE
0IL INDUSTRY ADVISORY COMMITITEE

Mr. Browx. My name is James V. Brown, secretary of the National
Crude Oil Industry Advisory Committee. I was elected to that posi-
tion by the members of the committee at its organizational meeting
January 15, 1945. That does not qualify me as a member, but as
secretary of the committee. I am also secretary of the Crude  Qil
Requirements Committee and its subcommittee, made up of repre-
sentatives of 87 trade associations of the petroleum industry. '

On January 3, 1945, Mr, James F. Brownlee, Acting Administrator
of the Office of Price Administration, appointed a number of repre-
sentatives of the oil industry to membership in the National Crude
Oil Industry Advisory Committee in accordance with section 2 (a)
of the Emergency Price Control Act of 1942, as amended, and in
accordance with the rules prescribed in procedural reculations No.
13. On the same date, the then price executive, Petroleum Branch,
W. Page Keeton, notified the appointees of a meeting to be held in
Washington, January 15, 1945,

Mur. Brownlee in his letter stated:

The purpose of this committee will be fo aid the Office of Price Administration

in determining whether the prices of crude petroleum are geperally fair and
equitable
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He further stated that—

The Office of Price Administration is desirous of cooperating with the Com-
mittee on Small Business and the industry, and to that end is appointing the
necessary committee,

Mr. Keeton in his letter stated the purpose of the first meeting of
the committee among others, was to discuss matters relating to the
problems raised by the Committee on Small Business of the House
of Representatives.

At the meeting held on January 13, all the 23 appointees met with
the officials of OPA here in Washington and carried out the neces-
sary organization procedure in setting up this committee. Mr. Sum-
ner T. Pike, Director of Fuel Division; Mr. O. D. Judd, Associate
Director, Tuel Division; and Mr. W. Page Keeton, price executive,
Petroleum Branch, all of the Office of Price Administration, out-
lined and discussed the standards of the Office of Price Administra-
tion relative to the adjustment of maximum prices on crude oil,
pointing out that it is the policy of that Office in establishing price
ceilings to take into consideration earnings of the industry in a base
period, 1936 to 1939, and compare current earnings of the industry with
such base period and to maintain prices at a level which are gen-
erally fair and equitable. They further stated that in order that such
a determination be made, and to comply with the recommendations
of the Committee on Small Business of the House of Representatives
and a number of crude-oil producers, a survey of the cost of pro-
ducing crude petroleum of a representative list of oil producers in
the United States would be made, and presented a form or ques-
tionnaire for the committee to examine and approve.

The questionnaire followed in general the method used by the
United States Tariff Commission in its cost survey which was made
under the direction of the Office of Price Administraion in 1941 and
1942. The questionnaire did not provide for bringing out the cost
of finding, developing, and producing crude oil on a current replace-
ment basis. ,

A subcommittee was formed to study the proposed form which
OPA submitted. E. P. Potter of the Amarada Pectrolenm Corp. was
appointed chairman of the subcommittee. The other members are
A. C. Rubel. of the Union Oil Co. of California; Carl E. Reistle, Jr.,
of the Humble Oil & Refining Co.; J. P. Coleman, of Wichita Falls,
Tex.; W. B. Emery, of the Ohio Oil Co.: Merle Becker, of W. C.
MeBride, Inc.; Charles Roeser, of Fort Worth, Tex.; were also on
that committee, and myself, as secretary.

During the consideration by the full membership of the commit-
tee of the type of questionnaire to be used in the survey, the Office
of Price Administration was urged to consider a simplified pro-
cedure in’ its proposed survey. The committee recommended that
finding costs be determined by agreement between OPA and the in-
"dustry comunittee, that a flat figure in cents per barrel be used, based
on the experience of the industry, and also the arbitrary figure used
in the hardship premium payment plan; namely, 60 cents per barrel
covering depletion of leasehold cost, depreciation of tangible equip-
ment, amortization of intangible drilling costs and overhead, be
adopted. In addition to the use of these two flat figures, one for
finding cost on a replacement basis and the other at 60 cents now used
In the hardship premium payment plan. there should be a survey
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made of a limited number of oil producers covering operating costs
only, and that proper weighting of such costs and an allowance for
reasonable margin of profit on a national basis should be made, ar-
riving at fair and equitable price ceilings.

Incidentally, that plan is used in the hardship cases, a2 simple ques-
tionnaire, and the committe urged that the same type of questionnaire
be used, and that these other elements are difficult, even in the account-
wmg industry, to determine and be agreed upon across the table. We
failed to get that plan across.

The committee has not received any assurances that OPA. will con-
sider any simplified procedure.

The Subcommittee, after reviewing the OPA questionnaire, reached
the conclusion that the form as proposed was not suitable for assembl-
ing data that could be properly used in approximating the cuvrent
actual cost of finding, developing and producing crude petroleum,
stating that the procedure proposed would disclose historical cost
rather than current actual cost and would indicate current earnings
from producing operations which actually are nonexistent if con-
sidering in relation to current replacement cost. The committee was
definitely of the opinion that the OPA approach to the problem would
be both incorrect and misleading.

The Office of Price Administration and the Industry committee were
unable to resolve their basic differences of opinion as to the method
of determining costs and earnings to be used in fixing petroleum maxi-
mum price ceilings. The Office of Price Administration contends it is
limited to the use of bookkeeping profit and loss data. The committee
believes that replacement costs must be considered and that the law
permits it. The committee found it necessary to compromise on a
questionnaire which the representatives of the OPA and the industry
committee developed so as to furnish both the information desired by
OPA and the industry committee. It was not until April 11, 1945,
that this form was completed and put in the mails by the Office of
Price Administration.

Mr, Harr. When did you start studying this questionaire and begin
the preparation of it? '

Mr. Jases Brown. The subcommittee started on January 15. They
met all week.

Mr. Harn. 19452
- Mr. Jases BrowN. 1945. They met on several occasions in between.
We had a meeting in St. Louis, and an OPA accountant was with us.

Mr. Harxr. Go ahead. .

Mr. JaxEs Broww.. Going back to the time of the appointment of the
members of the Industry Advisory Committee, I was requested by the
Office of Price Administration to submit a list of oil producers who
were considered by the industry to be representative both as to volume
of preduction and geographically. The Tulsa office of the Independ-
ent Petroleum Assoclation of America prepared 3,000 cards giving the
names and addresses of oil producers known to be then in existence.
These cards were arranged by States and producing fields within those
States. I turned tl}eSe cards over to Mr. Judd at the January 15
meeting of the Advisory Committee with QPA. At the same time,
the National Stripper Well Association furnished approximately 1,000
names, Later, at the request of the Office of Price Administration, T
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communicated with varjous local petroleum trade associations
throughout the country, obtaining lists of names of producers then
in existence in their areas.

This information was all supplied to the Office of Price Admin-
istration. OPA made a selection of approximately 700 names which
they submitted to me for approval of the Advisory Committee. The
list was broken down into geographical sections and sent to members
of the Advisory Committee located in these geographic areas. This
was done at the request and authorization of the Office of Price Admin-
istration. It was not my understanding that the approval of the list
was a determination of or guaranty that those names in the list would
file the questionnaire. It was found that there were many names that
were not known to the members of the committee. Also, that there
were a number who were out of business, or had died.. These matters
were reported to the Office of Price Administration for their selection
of substitutes. The committee offered additional names at that time.
The final selection was made by OPA.

Mr. ‘Eastwoop. It was not a matter of mutual agreement, then?

Mr. Janmes Browx. I would say that I did agree to their selection.
Of course, I am not competent to know everybody in the oil business,
The men in the field did not know them all, but where there were some
names unknown, the girl on the staff there that handled that work felt
that they should go out anyway, and I agreed on that procedure.
However, we did not know at the time everybody on that list.

I am not entirely familiar with what method was used by that oftice
in the selection of these names. I did learn, however, that only a
small portion of them were taken from'the cards which were sub-
mitted by me at the January 15 meeting, and that the bulk of the
names were taken from a Petroleum Register which was then several
years old.

That may account for the large number of names later found to be
out of business. .

Since the mailing of the questionnaire, it has developed that there
were still quite 2 number of names on the list of producers now out of
business. It is felt that so much time has elapsed that it would not
be advisable to select additional substitutes. My recollection is that
there are about a huridred names where no one could be located or
the party was dead or we were informed that the person to whom the
questionnaire was mailed was now out of business.

Originally, these questionnaires were to be filed on or before May
1, 1945, The time was later extended to June 1, and recently it has
been further extended to June 30.

The committee wrote to the oil producers receiving the OPA cost
questionnaire on April 11, May 5, May 16, and June 8, urging them to
cooperate with the Office of Price Administration to complete and
file their questionnaire within the time allotted. Various trade asso-
clations have taken other means of urging these people to file through
telephone conversations, correspondence, and what not.

I have received many letters giving various reasons for the inability
to file, among which I get answers of this nature: “I am not a producer
of crude 011”; “ont of business since 1940”; “my records simply do not
reflect this information”; or “my office force is at a minimum for its
every-day requirements. I will not be able to comply with your re-
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quest”; “we have no crude production”; “owing to sickness and lack of
help, we are unable to complete the cost form.”

(S)ther reports were, “Have sold out”—there were many of these.
Another reports that “the person who kept the records and the in-
formation asked for has been in the military services for the past 2
years—there is no one available at present who can supply this in-
formation.” Another regrets that “lack of experienced persctinel and
a multitude of detailed work does not permit its preparation.” An-
other states, “The records are not set up in such a manner as to make
it possible to get an intelligent report.” Another is unable to com-
pute the information desired. Another states that “Partnership was
dissolved in 1939.” Several report that they are very small producers
and do not have any figures or information with which to fill out such
a complicated questionnaire. Another states it would be very dif- .
ficult to go back to 1936 and 1987 for determining operating costs.
Many pleaded that it is impossible to fill out the OPA questionnaire
with any degree of accuracy.

In short, the general difliculty, as expressed by the many letters
which I have received, is the complexity of the form and the lack of
personnel. There is also some doubt expressed by many as to the
sincerity of OPA in making this survey. I wish to say, in fairness
to the OPA there, however, that is not the general opinion of the -
committee. However, it is one of those feelings on the part of many
producers that make it difficult for us to get the questionnaires in.

On May 25, Mr. Judd wrote me as follows:

It appears advisable to establish the minimum return which this agency con-
siders necessary for factual finding. In view of the fact that the sample has
been carefully selected and is pumerically small, the percentage of returns on
which & finding can be made must of necessity be very high.

Mr. Eastwoop. How many did you say there were?

Mr. Janes BrowN. Seven hundred (reading) :
~ If a higher percentage of returns from such sample is not received, then any
finding made will in all probability not disclose a true condition. Because of
these facts, we feel that a percentage return of less than 85 percent of the
selected sample would require careful determination as to swwhether any finding
made could be copsidered conclusive. In any event, a materially small percent-
age return should be regarded as inadequate.

I have transmitted this information to each member of the com-
mittee. Most 6f them have responded and the substance of those re-
sponses Is that such a percentage is too high for this type of survey, -
particularly in view of the fact that a substantial percentage of the
list has already proven to be useless because of those now out of busi-
ness or unable to file. o

Mr, Judd informed me that his mind is not closed on this percentage
but still believes 1t should be high. The committee does not think
that there should be any percentage numerically. The production as
represented by those already filed exceeds in my rough caleulation
more than 60 percent of the total production for the country. By
volume they already have in their hands 60 percent of the production
of the country. ' '

Ordinarily, that would be an adequate sample. However, this re-
quirement of OPA made it appear advisable to extend the study an-
other 30 days. I believe that within that time all those who intend
to file will have done so, and that the returns then in the hands of
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the OPA should be sufficient for them to commence tabulation. The
present position of OPA on the matter of a high percentage of returns
1s one which has not-yet been resolved. _

No agreement has been reached as yet as to the method of analysis
of interpretation of the tabulations which are to be made from these
returns.

The subcommittee in its meeting in St. Louis, February 3, 1945,
drew up certain resolutions regarding this survey which were trans-
mitted to OPA. The Committee requested that its representative
participate in examining the returns filed in connection with the
analysis and interpretation of the data submitted. This bears on the
second question in the letter of your chairman to Mr. Judd wherein
you ask, “What provision have you made to permit the Crude Oil
Industry Commiftee or a representative of that Committee to have
access to the detailed information about to be collected through your
Crude Oil Cost Study?”

OPA has consistently refused to permit a representative of the
Advisory Committee to examine these returns. It has promised the
committee, however, over-all totals taken from the tabulations it pro-
poses to make.

When this study was first contemplated, Mr. Russell Brown and
myself discussed with the price executive, the use of a power of at-
torney to represent oil producers, in accordance with their OPA pro-
cedural regulation No. 13." We were informed at that time that we
would be permitted to examine any returns for which we furnished
a power of attorney. However, when we submitted to Mr. Judd a
draft of a proposed letter from the National Crude Oil Advisory
Committee, to those producers whose names were included in the sur-
vey list submitting a form of power of attorney for execution by those
who desited to do so, Mr. Judd, upon advice of his counsel, stated that
OPA seriously objected, and that it could not legally authorize the
use of such power of attorney. We therefore abandoned the idea.
Our purpose was to have some authorized basis for discussion of indi-
vidual forms with OPA, believing this would make possible the expe-
dition of the study and afford representation to all producers in the
review of these veturns. My experience with thesc returns is that
many small producers omit some items of cost. OPA has not indi-
cated what allowances it will make where these omissions occur.

If OPA had agreed on the use of a simplified questionnaire for
operating expenses only, and indicated a willingness t0 submit the
matter of all other elements of cost for settlement across the table
between OPA: and the Industry Advisory Committee, the delays which
have occurred might have been avoided.

The Committee did recommend such a procedure. There was a
precedent in OPA procedure to warrant that action, and as for find-
mg and development costs on ‘a replacement basis, the committee felt
that there has existed sufficient data for the determining of an arbi-
trary figure upon which OPA and the Industry Advisory Committee
could agree.

The Cratraran. Mr. Hall, do you want to ask any questions?

Mr. Hav. Mr. Brown, would it be possible to have an accepted
method of accounting for small companies which might be different
from an accepted method of acconnting for the bigger companies?

Mr. Janes Browx. It would be, and I find that it is.
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Mr. Harr. Would you say that that could be true, too, Mr. Greent

Mr. Green. In certain ways, yes. For example, small business
under Internal Revenue keeps its accounts on a cash basis. Somewhat
larger businesses usually use an accrual basis, As far as cost deter-
minations are concerned, I would disagree. I would disagree whole-
heartedly with the statement that you determine cost on this specific
item on the basis of percentage depletion which is a percentage of gross.
income and has absolutely no connection whatever with cost.

Now, maybe that begs your question.

Mr. Harr. I was just wondering whether or not it does answer my
question. Have you any knowledge which would indicate that,you
are right when you say that they do not keep their books in that way$

Mr. Greex. Yes, sir,

Mr, Harn. What is your information?

Mr. Greex. We have not examined the books of all these companies,
of course. .

Mr. %‘L‘\LL. Have you examined the books of any of the earlier com-

anjes?
P Mr. Greex. May I call on Mr. Noble here ?

Mr, Harx. Surely.

The Cuamuan. Identify yourself for the record.

Mr. Nosre. L. H. Noble, of the OPA. We have, of course, sent out
this questionnaire to a good many—most of the companies are the
smaller companies. Qur national office accountants have not yet vis-
ited any of those oflices, but in a few instances where they asked for
accounting assistance, we have communicated with our field accounting
offices and asked them to call on those offices and provide what account-
ing agsistance they need. So that they would have seen the accounts
of those particular concerns.

Mr. Hace. What have they found out?

Mr. Noere. They have not replied to us, as such. They have assisted
these companies in preparing the returns, and as far as we know they
have come back, The returns require that the cost be reported on
the basis of sustained depletion. As far as I know we have had no
objections from the companies with respect to that computation. The
reason is, as I understand it, they are required under the income tax
laws to make the computation both ways, on the basis of sustained
depletion and percentage depletion, and even though they do not have
the engineering facilities available as the larger companies do, they
enter into some sort of computation because they are required to take
‘the higher of the twe¢ methods in any given year. '

Mr. Harn, Well, am I right when I'say that apparently OPA isnot
familiar with the cost accounting used by the smaller companies?

Mr. Green. To some extent; yes.

Mr. Harn. Well, what did you mean by “to some extent?”

Am I right or am T wrong?

Mr. Greex. We do not have detailed knowledge as to how the great
mass of small companies keep their records.

Mr. Havr. Mr. Chairman, it seems to me that Mr. Green made a
fair proposition at the beginning of his testimony. He said he would
like to know and he would like to have representatives of the smaller
groups tell him how they keep their books.

Mr. Green. We would welcome that, Mr. Congressman.
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Mr. Harx. It seems to me if we could blend the two colors, green
and brown, maybe we could do that.

Mr. James Brown. I suggest that there is available to the Office
of Price Administration a very detailed study made by the United
‘States Tariff Commission at the expense of the OPA and under their
direction, and those figiires belong to the OPA. There are 15,000 ques-
tionnaires lying over in the Tariff Commission Building, and on those
questionnaires you will find several thousand of them unable to give
sustained depletion. They were unable to give amortization of in-
tangible drilling cost which is required on these forms, and the small
businessman does not keep his records that way. He does not know
the answer and he did not furnish the answer and nobody supplied
it for him.

Mr. Eastwoop. Mr. Chairman, I would like to insert an observation
here. It is my understanding that after we held our hearing on the
-Southern Pine price complaint a year and a half ago, that OPA agreed
in that instance to permit a representative of the producers to examine
detailed cost figures, that man being empowered by a power of attor-
ney, I believe—I am not making that as a blunt statement, but I think
a Mr. Bower, an accountant for the Southern Pine Association, was
permitted to sit with the OPA accountants in examining those, and
I think that should be looked into.

'The Cramyan. Of course, Mr. Judd and Mr. Green had no con-
nection with the lumber industry. _

Mr. Eastwoop. No; but it was somewhat of a related problem.

Mr., Green. ‘We ave very happy, Congressman, to have anyone from
the industry look into the figures that we have, We are under obli-
gation by law to protect the confidential treatment of the data from
the companies. We lean over backward to do that. I can speak
only for the Accounting Department. If any representative of any
industry has authority trom the company, either a letter sent to us
or a letter that he carries with him, we are onlytoo glad to have some-
one sit down and go over the figures with him. Under no other cir-
cumstances would we do that without such authorization, simply be-
(ciause we would be violating the law in the protection of confidential

ata.

Mr, Eastwoon. I understand from the beginning it was the inten-
tion to have Mr. James V. Brown here given that power of attorney
by various small firms, and Mr. Judd, upon advice of counsel, accord-
ing to Mr, Brown’s testimony, said that was not possible,

Mr. Juon. May I comment there?

The CHaRAMAN. Yes. .

Mr. Joop. I am O. D. Judd, Associate Director, Fuel Division,
OPA. Mr. Brown’s statement is essentially correct. I do not be-
lieve there was any legal technicality involved as far as the power
of attorney was concerned.  We suggested to Mr. Brown at the time
he was in, that we did not believe such procedure was advisable nor
necessary. I considered it, personally, and probably that should have
no part in this hearing, as a reflection upon my integrity, and the
promise I made to industry. I promised them definitely that no
figure would be changed, that where any question did come up in-
‘volving change, such change would not be made until the individual
submitting the form had been advised and we will stick right by
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that in every detail. As far as having anyone look at those figures
and work with us, I know of no reason why that would hamper our
operation. I know of no reason why it is necessary, and I think we
will follow the advice of your committee here and what you decide
is the proper procedure in your opinion. We have no objection as
far as we are concerned—that is, where a power of attorney has
been received or necessary permission has been received.

The Cuairyran. We have a very important bill on the floor today.
It will be necessary for us to recess until tomorrow. Can you be
here at 10 o’clocl, Mr. Hall?

Mr. Hawn, Yes, sir.

The Cramrarax. We will resume the hearing then. .

Mr. Eastwoop. I think tomorrow morning, unless the industry
has other additional witness, that we will just have Mr. Judd and
the OPA.

The Cramrarax. That will be all right.

Mr. Hawr, I was going to say I think that all comes down to a
question of fact. The industry says you do not follow the accepted
method of accounting that the smaller companies use. Mr. Green
says you do follow the accepted method of accounting, because, as
evidence to support himself, he gives us information which, to my
mind, only covers the larger companies. Why can’t you sit down
with the two Mr. Browns and agree upon some kind of a survey to
find out what is the accepted method of accounting that the smaller
companiesuse? It seews to me it would be a simple thing to do.

Mr. Jupp. I think that could be done.

Mr. Harr, It would answer all of our questions.

The CramryaN. Suppose between now and tomorrow morning at
10 o'clock you gentlemen get together?

Mr. Harr. Agree upon some plan.

Mr. Jupp. T think it would be well to make a statement as to what
the industry generally uses.

The Cramaay. Just agree upon a plan that you can use.

Mr. Jopp. I think from a factual standpoint, sustained depletion
cel“tan}ly 1s & more basic practice in cost accounting than percentage
depletion would be. ®

The CramyaN. The committee will stand in recess until tomorrow
morning at 10 o’clock.

(Whereupon, at 12 noon, a recess was taken until \
nesday, June 1:’3, 1945.) ’ 10 a. m., Wed-
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WEDNESDAY, JUNE 13, 1945

House or REPRESENTATIVES,
Serect CoyMyrreER ON SMALL BUsiness,
Washington, D. C.

The select committee met, pursuant to notice, at 10 a. m., in room
1011 New House Office Building, Hon. Wright Patman (chairman)
presiding. ‘

Present : Representatives Patman (chairman), and Hall,

Also present: Dan 'W. Bastwood, chief investigator for the select
committes.

The Crramrran. The committee will please be in order.

Mr. Brown, did you finish your testimony yesterday?

Mr. Russern B. Browx. I have finished my testimony.

The Crarrarax. Who is the first witness this morning?

Mr. Eastwoon. Mr. Fell, of the Independent Petroleum Associa-
tion,

STATEMENT OF H. B. FELL, EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT, INDE-
PENDENT PETROLEUM ASSOCIATION OF AMERICA

Mr. Fere. In connection with the cost study being conducted by the
Office of Price Administration, with relation to crude petroleum, as
requested by your committee, questionnaires were sent to some 700
corporations, partnerships, and individuals engaged in finding, de-
veloping, and producing crude petroleum. It has been reported that
the percentage of questionnaires that have been filled out and returned
to the Office of Price Administration has been unsatisfactory, and the
question has developed as to why all or practically all of the producers
who received these questionnaires have not filled them out and sent
them in so that the Office of Price Administration might consolidate
the information and make the total information available to its Crude
Oil Price Advisory Committee, in connection with a determination
as to whether or not the Office of Price Administration will grant an
over-all increasein the price of crude oil. '

From my contacts with producers 1 have secured the impression
that the main reason for many of them not filling out the question-
naires and sending them in, is that effort after effort has been made
unsuccessfully through every known means for a period of approxi-
mately 4 years to secure an increase in the price of crude oil in the
United States without success, and that this has brought about an
attitude of hopelessness and futility with reference to any attempt
to secure relief through the Office of Price Administration.
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This feeling is amplified because of the fact that the Office of Price
Administration, through its Oil Section, has stated definitely that it
will not consider replacement cost in determining whether an increase
in the price of crude oil is justified. .

In addition, representatives of the Office of Price Administration
have made public statements to the effect that they did not believe that
an Increase in the price of crude oil would be justified, thus giving
the impression to many producers that the case was being prejudged.’

Although the Office of Price Administration finally agreed to include
figures in the questionnaire which would make it possible to determine
replacement cost and to make the information available in total figures
to their Industry Advisory Committee, it is recognized that with such
information it would then be necessary, on account of the attitude of
the Office of Price Administration, with reference to replacement cost,
to get legislation enacted by the Congress, directing the Office of Price
Administration to increase the price of crude oil.

In view of the fact that legislation of that type introduced by former
Congressman Wesley E. Disney, of Oklahoma, was defeated in the
last session of Congress, many of the producers believe that it would
be very difficult to get such legislation enacted. In fact, the chain of
events over the past 4 years has been such as to indicate to many that
there is no hope of relief as long.as price control under the Office of
Price Administration exists.

There are some cases where the producer receiving the questionnaire
does not have the information required or asked for in the question-
naire. Several producers receiving questionnaires have stated that
their records back in 1936, 1937, 1938, and 1939 were not complete
enough to furnish the information requested.

It might be well to mention a few more reasons why many oil pro-
ducers do not believe there is any hope for a relief throngh the Office
of Price Administration and, therefore, are failing to fill out and send
in their questionnaires,

In 1941 the Phillips Petroleum Co. increased the price of crunde oil
25 cents per barrel. The Price Administrator requested them to elimi-
nate the mcrease, which they did. Later tliey requested permission to
make the increase effective and filed information in support of their
position,  Their request was refused. This all occurred in the face
of the fact that the Price Administrator in his annual report stated
thdt the prices for crude oil and the products thereof had been frozen-
at exceptionally low levels.

The Independent Petroleum Association of America filed a petition
to the Office of Price Administration for an increase in the price of
crude oil. This was filed in 1941, So far as I know, no hearings were
held on the petition nor was any answer made. :
“-Mr. Henderson, the first Price Administrator, appointed crude oil
price advisory committees in each of the five districts as outlined by
the Petroleum Administrator for War. The personnel of these com-
mittees consisted of the individuals who were members of the district
production committees of the Petroleum Administration for War, with
some additional members. The Office of Price Administration never
requested these committees to meet nor organize nor function actively
in any manner. Finally the district 2 committee, of which I was g
member, requested authority to organize and function.
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The committee was organized and I was selected as chairman, T
endeavored to get the Office of Price Administration to issue instruc-
tions as to what the committee was to do and within what limitations
it should function, and to secure clearance from the Justice Depart-
ment, as had been done by the Petroleum Administration for War with
its committees. I was advised something would be done, but nothing
ever happened:

This cominittee met, sent: copies of its minutes to the Qil Section of
the Office of Price Administration, which were never acknowledged.
A representative of the Oil Section of the Office of Price Administra-
tion attended the first few meetings of the committee, but had no
authority to act for the Office of Price Administration.

Finally, the committee did make some recommendations to the
Office of Price Administration, including a recommendation for an
increase in the price of crude oil, outlining the reasons for the recom-
mendation. The recommendation was not accepted nor acted upon,
to my knowledge, nor was the committee ever requested to meet with
the officials of the Oil Section of the Office of Price Administration
to discuss the matter.

Insofar as I know, the committees in the other districts were never
even organized. Apparently it was not the desire nor wish of the
Office of Price Administration that the committees function.

A study of the cost of producing oil was made by the Tariff Com-
mission under the direction of the Office of Price Administration,
notwithstanding the fact that the Office of Price Administration was
going to make a determination, based on the report of the Tariff Com-
.mission’s study. It would seem that in order to be free from any
possible bias that the study should have been made entirely free from
any direction or control by the Office of Price Administration. A
report by a subcommittee on crude oil of the Cost and Price Adjust-
ment’ Committee of the Petrcleum Industry War Council, early in
1942, showed that an analysis and projection of the cost study con-

- ducted by the Tariff Commission indicated definitely that an increase
in price was justified. This report was made available to the Office
of Price Administration, but no favorable action resulted.

It should also be stressed that an increase in the price of crude oil
has been recommended by the Petroleum Industry War Council, by
the Petroleum Administrator for War, by the Interstate Qil Compact
Commission, by the National Conference of Regulatory Bodies, by
oil and gas associations throughout the Nation, by Governors of oil-
producing States, by oil regulatory bodies, and by congressional com-
mittees who have studied and are familiar with conditions within the
petroleum industry. .

In other words, every agency or organization that has knowledge
of and is thoroughly familiar with production of crude oil has recom-
mended a substantial increase in the price of crude oil, but notwith-
standing the volume of testimony, the recommendations that have
been made, the data and studies that have accompanied these recom-
mendations, the Office of Price Administration has continued to refuse
to grant-an over-all increase in the price of crude oil.

_All of these factors have combined to make the average oil producer
feel that there is no hope for a price increase through the Office of
Price. Administration. He feels he has been discriminated against.

74113—46~—pt. 3—"
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He filled out the questionnaires sent out by the Tariff Commission when
they made their study, but nothing developed as a result of that study,
nor was any consideration given to a thorough analysis of the figures
contained in the Tariff. Commission report which indicated that oil
producers are operating at a loss.

Producers continue to receive forms with requests for quarterly
financial reports, which, if filled out, would not give a true picture of
the present cost of finding, developing, and p1'oﬁucing oil. In addi-
tion to this, similar forms are received for annual reports. The multi-
tude of forms and questionnaires received, added to the other points
mentioned, is an important factor in the question invelved. _

I do not say that the producers are justified in not filling out the
recent questionnaire sent out by the Office of Price Administration to
a selected list. I am definitely of the opinion that they should fil]
them out and send them in, but I am merely stating what I have found
to be and believe to be the reason why many have not done so.

Mr. Joop. We appointed a National Refining Advisory Committee
in accordance with the recommendations of the Small Business Com-
mittee of the House of Representatives. This committee has tendered
to us a report which they have asked that we tender to this committee
for insertion in the record. We have not had time to study the report
nor to make any finding on the various facts set forth. We are tender-
ing it only on the basis that the advisory committee so vequested.

(The report referred to is as follows:)

MEMORANDUM REGARDING REFINING OPERATIONS AND BARNINGS
IN RELATION TO CRUDE OIL PRICES

Prepared by National Industry Refiners’ Advisory Committee, June 6, 1945

This committee has been asked to advise with you on the question of whether
in the event of a general crude oil price increase refined product prices should
also be increased, or whether refining companies’ profits generally are sufficiently
great that they could absorb a erude oil price increase, with some exceptions
which might be handled by subsidies.

These questions, we believe, arise in part as a result of a report on crude oil
production problems made in December 1944 by the Patman Committee on Small
Business, of the House of Representatives, which report, among other things,
recommended that— -

(a) OPA should immediately initiate a study of finding, developing, and

-operating costs of crude oil producing industry by a sampling process, giv-
ing due recognition to integrated and independent operating eonditions.

(&) Because of the impracticability from a marketing standpeint, of grant-
ing price increases to individual producers in a given pool at a time when
other producers retain lower ceilings, OPA, upon the conclusion of the
propozed cnst studies, should grant such over-all increases in the price of
crude oil on a Nation-wide basis as would permit all producers, whose opera-
tions are conducted in a normal and efficient manner, to make a fair profit
on their production operations.

(¢) OPA should grant a subsidy to marginal cost refiners whose profits
might be adversely affected by any further increase in the ceiling price of
crude petrolenm in order to avoid the necessity of incereasing the price of
petroleum products to the consumer.

On December 4, 1844, the Committee on Smail Business of the House of Repre-
sentatives recommended to the Committee of the Whole Honse that the Office
of Price Administration appoint an industry advisory committee to represent
ernde petroleum producers. This commitiee was subsequently appointed to assist
the OPA in matters pertaining to refined product prices.

Careful consideration has been given to these recommendations insofar as the
refining branch of the business is concerned, and this memorandum is directed
in particular toward bringing forth and clarifying these phases.
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OVER-ALL EARNINGS OF INTEGRATED UNITS NOT A FAIR BASIS TO JUDGE REFINERS’ ABILITY
TO ABSORE A CRUDE OIL PRICE INCREASE

The ability of refiners to absorb proposed crude oil price increases and the con-
sequences which would result from any such attempt cannot properly be judged by
the over-all eorporate profits of integrated companies having refinery and other
operations, A study made of all-the refiners operating in this country shows that
a majority of them are small plants, many, if not most of which depend mainly
upon earnings solely from refinery operations. As will be seen from the summary
below, 202 out of a total of 896, or more than 50 pereent of the refineries in the
United States (as listed in the Oil and Gas Journul of March 31, 1945) are of less
than 5,000 barrels daily capacity:

Number of

Crude-oil capacity: refineries
Less than 3,000 barrels daily. _ 145
3,000 to 5,000 barrels daily 56
5,000 to 10,000 barrels dally . 79
10,000 to 20,000 barrels daily 45
20,000 to 50,000 barrels daily : . 46
More than 50,000 barrels daily 25

Total __ 896

While it ig true that a large percentage of refining eapacity is in the hands of
integrated companies, the great majority of refineries in number are of the small
nonintegrated type. There would seem to be every reason, thevefore, why refin-
ing should be considered as an entity in itself.

So far as integrated companies are concerned, the earnings of such companies
reflect many factors—mnonoperating ineome, income from production, refining,
transportation and marketing, plus a large variety of sideline activities, varying
from production and distribution of farm implements and supplies to shipbuild-
ing. The distribution of side-line activities reflects the initiative and resourcetul-
ness of individual management and should not have any bearing on whether or
not that particular organization is making adequate profits to absorb dan increase
in the price of erude oil. Profits from transportation and marketing, especially
where all products are sold under fixed ceiling prices, do not bear on ability to
absorb a crude price increase. Nonoperating income as a part of over-all earn-
ings reflects not only the current policies of management and government, but, to
a large extent, the historical policies followed over a period of vears. Policies
adopted in prior years reflect actions taken during a competitive economy and
bave no bearing on actions taken during an economy of governmentally limited
prices. )

Sales of petroleum products to civilians are made at prices controlled by the
government through the Office of Price Administration. Civilian demand for
principal petroleum products is controlled through rationing. Control of prices
and volume limits profits from this source of sales revenuve to standards judged as
fair and in keeping with national well-being by the Office of Price Administration.

Prices secured from the sale of both ordinary and special petroleum produncts
for use by the armed forces, as well as products sold to manufacturers of materials
for the armed forces, arc all subject to renegotiation. The reasonableness of
profits originating from this source is judged by the margin on the products them-
selves, plus the trend of profits on sales in total. 'This segment of profits has
either already received the stamp of Government approval through renegotiation
or ig still subject to renegotiation.

Returns from transporting on the inland waterways or on the Great Lakes
are subject to ceiling rates approved by the Office of Price Administration. Divi-
dends received from crude oil pipe line operations are limited by the consent
decree of December 23, 1941.

Truly, profits from many phases of integration in the petroleum industry are
now limited or controlled by policies set forth by one department or another of
the Federal Government. To increase the price of crude oil and to adopt the
thesis' that the over-all profits of refining companies are adequate to absorb
the increased cost would be a denial of the fairness that has guided the Office of
Price Administration in fixing price ceilings in the past; and in addition such
an action by the Office of Price Administration would nullify the sctions taken
by other govermental bodies charged with responsibility for determining the
reasonableness of prices and profits in various other operations. .
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One other warning must be called to attention if over-all profits were to be
used as a guide as to ability to absorb an increased cost of crude oil. An unsound
decision on prices of a raw product would drastically affect output long before
.an over-all earnings statement were even available. Either the earnings of an
organization would be seriously threatened or the output of critically needed
petroleum products during a war economy would be seriously affected if action
were based on this standard of judgment without any actual guide of greater
validity being applied. Refinery throughput would be limited to that portion
which remains profitable after taking into consideration price or cost actions
taken by the Office of Price Administration.

SUBSIDIZING REFINERIES PRESENTS IMPOSSIBLE OBSTACLES

The House Committee on Small Business has suggested that the way to bandle
a crude price increase without increasing product prices might be to give a
subsidy to refiners whose profits were inadequate to absorb the increases in price
without difficulty. :

Your committee is unanimous in its belief that a subsidy to refiners would not
be feasible, ) . ’

This opinion is not based upon any of the general ohjections which can be made
to practically all subsidy arrangements—e. g., reduced efficiency, unfair discerimi-
nation, discouragement to individual initiative in favor of reliance on Goverument
support, opportunity for laziness and careless business practices, and many other
abuses. The exigencies of war do not invalidate these general and historic objec-
tions to subsidies but do cause them to be disregarded.

Your attention is called rather to specific factors which, in our opinion, make
any refinery subsidy attempt not only impractical and undesirable, but dangerous
and destructive to the over-all purposes to be achieved. .

Meeting the war requirements for finished petroleum products is regarded as
the primary responsibility of the petroleum industry. Refineries are operating
near capacity and many refining units are being employed even though of older,
less economical design to provide an output meeting the petroleum supply pro-
gram. If .the continued operation of marginal, or submarginal units, were to
be further jeopardized by an increase in the cost of crude oil without an upward
revision of ceiling prices and a subsidy denended upon to keep such units in
operation, certain extreme problems would be presented.

(a) The basis for subsidy payment and the extent of the payment would have
to be predetermined and announced in advance and be such that any refiner could
know in advance exactly what subsidy would ensue frem running & particular
crude, making a specific produet, or operating in a certain way, and the subsidy
would have to be adequate if continued operations at necessary levels were to
be assured—many refiners could not operate for an extended period of time
upon their own resources, depending upon the uncertainties of a Government
audit and the possibility of subsidy payment at some later date to determine
their ultimate profit or loss position. Predeterminaticn of a subsidy for the
operation of a plant as complicated as a refinery, or marginal units of a refinery,
however, is believed to present insurmountable obstacles. .

(b) Marginal operating units that would be -made submarginal by an increase

~ in the cost of crude oil might be an entire refining company with more than one
-plant; or it might be a single plant owned by an independent or by an integrated
cowpany; or might represent a marginal unit installation at a particular refinery.
A considerable amount of refinery-operating equipment in the country today is in
operation only in order to meet the supply program, and must be retained in
operation as long as present finished product requirements continue. It is not
believed that a general snbsidy plan for refiners could be formulated which would
be sufficiently elasti¢ in its application to apply to companies, to individual re-
fineries, and to individual units of articular refineries. Each marginal unit
presents unique characteristics defying generalization.

(c) There is a wide variety of crude oils. A refinery may be a good profit
producer as long as it operited on a given crude from given production sources.
A decline of production of this preferred erude may necessitate processing a sub-
stitute crude which can readily shiff the profit position of the plant to marginal
or submarginal position. It would be impossible to draft a subsidy plan which
would recognize changing characteristics of erude oil streams.

(d) Petroleum refining cost accounting ig characterized by a lack of standard-
ization of procedures. The differences in practice reflect varying efforts to adopt
the cost-accounting procedure suitable for management guide of an industry, char-
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acterized by many problems of a joint cost nature and of other unique conditions
affecting the operations of the multitude of refinery units. How could a subsidy
plan be applied to different refinery units where profit determination is predicated
upont totally different methods of accounting? .

(e) Refinery margins or profits are intluenced both by raw material and op-
erating costs and by variation in the proportions of the various finished products
made, each product having a different ceiling price or value, and its produec-
tion being  defermined in many cases by directives from the Petroleum Ad-
ministration for War. If a subsidy were made applicable to refinery opera-
tions designed to maintain profits on a parity with those seeured in a mormal
competitive sitnation, its application would have to. be sufficiently elastic to
recognize variations in ylelds of finished products. Ways of meeting this
requirement cannot be foreseen when product yields are a function of the type of
crudé processed, the type of equipment, market requirements, Government di-
rectives, and the polices of management,

The above reascns for regarding a subsidy to refiners as impractical are ample,
but there are others of equal importance, such, for example, as the distortions
which a subsidy to refiners would tend to produce. If the subsidy were given
to all refiners whose profits were adversely affected and espeeially if such deter-
mination were made not on the basis of refinery operations, but on the over-all
earnings of the particular company, then unless adequate safeguards were devised
(and we do not believe this to be possible), there would be a direct invitation
to all sorts of costly practices in every phase of the business, including the
highly competitive field of distribution and marketing. Under these conditions
the malignant effects of a subsidy would tend to spread about each subsidized
plant as inflammation encircles a wound.

If sales were made at less than ceiling prices by a subsidized operator, would
the Office of P’rice Administration undertake to determine whether such sub-
ceiling price was reasonably necessary under the existing market conditions (as
it might well be) or whether it .constituted an unwarranted abuse and that
dednction should be made from the subsidy payment?

Would the Office of Price Administration endeavor to determine whether the
full selling, delivery, or other expense incurred was necessary or whether some
special service performed for a good dealer, such as improving a driveway, in-
stalling new or larger tanks, or like services was a legitimate marketing item
Or was an ahuse traceable to a subsidy?

These objections may seem unreal or unimportant fo some academic observers,
but they.will be instantly understood by anyone familiar with the oil industry,
its operations and its economics. The problem of working out a subsidy arrange-
ment that would be workable under the many complicated factors which charac-
terize refinery operations not only presents a hopeless task, but, if attempted,
would introduce sirife and dissention in an indusiry now functioning smoothly
and meeting its war responsibilites. Indeed, the difficulties would grow more
serious, for as the postwar period draws unearer the competitive struggle of
refiners to hold or obtain marketing outlets will intensify. ’

WE DARE NOT LOSE REFINERY PRODUCTION

Refineries in the United States are operating and must continue to operate
at a level which is more than a million barrels per day higher than before the
war. The Committeée on Petroleumn Economics of the PIWC, based on military
and essential civilian demands and supply and transportation facilities, has re-
cently projected crude-oil runs to United States refineries for 1945 at 4.743,000
barrels daily. This compares with actual runs of 3,535,000 barrels daily in
1940. The 1945 projected figure represents the full utilization of practically an.
eracking capacity in the industry and all but a small amount of topping capacity
which is not advantageously located. This maximum refinery production must
be achieved if military and essential civilian needs of the United Nations are to
be supplied ; and even with this high level of refinery operations, it is estimated
that stocks of refined products will be further decreased in 1945, having already
been decreased by approximately 50.000,000 barrels since the beginning. of the
war. The latest PAW forecast as to the situation after VE-day calls for the same
mavximum capaeity operation so long as the war in the Pacific continues.

The increse in runs of over 1,000,000 barrels per day, which bas been necessary
over peacetime operations to meet war. demands, has only been achieved by
refiners running crude oil of progressively increasing cost in relatively high-cost
marginal equipment, and in many cases the high-cost marginal crude being run
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ig of less favorable refining value. If a general increase should occur in ‘the
price of crude oil without a corresponding increase in the price of products, it is
these marginal high-cost erude supplics and marginal high-cost processing units
which would be dropped, resulting in a shut-down of the very operations by
which it has been possible for the United States refining industry to achieve the
inereased runs, without which it would not be possible to meet the heavily in-
creased military demands when at the same timne maintaining supplies for
civilian use.

To illustrate the critical levels at which the industry is having to operate
becanse of greatly iucreased military demands, a S-percent loss in crude runs
would mean a loss in refinery production of about 235,000 barrels per day. Since
military demands must be protecled at all costs, such reduction in refinery pro-
duction would have to be reilected in reduced civilian supply. If the 235,000
barrels per day reduction were reflected in gasoline, it would mean the eliming-
tion of approximately 40 percent of all United States pagsengar-éir gasoline
supply. If reflected against the production of distillate fuels, it would mean the
eliminution of approximately 70 percent of all distillate fuel-oil supplies for
home heating.

In the face of this situation, it is clear that anything that would materially
detract from the full maximum utilization of available United States refining
capacity would lead to extremely serious consequences in the form of break-down
of the essential civilian economy, or failure to meet full military needs.

With the above factors in mind, the question of the effect of a rise in the
price of crude oil on refinery operations can be approached,

BEFINERS’ BMARGIN INADEQUATE TO ABSORB CRUDE PRICE INCREASE

Ample published data exist to establish clearly theé inability of the refiner to
absorb an increased crude oil cost out of marging which are steadily shrinking
because of rising cost of processing products sold at prices frozen as of October
1941, The Bureau of Mines for many years has published monthly data for crude
runs and finished produet production for various refinery areas in the United
States. Platt’s Oilgram and other publications have reported posted prices for
various refined products for many years. In addition, there are published trans-
portation rates for most pipe-line movements and gathering operations, Much
information ‘has also heen obtained with regard to refinery operating costs.

Analysis of such information clearly establishes that many refiners could not
stand any increase in erude-oil prices without an immediate reduction in refinery
operations unless the higher crude costs were ofl'set by correspondingly increased
product prices.

INFORMATION AS 10 CURRENT REFINERY EARNINGS SUBJECT T0 QUALIFICATION FOR
RENEGOTIATION AND WAR CONDITIONS

Current refinery operating figures will not give a real basis for judging the
ability of refiners to absorb a crude-oil price increase in the future. There are
three reasons for this, all relating to the current production of petroleum products
for the armed services or other Government agencies and for sale to war plants,

In the first place, all such sales are subject to renegotiation. Such renegotiation
is not yet finished for the year 1943 and obviously will not be completed for 1944
or for 1945 for a long time in the future. Thus any data secured as to the current
financial results of refineries making products for the armed forces or other
Government agencies or for war plant use would necessarily have to be regarded
as preliminary and subject to adjustment downward on account of future price
renegotiation,

Such- renegotiation is on the basis of permitting profits on the products
involved which will be no more than are reasonable in the Kght of all the facts
and considering the expensive capital ipstallations and other special factors
and risk involved., Since this is the case, there would seem to be no basis for
assuming that after such renegotiation there would be any profits left arising
from sycehsales that refiners could properly be asked to devote to the abszorption of
a crude-oil price increase. For many, if not the majority of refiners, the sales
which are subject to renegotiation constitute a very substantial proportion of the
tutal sales, and hence this fuctor is one which cannot be overlooked or passed over
as being of little importance in considering the results of information: from
refiners as to their current operations before renegotiation.
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In the second place, information regarding current operations involving large-
scale manufacture of products for the war effort will fail to give any indication
of the more normal operating situations which refiners will be facing when the
war is over, both as to the volume of operation and the type of products being
made. As has already been pointed out, it is génerally expected that refinery
runs will decline by 15 or 20 percent as soon as the war is over; and this in itself
will create an entirely different situation since veolume is a very important element
in per-barrel refining costs, and such costs per barrel .are bound to increase
substantially, if not drastically, when the volume declines at the end of the war.

In the third place, sales of high-value military products will largely tervminate
with the end of the war, and any increase in the average revenue per barrel
which refiners may now be obtaining as the result of the manufacture of such
speeial produets, will have disappeared and the expensive new ecapital facilities
which were ereated for the manufacture of such produets will be usable only for
the manufacture of ordinary motor gasoline and other eivilinn produects.

For these reasons, the refiners’ ability to absorb an increase in erude oil price
must be judged on the basis of normal type of operation rather than from a
questionnaire reporting 1944 conditions. An approach to the question of how
present profits on such normal refining operations compare with prewar levels
cau be had by examining the differential between the income from such products
(at refinery price levels) and the cost of ¢rude oil delivered to the refinery over
a period of time for representative refining arveas in the country. $:udieg for
two such areas are summarized in a later section of this report along with certain
other studies that have been. made. Before discussing the results of these studies,
however, we desire to call attention more specifically to some of the factors that
have been and still are operating to increase the refiner’s cost and reduce his
profit margin.

CRUDE COSTS HAVE INCREASED

The average delivered cost of crude oil for practically every refiner is higher
today than it was in 1941. A number of individual crude oil price increases have
been granted by OPA with no corresponding provision for increased product
prices, and whereas in peacetime ernde oil supplies were plentiful and a sub-
stantial volume of crude oil, particularly in new fields, was sold to refiners at
below the posted price, under today's wartime conditions the full posted price
is being paid in practically all eases. Crude oil sources abnormally distant must
be resorted to today with increased transportation costs to the refiner and many
of the new and more distant erudes are of inferior refining value.

REFINERY OPERATING COSTS IAVE INCREASED

Refinery costs have shown substantial increases over prewar levels, and this
trend toward higher costs has become more pronounced in each successive period
up to the present time. A number of factors have contributed go this trend. L

Average hourly wage rates in the petroleum industry, according to the United
States Bureau of Labor Statistics, have increased by more than 30 percent since
1941, due to inereased hourly rates and to overtime puyments. The trend is
-shown in chart I.. ) :

Further, lower productive capacity per man-hour has resulted from generally
decreased efficiency, traceahle to disruption of normal personnel. The high
standards of efficiency which the industry had come to accept without question
have been impossible to maintain by reason of depletion of forces by the armed
services and extensive use of women replacements and other untrained worlkers.
This, together with the faet that much new ecquipment of a highly complicqted
nature has been installed and old processes have been subjected to ragh_cal
changes, has meant that much time and mouey have had to be spent in tra}n}ng
workers, Furthermore, by reason of very high labor turn-over heavy training
expenses continue to be encountered. , _

What is true of wage costs is true of practically every other expense—costs.

~of repairs and maintenance have constantly increased. Thi§ is due in part to
high labor costs, since labor copstitutes a substantial portion of maintenance
costs; also because capacity operations have necessitafed operating old. equip-
ment that normaily would be retired and replaced; and because the stress gf
pushing plants to capacity has caused abnormally high maintenance on certain
units. Moreover,.in many cases it has been impossible to obtain high-quality
materials and refiners have had to resort to substitutes having shorter operating
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life; and to obtain materials of any kind involves great difficulty and expense
due to labor shertages, priorities, expediting efforts required, ete. It has also
been necegsary in many cases to have maintenance work done by outside con-
tractors at higher costs than if work were done by a refiner’s own maintenance
crews.

Because of shortages of manpower and materials it has been impossible for
many refiners to keep up with the wear and tear which has occurred. For a
number of refiners this is now beginning to show up in increasing numbers of
costly emergency shut-downs, and the difficulty of getting manpewer and ma-
terials is resulting in many cases in prolongation of the shut-down period. In
addition to the element of higher cost for the work that is done, the refining
industry therefore is in fact incurring a hidden cost in deferred maintenance
that is not being reflected on the books. In other words, wear and tear is
occurring more rapidly than is being taken care of. This is particularly true in
cases where sour crude is now being run and where additional corrosion is
occurring even though it may not have reached a critical point. This whole
matter of deferred maintenance is bound to be a serious factor since cost of
repairs, when too long delayed, tends to bocome excessive ug against what pre-
ventive maintenance would have cost. Here is another example of how today’s
conditions are laying up additional costs which ought in reality to be charged’
against today’s operations but which are not.

Refiners are indeed facing many special problems in the postwar period. It is
expected that as soon as the wars are over refinery runs will be reduced by 15
to 20 percent, or somewhere in the neighborhood of 1,000,000 barrels per day.
Under these conditions there undoubtedly will be great pressure upon refinery
margins. For those refiners who have invested large sums in new equipment
during the war, there will also be the problem of utilizing and paying for these
facilities in the early postwar years, and the problem of laying up other eapacity
not yet fully depreciated. And yet, even though there will be excess capacity as
a whole, there will still be a strong pressure on many refiners to install new
refining facilities immediately after the war. Refiners not having the latest
equipment will be at a competitive disadvantage so far as quality factors are
concerned, -hence even in the fuce of excess refining capacity generally, many
refiners will feel compelled to build new facilities, thereby adding still further
to the excess.

These are all factors growing out of the war situation. The developments of
tOddy will burden the morrow with extra costs for premature obsolescence, carry-
ing charges on idle capacity, and the like. These items ought to be charged
against wartime profits, but because they are not the type of costs which are
provided for in ordinary accounting procedures, they are not being charged today.
If, however, full provision were made for all of these costs, it would constitute
a very substantial charge against present refinery profits.

The point has also been made by several members that the factor of replace-
mernt cost which is receiving considerable attention in rclation to crude oil costs
is also involved in refinery operations. Practically no refinery in the United
States, except one wholly constructed daring the war, could possibly be replaced
for anything like the amount of money that it originally cost. Based on con-
siderable information obtained on this point, it appears that the average cost of
typical refinery capital items is today more than 50 percent greater than in the
years just prior to the war, and if the comparisons were made with costs for
the early thirties the disparity would be even greater. Depreciation charges,
however, are based upon historic capital costs and such depreciation charges are
certainly not being accumulated on a basis which would permit the replacement
of the itlems being depreciated on the basis of today’s replicement costs.

Without, however, taking into consideration these cost factors which are not
being refiected on the books but only the factors which are so reflected, we believe
it can be said with safety that the average refiner making ordinary products is
getting a lower profit per barrel today, even before deduction of income taxes,
than he was in 1941,

The full impact of these various increased cost factors will only be felt when
the war is over. It will not be poesmle for refiners to reduce. either direct
operating expenses or overhead charges in the postwar period at anything like
the rate at which crude oil runs are destined to decline. Only then will the
true import of these increased cost factors, on a per parrel basis, be fully realized.
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SUMMARY OF INFORMATION ALREADY AVAILABLE ON REFINERY PROFIT MARGINS

As already stated, considerable information is available on refining margins
and profits from Government and industry data and from special studies that
have been conducted, the results of which have been wade available to us.” Four
such studies are summarized here, to wit:

(2) Midcontinent refinery margin index.
(1) Gulf coast refiners’ margin:
(c¢) Analysis made by special subcommittee of the PIWC for districts 2,
3, and 4.
(d) Special study covering 14 refineries in Michigan.
These are considered in the order listed:

MIDCONTINENT REFINERY INDEX

For a number of years prior to 1942 the National Petroleum News published
what it called a refinery index, which measured the difference between the well
price of 86 gravity midcontinent crude oil and the wholesale value of the refined
products typically manufactured from such crude by typical refiners in the mid-
continent area, as reported to the United States Bureau of Mines. The publica-
tion of this series was sSuspended in 1942 (when crude oil and product prices were
frozen), but our committee has had the figures brought up to date on the same
basis. The complete data from the National Petroleum News and the later cal-
culations above referred to are contained in appendix A.

A comparison of refinery margin levels for the years 1936-39, representing a
period of freedom of price movement, and those existing under the period of a
fixed price economy, causes attention to be focused on certain significant features.
From 1936 through 1939, the refinery margins averaged 52.5 cents per barrel.
{This is not the refinery profit; it is simply the difference between the wholesale
value of the normal type midcontinent refined products from & barrel of crude and
the price of midcontinent crude at the well—it is, therefore, simply an index of the
amount available to the mideontinent refiner out of which to get his crude from
the well to the refinery, process it, and obtain a profit, if any. Obviously, as shown
later, the transportation and refining costs leave a relatively small part of this
total for profit even bhefore income taxes.)

During 1938 there was a mild depression generally and the oil industry ex-
perienced substantial reductions of inventory values which invalidate the use of
that 1 year as typical of operations under conditions of freedom of price move-
ment, as compared with years of fixed price operating conditions. Both produect
and crude-oil prices had declined late in 1938 due to adverse husiness conditions
and also flush production in Illinois. The average index for the years 1936, 1937,
and 1939, which are much more nearly comparable with present conditions, was
65.3 cents per barrel. By 1941, conditions had improved and both product and
crude-oil prices increased early in that year to approximately the levels of 1937.

The freezing of prices in October of 1941 would indicate that the refinery margin
as reflected by the index was established at about 70 cents per barrel, but this
average margin was based on a peacetime flow of finished products from the
refineries, which failed to meet the needs of a war economy. Production of lower-
value products, such as distillate fuels, heavy fuel oil, and still gas, had to be
inereased, whereas the yield of gasoline had to be reduced. For the midcontinent
refinery area under review, the yield of distillate fuels increased from 10.52 per-
cent in 1941 to 14.36 percent in 1944 ; residual fuel oil and gas from 25.66 to 27.48
percent ; while gasoline yields declined from 51.47 percent in 1941 to 44.94 percent
in 1944. The indicated reduction in the index by the end of 1944 to approxi-
mately 58 cents per barrel, therefore, represents adjustments of yields at re-
fineries to meet the needs of a war economy.

The present refinery margin of 58 cents per barrel is the total amount avail-
able to the refiner to pay the cost of transporting the barrel of ernde from the
well to the refinery, the processing and other cost incurred at the refinery to
convert the raw product to finished material, meeting interest obligations, and
all overhead incident to the plant bofore returning a profit. Complete cost data
for these various functious have been submitted to the committee by five mid-
continent refiners so that the adeguacy of the refinery margin indicated by the
index may be evaluated. The cost of moving. the crude from the well to the
refinery averaged 10.828 cents per barrel. This was checked against ernde move-
Inent vig eommon carrier pipe line from known crude sources to specific refinerieg
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in the Oklahoma-Kansas area and was believed to be completely representative.
The average direct manufacturing expense per barrel of crude af these same
plants was found to be 22.381 cents per barrel. The average general expense
represented by the average depreeiation charges, taxes (other than income taxes),
insurance, réfinery sales cost, interest on investment (if actually paid), and office
expense incident to the operation of the plant was found to average 14.214 cents
per barrel. Total expense from refinery receipt to disposition of produet at the
refinery gate, therefore, averaged 36.595 per barrel. This cost, too, was checked
against several additional refineries and against known processing payments
among refiners and was found to be representative. Dedueting 10.888 cents per
barrel for transportation and 22.881 cents per barrel for direct manufacturing
cost and 14.214 cents per barrel for general cxpense indicates that the refinery
profit before income taxes at the close of 1944 was reduced to 10.517 cents per
barrel. This is the amount of profit that may be regarded as available from
ordinary normal refinery operation for income taxes, dividends, and reserves.

It is recognized that some refiners have been able to make more favoruble
combinations of products through specializing in aviation gasolines and com-
ponents or other war products; the profits from which, however, ag previously
pointed out, are subject to renegotiation as are the ‘prices received for various
other products. On the other-bhand, it must also be recognized that many re-
finers have been unable to achieve the average yield on motor gasoline and have
extended the average yield of residual fuel, resulfing in net margins even below
thoge indicated above. These marginal refiners or marginal.units of other re-
fineries must be maintained in operation to mect present abnormal war demand.

GULF COAST REFINERY MARGIN

Calculations for a number of years have also been obtained regarding the re-
finers’ margin on the Guilf coast, similar to those reported above for the mid-
continent. The margin in this case is determined by calculating the value of
the major products—gasoline, kerosgene, distillates, and fuel oil—on the basis of
the low quotationg of Platt’s Oilgram for Gulf coast prices and applying the same
to the yields of rhe various products. From this is deducted the delivered cost
of a mixture of East Texas and West Texas crude in the proportions representa-
tive of the operations involved, together with the estimated cost of getting the
crude to the refineries, based on published pipe-line tariff rates and other trans-
portation factors: This index, therefore, indicated the amount per barrel avail-
able for the refinery operation and for profit thereon. A detailed description of
the calculations will be found in appendix B. . .

The figures for the last 10 years for such refinery margin before deducting
refinery operating and overhead expenses are as follows:

Cents Oents
1935 __ e 438. 711940 - . 35.7
1836 47.5 1941 - 38.3
1987 . —_49.6.| 1942 32.4
1938 - .- 22411043 __ 39.0
1939 41,3 1944_ - 40.5

It is to be pointed ocut that these figures are bhefore any. deductioqs fqr elther
direct or general refining expenses. . Such expenses for Gulf coast refineries peing
in the range of 30 to 35 cents per barvel leave a very small profit indeed on the
normal Gulf coast refinery operation.

It will be noted from these figures that the margin on the Gulf coast has been
definitely lower during the war period than for the years 1936, 1937, and 1939.
The yvear 1938 cannot be considered as representative because that year was even
more of a depression year for Gulf coast refiners than for in_terior reﬁner_s, due
to the greater sensitiveness of Gulf coast refined product prices to the disturb-
ances which occurred in the world mavkets with the opening of the war.

As in the case of the mideontinent index, the Gulf coast index does not reflect
the additional earnings which some refiners undoubtedly have been able to
achieve through manufacture of aviation gasoline or components, and other
special war produets. Again, such sales, of course, are subject not only, to addi-
tioral ‘expense, but to renegotiation, and it is felt that the only proper way to
Judge the ability of refiners generally to absorb a crude oil price increase is on
the basis of the ordinary normal refinery operations to which all refiners must
€Xpect to return.
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PIWC STUDY COVERING 51 REFINERIES

In the latter part of 1944 the Petroleum Industry War Council appointed a
special subcommittee to obtain information on refinery profits. The resulting
report is gquoted in full in appendix O hereof, and was based.upon reports for 51
refineries, widely scattered throughout the areas referred to, which during the
period covered by the study, namely, January 1, 1944, to October 1, 1944, had
daily average runs to stills of 267,736 barrels per day. For these refineries the
average net inceme, before income taxes and renegotiation, was shown to be
19.22 cents per. barrel of crude oil run, and the report stated further -that
“some refineries estimate that the net realization after taxes would be 10 ¢ents
a barrel, while other estimates remain as low as 4 cents per barrel.

The reports for the 51 plants covered by the special PIWC study included the
earnings from all sales that were made of produects to military or other govern-
ment agencies and-any other special sources of income which these refineries may
have had during the period in question, whereas the midcontinent and Gulf
coast margins referred to above were on the basis of ordinary or normal
products. The average profit, including that on war or gpecial products, of 19.26
cents a barrel, was a preliminary figure prior to renegotiation on war and other
produects used directly in the war effort. It is obvious that these refiners did not
have a final profit margin sufficient to enable them to absorb a crude oil price
inerease. The figures are also for a period the middle of which was approximately
1 year ago, and since that time there have been further increases in refinery
operating expenses.

STUDY COVERING 14 MICHIGAN REFINERIES

The most up-to-date report which has been made available is a study which
has been recently made by the independent refiners of Michigan. The study
covered 14 refineries in Michigan, most all of which were operated by companies
having practically no other business than refining; as evidenced by the fiect that
over 99 percent of the total output was reported to have been sold on-an f. o. b.
refinery basis. The period covered was the last 8 months of 1944 and the first
8 months of 1945.

The 14 refineries involved had average daily crude oil runs during the period
of 43,900 barrels daily. Their profits before deducting income taxes and before
any renegotiation allowances ranged from less than nothing up to 28 cents a
barrel, and for th> entire group averaged 18.76 cents a barrel. The report
states that after estimated income taxes the average was 7.60 cents, and only
one out of the 14 retineries made over 10 cents a harrel after income taxes.

The resnlts for these Michigan refiners, alinost all of which are nonintegrated,
tie in closely with the other studies reported here and indicate that in Michigan,
as in other areas, the refiners could not be expected to absorb proposed erude
oil price increases. The text of the Michigan report, quoted in full in appendix.
D hereof, contains many other interesting and pertinent statements.

DISCRIMINATION AGAINST REFINING BRANCH

The oil industry has been able to meet so magnificiently the unusual demands
placed upon it during the war because of the harmonious relations that have
existed within the industry during this critical period. Ouly through confidence
and good will could there have been the cooperation that has existed among
the various members of the industry and between the industry and the Govern-
ment agencies which have had the responsibility for directing the war effort of
the petroleum industry. The success of these Government agencies has been
due far less to authority or power of coercion than to these factors of confidence,
good will, and cooperation, without which the industry’s contribution to winning
the war would have been greatly impaired.

Nothing, however, could be better calculated to stir up bitterness, strife, and
dissension within the industry and between the industry and the Government
than for a Government agency arbitrarily to take away a large segment of the
revenue and the livilihood from one branch of the industry and to pass it over
to another branch. .

And as between various refiners, the effect would, of course, be most unequal.
A refining corapany that produced as much crude oil as it refined would not be
affected either way, since what it lost by the refinery absorption it would gain
from the increased price of erude oil—it would simply lose the benefit of any
crude price rise. The company which produced more crude oil than it refined
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would gain a benefit to the extent of the excess of ifs production over its refinery
runs. A refinery that produced only a part of its c¢rude reguirements wounld
be penalized to the extent that its refinery runs exceeded its crude oil produc-
tion, and a refinery that had no crude oil production at all would be penulized
100 percent. 'Such action if taken by the OPA or any other Government agency
would theréfore constitute an unfair discrimination (varying according to the
degree of crude oil integration) against all refiners. whose refinery runs were
greater than their crude oil production.

Crude oil is not sold as such direct to consumers. It must be processed and
thé revenue derived from the finished products must be alequate to maintain
a conutinued flow of erude oil to refiners and maintain refineries in operation
to process this raw product to finished produets for ultimate consumption. Any
effort to shift profits from one segment of the industry to another would bring
about serious maladjustments within the industry, jeopardize its ability to meet
war requirements, reduce the flow of produets to civilian consumers, put certain
refiners out of business, reduce profits of others, and stir up strife and dissension
within the industry and between it and the Government.

In the minds of practically all members of the industry who have studied
the matter, and of the members of Government and advisory agencies most
concerned with oil matters, that is, the Petroleum Administration for War and
the Petroleum Industry War Couneil, there has never been any question but that
petroleum product prices should be increased in connection with any increase
in crude oil prices. This is evidenced by resolutions passed and statements made
by trade associations, responsible. individuals, and the Petroleum Administrator
for 'War.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

1. The ability of refineries to absorb proposed crude-oil price increases and
the consequences which would attend any such attempt cannot properly be
judged by the over-all corporate profits of companies having refinery and other
operations. There are hundreds of refining companies who have no material
sources of revenue other than refining. As for integrated companies having
production, transportation, marketing, or ether activities, each of such opera-
tions involves large investment and risk taking, and there is no reason why the
proper and legitimate revenues from such activities should be diverted fo the
absorption of refinery losses brought about by arbitrary Government action.
Moreover, the revenues from these other branches in almost all cases are
subjeet to or limited by the action of various other Government agencies and
hence have already passed the test of reasonableness.

2. A subsidy to refiners is not practicable. Refining is an exiremely complex
operation with constant technical changes, and the determination of profits is
subject to many factors which would make it practically impossible to design
-or administer any equitable subsidy arrangement, and if based on over-all profits
‘such subsidy would lead to many abuses. i

3. Refinery runs at present record-high levels are urgently needed to meet
«combined military and essential eivilian requirements, and this will continue
to be the ease so long as the war continues in the Pacific or elsewhere. But a
-crude-oil price increase with no increase in product prices would not only elimi-
nate some refiners entirely, but would reduce the operations of almost all others,
‘beeause practically all refineries are running a certain amount of marginal
-crude (i. e., erude which delivers to the refinery at spch a high cost as to leave
little if any profit) which even a small increase in cost would turn into a
definite loss. Any reductions in refinery operations would be very detrimental
to the war effort and the civilian economy, and subsidies could not be relied
upon to solve the problem. . i o

4. Refining profit marging are not sufficient to absorb qrude-ml price increases
that have been proposed. This conelusion is elearly evident from. information
that. is available from published data and special studies which are presented
and analyzed in this report.: Current profits’ reports on refinery operations
which include the output of products for military or other Government or war-
plant use cannot be regarded as fair measures of refiners’ ability to absorb crude-
oil price increases because—— ] .

(a) Sales of products to armed forces or other Government agencies and war
plants are subject to renegotiation which will adjust the final prices received
to such amounts as will leave only a fair and reasconable profit.

(b) War products involve extraordinary capital costs and taking of risks
*Which justify reasonable earnings.
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(¢) The manufacture of such products is a temporary source of revenue which
will disappear when the war is over and reflnery runs decline by from 15 to
20 percent. .

For all these reasons the ability of refiners to abisorb a crude-oil price increase
should be considered primarily in terms of normal rather than war products,
and in terms of the increased costs of refinery operations which have oceurred.
Such costs of operation have increased for several reasons:

(2) Delivered crude-oil costs have increased due to various individual ad-
vances granted by OPA, and because of higher delivery costs of more distant
crude required to keep refineries running,

(b) Refinery operating expenses have increased. Average wage costs are up
over 30 percent, while efficiency of the labor force has decreased due to an in-
crease in the proportion of new and inexperienced workers and other factors.
Materials, supplies, and maintenance costs have similarly increased—and even
so, much maintenance is not being done and deferred costs, not reflected in
present accounts, will be the future result. Capital replacement costs are also
higher by 50 percent, or more than the average of prewar historic costs on
which present depreciation rates are based, and this constitutes another hidden
factor not reflected in present costs.

The real impact of increased refinery costs will only be felt when the war is
over and runs deeline far more rapidly than refinery expenses can be reduced.

5. Analyses of four studies of refinery margins and earnings (covering, re-
spectively, refinery operations in the midcontinent area; similar operations in
the Gulf coust area; a special analysis of 51 refineries in districtg 2, 3, and 4;
and a special study covering 14 refineries in Michigan) all indicate that the

-earnings from normal refinery operations under today’s conditions are lower than
at the outset of thé war, reasonable in relation to historic levels, aund not sufficient
to permit ahsorption of proposed erude oil price increases.

6. An increase in the erude-oil price without a commensurate and simultaneous
increase in product prices would constitute gross diserimination against the re-
fining branch and would stir up strife, dissension, and distrust within the industry
where harmony, good will, and confidence now exist. Practieally all representa-
tives of the industry and of petrolecum agencies in the Government who have
studied the matter have expressed the view that product prices should be in-
creased in connection with erude price increases.

7. In conclusion it must be emphasized that the refining branch of the oil indus-
try is in itself a great industry, highly technieal in its operation and enormously
important to our national interest. It represents a tremendous capital invest-
ment and constantly requires a large, new flow of capital into it for purposes of
replacement, technological improvements, and new construction. It is an indus-
try which is facing many difficult problems and adjustments both now and in the
postwar period.

To assume that it is not necessary for a great enterprise such as petroleum re-
fining to obtain a profit out of its own operations, rather than be dependent upon
revenues from other branches-of the industry fo enrry it along, is not only to
overlook the fact that hundreds of refineries have no other activities than refining,
but to overlook the vital importance cf the refining process in the operations of
the oil industry as a whole. Refining must not be deprived of the means of
standing on its own feet. :

8. On the basis of the information presented in this study and for all the reasons
set forth therein, the conclusion seems inescapable that any upward adjustment
of crude oil prices would have to be accompanied by a commensurate and simul-
taneous increase in refined produet prices. The snggestion that a general cerude
price increase could be absorbed by integrated refiners and runs maintained by
subsidy to marginal refiners (as suggested by the Flouse Committee on Small
Business) is devoid of realistic appreciation of elementary economics of the oil
business and irresponsible as to the effects that wonld Tesult on the civilian
economy and the vital supply of petroleum products to the armed forces.
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APPENDIX A

NATIONAL PETROLEUM NEWS REFINERY INDEX

The course of tlie midcontinent refiner’s margin, in cents per barrel of crude processed,
since 1928. The figures on which the chart is based are given in table 1.

ReFINER'S MARGIN IN 1938 Nor AT “LowesT” LEVEL
(By M. G. Van Voorhis, National Petrolenm News staff writer)

The midcontinent refiner’s margin—bhis return from running a barrel of
crude through his stills, based on posted price of crude and current market
value of the yields—has reached lower levels than in 1938 in five recent years, as
is shown in the accompanying graph and tables.

However, offsetting these low spots in past years have been periods when the
margin built up to profitable levels. The study of the trend of the refiner's
margin in the mideontinent is possible now through a computation of National
Petroleum New’s refinery index back through 1928, although National Petroleum
News has been publishing this margin, or index, only since 1935. It appears
the first issue of each month in the market section.

The accompanying article not only discusses the trend- of this margin but it
also shows the change in yields of principal products at midcontinent refineries
since 1928, both in percent and in gallons,

The slight diserepancies in the refinery index as carried in table 1 as
compared with table 3 are due to the fact that the index in table 1 is
based on average prices prevailing during the entire month; and those
indices given in table § are based on the Oilgram’s first published prices
of the month. The two sets of figures in table 8 are the result of two
bases of yield computation.—EprToR.

The National Petrolenm News Refinery Index, published monthly in National
Petroleum News during the past 3 years as an indication of the average return
or refiner’s “margin” from refining a barrel of mideontinent crude, has been
recalcnlated with refinements of method by months since January 1928, and
is presented in the accompanying chart and table 1. The latest refinety index
was published in the July 6 issue, page 41.

The refiner’s “margin” iz the difference between the value at current market
prices of all the products derived from the barrel of crude oil and the cost of
the barrel of erude. The term “index” is the “margin” as computed by .the
method described in this article. This is the figure which has been published
monthly in National Petroleum News.

This figure includes the costs of transporting the barrel of crude oil from
the well to the refinery, storing the products and it includes sales advertising
and overhead costs as well as the refiner’s profit. It has been estimated that
55 cents a barrel would approximately - cover the average costs of handling
and processing and that the average refiner's profit would be roughly approxi-
mated by the level of the index above or below this figure.
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TaBLE 1.-—~Recapitulation of the Refinery Index which has been published as a
monthly feature of National Petroleum News since August 1935 and figured
back through 1928 *

Month 1628 | 1020 | 1930 | 1931 | 1032 | 1933 | 1934 | 1035 | 1036 | 1937 | 1938

! The figures appearing in the above table differ somewhat from the figures published monthly In the
National Petroleum News Reflnery Index, the causes of the differences being explained in the accompanying
article.

(The margin between the cost of 36 gravity Mid-Continent crude and the current selling prices of the prod-
ucts made from it are the basis for this index.)

Four major products are segregated in computing the index and a few lesser
products totaling under 3 percent of the total are grouped under the head of
“igspecialties.” Gasoline, of course, leads in volumne by a wide margin and is fol-
lowed by heavy fuel oil and still gas, heating .0il, and gas oil, and kerosene.
Lubricating oil and wax are included with heating oils. Specialties include
asphalt, road oil, and coke, . )

Volume of crude going into these products and yield of the products have been
compiled from figures published by the United States Bureau of Mines in its
monthly petroleum statement and annual summaries for the districts of Okla-
homa, Kansas, and Missouri; Texas Inland; and Arkansas and Louisiana
Inland. Other districts were omitted because of the impossibility of segregating
the amounts of Mid-Continent crude refined by plants in such areas.

The accompanying chart shows the 2-year period following the introduction
of the index in 1935 to have been roughly equivalent to 1929 in refiner’s margins
while the present relatively low level is above depths reached in 5 preceding
years.

Computations for the new chart differ in a few particulars from the index as
computed during the past 3 years.! However, the general trend is closely com-
parable by either method. The main distinction is that the new figures have been
computed on the basis of average monthly prices rather than “first-of-the-month”
prices. The National Petroleum News index will continue to be computed on
the latter basis, since it gives a more up-to-date figure while the monthly average
gives a fairer history of the index.

Stricter attention to details has been observed in the preparation of the ae-
companying chart., Rather than using the same yield fizures over the 10 years,
yields were computed for each year from annual statistics. The variation of
these yields is shown in table 2. The effect of these variations, when applied
to the computation of the National Petroleum News Refinery Index is to raise
the index figures roughly 1.5 cents above each preceding year since 1934.
In 1937 and 1938 the revised yields give indices about 8 percent above those
which have been published previously and about 4 cents higher. This gives
a brighter aspect to the low levels which have shown up in the last few months.

The error is not as serious as this wide variation makes it appear when it is
considered that the recalculation is merely a means of correcting the “piteh”
of the “tune” which has been affected only by a gradual and continuous “flatting”
as the result of being “played” without the “accompaniment” of yield revisions.

1 A large share of credit for the preparation of the statistics presented in this article
goes to the statistical department of Standard Oil Co., of Ohie. and paricularly to Sidney
A. Swensrud and A. T. Beall, who worked with National Petroleum News in preparing the
method of computaion and did most of the actual ealculations. :

74113—45—pt. 3—5
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TABLE 2.—Percentage yields of petroleum products in 8 Mid-Continent disiricts
in which the National Petroleum News Refinery Indeg is based and correspond-
ing recovery in gallons per barrel

PERCENT RECOVERY

. Miscel- -
Gas and | Fuel oil | Special-
Gasoline | Kerosene A 3 ? laneous
oil still gas ties loss, ete.
43. 7.59 8.09 35.09 1.07 4,78
42.95 6, 80 8. 52 35.10 1.28 5.25
47.18 6.16 7.90 30.79 1.91 6. 06
48.85 5.68 10. 02 28. 41 2,17 4.87
50,17 6.10 9,02 27,72 2.32 4.67
49, 64 6.27 8.71 28,72 2.07 4.59
50.02 6.26 9.06 27.79 2,32 4,55
50.24 6.49 9.82 28.23 2,02 3.20
50. 37 5,69 10.72 28. 47 2.24 2.51
51.29 5.78 10.82 26. 49 2.29 3.33
GALLONS RECOVERY PER BARREL QF CRUDE RUN
18.22 3.19 3.40 14.74 0.50 1.95
18. 04 2. 90 3.58 14.74 L 2.20
19, 82 2,59 3.32 12.93 2, 54
20, 52 2.39 4,21 11,93 91 2.04
21.07 2.56 3.70 11.64 97 1.97
20.85 2.63 3.70 12.06 87 1.89
21,01 2.63 3.8t 11.67 97 1.91
21.10 2.73 4.12 11,86 85 1.3¢
- 21.16 2.39 4. 50 11.96 94 1.05
1937 21.54 2.43 4.54 1113 96 1.40

It is impraectical to keep the index strictly up to date with respect to yields
since the annual figures are not available often for many months after the time
of computation of the index and monthly figures are too variable for the purpose.
A running summation of several months is a possibility but involves extensive
‘computations for each index figure.

Although the tabulated yields show slight variation from 1932 to 1936, the
necessity for varying the yield figures in computations of the index before 1932
is more cobvious. Table 3 shows the refinery index as computed by 1934 yields
compared with indices computed by yields of the corresponding years. Figures
for 1938 are computed by 1934 and 1937 yields. Gasoline yield has by far the
most weight in the index as may be judged from the fact that the return on each
of the other three leading products is from one-sixth to one-thirteenth as great.
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Another refinement is allowance in crude runs for unfinished rerun (net).
This made a noticeable difference in fractional percentages of yields.

respects the computations are identical.
gasoline yields as hefore.

TapLe 4.—Crude yields—1936

In other

Natural gasoline was dedncted from
Table 4 gives anh example of the calculation for 1036

1,000 N
barrels Pereent
Crude runs to sENS. ..o 206,522 |- —eoeeee
Uunfinished reruns (Met) ........._.___ e [ U B 3 < T N
B e 5o OO 204, 989 100. 60
Gasoline output . 114, 614
Natural gasoline._. 1—11,357
Net gasoline OULDUE . -« oot et 183, 257
B LT T O SR 11,688
Heating and gas oils and Jube ofls: e e 21,842 | ...,
Wax, at 273 pounds per barrel. ..o 126 Joomoocan
Total heating and gas oils . 21,568 10.72
58, 357 28.47

Tuel oil and still gas

Specialties:
Road oil
Coke (300 200 ton, at 5 barrels per ton)
Asphalt (364 500, at 5%5 barrels per ton)

Total specialties.
Total accounted for._..--
Miscellaneous, shortage, etc..

The next step was to price these products. In all instances, except that of
specialties the figures nsed were the monthly quotation from the Oil Price Hand-
book, as follows:

Gasoline: Average weekly lows for the month for regular gasocline in Okla-
homa (now 70-72 octane).

Kerosene: Monthly average for Oklahoma 41-43 grade kerosene.

Gas heating oils: Monthly average for Oklahoma 3810 straw (average of No.
1 White and No. 1 8traw since 1935).

Heavy fuel oil: Monthly average for Oklahoma 14-16.

For specialties it was impractical to detéermine monthly prices. Yearly deter-
minations for asphalt and road oil were based upon figures published by the
Bureau of Mines in the Minerals Yearbook. An average of $3 per ton for coke
was taken as the most reasonable approximation for the periocd. These fizures
are admittedly inaccurate but the inaccuracies would have less than 1 cent's
influence upon the final index.

TaBLE 5.~—8pecialties return (1945)

Present Per barrel :
Product yield price Realization
Asphalt, —— 0.527 $1.50 0. 0079
L0 T U S .745 13.00X2 0G45
Readoll - - 750 L4 0071
Total - 2.002 Jommmaao . 0195

t Per ton price converted to per barrel at rate of 5 barrels per ton.
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An average price per gallon is then found by multiplying the total yield of
specialties (2.022 percent) by 42 gallons to obtain the gallons involved and divid-
ing the realization (§$0.0193) by this figure thus:

0.0185
02022 X 42

Table 6 gives the computation for the month of July 1936, involving the final
steps of determining the index. The crude cost is the well price for 36°-36.9°
Oklahoma ¢rude by the Stanelind Crude Purchasing Co. as shown in the Oil
Price Handbook.

It is again necessary to emphasize that this index is not an accurate representa-
tion of any single refinery but, as an average for a group, it is significant to the
whole industry.

Average price in 1935= =$.0230

TasLe 6.—An example of computation of indez for July 1936

QGallons
output : o
Product 1;(;3’3“,“‘ per bar- P;:ﬁ'o%er Realization
rel of
cude
Gasoline_ e 50.37 21.16 £0. 06000
Kerosene.. 5,69 2.39

Gas-heating oils__
Fuel oil—still gas
Specialties. .. ...
Miscellaneous loss, etc

Realization. .
Price 36° gravity Mid-Continent crude.

Refifiers’ margin (Index) ..o occcceaccaeeacon-

i From table 4, .
11935 prics (1936 not available).

Annual summary of Mid-Continent refinery indez, 192844
PRODUCT YIELDS

Percent of crude-oil run. Gallons per barrel of crude-oil rin
Fuel Mis- Fuel Mis-
Year a K G oil | 8Spe- | colla- | o K a oil | Spe- | cella-
aso- | Kero- as aso- | Kero- as h
h A and { cial- Inecus{ 'y: and | efal- | ncous
line | seme | ofl! | G § yess | ana | e | seme [ollt b ogqn | ega | ana
gas loss gas loss
7.59 | B.09 3509 1.0O7| 4.78{18.22| 3.19§ 3.40 | 1474 0.50 1.05
6.90 | 852|3510f 1.28| 5251 18.04 1 290 3.58 | 14.74 .54 2.20
6.16 ] 7.90|30.78} 1.%1 6.06 | 19.82 1 2504 3.32112.93 .80 25
5681100212541 217 | 48712052 | 239 4.21 | 11.93 .01 204
6.10f 0.02]27.72 | 2.832| 4.67|2L07| 256 | 3.79 | 1L.64 87 1.97
6.27] 87112872 2.07| 4.59)|20.85| 263 3.70 | 12.06 .87 189
6.26] 9.06]27.79 | 232 4.55| 21.01 2.63 | 3.81 | 1167 .97 1.9
6.49 | 9.82128.231 202! 3.20| 2110 2.73 | 412 11.86 .85 131
5.69 | 10.72 | 28.47 1 2.2¢4 | 2,51 | 21.16 | 239 4.50 | 11.96 4 1.05
5.78110.82 | 26,49 2201 3.33 | 21.54 | 2.43 .54 1 11.13 .86 1.40
5.96 1 10.59 | 25,97 { 3.15| 2.12 | 21.93 | 250 | 4.45110.91}| 1.32 .89
6.15( 9.48 | 2482] 3.46! 3.36 {2215 258 | 3.98[10.43 | 1.45 1.41
6.27) 6.81 {25291 3.23} 4.15] 2.63 ). 263} 4121062 L36 .74
6.06[10.52|25.66 | 3.57 | 272{ 2162 | 25| 442]10.78| 1.50 1.14
6.3614.13 | 26.68 | 3.8 | 3.10{10.28 | 267 593|121 1.61 1.30
6.28f 14.25 [ 20.77| 410 299 [17.90] 264} 3.09 1250 1.72 125
6.08)14.36 | 27.43 | 3.57 ] .B.62 | 18,88} 2554 603 1152} 1.50 152

t Including lubrieating ofl and wax.
1.Bpecialties include asphalt, road oil, and coke.
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1356 FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALYL BUSINESS

Oklahoma refinery tank-car prices W hr%elslgg vevl:'}:gecrgée _O'if%;ﬁg
{cents per gallon) : F r-
dollars_per barrel of crude- oil)
Gas oil
(34°40° Price of
Kerosene | gravity, 36° grav-
Gusoline | (41°-43° No. 1 Fuel oil Total ity Mid- | Refin-
(regular gravity White (14°-16° { wvalue of conti- ery
grade) ‘watér and gravity) | products jnent crude| index
white) Straw, at the
No. 2 well -
Straw)
7.82 5.26 3.09 1.53 1.96 1.31 0.65
7.59 5.47 3.7 1.29 191 1.37 .54
6.03 3.77 3.15 1.25 1.57 1.23 .34
3.58 2.47 2.01 .70 1.01 .63 .38
4,52 3.24 2. 53 .85 31.30 .87 .43
3.81 2.92 2.48 1L00 1.09 .62 .47
4. 60 3.35 2. 80 1. 55 1.37 1.00 .37
5.28 3.57 3.14 1.58 1.57 1.00 .67
5. 86 3.69 3.31 1. 55 1.69 1.10 59
5.81 4.17 3.83 1.63 1.76 L2 .55
5.00 4.19 3.86 1.80 1.62 1.18 A4
4.84 3.97 3.42 1.73 1.54 1.02 .52
4.60 4.04 3.51 2.01 1.51 1.02 49
5.44 4.41 3.77 2.18 1.73 112 61
5.76 4. 46 3.87 2.26 177 1.17 60
5,92 4.42 3.89 2.31 1.75 117 58
5.95 4.38 3.63 2.31 177 1.17 .60

Source: 1928-38, National PetroleumNews, edition of July 13, 1938; 193841, Platt’s Qil Price Handbook,
1})41 ggitwg; (11942-44, computed using same methods employed by National Petroleum News in ealculation
of refinery index.

Summary of Mid-Continent refinery indez, by months, 1928—-}4

1028 1 1920 | 1930 | 1931 | 1932 | 1933 | 1034 | 1035 | 1036 | 1037 | 1938 | 1030 | 10940 | 1841 | 1942 { 1043 | 1944

$0, 27|$0. 58,$0. 331%0. 24|$0. 18/$0. 33;$0. 42($0. 40,50. 63,30. 58.30. 36:$0. 37|30. 50, $0. 48:$0. 65:30. 57|30. 61
.33) .B0f .40 .23 .24) .38 .39} .37 .05 .53 .37 .36 .48{ .46] .64| .57| .61
L881 .B5; .471 .40 .37} .36 .32 .41 .03{ .54] .37) .42| .43| .46| .55 .57| .61
L4880 .63) L5627 .400 .86) 307 .36} 37| .65 .60, .42 47| .48, .46| .53] .57] .6l
LG8) .62 .48] .28] .81 .51| .41 .57 .64] .62] .88] .50} .53} .58 .54] .57 .61
L62] .71 .38 .407 .54 .69 . -85 620 .01} .42] 520 .53} .05] .08 .57| .61
700 .89 281 L61 .73) .76 .34 .62 .60 .58 .b0O| .55 .563] .68 .00| .57 .61
L9301 .45] L201 Lb57] .46 (B85 (381 .81 .56[ .58 500 .55( .50 .71| .62/ .58 .60
LOT1 .47 220 .29 .39 (45 L3¢ 610 .48( 551 43} .60 .50i .71l .63 ,59| .58
L0581 .48] 1%y .36) .41 .45 270 .60] .50 .57 40f -63] 50| 71 43] 58] .58
.88 .43 .35 .42] .43 43| .39] .61) .55 .44) .49| .63| .47| .71} .63y .58 .58
L74] L41f .21) J47) .36 .44] .38] .61] .58 .30] .47| .60 .48} .71} .63} .58 .
.65 .54| .34/ .38 .43| .47] .37 .57] .59 .B&| .44} .52} .49] .61} .60, .58 .60

.Suurqe: 1928-38, National Petroleum News Edition of July 13, 1938; 183841, Platt’s Oil Price Handbook,
1?41 ggxetioq; (11942—44, ecomputed using same methods employed by National Petrolenm News in caleulation
of refinery index. :

APPENDIX B

VARIATION IN THE AVERAGE GULF COAST REFINERS' MARGIN FOR THE PERIOD JANUARY 1,
1934, TO APEIL 1, 1945, INCLUSIVE

There is attached hereto a chart representing an estimate, covering the pertod
1934 to 1944 and the first guarter of 1945, inclusive, of the margin available to a
Gulf coast refiner, between income from products sold and cost of crude delivered
to the refinery, to cover refining costs, including fuel burned. Prices for the
major products (gasoline, kerosene, distillates, and fuel oil) are taken at the low
of Platt’s Oilgram. Certain assumptions are made as detailed on the chart, such
as refleeting the eost of crude in terms of a mixture of East and West Texas.crude
in the proportions necessary to yield the products produced ; also aviation gasoline
is reflected at motor gasoline value, since prices for aviation gasoline are subject
to renegotiation and the estimate is intended to reflect the situation of a refiner
producing only the major civilian products. It is believed that the basis used is
sufficiently representative to provide an adequate basis of comparison for illustra-
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1358 FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS

ing the effect of changes over the period in question for this type of refining
operation.

Yearly averages of the Gulf coast refiners’ margin as reflected by the chart are
as follows in cents per barrel:

Cents Cents

1034 47.1 | 1940 35.7
1935 45.7 {1941 38.3.
1936. 47,5 | 1942 32. 4
1937. 49 ¢ | 1043 39.0
1938 22,4 | 1044 40. 5
1939, 41.3 | First quarter, 1945 __________.__ 87.4
Cents per

barrel

Prewar average, 1934-41 40. 95
War average, 104244 - 87.380
Average, 1936-390 40, 20

It is thus clear that during the first 3 years of the war the Gulf coast refiners’
margin has been less than the prewar average and the 1944 margin was very close
to the prewar margin, the margin for the first quarter of 1945 being several cents
per barrel lower. To measure the variation in refining profits it would be nec-
essary to know average refining costs for the individual years, which are not
available. It is well recognized, however, that labor and material costs have
increased during the war.f Conversely, the effect of higher throughputs is to

- decrease costs per barrel, although this naturally increases expenses for repairs
and 'maintenance. In view of these balancing factors, it is a reasonable assump-
tion that costs per barrel have not greatly changed, and it would not appear that
the average Gulf coast refiners’ operations for the production of the major normal
products are yielding a return materially different from prewar peactime opera-
tions. Suoch prewar profit did not extend 5 to 10 cents per barrel, which is
obviously of an order smaller in magnitude than any general crude price increase
that has been proposed.

NOTE~—This chart presents the latest estimate of the margin available to Gulf-coast
refiners, to cover refining costs, including fuel consumed in operations, for the period 1934
to date, The margin has been taken as the difference between the total realizations on
.prime refinery products and the cost of crode processed for these products. (Aviation gaso-
line has been included at motor gasoline realization.) The product realizations arc com-
bined in the ratio of the monthly domestic demand (total demand beginning October
1041, because of security limitations on published data) as reported by the Bureau of
Mines for the eastern seaboard area, including the east coast, total Texas, Louisiana,
and Arkansas. The crude price used is the average price delivered at a Gulf refinery at
full scheduled tramsportation rates for that gravity of erude reqnired to meet the
demand for products in each month.

Product prices are shown with the price scale for each product adjusted for the aver-
age yield of this product over the period so that the curves as drawn indicate directly
the approximate effect of the price changes in any product on the margin curve, The
average of Fast and West Texas crude prices at the wells is' shown as beinz indicative
of changes in crude price levels, The transportation to the Gulf at tariff rates and

otger‘eharges on these crudes are also shown to indicate the delivered cost at a Gulf-coast
refinery.

APPENDIX

This committee, appointed by the Chairman of the Petrolenm Industry War
Council to study the economic conditions of the small refiner, commonly referred
to as the independent refiner, has undertaken a geographically representative
survey. It was deemed important to obtain as broad a view a8 possible of the
present sitpation and therefore the data were obtained from refiners throughout
u large area,

The statistics which are set forth below for your information and consideration
represent a good cross section of the operations of the small, nonintegrated
companies:
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FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS 1359

Ratedl capacéty bar- Taotal t.axeia before
rels per day Daily income taxes
District Number Crude proe-| average
of plants a
. processe Per

Crude |Cracking, Dollars barrel

Cenls
28 | 167,600 58,750 | 33,601,240 | 124,377 | 6,354.505 18.86
17 | 164,800 46,300 | 33,299.081 | 127,587 | 6,687, 569 20.08
6 18, 150 4,950 | 4,480,242 15,772 728,180 16.25
Total, _.vommaeaoo_. 511 350,550 | 110,000 | 71,470,563 | 267,736 | 13,770,254 19.26

The survey, from which the above data were compiled, was made through
the 15 States where refinery operations are carried on, with reports coming from
refineries located in the Petroleum Administration for War districts 2, 3, and 4.
some of the companies included in the survey have skimming plants only. How-
ever, the majority have both skimming and cracking plants.

Your committee recognizes the fact that many factors confront the refiner
which are beyond his immediate control and which make his operations vastly
more costly, such as increased labor charges, material costs, shortages in oper-
ating materials, use of substitute materials, and the like. The demands of the
military forces for specific materials or products often make it imperative that
the refiner engage in refinery practices and operations which cut down his yields
and which do not permit him to obtain the highest return from his operations.
This is directly reflected in smaller net realizations. This has been a very real
burden to the independent refiner, but one which he has carried willingly during
the war period:

The statistics compiled for your committee’s report represent operations for
the period January 1, 1944, to October 1, 1944, The daily rated crude capacity
of the reporting companies represented in this survey is 350,650 barrels per day,
while the daily average runs to stills represent 267,736 barrels per day, as set
forth in the table above. The total net realization for these companies, before
taxes, was $13,770,254, which makes a per barrel return of 19.26 cents before
taxes. Some refiners estimated that the net realization, nfter taxes, would be
10 cents per barrel, while other refiner estimates ran as low as 4 cents per barrel.

The difference between the rated capacity and the actual daily runs to stills
was 82,814 barrels. The refiners were unable to run to maximum capacity be-
cause of their inability to obtain an adequate supply of crude, while transporta-
tion and storage facilities at times presented very real problems.

The refinery operations reflected in this survey are truly representative of all
the refiners in this area who are independents and who have the same operating
difficulties. From the net realization shown above, it is readily seen that the
refiners in this area are operating on a very small margin of profit. This margin
may be narrowed further in those companieg which hold contracts subject to
renegotiation.

APPENDIX D

As a result of recent discussion of.crude oil and product prices, various Michigan
refiners have felt it advisable to make a survey of the independent refiners in
Michigan to determine the answers to the two guestions brought up by the Pat-
man committee in Congress on the matter of crude oil price, viz:

1. The ability of the refiner to absorb a 35-cent per barrel crude advance.
2. The payment of a subsidy to the marginal refiner who is unable to absorb
the proposed crude-oil advance.

We feel that this Michigan report is typical of the independent refining industry
throughout the country insofar as the operations of these companies are almost
entirely refining. More than 99.6 percent of the products sold at these refineries
are sold on a refinery wholesale price basis, which leads us to the conclusion
that the Michigan refining industry is a single line operation and actunally reflects
the refiners’ ability to absorb any crude advance.

We submitted questionnaires-to the 15 independent refiners in Michigan and
received a response from 14. The results of this questionnaire are shown as a
composite on the attached statement.

These refiners sfctually processed 43,901 barrels of crude. daily during this-
period, which is more than 90 percent of the total crude run by the independent
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1360 FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF $MALL BUSINESS

refiners in this area. We will analyze and make certain conclusions from the
information presented on the questionnaire which answers will be listed below:

1. The first question to be answered, of course, is, Can the refining industry
absorb a 35-cent per barrel crude advance?

The attached analysis shows that the average gross profit before taxes of the
Michigan independent refining industry was 18.764 cents per barrel for the
6 months ended March 31, 1945. After taxes this figure was reduced to 7.60
cents per barrel (best estimate), The conclusion is, of ecourse, obvious. Only
1 out of 14 refiners reporting made more than 10 cents per barrel after taxes

(best estimate). Bight out of fourteen refiners made less than the average
18.76 cents per barrel before taxes. It is apparent from the above figures that
the profits of independent refiners are very small and certainly they are in no
position to absorb any crude-oil advance. FEven this small profit is artificial and is
the result of the following factors:

(¢) ‘They are operating in a period of maximum market demand during
wartime. This has created an artificial relationship between supply and de-
mand. The result is reflected in the market price of all products.

We miist not overlook the very distinct possibility that with the partial end
of hostilities a surplus of petroleum products will exist. This surplus will re-
snlt in a competitive condition which will decrease the netbacks of the refiners
considerably and will mean that the independent refining industry may lose the
small profit position it had during the war. It is historical that a small surplus
can ruin a price structure and it is obvious that the loss of the military demand
may create this condition immediately at the end of hostilities. ’

(b) Approximately 6.5 percent of the crude oil purchased by Michigan refiners
is compensable crude. With the partial end of hostilities, this compensation
may be dropped or this compensable crude may no longer be available, This
would result in a large drop in the refiners’ profits as a curtailment of this
throughput would increase the refinery cost per barrel. Actually a drop of 6.5
percent in throughput would more nearly equal a 20- to 30-percent drop in profit
per barrel before taxes, The refining industry in this country is running at a
rate of 20 to 25 percent over its prewar capacity and it is reasonable to assume
that there will be a corresponding decline in the postwar period. A decline of
20 to 25 percent in the refining throughput of the independent refiners in Michigan
would result in the elimination of most of their profits.

(¢) Independent refineries are not being adequately maintained due to their
inability to obtain proper equipment and materials during wartime. There is
no way possible to build up reserves for this contingency and the refiners must
pay for this inadequate maintenance during the postwar period. Their plants
are becoming obsolete due to the new wartime developments. The small inde-
pendent refiner has not been able to build up necessary reserves for these de-
velopments out of the small net profits that he has after payment of taxes. We.
cannot overlook this point because in the competitive period that will take place
in the postwar era the independent refining industry will be at a very serious
disadvantage and it is unfortunate that their net-profit position during the war
did not allow them to.build up reserves for this contingency.

As an illustration, may we point out that the total combined net profits for these
14 DMichigan refiners is approximately $600,000, which would not even pay the
cost of one 3,000-barrel eatalytic cracking plant.

(d) Most independent refiners in this area sold to independent gasoline dis-
tributors and maintained very few stations and outlets themselves.. During the
wartime a great many of these distributors became war casualties and in the
post}v{vztr period the independent refiner is faced with the job of rebuilding these
markets.

At present, the military and major companies are the main purchasers of in-
dependently manufactured gasoline. It is only fair to assume that in the post-
war period major companies will market their own gasoline as herétofore. This
will mean that the independents will be forced to start from secratch to find new
outlets for their manufactured gasoline, It is unfortunate that the small amount
of net profit available to refiners during this period will not allow them to build
up the necessary reserves for this contingency.

With these facts, we must come to the following conclusions :

(1) The refiner is unable to absorb any crude oil advance.

(2) His present profit position does not allow him adequate profit or re-
serves to face the problems of the postwar period.

{3) The profits that he has realized are to a great extent artificial,

Digitized for FRASER
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS 1361

2. The Patman committee suggested that—if the crude-oil advance could not
Ee absorbed then the payment of a subsidy might be made to the marginal re-

ner.

Listed below are our reasons for opposing payment of a subsidy to the refiner:

1. There is no yardstick that can be employed to measure a fair subsidy. Re-
finers’ profits vary from day to day, depending upon the amount of crude that
they process, the type of products that they manufacture, market conditions,
type of crude processed, location of available crude supplies, and many other con-
siderations which change from day to day. These many considerations would
make it impossible to determine a fair basis for a subsidy.

2. A subsidy on refining capacity would put the independent refiner in a pre-
carious position after the war. With the ending of hostilities the incentive for
payment of a refiners’ subsidy would no longer he present but the refiner would
be faced with the high price of crude oil and the inevitable decline in finished
matrket prices. These two wonld ereate a condition that might spell the finish
of the independent refiner,

For example, if the subsidy to refiners would be lifted the refiner would be
in a position where he is paying more for crude oil than his finished products
would bring. At the same time he would be faced with a dropping demand on
finished products which would result in a far greater loss. The refiner would
be unable to obtain Telief until after a long period when economic adjustments
would take place in the price of the products. This interim pericd might extend
for 6 months to a year during which time the independent refiner would either
be out of business or faced with such loss that his finanecial structure would be
impaired.

3. Small independent refiners are not in a position to carry on during the
period when they are waiting for subsidy payments from the Government.

For example, we have refiners in our area who have been badly hurt because
they have not been able to receive their compensation on crude oil for a period
of several months.

Obviously, it would be difficult to administer a selective subsidy to refiners.
Elaborate audits would be necessary. Thereupon, the rate of subsidy would
have to be decided for each refiner. There would be further delay in process-
ing applications and in the meanwhile, many small refiners would be shut down
awaiting replenishment of their exhausted working capital. Finally, could a
selective refiner’s subsidy be administered with justice?

4, May we suggest as an alternate a further enlargement of the subsidy on
crude oil which is in effect at the present time and would only need to be en-
larged to bring about the desired results.

Our analysis leads us to the following conclusions:

a. 1. The refiner is unable to absorb any crude advance.

b. Subsidy to refiners is selective and difficult to administer.

¢. A crude-oil advance can be made by subsidy without any difficulty by pay-
ment direct to producers.

Submitted by composite tabulation, 14 refiners:

Michigan refiners questionnaire on operations, for period Oct. 1, 1944, through
Mar. 31, 1945

1. Total invested capital (net worth) ~-  $9,143, 647. 40

(a) Total assets as of Mar, 31, 1945_ $13, 318, 564.47
2. Net profit before taxes. $1,491, 048. 86
8. Net profit after taxes (best estimate as to taxes) _______.__. $603, 963. 79
4, Percentage of net profit (after taxes) to invested capital..__. 6. 605
5. Total barrels throughput for period (43,801 barrels per day)- T, 946, 115
6. Per barrel profit before taxes (cents) 18. 76
7. Per barrel profit after taxes (cents)_ 7.60
8. Are your operations almost entirely refining? Yes, 14

{¢) What percentage of your sales (best estimate) are on a
f. 0. b. refinery wholesale basis? 99.6
(b) What percentage of your sales (best estimate) are on
tank wagon and retail level? .4
9. Total barrels compensable crude processed during period___ 519, 514
10. Are these profits figures before any renegotiation? Yes, 14.
Are you about to obtain ceiling prices on all refined products?
No, 14.
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STATEMENT OF PAUL M. GREEN, DEPUTY ADMINISTRATOR FOR
ACCOUNTING, OFFICE OF PRICE ADMINISTRATION

Mr. Greex. Mr. Chairman, I have no prepared statement. T do
have with me copies of a rather extensive statement that I made on
these same points to the Senate Banking and Currency Committee.

Now, if that would be useful in any way, I would be glad to give it
to the committee.

The Cramraran, Suppose you give the clerk your statement and we
can insert the parts that are germane,

(The statement referred to is as follows:)

STATEMENT OF PAUL M. GREEN, DEPUTY ADMINISTRATOR ¥YOR ACCOUNTING OF THE
OFFICE OF PRICE ADAMINISTRATION, BEFORE THE SENATE BANKING AND CURKENCY
COMMTITITEE ON THE ADMINISTEATION OF TIE “ACCOUNTING METHODS” PROVISO AND
THE AMENDMENT PROPOSED BY THE NATIONAL COAL ASSOCIATION

The Office of Price Administration has been charged by the National Coal
Association with disregarding the mandate of the (Congress embodied in the
“accounting methods” proviso to section 2 (a) of the Emergency Price Control Act.

When Senator Wagner reported the present act to the Senate he remarked that
the amendment imposed “a salutary limitation on the Administrator’s diseretion
by denying him authority to prescribe the use of accounting methods conflicting
with those methods generally established in the accounting profession.” How-
ever, it had been consistent policy and procedure from the very beginning to
follow accepted accounting practice in our determination of costs even though
it was not until June of 1944 that it was made mandatory under the act.

Our accounting staff operates independently of all the other departments and
is charged with the responsibility for maintaining recognized accounting stand-
ards, policies, and procedures. We have always striven to employ for your
accounting staff the best and most professionally gqualified accountants we could
find. They have been drawn from the ranks of the public accounting profession,
private industry, and Government. Many of them are members of the country’s
leading accounting organizations, and they participate in and follow with keen
interest the day-by-duy developments in accounting eoncepts, standards, and
technigues.

WHAT ARE “ESTABLISHED ACCOUNTING METHODE”?

A basic question raised by the coal association’s criticism is: YWhat are estab-
lished accounting methods? We maintain that established accounting methods
comprise those accounting principles which have been generally adopted by recog-
nized professional accounting bodies and leading practitioners for determining
or stating economic facts in monetary terms. These principles or conventions
have been evolved out of years of experience and research in the fields of com-
merce, industry, and finance. They are still evolving. Though there are points
today on which accounting authorities may differ, it can be stated safely that
there is general agreement in the profession with respect to most fundamental
issues. And these principles or methods have been widely accepted by business-
men in determining the results of their operations, in preparing their reports to
stockholders and management, and in preparing financial statements to be used in
the sale of their securities.

We have, in all of our accounting work, sought to determine and employ
“gstablished accounting methods.” We have not, however, felt that a particular
method of accounting became an “established method” merely because it was
used by a given company or because its use was permitted for a specialized purpose
such as the Federal tax law. Instead, the accounting methods followed by a
company are measured against the body of generally accepted accounting prinei-
ples and methods followed or endorsed by the recognized professional sccounting
societies, leading practitioners, and companies. .

These accepted prineiples or “established methods” have found expression in
bulleting published: by leading aceounting organizations, such as the American
Institute of Accountants, in the professional journals, and in texts and reference
treatises on the subject. In.a practical way .they are to be found in the state-
ments of business corporations certified by independent certified public account-
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ants as having been prepared “in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles applied on a basis consistent with that of the preceding year.”
Accounting methods thus established are the ones which we consider we should
rollow if we are to arrive at accurate accounting determinations which will
permit the establishment and maintenance of generally fair and equitable prices
as required by the Act. Where the accounting methods of a company are con-
rary to these generally accepted accounting prineiples, we have not considered
thiem to be “established accounting mehods.”

WHY OPA USES THE “SUSTAINED DEPLETION' METHOD

The first specific charge of deviation from established accounting methods
leveled at us by the National Coal Association is our rejection of the so-called
percentage wethod of computing depletion in cost determination for extractive
industries and the requirement in its place of the so-Called sustained depletion
method.

To clarify the terms used here, I wish fo explain sustained depletion and per-
centage depletion. Sustained depletion is computed as follows: First, the cost
basis of the coal deposit is determined. This is then divided by the number of tons
available as determined by the best possible engineering estimates. The resulting
figure is the depletion to be charged to each ton mined. We, and accountants gen-
erally, believe this method sets tforth cost as nearly as it can be determined.

Percentage depletion is computed by taking an arbitrary percentuge of the gross
income of the properties. In the case of coal mines the statutory rate is 5 percent
of gross income, after a few specified deduetions. The highest of the statutory
rates is the 2714-percent rate preseribed for oil and gas wells. Percentage deple-
tion may be taken indefinitely, even after the cost of 4 property has beeu fully
written oft. However, the deduction may not exceed 50 percent of the tax net
incowe tor the year, determined without berefit of the depletion deduction. There-
fore, the method results in no depletion charge whatsoever if the mine using it
has no tax net income before depletion. Accountants believe this method to be
unrealistic and unsound for cost determination, whatever ifs merits may be as a
measure of tax deduction.

Percentage depletion has not been adopted for general corporate accounting
and cost-determination purposes except in the case of a few companies. The
reason is clear. By regular use of percentage depletion a company could charge
to income us depletion more than it paid for the depleting asset. But it seems
impossible to us that a company can have costs in an amount exceeding what it
paid. Yet thig is precisely what happens once the aggregate amount of deple-
tion, on the percentage method, exceeds the price paid by the company for the
mineral deposit it owns. These considerations were recognized by the United
States Supreme Court in the recent Natural Gas Pipeline rate case in which
Chief Justice Stone said:

“The Constitution does not require that the owner who embarks in a wasting-
asset business of limited life shall receive at the end more than he has put into
it. We need not now consider whether, as the Government urges, there can in no
circumnstances be a constitutional requirement that the amortization base be
the reproduction value rather than the actual cost of the property devoted to a
regulated business. Cf. United Railways v. West (230 U. 8. 234, 265, 50 8. Ct. 123,
130, 74 L. Ed. 800). 1t is enough that here the business by hypothesis will end
in 1954, and that the amortization base, computed at cost and including property
already retired, will be completely restored by 1954 by the annual amortization
allowances. As the Commission declared: ‘The amounts of amortization are
recognized and treated as operating expenses. Operating expenses are stated on
the basis of ¢cost. * * * We refuse to make an allowance of amortization in
excess of costs. To do so would not be the computation of a proper expense, but
instead the allowwcance of additional profit over and above a fair return. Mani-
festly such an additional retwrn would unjustly penalize consumers.’ ”*

Many companies which claim percentage depletion for tax: purpoges do not
follow it in their own corporate statements. Since it is not generally accepted
as an accurate determination of actnal cost by either the accounting profession
or the industries’ involved, it could not be relied on in forming a realistic
evaluation of an industry’s need for a price increase. Sustained depletion., on
the other hand, is generally employed by the coal-mining industry for other than

1 Federnl Praser Qommission et al. v. Natural Gas Pipeline Co. (313 I.:8. 575, 593 (1942)).
[Italics added.]
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tax purposes, and is generally recommended by authoritative writers on cost ac-
counting as the appropriate method to be used by the extractive industries.
It is elear that no new accounting practice has been thrust on the industry.

In substantiation of our statements as to the relative standing. of the two
methods, we submit exhibit A setting forth quotations from leading accounting
‘authorities on the subject of depletion, and Exunibit B reporting the treatwent of
depletion as shown in the certitied financial statements of 24 leading coal com-
panies filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Every one of these
24 cowmpanies chose to employ the sustained depletion method in making their
annual reports, even though some used percentage depletion for tax purposes.

THE AMORTIZATION OF EMERGENCY FACILITIES

The second alleged departure from established accounting methods claimed
by the National Coal Association concerns our method of accounting for amor-
tization of emergency facilities. In our opinion, the fact that for tax purposes
the cost of property acquired under certificates of necessity may be fully deducted
from gross income over a 5-year period does not mean that the useful life of such
assets may not actually extend for a greater or lesser period.

Established accounting concepts require that the cost of assets used in pro-
duction should be allocated on some equitable basis to the output of the facility.
Conventional accounting practice therefore demands that depreciation be com-
puted with respect to the useful life of the asset and not with respect to an
arbitrary period of time established for other purposes

If it can be reasonably established that certain emlergency facilities will have
a.useful life of less than 5§ years, this office accepts for cost purposes a rate in
excess of 20 percent. If it is reasonable to expect that the {acility will be used
and useful for a longer period, a rate lower than 20 percent will be required.
In other words the rate used will be established by the circumstances of the case,

Departure from the 5-year rate either by the company concerned or by OPA
is not in any sense a retlection on the opinion of the authorities granting the
certificate of necessity. Such certificates do not mean that the authorities
granting them have found that the facilities will be used or useful for exactly
5 years. The issuance of the certificate is exclusively a recognition of the fact
that the proposed addition is essential to the war effort and as such should be
granted the necessary priorities and allocations to construct it. To further
stimulate war plant expansion, the Congress granted the added right of 100
percent deduction of the cost of such facilities, ineluding land, over a 5-year
period in computing income-tax payments.

I may point out in passing that the War Department follows the same policies
and principles of accounting in regard to depletion, depreciation, and amortiza-
tion as does the Office of Price Administration. To formalize the existing policy
of the procurement agencies with respect to amortization, the Qﬂice of Contract
Settlement is, I understand, about to release an accounting policy memorandum
which rules out the inclusion of 5-year amortization simply because there is a
certificate of neecessity. This memorandum will be binding on the War, Navy,
and Treasury Departments and the Maritime Commission in the settlement of

terminated war contracts.
THE COAL ASSOCIATION’S PROPOSED AMENDMENT

The National Coal Association has proposed that the following provisc be
added by amendment to the accounting methods proviso:

“provided further, That determined costs for purposes of such regulations or
orders shall include, but not be limited to, deductions from gross income recog-
nized by the Bureau of Internal Revenite for Federal income tax purposes.”

This amendment would not require the use of established accounting methods
in any sense of the term.- For example, as we have shown, the method of com-
puting depletion cost which we now follow and which the National Coal Associa-
tion nmow attacks is the one followed by the coal companies themselves. The
association does not even propose that Federal income tax accounting be the basis
for OPA accounting. They propose that, in computing costs for pricing purposes,
industry be permitted to include deductions from gross revenue recognized for
Federal income tax purposes. But they would not limit industry to sueh items.
The proposed amendment would authorize the industry to take advantage of any
specialized gecounting methods:.developed by the Congress to meet the peculiar
needs and problems of Federal income taxation. However, it would not:require
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the industry to observe any of the countervailing safeguards which the Congress
may have provided since the determination of cost is specifically not to be limited
1o items deductible for tax purposes. Thus industry would be authorized to
ignore the tax law whenever it could find an established accounting method more
advantageous to it,

The chief efiect of such an amendment in many cases would be to inflate costs
for price determinations far beyond those recognized by any system of accounting
and out of all relationship to facts.

So to relate the stabilization legislation to income tax law would embarrass
the administration of both, Clearly the stability of the price structure would be
threatened if effect had to be given to frequent changes in the statutory concepts
and judicial inerpretations of income for tax purposes.

The two basie problems should not be confused. Tax laws have many objec-
tives to achieve through the definition of gross and net income which are distinet
from the objectives of the accountant in portraying as accurately as poss:ble the
actual costs incurred in the production and distribution of goods and services.
I am confident that the leaders of the accounting profession would be unanimous
in maintaining that cost accounting and its established methods should not be
predicated upon income-tax legislation.

ExomsiT A

STATEMENTS BY ACCOUNTING AUTHORITIES ON ACCOUNTING FOR DEPLETION IN
EXTRACTIVE INDUSTRIES

Paton and Littleton, An Introduction to Corporate Accounting Standards (pub-
lished by the Americin Accounting Association in 1940), page 91:

“Depletion. like depreciation, should be determined objectively, as a cost of
revenues, without reference to effect upon net income. In lien of an independent
computation in terms of cost and estimated content, the policy of using an arbi-
trary percentage of sales as a depeltion charge should be saccepted only where
conditions are such as to make satisfactory determination on the standard basis

_out of the question.”

R. H. Montgomery, C. P. A, of Lybrand, Ross Bros. & Montgomery, and coun-
sellor at Iaw, Financial Handbook (second edition, 1937), page 383 :

 “Wasting assets are those property investments which are used up in the
course of operations. Examples are mining investments of all kinds, gravel
deposits, clay deposits, timberlands, stone quarries, and oil fields. These assets
differ from investments in buildings and machinery in that they cannot be
replaced or renewed; they are converted from fixed property investments into
stock in trade and sold as product.

“The shrinkage in value of wasting assets is called depletion, as distinguished
from depreciation. Like the latter, it is a cost of production, but it is a part of
the material cost rather than the overhend. It is necessary to provide for thig
depletion or loss in the value of the fixed investment so that as the property is
exhausted the capital invested in the company will be protected. This is accom-
plished by means of a depletion allowance, which is handled smnlar]y to the
depreciation allowance. As coal is removed from a mine a charge is made against
operations or costs, and the amount is credited to the depletion allowance, The
amount of the depletion to be provided is based upon the probable output from
the wasting property, and the cost of the property less the residual value it will
have after the natural reserve is exhausted. For example, a coal mine will be
estimated to contain a certain number of tons of coal. The cost less the residual
value should be written off on the basis of the average cost per ton of recoverable
coal. Cost as here used is intended to include purchase cost plus any carrying
charges capitalized to the time mining operations are hegun,”

Charles B. Couchman, The Balance Sheet, pages 48 and 49 (published under
the auspices of the American Institute of Accountants. The Century Co., New
York, N. Y., 1924) :

%52 In some assets which are of a tangible nature the actual asset itself
or at least the ownership thereof passes away during the period of use. Such
assets are known as wasting assets, and the continuous decrease in value is
referred to &8 depletion. Common illustrations coming under this classification
are timberlands, mines, oil lands, and development lands. As these assets are
developed and as the sales are made, each sale transfers title to a eertain portion
of these assets. Some of the assets which made the timberland valuable pass
from the ownership of the company with each sale of timber. Similarly, in each
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of the other illustrations, a portion more or less great, of the asset itself passes
from the ownership of the company with every sale of the company’s product.

“It is quite customary to effect this transfer not at the time of sale but at the
iime when the product is prepared for sale. To illustrate: With every ton of
ecoal that is mined the estimated amount of asset value is transferred from the
asset of coal mines to the current asset of coal ready for sale. The result is that
the passing from permanent asset value to the current inventory asset or, a step
further, to the profit-and-loss account, is in proportion to the guantity of product
rather than in the ratio of the passing of time. The estimated -amount of coal
which the land will produce is caleulated prior to the beginning of operations.
The cost of the land divided by the estimated number of units gives the amount
by which the asset is depleted with each unit removed.”

H. A. Finney, C. P, A., Principles of Accounting 1942, page 298

“Depletion methods—Depletion is usually computed by dividing the cost of
the wasting asset by the estimated number of tons, burrels, thousand feet, or
other units in the asset, thus determining a unit depletion charge. The total
depletion charge for each period is then computed by multiplying the unit charge
by the number of units coverted during the period from a fixed nature into
merchandise.”

Accountant’s Handbook, third edition, 1943 (edited by W. A. Paton), page 630:

“It is almost universal practice to measure periodic depletion on the basis of
the relation of the amount of the commercial output for the period to the total
estimated commercial content of the property. Kester (Advanced Accounting)
describes the process about as follows:

“‘First, a unit depletion charge is established by dividing the capital invested
in the wasting property by the total number of units it is estimated will be ex-
tracted during the life of the property. The second step is to multiply the unit
charge by the number of units extracted during the period. The résult is the
depletion charge for that period.

“For example, a tract of coal land is purchased at a cost of $1,000,000, of
which the amount of $100,000 is considered to. represent the residual land cost
and §200,000 the cost of the wasting resource. The total eommercial content
of the deposit is estimated at- 38,000,000 tons. With these conditions, the unit
depletion charge is $900,000/3,000,000, or 30 cents per ton. In the first year
thie recoverable amount mined is 500,000 tons. The depletion. charge for the
year is accordingly $150,000.

“A distinetion should be drawn between the total depletion charge for the
year and the amount of such charge applicable to the income statement, If,
in the example just given, the amount of coal sold and delivered fotals 450,000
tons, and the unsold inventory on hand at the mine and breaker totals 50,000
tons, the depletion charge ineluded in inventory is $13,000 and the amount. appli-
cable to sales, $135,000 (assuming a single homogeneous class of product).”

ExHIBir B

TREATAMENT OF DEPLETION IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 24 COAL COMPANIES AS
FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

This exhibit summarizes the depletion policies followed by 24 c¢oal companies
as disclosed in the most recent statements filed by such companies with the Secur-
ities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the requirements of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. The group consists of companies whose major activity
iSsEcé)al mining and comprises substantially all such companies filing with the

Financial statements of all of these companies are certified by independent
public accountants as being “in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles and practices.”

In every case the depletion reflected in the statements filed with the SEC is
actual sustained depletion, taken on a straight-line or tonnage-output basis. In
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no case is depletion taken based on the percentage depletion method allowed for
tax purposes. The following table summarizes the situation:

R Method of deple-
Name of company Certifying accountant tion utsed in reports
o SE
1 TI§§ .imerxc%rn Coal Co. of Altegany County, New | Ernst & Ernst._._____.___.. Sastained.
Qr.
2. Ayrsdhxre Patoka Collieries Corp., Indianapolis, | Arthur Young & Co___.__.. Do.
I
3. Eastern Gas & TFucl Associates, 250 Stuart St., [-.__- A0 i Do.
Boston, Mass.
4. The Elk Horn Coal Corp., Cincinnati, Ohio. - Do.
5. The M. A. Hanna Co., Cleveland, Ohio._____ . Do.
6. The Hatfield-Campbell Creek Coal Co., Union Do.
Trust Bldg., Cineinnati, Ohio.
7. '1‘}11? Hudson &oal Ca. 230 Park Ave., New York, |.-... L+ Do.
8. I@land ‘Creek Coal Co., 75 Federal 8t., Boston, | Barrow, Wade, Guthrie & Do.
Mass. Co.
9. Tl%e Lehigh Coal & Navigation Co., Philadelphis, | Lybrand, Rms Bros. & Do,
a,
10. The Lehigh Valley Coal Co., Wilkes-Barre, Pa. . Do.
11. Lehigh Va]lcy Coal Corp., W ilmington, Del, Do.
12. The New River Co., Mount Hope, W. Va_________ Ernst Do.
13. Tt‘lg Pacific Coast Co. ., 2106 Smith Tower, Seattle, Pncc, W aterhouse & Co_.___ Do.
Vash.
14. Pe?body Coal Co., 231 South La Salle St., Chicago, | Arthur Andersen & Co_...__ Do.
15. Pennsylvania Coal & Coke Corp., Grand Central | Anchin, Block & Anchin..__ Do.
Terminal Bldg., New York.
16. The Pmladolphm & Reading Coal & Tron Co., | Haskins & Sells ____________ Do.
Philadelphia, Pa.
17. The Pittston Co., 77 River St., Hoboken, N. J_____ Eppler&Co. . _...__._.__ Do.
18. Pond (ireek Pocahontas Co., 75 Federal St Bos- | Barrow, Wade, Guthrie & Do.
ton, Mass, Q.
19. StNLO%IS, Rocky Mountain & Pacific Co., Raton, | Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Do.
0.
20. Trgﬁx-’l‘racr Coal Co., § South Michigan Ave., | Arthur Andersen & Co...___ Do.
jcago, I11.
21. The United Eleetric Coal Cos., 307 North Michi- | Haskins & Sells... Do.
gan Ave., Chieago, TIL
22, VLrgmm Iron, Coal & Coke Co., Rosnoke, Va. . A. M. Pallen & Co Do.
23, Westmoreland, Inc., I‘hxladelphm Pa__ ... John Heins & Co.... Do.
24, West Virginia Caoal % Coke Corp., 705 Atlas Bank | Arthur Andersen & Do.
Bldg., Cincinnati, Ohio.

An effort was also made to determine the methods employed by these compiinies
in calculating depletion for Federal tax purposes. Owing to the shortage of
time, no information could be obtained as to 16 of the 24 companies. Of the
remaining 8, 2 used sustained depletion both in their tax returns in the year
examined and in their reports to the SEC. However, 6 in the year examined
used sustained depletion in reports to the SEC but took percentage depletion
for tax purposes.

A supplement to this exhibit, consisting of quotations from the financial state-
ments of these companies, will be filed when the mimeographing of the material
is completed.

SUuPPLEMENT T0 Exminir B

QUOTATIONS FIOM FINANCIAL BTATEMENTS FILED WITH SEC BY 24 LEADING COAL
COMPANIES

1. The American Coal Co. of Allegany County, New York, N. Y.; certifying
accountants, Ernst & Ernst.

Nore E—The provision for taxes on income reflects a deduction for de-
pletion, based on a percentage of income (as permitied by the Internal Reve-
nue Code), which exceeds by approximately $148,000,00 the charge made for
depletion In the accounts.

74113—45—pt. 3——6
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Policy as to depreciation, depletion, amortization, and maintenance and
repairs: Depletion of coal seams owned in fee is provided for at the fixed
rate of $0.025 per ton which rate has been in effect since 1920 and, as far
as the present exeeutives know, was in effect prior thereto.

Provision for depletion of West Virginia leaseholds has heen computed
in accordance with the registrant’s past practice on the basis of fixed amountg
per ton estimated to fully amortize the asset amounts by the time the mine-
able coal in the properties has becn exhausted. During 1942 a redetermina-
tion of the tons of recoverable coal in the seams of one of the leased proper-
tiex. was made. The effect on operating results for the year, because of the
consequent change in the charge for depletion, was not significant.

2. Ayrshire Patoka Collieries Corp., Indianapolis, Ind., certifying aecountants,
Arthur. Young & Co.

5. Policy with respect to depreciation, depletion, amortization, mainte-
nance, and repairs, ete.:

(a) Depreciation, depletion and amortization: The policy followed with
respect to provision for depreciation, depletion, and amortization is to charge
off the cost of ordinary depreciable property, developed coal lands, and
general development over the recoverable tonnage at each location. The
provision is based on coal mined each year after determination of a per-ton
rate by dividing the net book value of the particular property item by the
estimated available tonnage. Trucks and trailers, considered to have a
shorter useful life- than other mine properties, have been depreciated on a
straight percentage basis of 20 percent per year. Furniture and other
equipment, which is used at all mines, is being depreciated at various rates
from 6 to 25 percent per year. Facilities certified for amortization are being
amortized over a period of 60 months from date of completion.

3. Eastern Gas and ¥Fuel Associates, Boston, Mass.; certifying accountants,
Arthur Young & Co.

The provisions for depreciation and depletion of the commercial and coal-
mining properties for the year 1943, as in the previous year, are based gen-
erally on the estimated life of the properties, including in the case of coal
reserves (owned in fee and held under leasehold), provision for depletion
and arhortization of development cost on the basis of coal production. 1In-
cluded in such amortization of development costs is the amortization of
“premiumn account” of $10,463,478.54 (not allocated by mines) on a straight-
line basis over a period of approximately 41 years from December 31, 1943.

4. The Bik Horn Coal Corp., Cincinnati, Obhio; certifying accountants, Frnst
& Ernst:

Policy- as to depreciation, depletion, and amortization; the depreciation
policy followed by the corporation is to provide amounts for depreciation
computed at rates considered adequate to amortize the cost of such assets
over their useful lives. Depletion of coal lands is computed on a tonnage
basis by using depletion rates accepted by the Bureau of Internal Revenue
as shown in revenue agent’s report dated November 23, 1923. Leasehold
equity and option to repurchase is being amortized over the life of the lease
with' Western Pocabontas Corp. (12 years from March 23, 1937).

5. The M. A. Hanna Co., Cleveland, Ohio; certifying accountants, Ernst &
Ernst:

Note E.—Depreciation, depletion, maintenance, retirements, ete. : The deprecia-
tion policy of the companies is to provide out of earnings amounts considered
to be sufficient to offset the amounts at which depreciable assets are carried,
during the estimated life of the properties., Provision for depletion and
amortization of coal and ore properties is made out of earnings on a tonnage
basis, set on the estimate of expected extraction. Because of variations in the
estimated lives of properties and equipment applicable to the various mines
and other operations, it is not practicable to state the rates used in computing
the amounts of depreciation, deplefion, and amortization.

6. The Hatfield-Campbell Creek Coal Co., Cincinnati, Ohbio; certifying account-
ants, Haskins & Sells.

Depletion policy: Depletion is based on estimates of the recoverable tonnage
of coal. Such provisions are made through charges against operations and
credits to reserves.
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s 7. The Hudson Coal Co., New York, N. Y.; certifying accountants, Haskins &
ells.

(1) During the year ended December 31, 1943, the company continued its
previous policy with respect to depletion and depreciation.

The provision for depletion is based on rates per ton, applied to coal tonnage
produced during the year, from coal lands and culm banks separately and for
the year 1943 are $0.1572 and $0.3344 per ton, respectively. The rates are based
on the estimated remaining tonnage from such sources, exclusive of undeveloped
coal lands. These rates per ton are obtained by dividing the net,book values
of unmined coal in developed lands, and recoverable coal in culm banks, respec-
tively, by the related estimated remaining tonnage. The amount of depletion
recorded is determined by multiplying the tonnage produced from each source
during the year by the respective rates so computed.

8. Island Creek Coal Co., Boston, Mass. ; certifying accountants, Barrow, Wade,
Guthrie & Co.

Nore 2.—

The policy of Island Creek Coal Co. and subsidiaries, in respect to provision
for depreciation, depletion, and amortization of physical properties has been,
in general, to charge against earnings each year an amount, based upon rates
applied to tonnage sold, which amount is credited_to reserve. These rates are
based upon the relationship of tonnage sold to the estimated tonnage available and
recoverable through operations. The reserve accumulated on the basis stated
will, in the opinion of the management, be adequate to provide for the retirement
of fixed assets as they become no longer useful through exhaustion, wear and tear,
and obsolescence.

The rates used in computing depreciation and depletion charges for the registrant
and its subsidiary, Island Creek Fuel & Transportation Co., is 15 cents per ton
of coal sold, and 5 cents per ton of coal mined by lessees. Those rates were
adopted prior to the incorporation of the subsidiary named, the business of
which was formerly conducted by the registrant. The depreciation and deple-
tion charges included in the consolidated for Carnegie Coal Corp., and its sub-
sidiary, Brooke County Coal Co., are $36,000 per annmn for depreciation and 1
cent per ton of coal mined by lessees for depletion. The depletion charges included
in the consolidation for United Thacker Coal Co., are 214 or 414 cents per ton
of coal mined by lessees, dependent on the kind of coal mined. These rates,
in the opinion of the management, will result in sufficient reserves to equal
the consolidated cost of the physical assets upon retirement or exhaustion.

The subsidiaries of the registrant not mentioned above do not have depreci-
able or depletable properties.

It has been the consistent practice of the registrant and its subsidiairies
to provide for depreciation, depletion, and amortization of fixed assets by
direct charges to profit and loss. Depreciation, depletion, and amortization
charges are not considered as an element of cost of sales, selling expense, or
general and administrative expense, and are not taken into account in
determining the value of coal inventories.

9. The Lehigh Coal & Navigation Co., Philadelphia, Pa.; certifying accountants,
Lybrand, Ross Bros. & Montgomery,

The registrant’s policy with respect to depletion is to include in the cost
of operations provision for depletion based on fresh mined coal shipped, car-
ried away or sold by lessees on the following bases:

Alliance property, $0.0226 per ton.

Panther Creek property, $0.02155 per ton.

10. The Lehigh Valley Coal Co., Wilkes-Barre, Pa.; certifying accountants,
Lybrand, Ross Bros. & Montgomery.

Depletion: A depletion charge is made on each ton of coal mined by the
company of its tenants and subtenants as follows:

Mined from fee lands, various rates, ranging from 3.76 cents to 28.9 cents
per gross ton according to region,

Mined from leased lands, various rates, ranging from 5.66 to 13.4 cents per
gross ton according to region.

These rates per ton are the rates allowed under determinations by the Bureau
of Internal Revenue or used by the company as the basis for the depletion dedue-
tion in income-tax returns and are based on valuations and tonnages as of March
1, 1913, made by the Bureau of Internal Revenue in 1921, adjusted to give effect to
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acquisitions subsequent to March 1, 1913, and to increases or decreases in recover-
able tonnages as estimated by company engineers.

11. Lehigh Valley Coal Corp., Wilmington, Del.; certifying accountants, Ly-
brand, Ross Bros. & Montgomery.

(2) The companies’ policy with respect to depreciation and depletion is as
follows:

Depletion: A depletion charge is made on each ton of coal mined by the
company or its tenants and subtenants as follows:

Mined from fee lands, various rates ranging from 3.76 cents to 28.9 cents
per gross ton according to region.

Mined from leased lunds, various rates rauging from 5.66 to 13.4 cents per
gross ton according to region.

These rates per ton are the rates allowed under determinations by the
Bureau of Internal Revenue or used by the company as the basis for the
depletion deduction in income-tax rcturns and are based on valuations and
tonnages as of March 1, 1813, made by the Bureau of Internal Revenue in
1621, adjusted to give effect to acguisitions subsequent to March 1, 1913, and
to increases or decreases in recoverable tonnages as estimated by company
engineers.

12. The New River Co., Mount Hope, W. Va.; certifying accountants, Ernst
& Ernst.

Nore G.—It is the policy of the company to provide reserves for depletion
of coal lands at deplefion rates designed to extinguish the carrying amount
of coal lands over the useful lives of the properties. Depletion rates used
are baged upon the estimated tonnage of recoverable eoal in the seams. Fixed
assets (except coal lands) are divided into two classes, namely, “fixed-plant”
and “‘special-life” assets. Fixed-plant assets are depreciated on a tonnage
basis, the rates used being based upon the estimated tonnage of recoverable
coal in the seams. Provision for depreciation of special-life assets is com-
puted by applying depreciation rates based upon the estimated remalning
useful lives of the assets. Provision for amortization of leasehold valuation
has been made for the year 1943 at the rate of 4 cenis per net ton of coal
produced. Prior to October 1, 1840, the company used a rafe of 3 cents per
net ton of coal produced and, in addition thereto, made special provisions for
amoxl-tization of leasehold valuation from time to time by direct charges to
surplhis.

13, The Pacific Coast Co., Seattle 4, Wash. ; ecertifying accountants, Price, Water-
house & Co.

The policy of registrant and its subsidiary companies has been to make such
provisions in ‘respect of depreciable and depletable propertics as is considered
adequate to accumulate reserves which will egual on the average the gross book
value of the respective properties, less estimated salvage value thereof, at the
expiration of their useful lives.

Provisions for depletion of coal and limerock deposits and amortization of
development expenditures are made at tonnage rates, determined generally by
dividing the estimated recoverable tonnages into the relative book values, applied
to the tonnage removed,

& :54 Peabody Coal Co., Chicago, Ill., certifying accountants, Arthur Andersen
[ 0. 2

The depletion provisions for the year were based upon rates, per ton of
coal mined, designed to amortize the recorded values of coal rights on the
basis of recoverable tonnage estimated by the companies’ eéngineers. The
rates used ranged from $0.0015 to $0.075 per ton.

15. Pennsylvania Coal & Coke Corp, New York, N. Y., certifying accounts,
Anechin, Block & Anchin:

The lease of eoal properties from the Clearfield Bituminous Coal Corp. is
being depleted (or amortized) at such rates as to return the investment at
or before the exhaustion of the coal. The rate of depletion used in this report
is $0.0273 per net ton of coal mined during the year,

Coal owned in fee is being depleted on the same basis. The rates range
from $£0.0190 per gross ton to $0.0921 per gross ton.
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16. The Philadelphia & Reading Coal & Iron Co., Philadelphia, Pa., certifying
accountants, Haskins & Sells:

(F) The policy followed with respect to the provision for depletion,
depreciation, maintenance, repairs, and renewals for the year 1943 is as
follows:

The Philadelphia & Reading Coal & Iron Co: Provision for depletion of
coal lands was made at the rate of $0.05 per ton on coal mined by the company
and by tenants from fee lands.

Subsidiary coal companies: Provision for depletion of coal lands was
made at the rate of $0.05 per ton on coal mined.

Reading Iron Co.: Provision for depletion of coal lands was made at the
rate of $0.05 per ton of coal mined.

17. The Pittston Co., Hoboken, N. J., certifying accountants, Eppler & Co.:

Provision for depletion of bituminous coal properties is made at rates based
on estimated recoverable tons of commereial coal. The average rate for 1943
was $0.033299 per ton.

18. Pond Creek Pocahontas Co., Boston, Mass., certifying accounts, Barrow,
Wade, Guthrie & Co.:

Nore 2—The policy of Pond Creek Pocahontas Co. and subsidiaries, in
respect to provision for depreciation, depletion, and amortization of physical
properties has been, in general, to charge against earnings each year an
amount, based upon rafes applied to tonnage sold, which amount is credited
to reserve. These rates are based upon the relationship of tonnage sold to the
estimated tonnage available and recoverable through operations. The re-
serve accumulated on the basis stated will, in the opinion of the manage-
ment, be adequate to provide for the retirement of the fixed assets as they
become no longer useful through exhaustion, wear and tear, and obso-
lescence.

The rate used in cormputing depreciation and depletion charges for the
registrant is 12 cents per ton of coal sold and for its subsidiary Marianna
Smokeless Coal Co., the rate is 15 cents per ton of coal sold. Registrant’s
other subsidiary, Pond Creek Pocahontas Sales Co. has no investment in
depletable and depreciable property.

It has been the consistent practice of the registrant and its subsidiaries to
provide for depreciation, depletion, and amortization of fixed assets by
direct charges to profit and loss. Depreciation, depletion, and amortization
charges are not considered as an element of cost of sales, selling expense,
or general and administrative expense, and are not taken into account in
determining the value of coal inventories.

19. St. Lonis, Rocky Mountain & Pacific Co., Raton, N, Mex.; certifying ac-
countants: Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co.

(3) Depletion on eoal lands and coal rights is provided for on the basis of
4 cents per ton of coal mined.

20. Truax-Traer Coal Co., Chicago, Ill.; certifying accountants, Arthur Ander-
son & Co.

Provision for depletion of coal lands and leaseholds is computed on the
basis of the tons of coal mined at rates sufficient to amortize the ledger
amounts thereof over the recoverable tonnage as estimated by company
engineers.

21, The TUnited Eleetric Coal Cos., Chicago, Ill.; certifying accountants,
Haskins & Sells.

2. (a) For several years prior to August 1, 1937, provisions for depletion
of coal reserves; mineral rights, lands, development expenses, etc., at pro-
ductive mines and for depreciation of buildings, machinery, equipment, etc.,
at productive mines, with the exception of assets shown in Schedule V to
be depreciated on a straight-line basis, were made at rates established as of
August 1, 1933, based on estimated recoverable tonnages. Since August 1,
1937, such provisions have been based upon rates revised from time to time
as a result of corrected estimates of recoverable coal made by the com-
pany’s engineers. Amortization of development expenses is being provided
only through provisions for depletion.
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22 Virginia Iron, Coal & Coke Co., Roanoke, Va.; certifying accountants,
A. M. Pullen & Co.

(2) - Depletion charges for registrant are based on unit rates fixed by the
United States Bureau of Internal Revenue. The method used by the Bureau
in determining the value, for depletion purposes, of property acquired at
the date of organization of the registrant was as follows: An estimate was
made of the recoverable tonnage as of the date the valuation was to be made
and the prevailing royalty rates were applied to these total recoverable
tonnages over the period estimated as required for the mining thereof;
the present worth of the future expected -earnings therefrom was then
determined by the use of Hoskold’s formula. Thisz method was used for
both coal and ores. The depletion rate on coal, based on the value as of
1809, date of organization of the registrant, was determined at $0.0064 per
ton; ores, $0.1245 per ton. The depletion rate on the registrant’s eoal de-
posits in Virginia, based on the value of the coal reserves as of March 1,
1913, was determined at £0.03 per tou by the United States Bureau of Inter-
nal Revenue, Coal Valuation Section.

Registrant’s coal landg in Kentucky were owned by the registrant from
the date of its organization in 1899 to Janhuary 1921, when the Colony Coal &.
Coke Corp., wholly owned subsidiary, was organized and these coal lands
transferred to it by the registrant; they were reacquired by the registrant
as of April 1, 1939, through merger of the Colony Coal & Coke Corp., with
the registrant. The depletion rate on the Xentucky coal deposits was
established by the United States Bureauw of Internal Revenue, Hngineering
Section, at $0.016 per ton, based on the value of coal depogits as of March 1,
1918. This rate was determined by dividing the estimated recoverable
tonnage into the estimated value of the coal in the ground, based on actual
‘sales made around that gate. ’

In the interest of conservation the registrant has used, for accounting
purposes, the rate of $0.03 per ton on coal mined in Virginia, and $0.016 per
ton on coal mined in Rentucky, rather than the original rate of $0.0064
per ton. The Colony Coal & Coke Corp. used the same rate ($0.016 per
ton) during the period of its ownership of the Kentucky coal lands, and
the balance of the reserve for depletion shown by its books was transferred
to registrant’s books as of the merger date. The depletion rate on ores,
based on fair value at Mavreh 1, 1918, was determined at $0.1245 per ton
by the United States Bureau of Internal Revenue, Metals Valuation Scetion,
same as the rate that was determined as of 1899, mentioned previously.

Depletion charges at above stated rates have been regularly written off
for all years.

& 23. Westmoreland Ine., Philadelphia, Pa.; certifying accountants, John Heins
Co. .

{E) The policy of the registrant with respect to provision for depreciation
and depletion charged to income account for 1943 remains without change
from that pursued during the preceding year. The rates and bases used are
in conformity with those established by the Bureau of Internal Revenue in
relation to the Federal tax liability of predecessor companies and/or, regis-
trant for prior years, summarized as follows:

(1) 1,686,.295.33 net tons mined by lessee, the Westmoreland Coal

Co., and sublessee producing tonnage of no significance, from

coal lands in Pennsylvania acquired prior to 1913 March 1 by

predecessor companies, at the cost of $0.03101 per net ton

(based upon aggregate estimated recoverable tonnage in rela-

tion to average composite cost of mineral) ________________ $52, 292, 02
(2) 533,967.55 net tons mined by lessce mentioned under (1)

from coal lands in Pennsylvania acquired subsequent to March

1, 1913, by predecessor companies at the cost of $0.09375 per

net ton (based upon aggregate estimated recoverable tonnage

in relation to average composite cost of mineral)-________.___ 50, 039. 45

Depletion for 1948 prpvided by charge against income.___ 102, 351. 47

21, West Virginia Coal & Coke Corp., Cincinnati, Ohio ; certifying accountants,
Arthur Anderson &.Co,

Provision§ for depletion were computed at rates established by the regis-
trant’s engineers which approximate the amount of the investment in
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coal lands and rights divided by the estimated recoverable tonnage. The
rates used were as follows:

Northern division, 3.45 cents per ton of owned coal produced.
Southern division, 2.830 cents per ton of owned coal produced.

. Mr. Green. Yesterday, Mr. Brown, when I was asking some ques--
tions, immediately accused me of being prejudiced against the small oil
producers, and nothing could be further from the truth. I want to
clear up that point if it needs clearing up.

I grew up in small business. I have been out there when they drilled
%ln dry holes. So I know some of the problems the small oil producers

ave.

I also want to say that what I have to say here before the committee
applies to the Accounting Department of the Oflice of Price Admin-
istration, which is my responsibility. I do not propose to make any
statements concerning pricing policy or any other policy of the Office—
accounting only.

We have been on record as to what we believe accepted accounting
practice is. "I would like to read into the record a short statement that
is taken from my statement before the Senate Banking and Currency
Committee and reprinted in the Journal of Accountancy, which is the
official organ of the American Institute of Accountants. I took out
a short paragraph or two that was in my statement.. I think it sum-
marizes pretty well what I try to establish as accounting policy for
the Office.

‘We have not, however, felt that a particular method of accounting became an-
established method merely because it was used by a given company or because
its use was permitted for a specialized purpose such as the Federal tax law.
Instead, the accounting methods followed by a company are measured against the
body of generally accepted accounting principles and methods followed or endorsed
by the recognized professional accounting societies, leading practitioners, and
companies. ' ‘

These accepted principles or established methods have found expression in
bulletins published by leading accounting organizations such as the American
Institute of Accountants, in the professional journals, and in texts and reference
treatises on this subject. In a practical way they are to be found in the state-
ments of business corporations certified by independent certified public accountants
as having been prepared in counformity with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples applied on a basis consistent with that of the preceding year.

Accounting methods thus established are the one which we consider we should
follow if we are to arrive at accurate accounting determinations which will
permit the establishment and maintenance of generally fair and equitable prices
as required by the act. Where the accounting methods of a company are contrary
to these generally accepted accounting principles, we have not considered them
to be established accountiflg methods.

I will let that stand as our statement of policy.

Now, the Journal of Accountaney, in commenting on that statement,
had this to say—and I would like to read it into the record, because 1
think it has some influence on the question as to whether we followed
accepted accounting practices.

On several occasions we have eriticized Government ageneies in their use of ac-
counting as in instrument of regulation for departing from generally accepted
accounting principles to accomplish specific regulatory purposes which we have
felt should have been effected by frank, direct exercise of regulatory authority
rather than warping sound accounting methods. In this instance we are glad to
congratulate a Government agency, and one which is highly unpopular in some
quarters, for the sensible policy enunciated by Mr. Green, with which we believe
every professional certified public accountant will agree.
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Now that is our statement of what we believe accepted accounting
practices to be, not only in the oil industry but in all industries.

We realize that small companies, many times, don’t have accountants
and they don’t have bookkeepers. We realize that they have special
problems. We take those into consideration, and should the commit-
tee desire, I can cite any number of cases where we have leaned over
backward to help small companies, not-only in the oil business but
other places. )

Mr. Brown would not agree we have done it to help oil companies,
hut there are many other cases where we have gone out of our way to
assist companies in preparing our forms to give them help of account-
ing nature.

To put it in a very few words, it has been my policy to try to operate
on a comrmon-sense basis. Accounting is largely a common-sense prop-
osition, and I don’t believe we can operate any other way.

I have talked to leading accountants in a number of places. I
have spoken before the National Association of Cost Accountants
in some six or seven States, and in every case I have pointed out the
method by which we operate, and I have said that it is my hope that
we can eliminate controls as quickly as possible.

The accounting profession, both the public accounting and private
accounting, for the various mdustries, I think, upon a check would
show they know how we operate and they are in full agreement with
what we do.

I think it is significant that Office of Price Administration accounting
has no connection with any other department. We operate on an en-
tirely independent basis, responsible only to the Administrator, and
we operate as a public accountimg firm,

So, when Mr. Judd, in his oil questionnaires, requests some figures he
has absolutely no control over the outcome of the figures he gets. In
‘other words, it is the responsibility of the Accounting Department to

.arrive at those figures and turn them over to him.

Two things should be put into the record. One is that we don’
originate any studies. We can’t go ont and make work. Certainly,
we work on an entirely objective basis. We have absolutely no interest
in the outcome of the figures. I have contended consistently, and
still say, that is the only way you can get reliable accounting informa-
tion.

It is my personal opinion that we have accounting in the Office of
Price Administration on as high a plane as it has ever been in Govern-
ment service. We have adopted and followed good business practices,
and we are ready to show that at any time anyone wants to know.

Now as to these charges that have been made against us. Mr. Brown
on three occasions, before this committee, before the Senate Bank-
ing and Currency Committee, and before the House Banking and
Currency Committee, has charged us with not following accepted prac-
tices which, if T read the law correctly, makes us in violation of the law.
X think that that is a very serious charge, and I want to defend myself
against it; that is; T want to defend the agency against it.

I have stated what our policy is, what we understand to be accepted
accounting practice. I don’t have a statement from Mr. Brown or
from any of the representatives of the oil industry as to what they
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believe accepted accounting practices are; in other words, what are
we not following that we should follow.
Now in the hearings before the Senate Banking and Currency Com-
Iélittee on page 451, Mr. Brown was asked this question by Senator
aft:

‘What about this replacement cost, is that standard accounting practice or is
that a tax allowance?

Mr. Brown answered ;

It has never been used because we have never had to raise the question of price
before, 50 the question of replacement cost has not been very important.

Now, gentlemen, I submit Mr. Brown is saying that we do not follow
an accounting practice which he himself says was never thought of in
the industry before. _

Now the guestion has been raised of last-in-first-out, and the wit-
nesses that have testified against us say that this replacement cost is
last-in, first-out. Last-in-first-out is a method of pricing inventory.
It is a method of pricing current assets. We recognize the last-in-first-
out method the same as we recognize any accepted accounting practice.
We will not let a company for its cost submission to QPA switch from
some other valuation to a last-in-first-out method unless there is some
logical reason for doing it, and then we agree 100 percent. We submit
that last-in-first-out was never intended to be used for the valuation
or charge-off of fixed assets.

Mr. Harr. Explain that.

Mr. Geeexn. Last-in-first-out means you charge into cost the last
units you have purchased at the cost at which you have purchased
them. In other words, if you buy 10 desks on 10 separate days at 10
separate prices, the last-in-first-out method of pricing would say that
the highest-priced desk, the last one you bought, would be the first
one you sold, all 10 desks being alike. It is used when you can’t
identify specific unit or product.

It is a recognized practice. One of the leading accountants, Mr.
George Ellis, of Chicago, told me a little while buck—I just happened
to think of this—that there never should be a last-in-first-out method,
that it should have been taken care of by accounting reserves. I doubt
if I know enough about it to agree or disagree, but I have faith in
Mr. Ellis’ opinion.

Be that as it may, we do accept it where it can be shown that itis a
.valid method. We insist that it has nothing to do with pricing of oil
in the ground, and we insist it has nothing to do with replacement cost.

Now should such an amendment like this be put in the act, I doubt
seriously if it could be applied to the oil industry only. It would
have to be applied to all businesses, all merchandising enterprises,
and all manufacturers. In fact, I believe personally that if some
special provision is put in the act for the purpose of helping small oil
companies that you hurt other small companies. I don’t see any way
you could get a provision of this kind in the act without making it
universal, and if it should be universal it will mean an increase in
reported cost for all industry.

In summary, as far as the charge we have not followed accepted
accounting practice in failing to use replacement cost, all I can say is
that in my opinion the charge is ridiculous.
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Now the other charge—why do we say percentage depletion is not
accepted accounting practice for cost determination. e say that
for several reasons.” Cost or sustained depletion is recognized as cor-
rect method for determining operating cost.

Now regardless of the size of the company, we submit to any ac-
counting authority that the oil industry wants to bring into the picture
the question of whether or not sustained depletion, cost depletion, is a
correct way to determine cost.

Mr., Harr. Explain both of those terms.

Mr. Green. I think, Congressman, that they need explaining badly.
I will try to explain them as simply as T can.

" Sustained depletion is an accounting method that attempts to write
off the cost of natural resources over the period in which they are
used, preferably on the basis of extraction. Now, if you have oil wells
and you estimate by your best engineering figures that so much oil
will come out of the ground on that particular lease, the sustained
-depletion method simply says that the cost that you have put into
that particular product should be written off so much per barrel on
tlfle barrels of o1l withdrawn. It stops when you recover 100 percent
of cost.

That is what we claim is right. That is what the accounting pro-
fession will suport us in saying is right.

- Percentage depletion has nothing to do with cost. In the Internal
Revenue Act there are percentage figures given for several industries.
In lieu of sustained depletion they are permitted by statute to take a
percentage of gross income for depletion. For coal companies it is
5 percent of gross income. For certain ore-mining companies it is
15 percent of gross income. There are several other percentages for
special types of metals. For the oil industry it is 2714 percent of
gross income.

- Now there is a limiting factor on that.

Mr. Hava. Over how many years?

Mr. GreeN. Forever. That is our contention, that you recover your
cost over and over again. There is no limit on the number of times
you can recover your cost. It is 2714 percent of gross income from
now on in.

Now there is a limiting factor on that, supposedly a limiting factor.
You cannot take percentage depletion at the rate of 2714 percent of
gross income at more than 50 percent of net income computed without
benefit of the depletion charge. That is a limiting factor. . But the
provisions in the law, I believe—maybe only in the regulations—are
that this can be done by leases, so that you eliminate the bad leases
and you work only on the good leases,

The net effect of that is that the overriding 50 percent of the net,
exclusive of depreciation, is not as firm as I would say it was originally
intended to be.

Should the committee want me to, I will have members of my staff
write up the details of that for submission in the record. (Refer to
exhibit D.)

Mr. Harr. I would like to have it.

The Cramsran. We would be glad to have it.

Mr. Greex. We will supply it.
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Does that illustrate the difference between the two?

Mr. Harr. Yes.

Mr. Green. Now as to accounting authorities, the accounting au-
thorities that 1 say support me in this: First, the magazine of the
American Institute of Accountants, the Journal of Accountancy; sec-
ondly, Carman Blough, director of research for the American Insti-
tute of Accountants, a former partner of Arthur Andersen, one of the
most outstanding accountants in the country, has written me a letter
covering the points at issue (exhibit D). I have a letter from Eric
L. Kohler, former executive officer of the Petroleum Administration
for War, on percentage depletion. I wrote Mr. Kohler and asked
him for this primarily for the purpose of refuting the charge of per-
centage depletion on coal companies, but the principles are exactly
the same and the letter is available (exhibit D).

I have from the chief acountant of the Securities and Exchange
Commission a letter summarizing a report of both coal companies
and oil companies. I was talking about this yesterday. We agreed
that the companies reporting to SEC were not small companies, and
therefore not of so much interest to this committee (exhibit D).

I have a letter from a former president of the American Accounting
Association, A. C. Littleton, supporting the position I have taken in
response to a question that I have asked him (refer to exhibit D).

I have a letter from the United States Maritime Commission signed
by R. E. Anderson, Director of Finance, which is not quite on thig
point, but it does state that they don’t follow income-tax practices
the same as the point we have made (refer to exhibit D).

I have talked with acconntants in a number of places. I have talked
with accountants in the War Department. I have talked with account-
ants in the Navy Department. I have talked with accountants in other
places. X am informed by the Office of Contracts Settlement that in all
their termination procedures they do not follow this special income-
tax legislation.

So far, in all, the people I talked with, there has been no one that
has disagreed as to the principles involved.

Corporations that use accountants follow the same practices that
I claim that we use. I think it was pretty generally agreed yesterday
that for the larger oil companies sustained depletion was an estab-
lished method, and the question was resolved into one of what little
companies do.

I have additional information on that this morning.

Mr. Brown and Mr. Becker both, according to my interpretation—
and I may be incorrect—have admitted that sustained depletion is
cost.

Now as to percentage depletion being recognized at more than cost,
as not true costs, first of all, as T said, it lets you recover more than
the cost of the property, how many times more I don’t know. We
could get that information from a study of Internal Revenue figures,
1 suppose.

There are two places in the law where the Bureau of Internal
Revenue itself does not recognize percentage depletion. : In the net
operating loss carried forward they do not recognize it in the law
itself. In the regulations the provisions for determining earnings and
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profits in distributions they do not recognize it. So, one place in the
law, one place in the regulations, the Bureau of Internal Revenue
does not recognize its own statutory percentage depletion,

We submit this morning that cost-depletion data are available. We
believe, and I think it is pretty generally agreed, that companies with
adequate records reflect it in their books. That was subject to the
limitation yesterday of companies that had good accountants, large
companies, the large public firms. Secondly, under tax law all corpora-
tions are required to compute costs depletion, and although Mr. Brown
says that they do not do it, if they do not do it, it 1s they who are
violating the law.

I am authorized to say that the Income Tax Unit of the Treasury
Department, Bureau of Internal Revenue, has told us this morning
that 95 percent of all operators, large and small, show cost depletion
in their reports to the Bureau of Internal Revenue, and the 5 percent
that do not show it in many cases have their assets fully charged off,
so there would be nothing in the way of sustained depletion.

The tariff survey that Mr. Brown referred to yesterday, we looked
into that a bit, and only a few of the 2,800 companies involved did not
report sustained depletion. In the survey that we now have in process
all major companies and independents have reported it. - OQut of 185
small operators reporting, all but 6 reported cost depletion and only
cne of those claimed his books were kept on percentage basis.

If T have not produced enough evidence, first, to show the correct
cost determination in small companies, as well as big, I will submit
that the principles of cost determinations are the same in large com-
panies.or small.

Secondly, if I have not proved what the practice of small companies
actually is in regard to depletion, I have these two suggestions to make
to the committee. I don’t think either one is necessary, but I am will-
ing to do either one.

According to Executive order of the President, the Office of Price
Administration has access to income-tax data when it needs it. We are
constantly writing to the Secretary of the Treasury to get access to
those figures, and we actually keep eight employees over at the Internal
Revenue all of the time. If the story is in the tax returns of these
small companies, I am perfectly willing to authorize a study to examine
those returns to find out what the truth of this thing is.

Now, if that is not satisfactory, not desirable, I have another sug-
gestion. We have an accounting staff Tocated partly in Washington
and partly in the field offices. We have 8 regional offices and 93 dis-
trict offices. I would guess that we have an accountant within a very
short distance of any o1l company you could mention in the continental
United States at this moment.

1 am perfectly willing, if the committee so desires, to pass the word
out on a priority basis to the regional accountants and have them send
men to actually look at the books of these companies, any number that
you gentlemen say, so that we can come back to you and give you the
actual facts in the company offices, if any more substantiation of my
position is needed.

Thank you very much.

The Cramarax. Mr. Brown, did you want to ask a question?
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Mr. RusseLn B. Brown. I think probably there has been some diffi-
culty in understanding more than anything else, and I would like to
clear a few of those things up.

Mr. Green speaks as though I was critical of his position. I think
what I stated in my statement was that there was an accounting sys-
tem such as replacement cost that was a recognized accounting system.

. He has established that as being true.

The next statement that I made was that they, in advance of getting
the information in here, stated that such accounting would not be rec-
ognized before the committee had had a chance to discuss that either
with them or with you. -As a result of that statement a number re-
fused to send in their questionnaires or failed to send them in. I
think that is what I said, and I think that is pretty well established
by what he said.

I intended in no way to reflect on his character. What we are try-
ing to do is get a job done.

‘If you clear that guestion it would solve some of our problems.
So, I go back to the question I asked you yesterday: What accounting
system do you propose to take care of an industry, a large number of
the members now losing money? What means of accounting do you
propose that would show that situation as to the oil industry? And,
how is he to stay in business if he can’t get any increase in business?

Mr. GreeN. Accounting systems-are not the governing factors as to
whether companies make money or lose money. Some of the most suc-
cessful companies in this country had no accounting system, and some
of the companies with the best accounting system failed. Tt is the
function of accounting, and accounting systems, I suppose, to give the
facts to the owners or managers of the business, to the estent they
want those facts. Many accountants go wrong on that when they
establish detailed and complicated accounting systems for small busi-
ness, which they shouldn’t do, and it would have been so easy for us
in our accounting work in OPA to throw in all kinds of complicated ac-
counting systems for small business. To the best of our ability we
have not done that. . . .

Certainly, we get complaints .:1gznnst our accounting, but, in gen-
eral, we have been as sympathetic as we possibly could to small busi-
ness of all kind, and to big business where it was necessary.

In other words, we have tried to do an accounting job,and I think
I am safe in saying that it is probably the most complex accounting job
undertaken by any agency, public or private. Tt has been our job to
make that work. v

As far as your attack on me, as a personal matter and as an account-
ant, that is entirely immaterial. I don’t care in the least. I do care
about how the Accounting Department of OPA has done its job.

Tt may be of interest that even the meat packers in their attacks
on OPA still have had a good word for the Accounting Department
in OPA.

mD('I)r. Russerst B. Brown. I appreciate your statement there. T still
don’t know what you want to substitute for replacement cost. Have
you any method you can suggest to us?

Mr. Green. Not a method probably in the sense you would call it a
method. I think what you should do, probably, is to get the cost
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according to established accounting practice. We maintain that is
sustained depletion. Replacement cost has nothing to do with it.

Now, then, from there on in you have got a question of getting a
price increase. I sympathize with your position. I know what you
want, but it seems to me that you have jumped on this accepted account-
ing-method proviso as a device for getting a price increase. All I am
asking, as far as my particular department is concerned, is that you
go after the price increase on the factors that are pertinent, and don’t
accuse us of not following accepted accounting practice when you,
yourself, say that the industry never thought of this before in the
hearings last March before this Senate committee.

Mr, Russern B. Brown. As you know, the statements I made in the
Senate committee are the same as I made here yesterday. The indus-
try has never kept an accounting system with the view of price fixing.
That is exactly what I said yesterday, and I say that yet. And that is
true. But still we have no formula on which we can base figures on
facts to show whether or not we are losing money.

Mr. GreeN. It is not the purpose of my shop to develop figures to
show you are losing money. 1t is not to develop figures to show you
are making a profit. Our particular job is to develop figzures—period.,
If they show the oil industry is loging money, then Mr. Judd has a
problem on his hands. If they show the oil industry is not losing
money, then Mr. Judd is clear,

The point I want to get across is that we, under no circumstances,
ever start out to collect figures with any end-product in mind. We
will summarize our figures, and we will make them available to the
committee, and under proper safeguards they are available to you.

Mr. Russerr B. BrowN. Am I corvect in my statement that cost
accounting does involve replacement cost?

Mr. Green. No.

Mr. Russers B. Brown. Ttisn’t used?

Mr. Green. That is correct. I refer you to accounting authorities,

Mr. Russert B. Brown. The next question I would like to clear up
is the one about you being prejudiced. I did say that, and I do believe
‘that, and here is what I base it on.

You made the statement yesterday that we were in a preferred
position,

Mr. Green. Yes,

Mr. RousseLt, B, Brown. That same statement was ' made by one of
your men in the Senate, Mr. Johnson. Here is the answer of one
of the oldest members of the Finance Committee to that, and it may be
of interest for the record here, and I would like to read just that
answer in referring to this favored position.

The answer was this:

It was not given for tax relief, and it was not given as a privilege. Ii was
given as the Congress’ method for determination of the best method of finding out
what the depletion ought to be. 8o, I think your whole assumption is basically
wrong.

Now, that is what I am basing my statement on when I say you were
prejudiced in prejudging our case.

Then the second point on that was that by bringing that in it is a
resort to what I think is an unfortunate and unfair thing of injecting
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a question into this issue that isn’t a proper question. The question
of depletion allowance was first injected by your Office, and it was
something on the character of attacking a witness on the stand on
trial for one type of crime and asking him, *Are you the fellow that
killed your mother-in-law,” and injecting an entirely new issue in
it that belongs in another place. That is what I think was unfortu-
nate and untair. I think you are entitled to know what I base my
statement-on. ,

Mr. Green. I may not have all the facts at hand. Certainly we
would have no reason to raise the question of sustained depletion.
My guess is, and maybe somebody here can bear me out in it, certainly
we can look up the record, that this question was first raised by the
Coal Association, where they insisted that we follow internal revenue
practice.

Your testimony before the Banking and Currency Committee is
that you asked us, I believe, to permit percentage depletion. I am
not sure whether you insisted that we follow internal-revenue practice
or not, but internal-revenue practice is the only place that percentage
depletion could come from.

Now in order to show why internal-revenue practice is not accepted
cost-accounting procedure, 1t was necessary, 1 believed, and still be-
lieve, to point these special advantages that the extractive industries
get in a tax law, and the one that gets the greatest advantage is the oil
mdustry. The have got a 2714-percent rate as against the coal com-
panies 5-percent rate, and the other companies in between some place.

The Crarraran. Mr. Green, I wish you would state those favored
positions of the oil companies.

Mr. Greex. May I write those down and subinit them in the record?

The Cramyan. That would be all right (refer to exhibit D).

Mr. Harr. We have been trying to find out what is an accepted
accounting practice. From your answer to Senator Taft at the Sen-
ate hearings I would take it that for sometime back you didn’t have
any accepted accounting practice.

Mr. RusseLn B. Brow~. We have had none at all for price fixing,
that is true.

Mr, Harr. Am I to assume from that that you have adopted this
new method in order to get a raise in the price of crude oil?

Mr. RusserrL B. Brown. I think the proper assumption from that is
this, that we don’t keep books, never have kept books——

Mr. Harx.. Has this practice you now want sprung up since the OPA
has been operating?

Mr. RusseLu B. Brown. To this extent. We want to apply our
method of accounting to some method of cost accounting that can be
used in price fixing.” That is what we are trying to do.

Mr. Harx. What I am trying to find out is this: The argument
yesterday was whether or not Mr. Green was following accepted ac-
counting practice. Now I want to find out from you—and you can
answer it yes or no—whether or not you used the method you are now
insisting on before OPA came into being.

Mr. Russerr, B. Brown. No. We have a record of that that. is
available from the facts in our books, but it wasn’t kept for price
fixing. I am trying to make that clear.
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Mr. Harn. Certainly the issue is now clear that it was not an ac-
cepted method before OPA came into existence. I am not criticizing
you, but you want that method now in order to boost your price?

Mr. Russern B. Brown. We want some method that will reflect the
facts in regard to price increase, that is right, and that is one method
of showing that.

The Cratraran. Do you have any other questions to ask Mr. Green?

Mr. Russenr, B. Browx. That is all.

The Criarmax., Have you finished, Mr. Green?

Mr. Greex, I just want to make one more statement. It seems
pretty clear that the statement that we are not following accepted
accounting practice is false. I think it is ridiculous. The case is
that the oil industry is trying to sell us some new so-called accounting
system that nobody used, ever used, as a device to get a price increase.
I say we shouldn’t accept it.

Mr. Russern B. Browx. I don’ think that is quite accurate. We
do say that an accounting system which is generally accepted, and
that is the replacement cost, 15 available for use in this case.

The Caamaran. We will hear the next witness.

STATEMENT OF DAVID F. CAVERS, ASSISTANT GENERAL COUNSEL
FOR PRICE IN THE OFFICE OF PRICE ADMINISTRATION

Mr. Cavers. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I believe
that the remarks just made by Mr. Green make it unnecessary for me
to embark on a legal argument in justification of the accounting method
pursued by the Office, but I would be happy to do so if you wish.

The Caarmaran. I think for the record it will be all right for you
to putitin. It would be all right to insert a statement.

Mr. Cavers. I would be glad to do it at a later date.

Assuming the legality of the accounting method followed

The Cuammax. Mr. Brown, would you like to question Mr. Cavers
on the legality of this method ?

b?h‘. RussewL B. Browx. I think we agreed that the method is avail-
able,

The Cuamraytan. We will excuse Mr, Cavers and permit him to file
a statement in the record. (Refer to exhibit C.)

Mr. Cavers. I wonder if I might add an additional point on a some-
what different issue. If, as a matter of price policy and not with refer-
ence to the obligations of the accounting method proviso, the Office of
Price Administration were to undertake to use replacement cost as a
factor in. determining maximum prices for crude’ oil, consideration
would have to be given to the legal obligation of the Office to make
comparable adjustments in tHe prices of other products.

If I may, I should like to bring to the attention of the committee
the fact that in the report which was placed in the record by Mr. Judd
at the start of this session of the committee, the memorandum prepared
by the National Industry Refiners Advisory Committee, on page 17,
the refiners committee points out as follows:

The point has also been made by several members that the factor of replace-
ment cost which is receiving considerable attention in relation to crude-oil costs
iz also involved in refinery operations. Practically mo refinery in the Unjted

States, except the one wholly construeted during the war, could possibly be
replaced for anything like the amount of money that it originally cost. Based
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on considerable information obtained on this point, it appears that the average
cost of typical refinery capital items is today more than 0 percent greater
than in the years just prior to the war, and if the comparisons were made with
cost for the early thirties, the disparity would be even greater. Depreciation
charges, however, are based upon historic capital costs and such depreciation
charges are certainly not being accumulated on a basis which would permit the
rep%acement of the items being depreciated on the basis of today’s replacement
cost.

Now that contention could be advanced by any industry whose re-
production costs are more today than they were at the time the capital
assets were.acquired. I suppose that includes a very high proportion
of all industry in the country.

But it seems to me what the contention of the industry amounts to
is that provision should be made in the pricing structure not for the
replacement of the capital invested in the wasting asset, but rather
for the expansion of the capital of the industry.

That contention has been made from time to time in utility cases.
The Supreme Court in the recent Natural Gas Pipe Line case, in an
opinion by Mr. Chief Justice Stone declared that there was no con-
stitutional requirement that the owner embarking on a wasting asset
business of limited life shall receive at the end more than he has put
into it. That position was reiterated in the Hope Natural Gas Co.
case. (Citations of those cases are 315 U, S. 598, Natural Gas Pipe
Line Co. case, and 320 U. S. 591 for the Hope Natural Gas Co. case.)

In 1933 the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin made an ob-
servation with reference to the contention that rising capital cost should
‘be reflected in prices, which, I think, is of relevance here. The com-
mission observed:

It is difficult to see why the consuming public should be compelled legally to
function as investor in the plant of a utility by meeting itg capital require-
ments. The provision of funds to finance enhbanced price of fixed capital is
solely the responsibility of the corporation and sheuld not be permitted by

subtle process of inflated depreciation.

In addition to the various industries which Mr. Green listed as hav-
ing percentage depletion as a method of computing tax deductions,
it should be added the lumber industry was, by changing the tax law
in 1943, authorized to take the market value of stumpage as of the
first of the year in which it was cut. I think it is a matter of com-
mon knowledge that stumpage prices tend to go up with the prices of
timber, and to allow stumpage cost to escalate in accordance with the
tax deduction would be accelerating the spiral of inflation in the
lumber field.

I think we should add. however—I am sure Mr. Green would ac-
cept this comment—that in our opposition the Office of Price Admin-
istration is not in any way indicating its opinion as to the propriety
of their use in the matter of tax deductions under the tax law.

The Crakyax. Thank you very much.

Mzr. Judd, do you want to be heard now?

Mzy. Joop. 1 would like to be heard now.

Mr. Russenn B. Browx. I think the witness has perhaps cleared up
one thing that I got confused with Mr. Hall- on. The point I was
trying to clear up is just what the witness has said, that we didn’t
keep books on a basis of price fixing. We do think that a replacement
cost is a method of cost accounting and, therefore, that was one sug-

74113—45—pt. 3—7
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gestion we had that we felt we shouldn’t foreclose until we had an
opportunity to develop the facts. . ) )

What I said previously, and what I still think, is that all we are
asking in the developing of this questionnaire is to be able to show
to the Office of Price Administration the true condition, and if it
reflects that an operator is selling his product at a price that he can-
not stay in-business, then, we want that adjustment made.

I hope I make myself clear. I am afraid I didn’t awhile ago.

Mr. Hawn. We have spent a day trying to find out what your ac-
cepted accounting method is so far as small companies are concerned,
and you said you had no accepted method prior to the Office of Price
Administration. That answers my question.

STATEMENT OF 0. D. JUDD, OFFICE OF PRICE ADMINISTRATION

Mr. Juop. Before I start like to say that Mr. Snmner Pike, who has
been Director of the Fuel Division for the last 3 years, and he has
oceupied that position without compensation, and I think it might be
of interest to the members of the committee and probably to the in-
dustry members, that Mr, Pike is available for any questioning after
this prepared statement, which is a brief summation of the entire
picture. is presented. .

The testimony of Mr. Merle Becker, Mr. J. V. Brown, and Mr. Russell
Brown, was to the effeet that the Office of Price Administration was
not carrying out the mandates of Congress in that they refused to ree-
ognize percentage depletion as being a standard method of aecounting
in the oil industry. They further represented that the questionnaire
gent out to the industry was not being returned by the various interested
producers because certain members of the Office of Price Administra-
tion had made public statements to the effect that replacement cost will
not be considered in the questionnaire computations. '

It was further alleged that the base period, namely, 1936-39, was a
depressed period for the oil indstry and therefore unfair when used
for the purpose of determining whether or not an increase in the
price of crude oil should be made. '
It was further stated that the refining interests had been permitted
to increase their prices per barrel of product and they especially re-
ferred to a 50-city survey on gasoline prices to bear out this argu-
ment.

We will attempt to answer each of these statements. :

1. The use of percentage depletion instead of sustained depletion
for cost purposes: It has been claimed by the industry’s witnesses
before the committee that although accepted accounting principles
as subscribed to by the leading accounting authorities of the country
indicate that sustained depletion is the correct cost-accounting pro-
cedure, the small independent operators to a great extent use per-
centage depletion in setting up their own books because they are
unable to compute sustained depletion. It should be pointed out
thut percentage depletion is based upon the gross income of oil pro-
duction and sustained depletion reflects cost position. Therefore in
any cost study which is to represent a factual finding the accounting
principle which deals directly with cost would appear to be of para-
mount importance and the one which the Office of Price Adminis-
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tration should use. The report. dealing with the cost of producing
crude petroleum in the United States which was conducted by the
United States Tariff Commission for the Office of Price Administra-
tion, dated December 1942, states as follows:

The method generally used by the industry in amortizing this investment {not
book investment in-leaseholds) is to divide the amount paid for the lease by
the producer’s share of the estimated economically recoverable reserves.

It is assumed, therefore, that those who made this study concurred
in our opinion that industry generally used actnal or sustained cost
depletion.

However, in order that the presently conducted crude survey will
not be impeded by the failure of small producers to report because of
their possible inability to provide sustained depletion figures, we
have agreed to survey a representative group of small producers to
determine whether or not they do have sustained depletion figures.
This survey will cover approximately 200 small independent produc-
ers and a finding will be made within 1 week from the date started.

While we feel percentage depletion should not be used for our
study, in that it permits the full write-off of all capital costs several
times during the life of a property, we do not desire to impose upon
the independent segment of the industry an impossible requirement,
if such it be.

2. Replacement cost : The industry requests that we use replacement
-cost in determining the present cost of producing crude oil and
defines such replacement cost as present finding, developmental, and
operating cost. It should be pomted out that the oil industry has
never kept its books on the basis of replacement cost. Furthermore,
no other industry keeps its books on this basis.

It is industry’s contention that unless replacement cost is used and
is accepted by the Office of Price Administration in their finding
on the erude-oil survey that industry is selling stock from their shelves
at less than replacement cost : That such being the case the oil industry
does not have any incentive to continue exploring for oil. It would
appear that the best answer to this contention on the part of industry
is the present rate of exploratory drilling and the present reserve
position of the industry.

Even after the abnormal withdrawals of 1944, the petroleum re-
serves of this country, as estimated by the A. P. 1. are at an all-time
high, and the present rate of exploration as revealed by the results
of 1944 drilling are higher than for any year since exploratory drilling
was segregated from a total of all drilling. The tabulated results
for each year since 1937, the date when the first separation was made
of exploratory and developmental drilling, shows the following trend:

Number exploratory Number exploratory

wells drilleG wells drilled
104 3, 881 1940 3,038
1043 . ___. _-3,51211939 - 2, 589
1912 3,223 11938 2,638
1941 - 3,264 | 1937_ 2,224

Tt would seem inadvisable to bring into wartime pricing an element

- & M » 2 .
which has heretofore never been used either by the selling or buying
portions of industry as a basis for determining the current price of

a barrel of oil.
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Although industry generally has not claimed that the use of re-
placement cost was an established industry practice, computations
made by oil authorities conclusively prove there was no relationship
between replacement cost and the price of oil as indicated by the

following :
Cost to
find and Price of
Year aequire crude at
per the well 3
barrel)! 2

poeeee 8
EEREE888

ITPAA, October 1941, report on crude petroleum costs. .

? Identical series given in report of Phillips Petroleum Co., costs of finding, acquiring, and producing
crude oil in the United States under conditions pervailing for the years 1937 through 1941,

1 Bureau of Mines,

It will be noted that although the above estimates of cost of find-
ing oil decreased from the 1931-34 bracket through 1935, 1936, and
1937 the price of oil increased each year whereas when finding costs
increased in 1938 and 1939 oil prices decreased. Although finding
costs still advanced in 1940 over 1939, prices did not advance. In
1941 finding costs advanced $0.0939, and oil advanced $0.12. This
latter advance certainly was the result of war demand and not because
of any replacement cost relationship.

3. Depressed period for the oil industry:

In Mr. Russell Brown’s testimony he referred to the fact that the
base period 1936-39 was a depressed period for the industry when,
according to his estimate, 60 percent of the operators were losing
money. He further testified that Mr. Leon Henderson, former Price
Administrator of the Office of Price Administration, stated in his
report as of April 1942, the First Quarterly Report, that at the time
the defense program was launched the petroleum industry was de-
pressed. The Administrator went on to point out that the produc-
tion of erude oil in Illinois had been unrestricted and that the excess
supply had resulted in weakened price structure throughout the mid-
.continent area. He also indicated that under the influence of defense
program, prices had begun to rise at a rapid rate. The Adminis-
trator’s reference was undoubtedly to the year 1939, not to the base
period, namely, 1936-39, nor to October 1941 as of the date when crude
oil prices were frozen. _

The average price for oil in the base period was $1.105 per barrel,
and in October 1941 was approximately $1.19 per barrel. This latter
price represented the highest price at which crude oil had been sold
since 1930. Also, the Burean of Internal Revenue selected the years
1936-89 as a basis for excess profits taxes for those engaged in the oil
industry, and according to the Bureau of Internal Revenue, no protest
to the use of that period has been made by the oil industry.

Further, Burean of Internal Revenue data indicates that the earn-
ings of no other 4-year period would be as favorable since 1926 and
prior to price control. '
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4. Press statements regarding the use of replacement cost: In the
first meeting of the National Crude Oil Industry Advisory Commit-
tee the members of that committee were advised that the Office of
Price Administration would not use replacement cost as a factor in
computing present costs of finding and producing crude oil.

Sometime later, inquiries from trade papers as to our attitude in
this respect made it advisable to make our position clear. We felt,
and still do feel, that it would have been a major mistake not to have
fully acquainted the oil industry with our position.

We do not subscribe to the conclusion that our frankness regarding
the standards we would employ indicated we had prejudged the issue.

5. Gasoline price increase: In the testimony of Mr. Merle Becker
he indicated that the price of gasoline had increased 92 cents per barrel
since 1941, whereas the price of crude oil had advanced but 6 cents.
The implication of this statement is that the refiners have profited to
the extent of an additional 92 cents per barrel on gasoline, while the
crude oil producers were held down to a 6-cent inerease. This impli-
catlon is not correct. The major portion of the 92 cents referred to
was comprised of increased transportation cost to the east coast, in-
creased local taxes, and increased prices for jobbers and retail dealers
in subnormal areas. The balance of the increase referred to occurred
prior to price control. To substantiate this statement the National
Petroleum News in its gasoline index as of October 6, 1941, shows the
tank-car price of gasoline as 6.77 cents per gallon and an average for
October 1941 of 6.73 cents per gallon. As of May 28, 1945, this same
index shows the average tank-car price of gasoline as .72 cents. This
index, therefore, indicates that the refining industry rather than hav-
ing increased its earning powers through increased prices is as of
today receiving less money at the tank car level than they received. in
October 1941.

While it is true that the refining interests have shown increansed
profits, it musi be borne in mind that a substantial portion of these
profits is subject to renegotiation and in addition to this fact, the
industry has made substantial investments in order to produce certain
products for the war effort thereby increasing their capital
investments.

It would appear, therefore, that the figure of 92 cents per barrel
increase in gasoline prices should not be assumed to retlect an increase
for the refining industry.

In conclusion I would like to state that the Petroleum Branch of
the Oftice of Price Administration is desirous of protecting the pro-
ducing branch of the petroleum industry to the greatest degree possible
consistent with the objectives of wartime price control and established
practices of the industry. We are ready and willing to give full con-
sideration to all valid costs related to the production of erude oil and
to authorize price adjustments when such costs indicate the need for
such adjustment.” We do believe, in discharging our duties in aec-
cordance with the mandates of Congress, and in the best interests of
the oil industry, we should not recognize nor accept the introduction
of some new method for computing costs.

The Cramsran: Mr. Brown, you may ask a question.

Mr. Jasres V. Browx. In bringing in the economices of the industry
on reserves the question of reserves is one that is confusing. The APT
reserves that Mr, Judd speaks of deal with extensions and revisions
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relating to fields discovered many years ago. That also brings out
the accounting for price fixing )

The Cuamrsax. I thought you wanted to ask a question. If you
want to make a statement, suppose you wait until he concludes.

Mr. James V. Brown. Tamsorry. Ididhavea question. Somany
questions have developed since that T have forgotten just what that was.

The Cratrsran. Mr, Hall?

Mr. Harr. No qguestions.

The Craman. Mr. Eastwood ?

Mr. Eastwoop. I think I caught in Mr. Judd’s statement an impli-
cation that we had an increase in reserves which he felt was occa-
sioned, to a large extent, by favorable prices.

Did I understand you to say that?

Mr. Jupp. I said 1t was occasioned by prices which were not un-
favorable.

Mr. Eastwoop. I understand that the east Texas field, for example,
back in 1983, had estimated reserves at a certain number of barrels,
that they had withdrawn about five-sixths of those barrels, but they
still have practically as much as was estimated at that time, which it 1s
claimed by Texas sources is due mainly to the conservation measures
used in that State. That necessarily wouldn’t be price. Wouldn’t that
be conservation?

Mpr. Jupp. I think conservation retained the reserves. I don’t think
it increased them. It would spread it over a longer period of time.

Mr. Eastwoon. I understand that there was an estimate of, let us
say, 3 million barrels and they took out 214 million over a period of
10 or 12 years and today they figure they have about the same anmount
of reserves.

Mr. Juop. That bears out our contention that original reserve esti-
mates by the Petroleum Administration for War or API are ultra-
conservative and do not represent the true reserve position. Your true
position is not reflected until 25 or 30 years after the oil is discovered.
It is purely an estimate that they make when the field is first discovered.
The reserve figures .are always subject to revision, and that is why
we use the APT figures, because they reflect those in the year the re-
visions were made and the Petrolenm for War Administrator’s figures
reflect them back to the year of discovery.

The Crmamagan, Will you insert the questionnaire in the record?

Mr, Jupn. Yes, sir; I will be glad to.

(Refer to exhibit G.)

Mr. Harr. Do you agree with the statement on the part of the two
Browns that it does cost $1.25 now to replace on the shelf the articles
they used to put there for a dollar?

Mr. Juop. No,sir; I do not. In the first place, I think the replace-
ment-cost theory which they used is not factual. In other words,
the reserve picture changes daily and that reserve picture cannot be
estimated in advance because it depends entirely upon the strikes made.
There is no valid way of saying what the replacement cost will be.

Mr. Harr. You are in disagreement with the Petroleum Adminis-
trator, are you? Hasn’t he requested a raise?

Mr. Jupp. Yes, sir; I disagree. The PAW Administrator made a
statement in Chicago that the price of oil was not holding back drilling.
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Mr. Harr. How can you answer that question definitely, however,
as to the cost of today and the costs, say, of 1939 until you look over
this questionnaire?

Mr. Juop. We can’t answer it definitely, Congressman Hall. I don’t
intend to answer it definitely. You asked me for my opinion. My
opinion is that the basis on which they asked us to compute replace-
ment cost is unsound because they use the initial estimated reserves of
PAW, and those reserves, as Mr. Eastwood pointed out in connection
with the east Texas field, are not the total reserves which should be
used.

Mr. Harwn, If this questionnaire should develop figures which might
prove your opinion wrong, might that change the position of OPA ¢

Mr. Jopp. In my opinion it wouldn’t. I wish 1 could put it in a few
words and make myself clear. The average replacement cost of a
barrel of oil to the individual oil man is a fictitious and unrelated
figure as far as he is individually concerned. What the industry
average might be has nothing to do with what the individual has to
centend with in replacing oil, because the individual’s own operation
and his own cost and what he recovers is what governs his profit and
loss position, not what the industry generally does.

Mr. Easrwoon. Didn’t you set up a 60-cent figure in connection with
the stripper-wells subsidy plan to cover some of those things that you
now say you will not allow?

Mr. Juop. No. We set up the 60 cents to cover administrative cost
and various costs in addition to amortization and depletion, and so
forth, which various companies figured on different basis. There was
no set basis for figuring those. The industry said, “We will set a flat
figure which will cover administrative costs——"

Mr. Eastwoop. None of those things inclnded in that 60-cent figure
are in section 1) of this questionnaire which you are not going to take:
into consideration?

Mr. Juop. Lifting cost, of course, isn’t, We allowed the actual
lifting cost.

Mr. Eastwoop. I was just wondering if you had any of the infor-
mation contained in section D elsewhere in yvour questionnaire, and
just specifically what part of the answers to the questions in section D
you were not going to take into consideratoin. i

Mr. Juop. Mr. Noble could give you a comment on section D.

STATEMENT OF L. H. NOBLE, ACCOUNTING DEPARTMENT, OFFICE
OF PRICE ADMINISTRATION

Mr. Norre. My name is L. H. Noble of the Accounting Department
of the Office of Price Administration. ) )

Your question, Mr. Eastwood, as to the element of cost in section D
in the questionnaire, which is the section generally considered to be
the one to develop replacement cost, whether or not they include or
do not include the cost in section E, which is to develop the historic
cost of peration—is that your question? L

Mr. Eastwoon. Prebably the way you phrase it it is much better
than I could have. I just want to find out what in section D you
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did not intend to take into consideration in your calculations. I think
by elling us which ones you won’t take into consideration——

Mr. Nosre. Both sections include the same type of costs. They
simply call for their compilation in two different manners.

Mr. Eastwoon. You mean you are including replacement cost in
section E?

Mr. Nosre. No, sir; not as such, We are including all historic
cost in section E.

Mr. Easrwoop. Historic cost, though, might posgibly represent
lower cost than replacement cost as of today or in the future. Isthat
correct?

Mr. Nosre. Yes, sit. Section E is an effort to determine what
the net results of operations would be as determined in accordance
with general accounting principles, which would be to relate expendi.
tures to actual income produced. All costs which can be directly
attributed to the income produced are to be charged against the in-
come of that.year. Whereas section D is on a cash basis in that it
requires the reporting of all capital expenditures in the year, which,
without regard to the future years, would receive the benefit of those.
But those figures are then used in an effort to develop the finding cost
per barrel. . They are to be related, as I understand it, to the reserve
diseovered -as a result of those expenditures.

They are two entirely different accounting concepts.

Mr. Eastwoop. Do I understand from what you stated that each
one gf those sections is designed to produce the same type of informa-
tion ?

Mr. Nosre, Not the same type.

Mr. Eastwoon. T was trying to quote what you said previously.

Mr. Noste. They include the same elements of activity, finding, ac-
quiring, developing and lifting, but on an entirely different basis.

Mr. Eastwoop. On historic rather than present and projected ?

Mr. Nopre. Section E takes them into cost as they are amortized
or prorated over the asset consumed, whereas section D takes them
into cost as they are expended. So it would show expenditures for
finding, for instance in the year 1944, and for developing in 1944,
whereas in section E we would merely take the amount of those ex-
penditures and any prior years expenditures which we related to the
oil lifted in 1944.

Mr. Eastwoop. Thank you.

Mr. Crammman, Had you concluded, Mr. Judd?

Mr. Jupp. T have concluded unless there are some questions.

The CHARMAN. Any other questions? Mr. Brown, would you like
to ask a question? If you have a statement we would prefer you
wait until he finishes.

Mr. Russere B. BrowxN. I want to identify an article and T don’t
want to introduce it unless it has Mr. Judd’s eriticism, because it is a
newspaper article that I understand he doesn’ agree with.

Will you tell us what is incorrect? .I don’t want to take advantage
of your position.

Mr. Jupp. Do you want me to make that verbally? I will have to
take some time to read it over.

Mr. Rosserr B. Browx. I didn’t want to inroduce it if there was
anything unfair in the statement.
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The Cmatraman. Why don’t you introduce it and let him comment
on it in the record if he desires?

Mr. Russerr. B. Brown. That is all right. I would like to have
that introduced.

(The article referred to is as follows:)

[Chicago Journal of Commerce, Monday, March 5, 1945]
It Is OrFiciaL: OPA To IcNorm CRUDE RREPLACEMENT COST: PROFIT Is BasIs
(Chicago Journal of Commerce, Washington bureau)

WasHINGTON, March 4.—Official confirmation was obtained today of earlier
understanding that the Office of Price Administration would ignore replacement
costs in its current crude-oil price survey and that it was basing its ceilings on
industry profit.

Replacement costs are not being considered in the crude-cost survey because
no reliable figures can be given, it was asserted. The industry long has pinned
its hopes of increases largely on the replacement-cost factor.

Orville Judd, Associate Director of OPA’s Fuel Price Division, stated that
new discoveries constantly affected finding costs and that benefits gained from
the discovery of one large pool which might reduce costs tremendously could
not be evaluated over a short period of time,

Mr. Judd said all known costs, such as exploration, amortization, and deprecia-
tion, were taken into consideration in preparing the questionnaire swhich has
been under consideration by the industry for the last 3 weeks.

SAYS AVERAGE OP S8 CENTS

In addition, he said, both actual finding costs for past years and a 2714-
percent depletion allowance were being granted the industry, which has re-
ceived a price increase of 8 cents from an average of $1.14 per barrel in October
1941 to an average of $1.22 per barrel at present.

The OPA executive said the agency’s policy always had been to base price
ceilings on the profits of an industry, and that increases would be ganted
in any case where net profits are not equal to those of g normal period.

He pointed out that-machinery already was set up to adjust prices to changed
conditions at any time, and explained that the cost survey was being made
in four parts to take care of any class which might need a price increase, al-
though OPA was not required by law to do so.

AMORE THAN OFFSET

Mr. Judd said petroleum reserves, the number of producing wells, and the
number of drillings all showed increases, and while production costs admittedly
had increased, he thought these had been more than offset by the 8 ¢ents a
barrel increase already granted and much lower selling costs.

As an example, he cited figures which showed the industry sold 1,680,148,000
barrels last year, compared with 1,380,000,000 barrels in the best peacetime year,
and producing wells had increased from 349,000 in the best peacetime year to
412,851 in 1944,

He said he did not think a price increase at present was justified, but that
it wounld be granted if the questionnaire showed a need for it, and that prices
would be inereased any time a definite need was indicated.

The CramraranN. Any other questions?

Mr. Harr. Weren’t you going to tell us what Mr. Ickes said ?

Mr. Juop. Oh, yes. This is Mr. Ickes speaking in Chicago, and the
source is National Petroleum News, dated December 20, 1944, page 12.

Mr. Harr. 'What was the date of the speech?

Mr. Jupn. The speech was just prior to that date. It was in De-
cember. T don’t have the correct date.

The CramyaN. Let me make this statement. . If anyone here de-
sires to be heard briefly, if he will communicate his desires to Mr. East-
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wood in writing we will arrange to hear you between now and 12
o’clock,

Mr. Joon. This answers your inquiry regarding the Administrator’s
position. This is in December 1944, This is after he made his sug--
gestion of the 35-cent increase.

Now, I am quite aware that many an oilman will tell you that this decline in
new discoveries over the last 5 years has only been temporary and has been
the result of wartime abnormatities. Give us manpower and materials, and un-
frecze our prices, they will tell you, and we will find you plenty of oil. Well,
it might be pointed out that there were no price ceilings in 1939 or in 1940, or
until late in 1941; and that there was no particular manpower or muterials
problem covering most of this period, either. It might also be said that there
have been more exploratory wells driiled during the last 3 years—in spite of
scarcity of materials and mappower and controlled prices—than ever before in
our history.

That is Mr. Ickes’ statement.

Mr. Harnr, What is he doing, knocking down his own argument ?

Mz, Jupn. T don’t know.

Mr. Jastes V. Browx. Would you tell us the total number of well
completions in those years as compared with the exploratory wellg,
their relationship with former years in the comparisons you made?
You suy wildeats arve greater now than in the previous history. What
are the total completions?

Mr. Juop. Ithink what you mean is that total completions ave down,
‘We have long contended, and so have expressed ourselves in public and
in hearings, and we believe the reason is indicated by the fact that
this decline in developmental well drilling came atter the cvder was
put out restricting materials for developmental wells,

Mr. James V. Browx. Do you know whether there are any restric-
tions on eastern wells?

Mr. Juop. You mean east of the Mississippi River or castern sea-
board ¢

Mr. Jases V. Baoww. For example, Pennsylvania and New York.
Do you know if there are restrictions on materials there?

Mr. Jupp. I have no idea.

Mr. Jases V. Browx. Do you know if the well completions have
increased or decreased in that area?

Mr. Joop. No, sir. ;

Mr. Jasres V. Browx. Could you tell us whetlrer or not the com-
pletions increased in California after the price increase out there?

Mr. Juop, Yes; it did increase. May I tell you why they increased ?

My, Janes V. Browx. I would like to have that,

Mzr. Jupp.  Because the price of heavy oil in California was at un-
economically low point. We so recognized that and advanced it. We
don’t make that same finding in regard to other oil in the country.

Mr. Jases V. Browxs. You said the tank-car prices now are less
than they were at the beginning of price control.

Mr. Juon. Yes, sir.

Mr. Jaares V. Broww. Can you tell me what the tank-car price was
on April of 1941%

Mr. Juop. T am sorry. I don’t happen to have the figures with me.
Iwill be glad to get them for you. )

Mr. Jaxes V. Browx. I wish you would enter it into the record.
Can you tell me what the PAW figures for the new crude oil reserves
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discovered for those same periods of years that you entered the
reserves in the record for API?

Mr. Jupp. You are asking me a lot of things I don’t have the ma-
terial on.

Mr. Jasres V. Browx. T had to ask a question.

The Caarryran. If you have them yourself from an authority you
are willing to use, why don’t you put them in the record?

Mr. Jaxes V. Broww. In his statement he gave erude oil reserves
as reported by API. Let me ask him if he would recognize the rve-
serves as they are prepared and reported by the PAW. They make
an estimate of the reserves.

Mr. Juon. They make an estimatie of the reserves, but we don’t rec-
ognize it. In the first place, APT is an institution that has been
established for more than 20 years. The APT is a long-established
concern. The PAW is a temporary Government agency.

In the second place the PAW reflects all revisions and extensions
back to the years of discovery. The APT reflects them in the years
which they are developed. Therefore, we believe it is more valid to
use API.

Mr. Jasies V. Browx., Mr. Chairman, may I have permission to put
in the record a statement in response to the remarks of Mr. Green and
Mr. Judd?

The Caamarax. Without objection, so ordered.

VixncENKNES, IND., June 11, 1945.
KNATIoN AL CrUsE OIL ADVISoxY COMMITTEE,
Washington, D. C.
(Attention James,V. Brown.)

De:r Jia: I have taken up with the producers here in Indiana the question
of answering Government questionnaires which the OPA submitted covering
crude petroleum costs. This is to advize you that those producers have informed
me that they filled all the Government guestionnaires they intend to fill and that
their bookkeeping system is such. that in many instances they do not have the
information «slkxd for by OPA. They also advise me that to answer these ques-
tionnaires the expense to them to have the work done would run into a sum
anywhere from $100 to $500.

The story is the same everywhere. Oilmen have been filling forms for 4 years
and have received nothing but abuse from it. Therefore, they feel that they have
done their part and that these questionnaires are primarily a fishing expedition;
that figures have been submitted time and again and they have gone as far as
they intend to.

Sincerely yours,

O. L. STURBOIS,

The Cratryviax. Had vou finished ?

Mr. Cavers. I wonder if we may have permission to put in the
record the letters Mr. Green alluded to in his testimony ¢

The Crarrarax, Yes.

Mr. Russell Brown, do you have any statement to make?

Mr. Russers B. Browx. No, sir.

The Cramratax. Do you have anything furthier; Mr. Jantes V.
Brown?

Mr. Jases V. Browx. That is all.

The CiratkmaN. Any other requests for time?

Mr. Easrwoon. Neoj; we don’t have any.

Mr. Joop. 1 would like to make one more statement. 1 made the
statement in here that we would survey 200 small companies on this
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depletion allowance. Mr. Green in his testimony this morning said
that it would be upon instruction and advice of the committee.

May I have the advice of the committee ¢

The Cramrmax. We will advise you later on.

We want to thank all the witnesses for their appearances. We
appreciate it very much.

Without objection now, the committee will stand adjourned.

(Whereupon, at 11: 30 a. m., the hearing adjourned.)

ExHIBIT A
SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT ON CRUDE O1L PRICE QUESTION

(By Russell B. Brown, general counsel, Independent Petroleum Association of
America)

To the Select Commitiee on Small Business, House of Representatives, United
Rtates Congress:

Responding to the privilege of extending our remarks to further discuss the
issues hefore this committee, we felt that our discussion should primarily be
confined to the purposes stated in the chairman’s announcement.of the meeting,
to wit : “We ghall ascertain in the coming hearings why there has been the delay;
also, whether the study is being made on the basis recommended by the Small
Business Committee.” We tried to confine our remarks on the day of our personal
appearance to those issues suggested by you. In our statements we attempted to
give our reasons for the long delay in completing the cost survey which-this com-
mittee caused to be initiated. I do not recall that those appearing on behalf of
the OPA answered any question raised by your committee in your announcement
of this meeting. T am still confused as to what their position is on these questions.

Unfortunately, the facts as set forth by us on that day were construed by those
appearing on behalf of OPA as some attack on the soundness of the theory of
accounting they use. Their presentation seemed to consist of a defense of one
method of accounting through academic discussion of abstract questions. OPA’s
petrolenm cost survey is a statistical eollection of data that does not conform to
any one method of accounting. The industry contends that since the collection of
cost data is a statistical job, all “relevant” factors in the process of finding, de-
veloping, and producing crude petroleum should be considered. In view of the
confusion that has resulted during this hearing, T feel it is well to summarize our
concept of this problem for the consideration of the committee.

The necessity of wartime price fixing required legal formulas and sanction.
In drafting our present price stabilization law, the Congress recogunized the diffi-
culty of the absence of uniform accounting designed to fix priees. The Congress
provided that the price authorities should have the advice of industry commit-
tees. This advice was not sought by OPA for oil for a number of years. It was
only after you insisted that a committee was established. .

The . National Crude Oil Industry Advisory Committee was then appointed -
by OPA. It was a representative committee and so stated to be by OPA, There
were industry accountants on this committee. So that your committee may have
full opportunity to examine the representative character of the industry com-
mittee, I attach hereto a list of the committee and their company affiliations.

After full consultation certain recommendations were made to the OPA as to
the methods that could best be employed in obtaining the information necessary
on which the OFPA should base price ceilings. Tkey suggested the form of ques-
tionnaire that could be answered by companies in the industry to obtain this
information.

The National Crude 0il Industry Advisery Committee is qualified to know the
specific, practical, and proper accounting method applicable to the problem of
determining the proper costs of finding, developing, and producing ‘erude petro-
leum. Price fixing is not a part of our normal economy. Few companies, if any,
base their book accounting with price fixing as an objective. Therefore, in order
to insure to the committee full and complete information and adviee on industry
accounting in the light of the requirements of the law governing the Office of
Price Administration, the committee invited additional outstanding and nation-
ally recognized representative industry accountants to sit with them in planning
and approving the work on the problem assigned to the committee,
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These representatives of all segments of the petroleum-producing industry
wmade available to OPA the services and advice of leading industry-engaged
accountants, skilled in the everyday practice of their. specialized profession.
These accountants, together with the subcommittee members of the National
Crude Qil Industry Advisory Committee, met in St. Louis, Mo,, with Mr. Noble,
a member of the OPA Washington accounting staff. The meeting was in session
February 1-3, 1945.

I submit separately herewith the names of the petroleum company accountants.

The recommendations of the committee were reviewed and considered by the
accountants, They participated with the subcommittee in the deliberations and
concurred in the findings which, in part were ag follows: “* * * that the
form of the guestionnaire which you proposed was not suitable for assembling
data that could be properly used in approsimating the cuuent actual cost of
finding, developmg, and producing crude petroleum * ¥

“After reviewing our ideas in detail with you and your Staﬂ‘ on several occa-
sions subsequent to the initial meeting, the committee is definitely of the opinion
that your approach to the problem would be both incorrect and misleading.

“We, therefore, submil as a recommendation of the committee a form of
questionnaire designed to furnish the necessary data to determine the complete
current cost of crude production includiug the cost of replacement of present
wasting reserves.”

OPA was furnished the names of those accountants who attended the meeting
and the minutes of the subcommittee meeting which were oflicially transmitted
to OPA.

These individuals are truly representative of the petroleum industry, experi-
enced in the technical and practical problems of management, geology, engineer-
ing, accounting, and legal phases of crude-petroleum production. These men
with years of training and experience know how to determine the cost of finding,
developing, and producing crude petroleum in accordance with a properly estab-
lished accounting method within the crude-petroleum-producing industry.

It is recognized in the accounting profession and by Government agencies “that
no uniform method of accounting can be prescribed for all * * * parties”
(Treasury Decision 5000, title 26, Internal Revenue). All accounting author-
ities agree that there is more than one established method and purpose of ac-
counting in any industry. TUnder free economy it was not the practice of ac-
countants in the preparation of profit and loss statements to report on the
methods used by management in the determination of a fair and equitable
price of the products sold. Several “relevant factors” influence the price at
which a commodity is sold. Cost accounting was developed as a specialized
branch of general accounting by which a calculation is made of the proper ele-
ments of cost of a product in such manner that the account may be used by

management to ascertain production costs, both per unit and in total for the
purpose of securing economienl, efficient, and profitable oneration and the setting
of selling prices.

The law under which OPA operates provides for recognition of the recom-
mendations of such industry committees.

The Office of Price Administration refused to use the questionnaire provided
by the industry committee. They finally agreed to add to the questionnaire pre-
rared by OPA, a section recommended by the Industry Committee, but refused
to follow the industry recommendation as to its use.

At the tirie the questionnaire was being circulated, long before the results
were available for study, the OPA through letters, public statements and press
releases, stated, and continue to state that they will uot be bound by the industry
committee’s recommendation and that they will not use cost information ob-
tained as a result of that part of the questionnaire prepared by the industry.

In an effort to collect the material from which some workable formula could
be developed, the commiftee has been diligent. Such premature publicity indi-
cating that OPA will be governed only by some inflexible predetermined method
hinders this effort.

This is the situation that we have believed to be the cause in the delay in
completing the questionnaire.

We tried to present this situation to your committee in our personal appear-
ance. I stated to your committee that it was important that OPA be directed
to follow the will of Congress as outlined in the law which we believe permits
the use of the method of accounting recommended by the leading accountants
of the petroleum industry.
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Pending the receipt of the full record which may indicate more detailed answer,
it seems to me to be appropriate in conclusion to comment upon portions of the
statement of Mr. O. D. Judd, Associate Director of the Fuel Price Division of
OPA, merely to remove any erroneous impressions that may have been created
by such portions.

On page 7 of the typewritten copy of Mr. Judd’s statement, he referred to the
“testimony of Mr. Merle Becker” concerning increases in the price of gasoline
and crude oil ginee 1941, DMr. Becker did not say that “the price of gasoline had
increased 92 cents per barrel since 1041 wheteas the price of crude oil had ad-
vanced but 6 cents,” as Mr. Judd asserted. In faet, Mr. Becker did not make
any comment at all of this nature.

There was a quotation in the statement made by me, this was not my own
assertion, but was a guotation trom the sixth interim report of the House Small
Business Commiltee and was the finding of the committee after some weeks of
study of the factors pertinent to the crude price situation, There was never a
reference to refinery profits but rather to increases allowed in the sale of gaso-
line to the consumer.

The second point in Mr. Judd's testimony relates to hig oral introduetion of an
address by Petroleum Administrator Ickes and the reading of a portion thereof.
The address was made in Chicago on December 8, 1944, before the Chicago
Couneil on Foreign Relations. The portion which was read would seem to indi-
cate that Mr. Ickes had reversed hiz 1948 stand on crude-oil prices when he made
a spirited presentation to the OPA in favor of an increase in crude-oil price
ceilings to average 33 cents per barrel. Weeks of the time of Mr. Ickes’ staff and
of hig advisers had been spent in preparing the data in support of his recommen-
dations. Following the rejection by OPA of his unqualified endorsement of the
position the independent producers had taken previously, Mr. Ickes then appealed
to the Divector of IEconomic Stabilization and again supplied much data. On
eaely occasion the recomtuendations were so-earefully and painstakingly written,
s0 thoroughly supported by factual data and reports, as to seem to the oil industry
to be irrefutable. '

Your committee doubtless identifies from memory and from the record testi-
mony of Mr. Ickes in favor of crude-oil price increase when he wuas a witness
at your hearing on April 16, 1943.

It would be most rematkable if Mr. Ickes were to turn his back on his carefully
prepared arguments in the easual manner suggested by the reading of a part of
a paragraph from his Chicago speech. e has not done so. IHis Chicago remarks
were partly in the nature of asserting a pride in the achievements of his office,
but more partienlarly in giving his view that an international oil policy is needed
which will serve as assurance against a shortage here.

As I recall, Mr. Judd’s reading of the Ickes address stopped with the assertion
that “there h:ve been more exploratory wells drilled during the last 3 years—in
spite of scarcity of materials and manpower and controlled price—than ever
before in our history.” T think it is only fair to supply the rest of that para-
graph, which was as follows:

“But let us overlook that. The fact remains that looking for oil doesn’t mean
finding it, and every oilman knows it. And so, even though I hope with every
oilinan that the unfavorable trend of the last 5 years will, in fact, be found to be
only temporary, I don’t know that it will, and neither does anyone else.”

It is necessary for present purposes fo attempt to belabor a paragraph from
a speech which was devoted chiefly to the international oil sitnation. Elsewhere
in the same speech Mr. Ickes mentioned two or three times the necessity for
encouraging exploration work at home. We have no reason to think that he has
‘eliminated as a factor of encouragement that of adequate price, which he so
elogquently #sserted to the OPA long ago, in his advocacy of a raise in ceilings and
in his rejection of subsidy as a means of encouraging exploration. There was no
evidence of withdrawal of his recomimendation of price increase.

NarIowAL CrRUDE OIL INDUSTRY ADVISORY COMMITTER
COMMITTEE MEMBER§

George S. Bays, consulting and research engineer, Stanolind Oil & Gas Co., Phil-
cade Building, Post Office Box 591, Tulsa, Okla.

Merle Becker, vice presient and controllier, W. C. McBride, Inc, 2101 Missouri
Pacific Building, St. Louis, Mo.
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D. Harold Byrd, president (geologist), Byrd-Frost, Inc., 1110 Tower Petroleum
Building, Dallas 1, Tex. ,

J. P. Coleman (petroleum economist), MeCarty & Coleman, 500 First National
Bank Building, Wichita Falls, Tex.

Wilson B. Emery, vice president and manager of production (geologist), the Ohio
“Qil Co., 539 South Main Street, Findlay, Ohio.

B. A. Hardey, chairman, Louigiana Mineral Board, Commercial National Bank
Building., Box 1237, Shreveport, La.

Edwin W. Hayes, Box 813, Independence, Kans,

James W, Johnson, Consolidated Gas Co., Shelby, Mont.

J. P. Jones, 69 Main Street, Bradford, Pa.

Raymond B. Kelly, division manager (petroleum engineer), the Pure Oil Co.,
Ihinois Producing Division, Olney, T11.

Dana H. Kelsey, vice president, Sinclair Prairie Oil Co., Sinclair Building, Tulsa,
Okla.

1, M. McClure, Box 147, Alina, Mich.

W. H. Morgan, formerly vice president, R. R. Bush Oil Co., 2790 Cherry Avenue,
Long Beach 6, Calif,

Gilbert J.. Mueller, vice president and director, Argo Oil Corp., 1104 First Na-
tional Bank Building, Denver 2, Colo.

John G. Pew, assistant to vice president and director, Sun Oil Co., First
National Bapk Duilding, Dallas 1, Tex. )

E. P. Potter, treasurer and controller, Amerada Petrcleum Corp., 120 Broadway,
New York 5, N. Y.

E. B. Reeser, director, Barnsdall Oil Co., Petroleum Building, Tulsa 2, Okla.

Carle E. Reistle, Jr., general superintendent, production department (chief petro-
leum engineer), Humble Oil & Refining Co., Post Office Box 2180, Houston 1,
Tex. !

Charles F. Roeser, president, Roeser & Pendleton, Inc., 618 Fort Worth Club
Building, Fort Worth, Tex.

Albert C. Rubel, vice president (pefroleum engineer}, Union Qil Co. of California,
617 West Seventh Street, Los Angeles 14, Calif. )

J. D. Sandefer, Jr., 908 Burch Iotel Building, Breckenridge, Tex.

N. W. Shiarella, president (geologist), Miller & Shiarella, Box 247, Owensboro, Ky.

Q. P. Watson, vice president’ (geologist). Seaboard 0il Co. of Delaware, Inc,, 417
South Hill Street, Los Angeles 13, Calif,

Howard J. Whitehill, president and gereral manager, the Whitehill 0il Corp.,
Box 867, Tulsa, Okla.

PEFROLEUM INDUSTRY ACCOUNTANTS TN ATTEXDANCE AT MEETING OF SUBCOMMITTEE OF
NATIONAL CRUDE OIL INDUSTRY ADVISORY COMMITTEE, ST. LOUIS, MO., FESRUARY
1~5, 1915

Merle . Becker, vice president and controller, W, C. McBride, Ine., 2101 Missouri
I'acifie Building, St. Louis, Mo.

James V. Brown, petroleum analyst, Tndependent Yetroleum Associntion of
America, 5300 Investiment Building, Washivgton 5, D. C.

Roy C. Busby, secretary and treasurer, the Whitehill Oil Corp., Post Office Box
&67. Tulsa 1, Okla.

A. T. H. Carnegie, head, accounting department, Sinclair Prairie Oil Co., Sinclair
Building, Tulsa, Okla.

Ralph R. Claggett, assistant controller, The Pure 0il Co., 3% FEast Wacker Drive,
Chicago, 111

J. B. Galbraith, controller, Stanolind 0il & Gas Co., Post Office Box 591, Tulsa,
Okla.

W. R. Hunter, controller, Barnett Drilling Co., Wichita, Kans.

H. C. King, controller, the Ohio 0Oil Co.; 539 South Main Street, Findlay, Ohio.

H. A. Lapham, assistant controller, Union Oil Co. of California, 617 West Seventh
Street, Los Angeles 14, Calif,

R. V. Loftin, controller, Humble 0il & Refining Co., Post Office Box 2180, Houston
1, Tex.

Marion F. Munre, eontroller, Sun 0Oil Co., First National Bank Building, Dallas
1, Tex.

B. R. Fitcock, attorney in fact, C. ¢. Harmon, H. J. Whitehill, et al, Post Office
Rox 867, Tulsa, Okla. )

A. J. Points, assistant to the president, Ashland Oil & Refining Co., Ashland, Xy.
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E. P. Potter, treasurer and controller, Amerada Petroleum Corp., 120 Broadway,
New York 5, N. Y. ’
W. A. Runkel, head, producing accounting department, the Ohio 0il Co., 539
South Main Street, Findlay, Ohio.
E. M. Skechan, vice president and treasurer, Barnsdall Oil Co., Petroleumn Build-
ing, Tulsa 2, Oklu,
Exnsitr B

SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT oN CrRUDE OIL Price Poricoy
By O. D. Judd, Associate Director, I'uel Division, Office of Price Administration

In line with the permission granted us to extend our remarks, supplementing
our testimony hefore your committee, we desire to incorporate the following in
the records of the committee’s proceedings:

Mr. Russell B. Brown, general counsel of the Independent Petroleum Association
of Ameriea, in his supplemental statement, contents of which he hag made publie,
states that we did not confine our testimony to the announced purposes of the
hearing and specifically refers to the part of the committee’s announcement which
stated:

“We shall ascertain in the coming hearings why there has been delay; also,
whether the study is being made on the basis recommended by the Small Business
Committee.” )

We had intended presenting a tabulation, at the hearing, setting forth the
dates and pertinent information relative to the progress of thie survey but through
oversight neglected to do so. We are, therefore, attaching the tabulation to this
supplemental report, -

A review of dates and explanatory notes contained in the list will indicate the
Office of Price Administration did not unduly delay the completion of the survey
but did attempt to thoroughly consult with the industry on every important phase
of the study.

In our testimony before your committee we attempted to estublish four basic
reasons why “replacement cost” as defined and sponsored by the industry should
not be included in our cost computations. The main reasons are asg follows:

1. The use of replacement cost in ecomputing industry costs is not an established
accounting practice. )

2. Neither the oil industry, nor any other indusiry of which we have xnowledge,
normally used, nor now uses, replacement cost in their own cost accounting.

8. The use of replacement cost, if once given recognition, could not be restricted
to the oil industry. The application of this new theory to all industries would
introduce a most serious and wholly unjustifiable inflationary threat to the
nationil economy.

4. Replacement cost is not the important factor in exploratory drilling that
the industry represents it to be. As indicated in our testimony, replacement cost,
computed on the basis industry recomnmends, has no direct bearing on the activities
of the individual operator or even on the industry as a whole.

One of the trade papers calls attention to the fact that although we established
the fact that exploratory drilling was at an all-time bigh, since the year 1937, when
exploratory and developmental records were first separated, we failed to indicate
how many wells were drilled by independent operators and what the trend had
been in that respeet. . .

The independent operators drilled 2,686 exploratory wells in 1944, 2,476 in 1943,
2,223 in 1942, and 2,616 in 1541.. Thus the independent drilled more wells in
1944 than in 1941. During the same years the major company drilling of ex-
ploratory wells was as follows: 1,267 in 1944, 819 in 1043, 612 in 1842, angd 519
in 1941, It will be noted that although the independents driller more than
double the number of wells the major drilled in 1944, yet the majors materiaily
increased the number of wells drilled in 1944 over those drilled in 1941. It
would, therefore, appear that ceiling prices have not prevented either the inde-
pendent or the major from increasing his exploratory efforts during price-control
years,

In these extended remarks we desive to particularly emphasize the fact that
in none of our public statements have we made any assertions which conld be
construed to indicate any prejudgment of the results of the crude ‘survey. We
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have attempted to outline our standards honestly, clearly, and conecisely. We
have always dealt with the industry in a frank, straightforward manner, and
believe the industry has appreciated our position in this respeet. Any claim that
our frankness as to the standards which we employ has had a detrimental effect
on the completion of the survey is, in our opinion, tantamount to stating that the
industry docs not desire full information as to how we will judge factual evidence
they submit to us. ‘We do not believe such is industry’s position.

November 15, 1944: Mr. Eastwood called at office asking certain information be
compiled for use by the Small Business Committee.

Novembher 17, 1944 : Information sent to the committee.

December 4, 1944 : Small Business Committee report made.

December 11, 1944 : Petition from three crude producers to form national com-
mittee.

December 12, 1944 : We secured copies of the Small Business Committee's report,

December 13, 1044: Mr. Judd ecalled on Judge Vinson to disenss committee’s
repoit and our position relative to making a survey.

December 14, 1944: Phoned Whitehill (National Stripper Well Association),
Boyd (APY and PIWC(C}, and Brown (IPAA), requesting recommendations for
advisory committee membership. )

December 15, 1944 : Received recommendations from Whitehill,

December 18, 1944 : Received recommendations from Brown,
ccember 22, 1944 : Received recommendations from Boyd.

December 28, 1944 : Decided membership of the Advisory Committee.

December 27, 1844 to January 2, 1845: Cleared acceptances with proposed mem-
bers by phone and telegraph and replaced one who refused and added two from
territories omitted by recommendations from assoeclations.

January 2, 1945: Cleared individual appointments with- Industry Advisory
Section.

January 3, 1945: Sent out letters of appointment.

January 15-18, 1945 : Committee meeting held. Cost form drawn in preliminary
draft.

February 2-8, 1945: Meeting with subcommittee in St. Louis on cost form to be
sent out. (This meeting held at request of committee.)

February 5-9, 1945: Discussing with staff and Bureau of the Budget changes
suggested by Advisory Committee, redesigning form, forwarding revised form
to subcommittee members.

February 17, 1945: Mr. J. V. Brown met with Mr. Judd and said the survey form
wonld be back from subcommittee about February 21.

February 27, 1945: Mr. J. V. Brown came over to this office to check over names
of operators selecteq for the sample, ‘

March 3, 1945: Mr, Judd called Mr. J, V. Brown re the form with changes com-
mittee had made, and Mr. Brown promised to send the form to us.

March 8, 1945: Draft of form receiveq by this office from Mr, Brown.

March 10. 1945 : Meeting on the changes to determine whether or not the changes
in the form should be made in conformity with the committee changes.

March 15, 1945: J. V. Brown called@ Mr. Judd re form.

March %S, 1945: Form sent to Graphics Section.

March 19, 1945 Form approved by Bureau of the Budget.

March 23, 1945: J. V. Brown came to the office to proof form.

March 23, 1945: Form sent to printers.

April 7, 1945: Form received from printers.

April 9, 1945 : Form mailed out from this office.

April 9, 1945: Mr. Potter and Mr. J. B. Brown met with Mr. Judd to dizcuss a
letter which was to go out from the Industry Advisory Committee asking the
trade to get the form back to us promptly and fully filled ouf.

May 1, 1945: Date for return of crude-oil cost forms extended to May 15 upon
request of committee. . (Request granted by telephone.)

May 15, 1945: Because of length of report, date for return of erude-oil cost forms
extended to June 1 upon request of committee. (Request granted informally
by telephone.) ; :

June 9, 1945: Letter sent to producers extending date for return of crude-oil
cost forms to June 30, 19435, and appealing for completion and return of forms,

74113—45—pt. 3—8
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ExHIEIT C

STATEMENT BY Davip F. CAVERS, ASSISTANT GENERAL COUNSEL For I’ricE, OFFICE
OF PRICE ADMINISTRATION, TO THE SMALL BUSINESS COMMITTEE oF THE FOUSE
OF REPRESENTATIVES ON THE APPLICABILITY OF THE ACCOUNTING METIIOnS IPRO-
viso (EMERGENCY PricE COXTROL Act, Skc, 2, I’AR. (a)) To OPA DETERMINA-
TIoNS oF I'erRoLEUM CoSTS

In the testimony before the Small Business Committee the charge has been
made that the Office of Price Administration hus failed to abide by the account-
ing methods proviso, inserted in paragraph (a) of scction 2 of the Emergency
Price Control Act by the Stabilization Extension Act of 1844, This failure is
said to spring from the use by the Office of the gustained, rather than the per-
centage, method of meusuring depletion in delermining the costs of producing
crude petrolemm and by the refusal of the Oflice to adopt the method of reflceting
“replacement cost” in accordance with a proposal advoeated by Lhe Independent
Petroleum Association of America. '

Testimony before this eomuittee by Mr. Paul Green, OPA Deputy Adminis-
trator for Accounting, has established the sarcely to be disputed fuact that the
sustained depletion method is an established accounting method in the petroleum
industry. Indeed, it may well be contended that it is the only estublished method
of measuring depletion as a cost as distinguished from a deduction allowed for
tax purposes. ,

If, however, it is assumed, for purpuses of argument, that the percentage
methot is an “established accounting method,” within the meaning of the ac-
counting methods proviso, it does not follow that the Office of Price Administra-
tion lLas violated either the letter or the spirit of that provizo by its use of the
sustained depletion method. The contrary is true.

The proviso reads as follows: “Provided, That no regulation or order shall
contain any provision requiring the determinalion of costs otherwise than in
accordance with established accounting methods.”

The Office of Price Administration, in using the sustained dapletion method,
has not required depletion cost to be determined “otherwise than in accordance
with established accounting methods.” It has clearly followed an estublished
accounting method.

What the proviso does is to prevent the Administrator from concoeting a
method of determining costs which has not achieved recognition as an “estab-
lished accounting method,” and compelling an industry to determine its costs by
that method. It does not preclude the Administrator from specifying that a
particuiar established accounting method be used to determine any cost for the
determination of which there may be two or more such methods.

There is a sound reason why the Administrator should be accorded the power
to require the use of one established method where there are two or morve. If
this were not the case, the Administrator would not be able to assnre the com-
parability of costs as between different producers using different methods. Lack
of reliability in the data obtained by industry-wide surveys and diserimination
as between individual producers would be the inevitable result.

The clear requirement of the proviso makes it highly doubtful as a nmjatter of
law that the Administrator could require thé determination of “replacement cost”
as proposed by the Independent Petroleum Association of America. The pro-
ponents of “replacement cost” have conceded that it has not been established as
an aceounting method of the petrolenm-produeing industry. Indeed, it may be
doubted whether any use has been made of the method for cost-aceounting pur-
poses. If it were adopted by OPA and its use should have the effect of depicting
the industry’s costs as lower than they are shown to be by the established aec-
counting methods employed by OPA, there is no question but that QPA would
be assailed as violating the prohibition of the proviso. I do not know what
answer could be made to such a charge, and I do not see why the faet that the
use of “replacement cost” would have the opposite effect should make any differ-
ence in OPA’s legal authority to use the method.

Actnally, the proponents of “replacement cost” are seeking a change in the
price policies of the Office of I'rice Administration in the guise of a contention
as to accounting methods. The adoption of the special policy for petroleum
pricing which they advoeate, apart from its economic implications, would raise
grave questions as unlawful discrimination in favor of the petroleum industry
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unless all industries were accorded the inflationary privilege of computing deple-
tion and depreciation on a replacement or a reproduction-cost basis.
Respectfully submitted.
Davip F. CAvEzs,
Assistant General Counsel for Price.

ExHIBIT D

OTFICE OF PRICE ADMINISTRATION,
Washington, D. C., June 21, 1945.
The Honorable WRIGHT PATMAN, .
Chairman, Select Committee on Small Business,
Uniled States House of Representatives.

DEAR CoNGrEsSMAN PATMAN : The attached materials are herewith respectfully
submitfed for inclusion in the record of the recent hearings before the Select
Committee ou Small Business. The materials include:

1. Extension of my remarks on points in favor of oil producers contained
in the Internal Revenune Code and the Treasury Department regulations,
This material was requested by you during my testimony.

2. Copies of letrers referred to in my oval testimony. Mr. David F. Cavers,
assistant general counsel for price of the Cfice of Price Administration,
asked to include these letters and permission for their inclusicn was granted
by you.

A third item was a request from Congressnian Hall for a further explination
of the provision of the separability of oil-producing properties in the computa-
tion of percentage depletion. Since this request related to the subject martter
contained in point No. 4 of the attached list, the answer to it has been merged
with the discussion of that point and no separate statement has been prepared.

I wish to take this opportunity to thank you and the cominittee for your cour-
tesy in permitting me to appear before you and for the privilege of submitting
thege additional materials.

Sincerely,

PAUL M. GREEN,
Deputy Administrator for Accounting.

EXTENSION OF REMARKS oF PAUL M. GREEN, DEPUTY ADMINISTRATOR FOR
ACCOUNTIXNG OFFICE 0F PRICE AMINISTRATION

On June 12, at the conclusion of the testinrony of Mr. R. B. Brown, Congressman
Patman gave me the opportunity to ask Mr. Browh some questions. In the dis-
cussion that followed, I listed provisions under the Internal Revenue Code and
in the Treasury Department regulations which I believed to be favorable to the
oil companies.  On June 13 Congressman Patman requested that I elaborate these
points. I am glad to comply with the Congressman’s request. Also, Congress-
man Hall requested that I submit a discussion of the tax provisions for property
separability.  Since this ig the fourth point in the series, I am combining herewith
the two statements. The provisions are as follows:

1. Use of percentage depletion

Under the Internal Revenue Code, 0il producers may deduct an allowance for
depletion equal to 27% percent of gross income provided that it is not more
than 50 percent of net income computed without benefit of the depletion allow-
ance (sec. 114 (b) (3)). In my opinion this provision is favorable to the com-
panies because—

(a) It permits a deduction from gross income which bears no relation to cost.
The Prentice-Hall Tax Serviee, volume 2, 1844, refers to this matter in para-
graph 14495, as follows:

“PERCENTAGE DEPLETION ALLOWED THOUGH NoO COST BASIS~~The words of the
statute and the legislative history do not justify the contention of the respondent
that percentage depletion is no longer allowable after the cost of the property has
been recovered tax-free.” He has cited no case in point.. HIs rulings are to the
contrary (I T. 2327, C. B. VI-L, p. 18, G. C. M. 14448, C. B. XIV-1, pp. 98, 100).
It is possible, and not unusnal, for a taxpayer to recover tax-free, through per-
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centage depletion, an amount greater than the cost of the property (Commissioner
v. Elliott Petrolewm Corporation (82 F. (2d) 193 (17 A. F. T. R. 5958); cf.
Thomas v. Perkinsg (201 U. 8. 635 (81 L. Ed. 1324, 57 8. Ct. 911, 19 A. . T. R.
53%) ; . H. E. Oil Co., 41 B. T. A. 130, 134; Cook Drilling Co., 38 B. T. A, 291).
It follows that a taxpayer may recover a larger amount tax-free through deple-
tion than he could through a sale or other disposition of the property. The statute
ignores all such inequalities and allows the deduction regardless of whether or
not cost has been recovered. Cf. Second Carey Trust, 41 B, T. A, 800, 807, 808,
afirmed (O, A. D. C.; 1942), 126 F. (2d) 526, 28 A, F. T. K. 1371 (certiorari de-
nied October 12, 1942) where no cost was proven. This petitioner had gross
income fromr these properties during the taxable year and had a depletable interest
in them. Therefore, it is entitled to the deduction of percentage depletion pro-
vided under section 114 (b) (3). (Louisiana Iron & Supply Co., Inc., 44 B. T, A,
1244. To the sume effect: H. B. Cullen et al. (41 B. T. A. 1054) reversed without
diseussion of this point, 118 F. (2d) 651, 26 A. F. T. R, 887.)”

(3) The deduction mray be taken indefinitely and thus oil producers may re-
cover, tux-free, the actual cost of their properties several times over. While
other extractive industries are permitted to a lesser degree the same type of
deductions, manufacturing and merchandising companies do not have this priv-
ilegze. They are required to pay taxes on all amounts recovered in excess of cost.

The position of the Treasury Department is deseribed by the Office of War
Information® as pointed out by Mr. Forasté in his study of Depletion in the Oil
Industry (p. 42). Itis:

“A third loophole cited by the Secretary is the provision allowing percentage
depletion for mines and oil wells. A businessman who has a. machine which
can be expected to last 10 years is permitted to deduct one-tenth of the cost
of that machine each year for 10 years. This is fair since at the end of 10
years he will have to buy a new machine. Obviously though, he should not be
permitted to deduct more than the cost of the machine. This is not true, though,
‘of mines and oil wells. Each year owners of oil wellg are permitted to deduct
an arbitrary 27% percent of the gross incomes from their wells * * * Over
the years it often means that they deduet far more than the total eapital put
into the property, These deductions continue indefinitely. In many instances
they amount to straight subsidies from the Publie Treasury.”

Mr. Forasté (p. 42) also refers to the remarks of Mr. Randolph Paul when the
Iatter represented the Treasury Department before the House Ways and Means
Comtnittee® in which he expressed the Treasury’s belief that percentage deple-
tion involves “favored treatment to a particular industrial group” and also said,
among other things: .

“Percentage depletion does not appreciably stimulate exploration and dis-
covery. It is not essential to the maintenance of stripper wells.. Its elimination
will in no way endanger-the supply of raw materials needed for the war
effort * * * We now know that the 1918 fear of oil shortages was un-
founded * #* *. Perceninge depletion cannot be justified by any special risks
in the oil industry * * * A taxpayer who uses percentage depletion and
who is not subject to the net income limitation gets the same depletion allowance
whether he capitalizes his development expenses or deducts them currently as
expenses * ¥ * The expensing of development cost is, therefore, equivalent
to allowing a double deduction, once when the costs are incurred and once
through depletion * * .* It is found that the elimination of percentage
depletion and the expensing of intangible development costs * * *° will yield
about $206,000,000 of much needed revenue, and will remove from the statute
a long.standing and inequitable privilege.”

2. Writing off intangible drilling costs as incurred

The regulations give the oil companies the privilege of writing off intangible
drilling expenditures as incurred (Reg! 111, see. 29.23 (m)-16). These ex-
penditures are part of the fixed capiital outlay and therefore should be recovered
over the life of the asset. Obviously when there is no limit on depletion charges
from the point of view of cost, it is to the advantage of the oil ecompanies to
write off intangible drilling expenditures enrrently and thus recover them in
addition to the depletion charge. Since the writing off of these expenditures does,

;I;: BattletStln;ions f?r Allt, Fel}ruury 1943, :

8 reported beginning at p. 188, in the Transcript of Hearings Bef

on Ways and Means, House of Representatives, 77th Cong, ‘g?l ses(s‘:.e (H:le ﬁ?rxgglittﬂtgg

:Il)eppigrtuigfzud Option on Intangible Costs, Revenue Revision of 1942, on Mar, 23, 24, Apr.
] ’ -
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not reduce the amount of the percentage depletion deduction, the amounts
recovered in excess of cost are still further increased.
3. Writing off of excessive amounts of expenses

All companies have many border-line items which they can find justification for
capitalizing or for writing off as expenses immediately. Examples of such items
in oil production are geophysical, geological, scouting, and other exploratory
activities. Generally it makes little difference over a period of years which
method is followed because the total amount written off is the same whether it
is done in 1 year or a number of years. However, when the cost base for com-
puting depletion is discarded it is to the advantige of the company to write off
everything possible currently. Whether it is written off or not, it is recovered
through the percentage depletion charge. If it can be written off as an expense
in addition, the net result is to increase the amounts recovered tax free.

4. Separability of properties

The Internal Revenue Code in authorizing the use of percentage depletion for
tax purposes provides that such allowance shall not exceed H0 percent of the net
income of the taxpayer (computed without allowance for depletion) from the
property, except that in no case shall the allowunce be less than it would be
if computed on a cost basis.

The Treasury Department regulations (Reg. 111, sec. 29.23 (m)-1 (i)) define
“property” as ‘“the taxpayers’ interest in each separate mineral property.”
Thus, in determining the gross income on which the percentage depletion is
based and the net income by which it is limited, the amounts relate to each tract
of land or lease, individually considered. The regulations, therefore, permit oil
operators to take percentage depletion on profituble properties, cost depletion
con unprofitable ones and, in addition, to charge off losses for abandoned prop-
erties and all current intangible drilling expenditures. It is thus quite possible
for an operator to claim percentage depletion in amounts substantially in excess
of 50 percent of his aggregate taxable net income before depletion. The privilege
of separation of properties thus allows the oil producer to break down his opera-
tion in the way mast beneficial to him:

1 have discussed these points for the purpose of showing why income tax
laws and regulations do not provide an acceptable basis for sound cost deter-
minations. My remarks should not be construed as an expression of an opinion
by the Office of Price Administration as to propriety of the provisions for the
purposes of income-tax legislation.

COPIES OF LETTERS ON ACCOUNTING PoLlcY OFFERED AS EVIDENCE IN THE TESTIMONY
or PAUL M. GREEN, OPA DEPUTY ADPMINISTRATOR FOR ACCOUNTING, BEFORE THE
SELkCT COMMITTEE OF THE HOUSE I'0 INVESTIGATE AND STUDY SMALL BUSINESS,
JUsE 13, 1945

AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF ACCOUNTANTS,
New York 17, N. Y., March 28, 1955,
Mr, PAuL M. GrEEN,
Deputy Administrator for Accounting,
Office of Price Administration, Washington 25, D. C.

Desr MR GreeN: I am in receipt of your letter of March 24, 1945, asking
that I write you a statement of my opinions on the question of accepted account-
ing practice in regard to percentage depletion, 5-year amortization of emergency
facilities, and depreciation on replacement cests. It is my understanding that
you wish to have this information for consideration in connection with the
current activities in Congress to extend the Emergency Price Control Act and
particularly with respect to the amendment to the act proposed by the National
Coal Association, which would require ‘“‘that determined costs for purposes of
such regulations or orders shall include, but not be limited to, deductions from
gross income. recognized by the Bureau of Internal Revenue for Federal income-
tax purposes.”

There is not sofficient time for me to present the matter to the iunstitute’s
committee on aceounting procedure for an official expression of opinion, so it
must be understood that this reply is entirely an expression of my own personal
views and must not be treated as though it were a statement by the American
Institute of Accountants. I should like to emphasize that I am not expressing
any opinion as to the pricing policies that should be adopted by Congress or the
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Office of Price Administration or as to the factors that should be taken into
consideration in the fixing of prices, but that I am stating my opinions regarding
only accepted accounting practices in  determining costs with respect to the
three items mentioned.

There have been a number of instances in which special provisions have been
written into the tax law for Lhe benefit of particular classes of producers. Two
outstunding examples are (¢) percentage depletion, a tax deduction allowed to
certain extractive industries for the purpose, I believe, of inducing the risk
of capital in the exploitation of natural resources; and (b) special amortization,
a tax deduetion allowed to war coutractors on facilities for which certifieates of
necesgity have been issued, a4 policy adopted to induce the investment of private
capital in facilities for the production of war materials which Government
capital might otherwise have had to supply. Obviously, provisions of this kind,
desigued to encourage certain activities by granting relief from taxation, have
no effect upon the actual costs of the ecompanies involved. Costs are not deter-
mined by legislation but are matters of faect to be determined by judgment in
the light of the circumstances involved. The eosts of a company are ifs own
actual expenses properly allocuted to the income to which they relate and are
not Lh.mge(l by the allow:ince or disallowance of an item ag a deduction from
income in determining the basis for the computation of income tax. Congress may
stipulate the items to be allowed or disallowed or the factors to be considered by
governmental departments in administering laws such as the Internal Revenue
Cede: or the Emergency Price Control Act, but it ¢cannot mmake an item a cost if
it ig not in fact a cost or prevent an item from being a cost if it is a cost.

(1) Depletion is the physical reduction of a supply of a natural resource.
Depletion of oil, gas, coal, and other minerals takes place by the removal of a
part of a natural deposit through the extraction operation. The proportion of
the cost of the whole which is allocable to the part. that is removed in. a given
period is the amount of actual depletion cost of prosduction for-that period. In
certain fields it is not difficnit to determine the total quantity of the removable
mineral supply, while in others the estimate is often difficult to make even by
experienced geologists and mining engineers, However, the problem is one of
determining fact in the best manner possible and then ealculating the portion of
the total cost of the deposit alloeable to each unit, i. e, ton of coal, barrel of ofl,
ete. This unit cost is the depletion cost of each unit extracted. In certain fields
in which it is practically tinpossible to deiermine within reasonable limits the
total number of nnits in the deposit, it is not uncommon for companies to ignore
the element of dep'etion in caluclating their costs. Under similar cirenmstances,
other compaunies have treated all income as recovery of cost until the entire
cost of the deposit is written off. Although neither of these two procsdures
is theoretically sound, one or the other may be necessary in some cases.

Whete the mincral ig discovered after the property is acquired so that the
cost does not represent the fair value of the deposit at the time it is discovered,
it has been considered proper to determine depletion charges on the basis, not
of the actual cost of -acquiring the property but on what might be called an
alternsntive cost; that is, the amount which could have been obtained for the
property had the discoveror chogen to sell it after its discovery rather than to
have kept and extracted it. This alternative cost is usually referred to as
“discovery values.” Under no circurustances does it geem to me to be proper
accounting to treat as cost any depletion figure determined on the basis of an
arbitrary percentage of sales value or income which is not caleulated to determine
the portion of actual cost or discovery value attributable to the output of the
period.

(2) Amortization under a certificate of necessity is a special method of eal-
culating a statutory tax deduction whereby the cost of a faeility for which a
certificate of necessity has been issued js deducted from income over a period of
5 yeurs, regardless of its expected productive life, which is the period over which
the cost is deducted in ihe ease of depreciation. Bath amortization and depre-
ciation are based on the cost of the faeility to the accounting owuer. For ae-
counting purposes the depreciable portion of the cost of a tduhtv should be
charged off over its antlcﬂpa!ed life of usefulness to its present owner in such a
manner as to charge to income in each pertod of such life, in a systematic manner,
the amount of cost properly chargeable to that inecome. The speeial amortization
allowed for tax purposes arbitrarily spreads the cost of a facility over the first 5
years of its life, irrespective of whether it will be useful to its owner in producing
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income for a period of 5 years or of 50 years. "If the anticipated life of the asset
is less than 5 years, the depreciation deduction would be taken for tax purposes,
because it would exceed the amortization allowance. The only situation under
which amortization for tax purposes based on a certificiite of necessity will co-
incide with depreciation buased upon a proper accounting method of gpreading
cost is when the useful life of the facility is expected to be exactly 60 months
and it is not expected to have any salvage value, The merc fact that the cost can
be written off for tax purposes in the first 5 years of the life of an agset expected
to have 80 years ol usefulness to i{s present owner does not thereby make the cost
of acquiring that asset alloeable to the goods produced in the first 5 years and
relieve the produection of. the Jast 45 years from depreciatiou cost.

It must be recognized that certificates of necessity have been issuned for gssets
which, although cssential to the war effort and therefare eligible for a certificate,
will be very useful to their owners over periods much longer than 5 years. If
certificates of necessity for 100 percent of the cost of such assets were issued, it is
clear that amortization for tax purposes would not measure the cost attri-
butable to the income of the amortization period. If eertificutes for only 85 per-
cent of the costs were issued to cover the exeess of waitime acquisition costs over
normul cogts, there may be sound justification for treating the munortization of
the 35 percent over the war period as 4 proper cost of the income of that period.
On the other hand, there have been many certificates of necessity issued for assets
which have a physical life capable of much more than 60 wmonths’ service but
which will be of no usceful value to their wartime owners after they cease to
produce materials for war. Although the resale or salvage value of such assets
may be more than their serap value, nevertheless the excess of thelr cost over
their estimated resale, salvage, or serap value should be spread over their war-
time production. The principle that should be followed in every ease is to
systematieally spread the amount by which the cost of the asset exceeds its esti-
mated disposal value at the end of its anticipated usefulness to its present owner
over that period of usefulness. If sueh a precedure should result in the same
amount ns that allowed as a deduction for tax purposes under section 124 of the
Internal Revenue Code it would be purely accidental.

If the emergency period ends, or he receives a certificate of nonnecessity bhefore
the 60 months have expired, the owner of the facility covered by a certificate
of necessity may elect to recompute his tax deductions over that portion of the
life of the facility which expired prior to the end of the emergency period, or he
may elect to write off the unamortized portion of the cost over the remaining life
of the tacility, Obriously, these are tax elections and have no relationship to
actual cost.

(8) Accounting rests basically upon costs and their proper allocation to the
income of the fiseal periods to which they relate. As discussed above, deprecia-
tion cost for a fiscal period results from the proper allocation of the total depre-
ciable portion of the cost of a facility to the several periods during whieh it is
expected to be useful. The depreciation of a productive facility alleeable to o
fiseal period is part of the cost of the goods produced by it during thut period.
It is not considered good business practice to write properties up and down with
fluctnations in their market value or in their cost of reproduction. To do so
would result in such an absence of objective measurements and such finctuations
of charges for depreciation that the financial statements would be of little value,
It follows that in the absence of unusual circumstances the accepted basis of de-
precintion ig the cost of the facility and not its current value. 1t is only in un-
usual and extraordinary cuses, such as permanent, material change in the general
price level, a reorganization or quasi-reorganization, that vecognition may be
given on a company's books to the current value of its assets, In those cases in
which appreciation is recorded on the books, the depreciation on the appreciated
value is treated as a charge to operations.

It mmsi be récognized that assets which have been fully deprecinted on the
books may continue to have operating value; in other words, they may have been
written off too rapidly. In such a case there may be justification for re-
vising the depreciation schedule to permit the charging of an appropriate part of
the cost to current periods. In case the aszet has materially increased in valne
sinee its acquigition, it is generally recognized that the owher hag an advantage
in costs over his competitors who had to acquire identieal facilities at higher
costs. . It is not considered good practice to adjust the costs in such cases to equal
those of the competitor, since the costs are actually different.
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This is a rather brief statement of my views with respect to the three matters
you have in question, but I hope I have made my position clear. If not, I shall
I shall be glud to have you let e know.

Very truly yours,
CarMmaAN G.-BroueH, Director of Research.

UNIVERSITY OF ILLINOIS,
Urbana, Itl., March 16, 1945.
Mr. P. M. GREEN,
Director, Accounting Department,
Office of Price Administration, Washington, D. C.

Dreag Me. GreEN: I am glad to give you my views on the questions you raise
about methods of determining certain kinds of operating costs. But, first, some
preliminary observations. ’

In my opinion, the primary function of accounting runs strongly to the pres-
entation of objective facts, and when that is not possible, to the nearest
approach to that ideal. Stated negatively, I do not conceive it 'to be the func-
tion of accounting to present values, since values must be subjective in the
nature of the case and, therefore, except in figures that have momentary sig-
nificance only, are beyond trustworthy factual presentation.

The accounting presentation of operating costs should harmonize with this
function of accounting. In no other way can we accomplish the periodic match-
ing of revenues earned with the relevant costs sustained. And no other group-
ing of figures is more basic to the main purpose of accounting than this. We
can therefore say that operating costs should reflect acquisition prices as closely
as possible rather than attempt to state values of some sort.

Now, in more detail. The problem of operating costs can usually be stated this
way: What cost is most relevant to the revenue of a given period? You raise
the specific problem of depletion in extractive industries, asking: What is the
proper amount to deduct from periodic revenue for depletion? My answer is,
cost—that part of outlay price which is reasonably connected with the gquantity
of material sold in the given period. What that figure would be depends on
cerfain facts: (1) Capital investment in ore bodies and (2) the proportion of the
total ore body that engineers estimate bas been currently recovered. The same
problem of making an accounting allocation of outlay costs over several periods
is met in simpler form when we assign one-sixth of the cost of a 6 months’ supply
of boiler c¢oal to a monthly account for power costs.

It is sometimes argued that such allocation estimates are unreliable and a valu-
aiton approach favored instead. But is the alternative any more reliable as an
objective determination of relevant facts? For example, it may seem simpler to
deduct a percentage for profit and expenses from selling price to derive a re-
mainder to express cost of material sold. But the very essence of accounting
is to find out—by comparing separately determined césts and separately deter-
mined revenues—whether the interaction of economic forces has in fact gen-
erated a margin of profit. To start with revenue from sales and work back
to deplation cost is equlvalent to assnming what the calenlation seeks to demon-
strate; i. e, that such-and-such amount of profit or loss has been generated.

It is of course difficult to make dependable estimates of the proportion of the
ore body extracted. But the difficulty is due to a human limitation which men
can learn to make reasonable allowances for; the other calculation, however,
is a clear distortion of the logical relation of facts, and no amount of exupediency
can justify its results as superior in truth to results that rest upon known in-
vestments and careful engineering estimates of ore hdodies.

You also mention operating costs arising nnder certificates of necessity and the
short-run amortization of emergency facilities, asking : What is the proper determ-
ination of the amount to he deducted from revenue? -

The eircumstances deseribed arise out of conditions requiring speedy execu-
tion. To bring abouf top production quickly and to protect the enterprise
from canital loss from useless assets remaining, it is agreed for tax purposes,
ete, that the investment shall be written off over a shorter period than the
phraically usefnl life of the asset wonld normally he. If anv usefniness remaing
in the assets after the emergency (the whole enst having heen received for emer-
revenne), thig usefuiness, if any, becomes in effect a premium received for emer-
gency serviees rendered. Buf from the noint of view of eost determination (as
a reenlar part of nrofit determinsation). aceounting must allocate enuipment costs
(outlay price) over the time of the equipment’s whole useful life. Accounting
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cannot justify future operating cost figures if these fail to reflect the use of as-
sets actually used, as would be the case if physical assets were used in produc-
tion after their money cost had been wholly written off against revenue,

Again it is a question of fact versus opinion. The opinion that prices should
be granted to producers that are high enough to cover quick write-off of full
equipment cost may be desirable and reasonable under the circumstances. But
that view, made into a tax rule, does not establish an accounting principle.

The final question of fact eannot be conclusively established until postwar con-
ditions reveal how much of the fully charged off equipment is actually useful
for postwar production. Accountants therefore would be more likely to con-
sider as truest operating costs those based upon a careful study of probable
postwar equipment usefulness rather than those based upon an expedient rule of
b years’ amortization for all types of equipment.

A third question asks: What is the proper determination of depreciation as
between a basis of outlay cost and one of current replacement price of similar
equipment? Because the function of accounting is to determine profit as far as
it ean by the use of objectively ascertained facts that are fully relevant to the
enterprise in question, accountants persist in charging depreciation as a periodie
allocation of actual outlay costs of the enterprise. Replacement prices are not
facts that are relevant to an enterprise which has not yet paid those prices.
And depreciation accounting is not entered upon for the purpese of building up
reserved  assets sufficient to cover the purchase of higher-priced equivalent
equipment. These higher prices must be financed in somie other way, becanse
depreciation accounting serves only to allocate to successive periods a previously
determined ouflay cost.

So I end as I began: Accounting should reflect costs-rather than values,

Sincerely yours,
A. C. LitTtLeETON, Profcssor of Accountancy.

BIOGRAPHICAL NOTE

A. C. Littleton, Ph. D., certified public accountant (I11.): In 1912 3Mr. Littleton
became a practicing public accountant. Since 1915 he has been a member of the
accounting faculty at the University of Illinois. At one time he was the national
president of the American Accounting Association, and for-several years subse-
quent to 1937 he was codirector of research of the American Accounting Associa-
tion. .

His publications include extensive writings on accounting history and theory.
He is coauthor of An Introduction to Corporate Accounting Stundards and is the
author of Accounting Evolution to 1900, published under the auspices of the
American Institute of Accountants.

) CHicaco, March 19, 1945.
Mr. PaurL M. GreEeN,
Deputy Administrator for Accounting,
Office of Price Administration, Washington, D. C.

Dear Mz, GReeN : You have asked me the question: Is it good accounting prae-
tice for a company mining coal to record in its accounts, and thus to have its
financial statements reflect (¢) depletion on coal deposits equal to 5 pereent of
the gross income from the property, or (b) accelerated depreciation, depletion, or
amortization of 20 percent per annuin on “emergency”’ facilities necessary in the
interest of national defense?

The answer is the same in both cases: a decided “No.” Books of account
and financial statements should reflect the proration of the eost of limited-life
assets over the period of their economie usefulness or over units of cutput or
service flowing from such assets. The measure of the flow (often called expired
utility) eannot be made by adopting the arbitrary percentages mentioned. in the
question.. The “5 percent of gross” is an expense allowance for tax purposes in
lieu of depletion based on cost which was originally put in the Internal Revenue
Code by Congress as a simplification; it is not an industry “average” and was
not intended to be reflected in the books of account but only in the computation
of taxable net income. The 20-percent allowance on properties contributing to
the war was simply an inducement offered to businessmen in computing taxable
net income in an effort to get them to convert to the produetion of the materials
of war: it had no relation to thelength of the war nor to the period during which
the assets would be in use; and it does not need to be spread in the records or
shown on the financial statements.
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Methods of accounting and the principles underlying them for coal producers
have been in effect for many years and they have not been changed by the war.
The standard practice for obtaining the annual depletion or expired utility of
wasting assets such. as coal lands (and often property improvements at or near
the mouth of the mine) is first, to obtain a rate by dividing (@) cost less previous
years’ accumulations of depletion computations by (b) the actual yield in tons
during the current year plus the estimated production in future years; and
second, to apply the rate to the current year’s production in tons. Estimates of the
tonnage to be extracted in future years will vary as proven-quantity estimates
are modified from time to time by continuing engineering explorations and studies,
but over the years the method has proven to be substantially accurate and its
acceptance by the industry has been well-nigh universal, Moreover, this method
conforms to practices long common among business organizations generally.

Sincerely yours,
E. L. KoHLER.

BIOGRAPHICAL NOTE

Erie L. Kohler, M. A.,, C. P. A. (Illinois) : From 1915 to 1937, Mr. Kohier
was engaged in the practice of public accounting, both as a staff member of
Arthur Andersen & Co., and as a member of hig own firm. Since that time he
has been Comptroller of the Tennessee Valley Authority, has served with the War
Production Board, and has been executive officer of the Petrolenm Administration
for War. Concurrently, since 1915 he has been a member of the accounting
faculty at Northwestern University, and during a part of that time was a member
of the Ilinois State Board of Certified Public Accountant Examiners.

His publications include Accounting Principles Underlying Federal Income
Taxes, Accounting for Business Executives, and Advanced Accounting Problems.
He is the coauthor of Principles of Auditing and Prineciples of Accounting. In
addition, he has been a contributor to several magazines on subjects dealing with
accounting and management ; and from 1928 to 1941 he was editor of the Account-
ing Review. ’

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE (OMMISSION,
OrFICE OF THE CHIEF ACCOUNTANT,
Philadelphia, May 26, 1945.
Mr. PAUL M. GREEN,
Deputy Administrator for Accounting,
Office of Price Administrator, Washington, D. C.

Drar Mr. GREEN : In your letter of May 11, 1945, you inquired as to the methods
followed by coal companies and oil ecompanies in accounting for exhaustion of
their coal and oil resources. :

Attached hereto are two exhibits, one dealing with coal companies and the
cther with various categories of oil companies. These exhibits snmiarize infor-
mation as to the depletion policies followed by these companies as shown in
recent annual reports filed with this Commission under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934,

As you will note from the exhibits, all of the coal companies take sustained
depletion in reporting to ns. In addition, most of the oil companies likewise take
sustained depletion. There are, however, 4 few companies which have not fol-
lowed this practice. For the most part this group comprises smaller companies
or those of a speciualized nature.

The exhibits also indicate that. the public accountants certifying the financial
statements of the coal and oil companies taking sustained depletion report in their
certificates’ that the company’s methods are “in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.” It is readily apparent from the statements of
these companies not only that sustained depletion is a generally recognized and
accepted method of accounting for the exhaustion of resonrces of thig character
but also that it is clearly the preponderant method of accounting for such
resources in the preparation of general financial reports. Out of the 2 oil com-
panies studied, only 8 took “percentage” depletion, and several of these may be
classified as special situations. The certifying accountants, however, took no
exception to this method.

The attached exhibits do not include companies such as the steel companies,
which sometimes condunct extensive coal-mining operations. However, from a
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review of a fair sample of such companies, it appears that they also take
sustained depletion in their general financial reports.
If examination of these exhibits raises any question, I shall be glad to be of
further assistance.
Very truly yours,
WirntaM W. WERNTz, Chief Accountant.

ExHIBIT A

TREATMENT OF DEPLETION IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS oF 26 CoAL COMPANIES
A8 FiLep WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

This exhibit summarizes the depletion policies followed by 28 coal companies,
as disclosed in recent statements filed by such companies with the Securities and
Exchange Commission pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934. The group consists of companies whose major activity is conl mining
and comprises substantially all such companies filing with the SEC.

Financial statements of all of these companies are certified by independent
public accountants as being “in confromity with generally accepted accounting
principles and practices.”

In every case the depletion reflected in the statements tiled with the SEC is
actual sustained depletion, taken on a straight-line or tounage-output basis. In
no case is depletion taken based on the percentage-depletion method allowed for
tax purposes. The following table summarized the situation:

Method of

) depletion
Name of company Certilying accountant used in re-
poris to
SEC
1. ’I‘I{;, ;}‘meric?vn Coal Co. of Allegany County, New | Ernst & Ernst. .. coovomemuonn Sustained.
ork
2, Ayrshire Patoka Collieries Corp., Indlanapolis, Ind._| Arthur Young & Co_—vuveeroncien Dao.
3. The Copsolidation Coal Co., 30 Rackefeller Plaza, Gould, MecIntosh & Co_ oo Do.
New York, N. Y.
4 E:xsi:er%/I Gas & Fuel Assoeiates, 250 Stuart St., Bos- Do.
5. The Eik IIom Cosl Corp., Cineinnati, Ohio___._.... Do.
6. The M. A. Hanns Co,, Cleveland, Ohlio______.._.- Do.
7..The Hatficld- Campben Creek Coal Co., Union Trust Do.
Blde., Cincinnati, Ohio.
8, The }%I(udson Coal Cn 230 Park Avenue, New York, Do.
9. Island Creek Cosl Co., 75 Federal St., Boston, Mass..| Barrow, Wade, Guthrie & Co._._. Do.
10. The Lehigh Coal & N avxgatmn Co. Phlladelpbm, Pa.| Lybrand, Ross Bros, & Montgom- Do.
11. The Lehigh Valley Coal Co., Wilkes-Barre, Pa Do.

12. Lehigh Valley Cosl Corp., W 11mmgton ‘Del.__. - o Do.
13. The New River Co., Mount Hope, W. Va___...___.. & Do.

4. '1‘1\1{3 Puacific Coast Co 2106 Smith To\mr, Seattle, Dao.

15. Peubody Coal Co., 231 South La Salle St,, Chicago, Do,

16. Pennsylvama Coal & Coke Corp Grand Central Do.
Terminal Bldg., New York, N. i

17. The'Pen.nsyhama & Reading ‘Coal & TIron Co., Phila- | Haskins & Sells.......coeeeooceo. Do.
delphia

18. The Ii’msburgh Coal Co., Henry W. Oliver Bldg., | Ernst & Ernst. o oooooonnvmnaaonooe Do.
Pittsburgh, Pa.

19. The Pittston’ Co., 77 River St., Hoboken, N. J._.___. Eppler & Co_ .. oo Do.

20. Pond Crock Pocabontas Co., 75 Federal St., Boston, | Barrow, Wade, Guthrie & Co..... Dao.
Mass.

21. StNLoms, Rocky Mountain & Pacific Co., Raton, | Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co.__. Do.

M
22. Trum Traer Coal Co., 8 South Michigan Ave,, Chi- | Arthur Andersen & Cooee_..oo Do.
.

2. The bmted Eleciric Coal Cos., 307 North Michigan | Haskins & Sells. . ooeocouennnnno. Do.
Ave., Chieago, Tl

24, Virginia Tron, Coal & Coke Co., Roanoka, A T A M Pullen& Co..o_cioiiooo. Do.

25. Westmuteland Inc., Pmladelphxa, ................ John Heins & Co._.. . Do.

8. West Virginia Coal & Coke Corp., 705 Atlas Bank | Arthur Andersen & CoO_cevncnennn Do,

Bldg., Cincinnati, Ohio.
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ExHIBIT B

TREATMENT OF DEPLETION IN THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS OF 92 OIL AND NATURAL
Gas CoMPANIES AS FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION *

This exhibit summarizes the depletion policies followed by 92 oil and natural-
gas companies as disclosed in recent® statements filed by such companies with
the Securities and Kxchange Commission pursuant to the requirements of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1834. The group included in this exhibit comprises
substantially all such companies filing with the SEC.

Financial statements of all but one of these companies are certified by inde-
pendent public accountants ag being “in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles and practices.”

Sixty-nine of the companies, in the statements filed with the SEC, reflected
actual sustained depletion taken on a straight line or unit-of-production basis.
Eight of the companies reflected in such statements a charge for depletion based
on the percentage-depletion method allowed for tax purposes. 'T'wo companies
followed the practice of determining the amount of the annual depletion charge for
certain classes of property by the use of the sustained-depletion method and at
the same time used the percentage method for determining such charge for certain
other classes of properties. One company used either the sustained depletien
method or the percentage method, depending on which method resulted in the
greater deduction from income.

The method used by two companies in determining annual depletion charges
“was not ascertainable from the statements of depletion policy made by them.

Two companies made charges in lieu of depletion charges.

Eight companies reflected no charge in financial statements filed@ with the SEC.
Reasons given for the omission of such charge were such as the investment in
properties had been written off in prior periods, or no estimate of recoverable oil
had been obtained.

The following table summarize the situation:

I. COMPANIES WHICH USED SUSTAINED DEPLETION METHOD IN REPORTS TO
SEC1

Method of
deplction

used in re-
DOris to

Name of company Certifying accountant

A. MAJOR 2RODUCERS OF CRUDE OIL AND GAS

1. Ax;{emda P;}roleum Corp., 120 Broadway, New Deloitte, Plender, Griffiths & Co._| Sustained.
ork

2. Devonian Oil Co. ., 1706 National Bank of Tulsa | Haskins & Sells. ... ... Do.

Bldg., Tulsa, Okla.

3. Eason OL Co.; 209 West Maple St., Enid, Okla_.____ T8, Depew ..o iniimmeecameas Do.
4. H%milu]u Oil Corp ., 215 Market St San Francisco, | Wittman & Co_..__.....__.___._. Deo.
5. H(t)ustoqx} 0il Co. of Texas, Petroleum Bldg., Hous- | Haskins & Sells. _._...__._..___._. Do.
on
6. l\IldWeét I011 Co., First National Bank Bldg., Den- | Alexander J, Lindsay & Co__.._.__ Do.
ver, Colo
7. Navarro Oil Co., 8an Jacinto National Bank Bldg., | J. L. Block & Co.__-__.-..._,_.;._ Do.
Houston, Tex.
8. \Torth Amlerican Ol Consolidated, 351 California ; MeLaren, Goode & Co__oe_..._. Do.
San Franeisco, Calif. :
9. Pa&t;xc \Qre%tern Oil Corp., 15 Exchange Pl ~Jersey | Arthur Andersen & Co.z.._...... Do.
Y
19, Piymouth Oil Co., Benedum-Trees Bldg., 223 4th | Main & Co. . .o oo . Do.
Ave,, Plttsburgh Pa.
11. Roeser & Pendleton, Ine., 613 Fort. Worth Club | ' W. O, Ligon & COomeoocemaeen Do.
Bldg., Fort Worth, Tex
12, Seaboard Oil Co. of Delaware, 30 Rockefeller Plaza, | Haskins & Sells. ___.______..__.__. Do.

New York, N, Y.
13, Signal 011 &'Gas Co., 811 West 7th St., Los Angeles,

b 1 The groupmg of companies followed Is based on 1942 information as to the general character of tneir
usin

1 One hundred and three companies wereé originally included in this survey, bat files for
11 eompanies were in use and could not be obtained for study within the time available.
2 Annual reports for 1943 or 1944,
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I. COMPANIES WHICH USED SUSTAINED DEPLETION METHOD IN REPORTS TO
SEC—Continued

Method of
. ) depletion
Name of company Certifying aceountant used in re-
ports to
SEC
A. MAJOR PRODUCERS OF CRUDE OIL AND GAS—Con.
14, Superior Oil Corp. (Calil.), 930 Edison Bldg., Los | Price, Waterhouse & Co.__.__.____ Sustained.
Angeles, Calif. )
15. Tttaxas %ulf Producing Co., 0il and Gas Bldg., Hous- { Mattison, Davey & Rader. . Do.
on, Tex.
16. Texas Pacific Coal & Oil Co., Fort Worth, Tex._._... Haskins & Sells._______._ Po.
ex.
17. Transwestern Oil Co., Milam Bldg., San Antonio, { Price, Waterhouse & Co_. _....._. Do.
Tex.
18. Universal Consolidated Oil Co., 417 South Hill St., { Lybrand, Ross Bros. & Mont- Do.
Los Angeles, Calif. gomery.
B. MINOR PRODUCERS OF CRUDE OIL AND GAS
19, BaniiiniCP?_tfroleum Co., 1206 Maple Ave., Los An- | Emnst & Ernst. ... _....___ Do.
geles, Calif.
20. Bics:htl)i? 01il Co., 315 Montgomery St., San Francisco, | R. G. Rankin & Co.......c.._... Do.
alif,
21. Bolsa Chica Oil Corp., 555 South Flower St.,Los An- | W.J. Nichols& Co....... mveeeee Do.
geles 13, Calil. ~
22. Holly Development Co., Huntington Beach, Calif.__| Price, Waterhouse & Co_._.______ Do.
23. Kirby Petrolenm Co., Houston, Tex_ ... ...... ... Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co.. Do.
24. Margay Oil Corp., 610 Oklahoma Bldg., Tulsa, Okla..{ Haskins & Sells Do.
25, Masloot g}ﬁ iI(}o., 489 I, W. Hellman Bldg., Los An- | J. Arthur Greenfield & Co Do.
geles, s
26. McClanahan Oil Co., Mount Pleasant, Mich._...___ Lybrand, Ross Bros. & Mont- Do,
gomery.
27. Oceanic Oil Co., 811 West 7th St., Los Angeles, Calif._.| Windes & Irvine...___.._.__.___._ Do.
28. Republics Petroleum Co., 811 West 7th St., Los | Lybrand, Ross Bros. & Mont- Do.
Angeles, Calif, gomery.
29. Rice lRzmch 0il Co., 124 West 4th St., Los Angeles 13, | Thompson, Moss & Co_. 1 Do.
alif.
30. 8avoy Oil Co., 260 West Broadway, New York 13, | C. A, Naylor.__..__._ Do.
31. Wichita River Ofl Corp., room 802, Chrysler Bldg., | Haskins & Sells........ .l Do.
New York, N, Y. i
32. Woodley Petrolenm Co., Second National Bank | Mattison, Davey & Rader________ Do.
Bldg., Houston, Tex.
C. OIL REFINERS AND DISTRIBUGTORS WITH PRODUCING
FACILITIES
33. Ashland Oil & Refining Co., Ashland Oil & Refining | Ernst & Ernst . ... ____..__..... Do.
Bidg., Ashland, Ky.
34, Atlantic Refining Co., 260 South Broad St., Phila- | Lybrand, Ross Bros. & Mout- Do.
delphia, Pa. gomery,
85. Continental Oil Co. (Del), 10 Rockefeller Plaza, | Arthur Young & Co.. .. __...... Do.
New York, N. Y. . )
36. Derby Oil & Refining Corp., Wichita, Kans._...__..[..._. o Do.
37. Empire Gas & Fuel Co., 1 Exchange P1., Jersey City, | Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co....| Deo.
LT
38. Exeter Oil Co., Lid., Post Office Box 5007, Long | Vaile, Henley & Roberts.......... Do.
Beach 5, Calif. . 5
39, Hancock Oil Co. of California, 2828 Juniper Ave,, | Haskins & Sells. ... ... .. Do.
Long Beach, Calif, . ) )
40. Lion Oil Refining Co., E1 Dorado, Ark..__._.. R Barrow, Wade, Guthrie & Co...__ Do.
41; Mid-Continent Petroleum Corp., Mid-Continent | Haskins & Sells_ .. .........__ Do.
Bldg., Tulsa, Okla.
42, National Refining Co., Hanna Bldg., Cleveland 15, | Ernst & Emmst. ... ... .. Do,
Ohijo.
43. Ohio Oil Co., Findlay, Ohio. . ccomveomooane oo . [+ {0 RO S Do,
44, Pan American Petroleum & Transport Co., 122 East | Price, Waterhouse & Co. Do.
42d St., New York, N. Y. . . :
45. Phillips Petroleum Co., 80 Broadway, New York, | Barrow, Wade, Guthrie & Co..__. Do.
N.Y,
46, Pure 0il Co., 35 Bast Wacker Drive, Chicago, Tlil.._.1 Arthur Andersen & Co. .| De.
47. Richfield Oil Corp., 555 South Flower St., Los Ange- | Price, Waterhouse & Co. .| Do.
les, Calif.
38, Root Petroléum Co., Commercial National Bank | Mattison, Davey & Rader: .1 Do.
Bldg., Shreveport, La. . .
49, Shell Union Oi} Corp., 50 West 50th St., New York | Price, Waterhouse & Co._. i Do.
City, N. Y.
50. Sinc]gi} 0il Corp., 630 5th Ave., New York, N. Y...{ Arthur Young & Co___.__.._ -.{ Do.
51. Skelly Oil Co., Skelly Bldg., Tulsa, Okla__ .| Arthur Andersen & Co..... Do.
52. Socony Vacnum. Oil Co., Inc., 26 Broadw: Arthur Young & COaenruincnne Do.

York, N. Y.

Digitized for FRASER
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



1412

FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS

1. COMPANIES WHICH USED SUSTAINED DEPLETION METHOD IN REPORTS TO
SEC—Continued

Method of
. depletion
Name of company Certilying accountant uscd in re-
ports to
SEC
C. OIL REFINERS AND DISTRIBUTORS WITH PRODUCING
FaciuTiEs—Continued
53. Stnndard 0il Co. of California, Standard Oil Bldg., | Price, Waterhouse & Co.__.__....| Sustained.
5 Bush St., San Francisco, Calif.
4. Standard 0il Co (Incllana), 910 South Michigan |ovee 80cc oo oooomae_o .. _.1 De.
Ave., Chicago,
55. Standard Oil Co. (\Iew Jersey), 30 Rockefeller Plaza, |...... L U Dao.
New York, N. Y,
56. Sun Oil Co., 1608 Walnut St., Philadelphia, Pa____. Lybrand, Ross Bros. & Mont- Do.
gomery
57, Sunray Oil Corp,, 1 Wall St., New York, N. Y ........................................ Do.
58, Texas Co., 135 East 42d St. s "New York, NLY.TT Arthur Andersen & Co__ Do.
50, Tlde“};xtg A‘SSOCIated 0il Co,, 17 Battery Pl New | Price, Waterhouse & Co...._....] Do.
Yor
80. Umnion 0il Co. of California, Union Oil Bldg., 617 |.__.. Q0 e e Do.
West 7th St., Los Angeles, Calif,
61. Wileox Qil Co Wileox Bldg., 6th St. and Denver | Arthur Young & Co..___.____.__. Do.
Ave,, Tulsa, OXkla.
D. OiL REFINERS AND DISTRIBUTORS APPARENTLY WITH-
OUT SUBSTANTIAL CRUDE-OIL PRODUCING FACILITIES
62. Qtéaker State Oil Refining Corp., 11 Center St., Oil { Lybrand, Ross Bros. & Mont- Do.
goInery.
63. Stnndard ou Co. (Qhio), Midland Bldg., Cleve- | Ernst & Ernst.._.oooooooaono Do,
lIand, Ohio.
E. OIL ROYALTY COMPANIES
64. Consolidated Royalty Oil Co., Consolidated Royalty | C. H. Reimerth & Co._________.._ Do.
Bldg., Casper, Wyo.
65. Louiriana Land & Iaxs)loratmn Ceo., Houma, La..._.{ Deloitte, Plender, Griffiths & Co..| Deo.
66. Maruncaibo Qi1 Exploraiion Oorp ., Continental Hasking & Sells. oo —_..._ Do.
Build., Dallag, Tex
67. nMidland Oil (“orp 67 Wall 8t,, New York, N.Y... Joseph Rosenthal__ . Do.
€8, Southland Rm"ﬂty Co., 1607 Commreial Standard | W. O. Ligon & Co__ .
Bldz., Fort Worth 'le‘:
69. New York, | Arthur Young & Co. Sustained.

Ve}xgezygelan Potroleum Co., 630 5th Ave,,

2 Royalties and leases, sustained; headrights, unit per day to writc off cost at expiration of headright.

IL. COMPANIES WHICH USED PERCENTAGE DEPLETION IN REPORTS TO SEC

Total
Name of company Clertitying accountant (E‘;Sggs\,i_
mate)

1. Atlantic Oil Corp., Kennedy Bldg., Tulsa, Okla ______ Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co..__ $544, 000
2. Barnhart Marrow Consolidated, 1020 Subway Ter- | George F. Meitner & Co....._... 664, 000
Léonmﬂéﬂédlgnl,osl Angnlcg. ((}:‘ahf North M '

3. NAT il Development Co., 48 Nort. ain St., | C. Ross Sproat.__ ... ...._...._. z
R B e & Dt G . e
4. Mount Diablo ining evelopment Co,, 901 | V. B. Espinoza .o ovooeeineaa .
Central Bldg., Los Angeles 14, Calil. v .102'000
5. ‘\T(gd]u[n Corp., Ltd., 417 South Hill 8., Los Angeles, | Roy W. BUIton. oo oemneen... 379, 000
6. n(;{thk(‘eniml Texas 0il Co., Ine., 30 Broad St., New | O, F. Taylor & COueomeenneo... 1, 588, 000
ork 4 ’
7. Olluu (?]11 I& Gas Co., 1300 Union Trust Bldg., Pitts- | 0. T. Bielati & CO—neenerrouen... 22, 000
MICE.
8. Shamrock Oil & Gas Corp., Amarillo, Tex..._...._. Dempsey A. Winn____.___.__..__ 9, 574, 000
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III. COMPANIES WHICH USED EITHER OR BOTH SUSTAINED AND PERCENTAGE
METHODS IN REPORTS TO SEC

FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS

Method of
depletion
Name of company Certifving accountant used in re-
ports to
1. Crown Central Petroleum Corp. (Md.), American | Ernst & Ernsto oo oo oooooouion [ON
Bldg., Baltimoare, Md.
2. In{ercoas\t{ Petroleum Corp., 57 William St., New | Barrow, Wade, Guthrie & Co___._| (¥).
Vork, N. Y.
3. Reitcg;Foster 0il Corp., 29 Broadway, New York, | Allen R. Smart & Co........._.... ).
N.Y, .

3 Provide depletion in an amount equal to the greater of cost depletion based upon exitmated future
production or percentage depletion.

4 Leaseholds—sustained. Royalties—percentage. . . .

4 01d leases and royalties, sustained; leases and royalties acquired during year, percentage.

IV. COMPANIES FOR WHICH METHOD OF DEPLETION USED IN REPORTS TO SEC
I3 NOT DETERMINABLE

1. Bullion Mining Co., 24 Mining Exchange Bldg., Salt | Atvin R. Erickson.._._...____....
Lake City, Utah. .
2. Leonora Mining & Milling Co., 33 West 1st Soutk | H.B. Emriek ... ...______ ...

St., Salt Lake City, Utah.

V. COMPANIES WHICH DO NOT USE EITHER SUSTAINED ORPERCENTAGE METHOD
OF DEPLETION BUT MAKE A CHARQGE “IN LIEU THEREOF” IN REPORTS TO SEC

®.

1. Barnsdall Oil Co., 900 Market St., Wilmington, Del_. A

2. PiIt\Ttsl%lrgh Oil & Gas Co., 120 Broadway, New York,

8 Leaseholds written down to $1. “In lieu of depletion company charges to income an amount equal to
cost of acquiring leases during the year—in addition, intangible development costs are being written off
on sustained depletion basis.

7 Actual expenditures for oil and gas leases charged to profit and loss.

VI, COMPANIES WHICH SHOW NO CHARGE FOR DEPLETION IN REPORTS TO

8. E.C.
1. Canfield Qil Co., 3216 East 55th St., Cleveland, Ohio.| Emst & Emst__ ... 9.
2. Crescent Eagle Oil Co., 33 East 6th Scuth St., Salt | 8. W. Gaddie.__ [OR
Lake City, Utah.
3. Lincoln Petrolcum Co_. S.J. Anderson___. (1),
4. Mérclhmts Petroleum Co., Fillmore, Ventura County, | H. M. Thomson._ (19).
alif.
5. North A,x\nerican 0il Co., 1414 Fidelity Blag., Balti- | Emst & Ernst... _{ (108,
more, Md.
6. Occidental Petroleum Corp., 215 W. 7th St., Los | Scholefield & Co.. RRCY
Angeles, Calif.
7. Red Bank 0il Co., Dallas, Tex__..._. NEON
8. Signal Petrolenm Co. of Californis, L -} Depletion
Spring 8t., Los Angeles, Calif. go 1i cs;
o
stated.

8 Depletion policy not stated, no depletion charge reflected in financial statements, apparently little or
no production of crude oil and gas during period. o

* Depletion policy not stated—wells were not producing in 1943. . .

1 Depletion policy, not stated—no depletion reflected in finaneial statements.  Depletion poliey not
stated—nao depletion reflected in financial statements—cost of leaseholds fully amortized prior to 1941.

102 Depletion poliey rot stated. 3 . . .

) Doplletion policy not stated—charge for depletion not reflected in financial statements—Investment in
field {ully written off in prior years. i i ]

12 No provision made for depletion—no estimate of recoverable cil obtained,
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VII. ALTHOUGH THE FOLLOWING COMPANIES FILE WITH THE COMMISSION THEY
WERE NOT INCLUDED IN THIS STUDY AS THEIR FILES WERE IN USE AND COULD
NOT BE OBTAINED FOR STUDY WITHIN THE TIME AVAILAEBLE.

FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS

Method of
depletion
Name of cormnpany Certifying aceountant used in re-
ports to
SEC
1. A%e?caNn Maracaibo Co., 921 Bergen Ave.; Jersey |- ceenomooomocrmmmcccomeaceo
i
2. Axtneﬂ?n Repubhc Corp., Petroleum Bldg., Hous-
on, Tex.
3. Cosden Petroleum Corp,, Big 8prings, Tex . . |- e e cmm————
4, Gulf Oil Corp., Guif Bldg Pittsburgh, Pa__._ -
5. Jade Otil Co,, 108 West 6th St Los Angeles, Calif. -
6. Mid-West Reﬂnenes, Inc., Grand Rapids, Mich_._.|.. -
7. Panhandle Producing & Refining Co., 122 East 42d
St., New York, N. Y.
8, Sa‘% Dome 0i1 Curp 2600 Esperson Bldg., Houston,
'ex.
9. Texon Oil & Land Co., Ponea City, Okla.._._____...
10, Utah Wyoming Consolidated Oil Co., 223 Judge

Bldg., Salt Lake City, Utah.

. Venezuelan Holding Corp., Room 902 Chrysler Bldg.,
New York, N. Y.

-
-

UNITED STATES MARITIME COMMISSION,

Washingion 25, May 21, 1945.
Mr. PAur M. GREEN,

Depuly Admmzstmtor for Accounting,
Office of Price Administration, Washmgton, D.C.
Dear Mr. GreEN: This will reply to your letter of May 19 with respect to
amortization and depreciation.
"The Commission does not recognize the statutory 60-month amortization period
provided in section 124 of the Internal Revenue Code as applying to a determina-

tion of cost under its contracts, since that provision is regarded as having to do
solely with determination of taxes.

Accordingly, allowance for depreciation is based on the estimated useful
service lives of the facilities involved.

There have been certain instances where permanent improvements, which be-
come part of the real estate, have been made by a contractor upon leased property.
In such eases, the rate of depreciation is allowed, based upon the contractor’s
leaschold rights.

There has been no change or amplifying regulation issued by the Commission

modifying section 7.91 of its Profit Regulations, adopted May 4, 1939, to which
you refer.

Very truly yours,
R. E. ANDERSON,
Director of Finance.

Exaiir B

INDEPENDENT PETROLEUM ASSOCIATION OF AMERICA

Washington, D. C., June 29, .,1945.
The Honorable WrIGHT PATMAN,

Chairman, Select Comvmttee to Investigate and Study Small Business,
House of Representatives, Washington 25, D. C.-
DEsr MR. PATMAN: In response to the privilege given me of supplementing my

statement, I am enclosing herewith an additional statement on the questlon of
crude oil prices.

Very truly yours,
Russerr B. BrowN.
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ADDITIONAL STATEMENT OX CrUpE OIL PRICE QUESTION

By Russell B. Brown, general counsel, Independent Petroleam Association of
America

To THE SELEcT COMMITTEE ON SMALL BUSINESS,
House of Representatives, United States Congress:

The problem presented to your commitiee by these hearings has been simplified
by the testimony before you.

I have previously discussed our efforts to obtain relief through the Office of
Price Administration. I have related with some detail the reasons I felt have
cauged the delay in concluding the survey to obtain factual material on which
to base proper price ceilings.

Witnesses have, with care and detail, reviewed for your congideration the
problems confronting the producers of petroleum in the more than 2 years since
you began your study of these problems, This testimmony should have been heard
and judged by the Office of 'rice Administration. That was the agency created
by Congress for such purpose.

It was only because this agency failed and refused to comiply with the law as
writtén that it has been necesgsary tor a committee of Congress to tuake the time
and exercise the patience to review the facts on which conclusions might be
formed as to the maintenance of our essential economy.

I have delayed the exercise of the privilege to supplement my previous testi-
mony awaiting the receipt of copies of the supplemental statewents from OPA
in order that I might bring in review the difficulties which confront our industry
in its efforts to have its cause properly and fairly judged by the agency created
for that purpose. I have now received the supplemerntal statements filed by Mr.
Judd and Mr. Green, officials of the OPA. These statements present no new
facts and serve only to further confuse the issues before your commitiee. De-
tailed discussion of these statements has been prepared and presented to you by
Mr. James V. Brown.

The issues remain the zame. The OPA statements seek to avoid the real
facts by the presentation of matters outside the issues that do not contribute to
the further enlightenment of your committee, )

The problem presented is one of inadequate price for the production of a raw
material essential to our military safery and civilian requirciments.

The law is clear; only the administration is confusing. )
. The act creating the Office of Price Administration and authorizing them to
fix price ceilings provides in part as follows:

“Before issuing any regulation or order under the foregoing provisions of this
subsection, the Administrator shall, so far as practicable, advise -and consult
with representative members of the industry which will be affected by such
regulation or order, and shall give consideration to their recommendations.”

" The italic portion was added by the act of 1044 It was an attewpt by Con-
gress fo compel more than perfunctory compliance with the dirvection to consult
with industry. As to oil, no semblance of compliance has ever been shown—
a fact that has repeatedly been complained of by us without denial.

" The act further provides:

“In the case of any commodity for which a maximum price has been estab-
lished, the Administrator shall, at the request of any substantial portion of the
industry subject to such maximuun price, regulation or order of the Administrator,
appoint an industry advisory cominittee, or committees, either national or
regional or both, consisting of such number of representatives of the industry
as may be necessary in qrder to constitute a committee truly representative of
the industry, or of industry in such region, as the case may be * * =*»

Except for one or two local committees, which never were encouraged to .
function and which finally disbanded because no attention was being paid to
their recommendations, there was no effort made to comply with the provision
regarding industry committees, so' far as the production of oil i3 concerned
until your committee by your foreeful report made this requirement evident. ’

On January 2, 1945, 2 years and 11 months. after the law was passed, the
OPA created such committee.

74113~—45—pt. 3——9
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1416 FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS

The law relating to the operation of such committees is quite clear and pro-
vides in part as follows: :

“The Administrator shall, from time to time, at the request of the committee,
advise and consult with the committee with respect to the regulation or order
(on price), and with respect to the form thercof, and classitications, differentia-
tiong, and adjustments therein. The committce may make such recommenda-
tions to the Administrutor as it deems advisable and such recommendations shall
be considered by the Administrator”” Agaln, the italic.portion wus added by
Congress in 1944, emphasizing the importance Congress felt was attached to the
views of any industry with respect to its prices and costs.

The law contemplates a fair determination of questions presented to the
OPA by a fair and unprejudiced body. No such procedure was ever possible
with relation to petroleum.-

1 have stated to this committee that these hearings were prejudged by those
officinls unfavorable to our case. The record clearly sustaing thiz allegation.
In announcing the appointment of the National Crude Oil Industry Advisory
Committee, on January 2, 1945, pursuant to the recommendation of your com-
mittee and some individual oil producers, Mr. Chester Bowles, Price Administra-
tor, said in the press statement issued for releases that day:

“This does not represent any change in OPA’s position, stated many times,
that, in its opinion, there should be no general price increase for the crude-oil
industry @#s a whole ¥ * *  We are glad to make the survey in response to
congressional committee and industry requests for a cost study. This will give
us additional data for determining whether OPA’s stand against a price increase
is justified.”

This statement, widely published, was interpreted: by the oil producers to
mean that OPA was chiefly concerncd with the amenities due a committee of
Congress. In this and other statements and newspaper accounts, examples of
which I introduced into the rvecord, may lie the explanation of the failuré of
many producers who received the cost questionnaire to make returns thereof.
Would they not conchide from Mr. Bowles' words that he was seeking data,
not to determine the merits of the producers’ case, but to find support for the
position taken long before? ) ’

Indeed, the prejudgment of the case—the instant case—goes still farther
back, to last Qctober, following the hearings held by your committee in Austin,
Tex. A news article in the New York Journal of Commerce of October 14, began
with these paragraphs: )

“WasuINgTON, October 13.—The Office of Price Administration today declared
that it would firmly oppose recommendations of the Houge Sclect Committee
on Small Business for a minimum increase of 35 cents per bartel on the aver-
sige over-all price of crude petroleum.

“Declaring that the oil industry today is in a better position than it ever
has been before, an OPA spokesman ssaid that the agency’s reasons for op-
posing the increase were based upon predirtions which have subsequently proved
to be facts.

“Although various segments of the. industry had indicated otherwise, OPA
said that a mapority was of the opinion the price structure as it exists is andeguate
to allow for new research, present production, and all other phases of petroleum
development.” :

It was the contention of Mr. Green, Deputy Administrator for Accounting; in
his appearance at your hearings that the basis of price determination was exact
and in accordance with the most thorough examination of all factors which were
pertinent. Yet, this “spokesman” who talked to the New York Journal of Com-
merce, said they had in the past been governed by “predictions.” Without
benefit of any survey and in spite of the report of your committee based on the
testimony of many members of the industry, they said that a “majority” of the
industry was of the opinion that the existing price structure was adequate. I
have no idea who the spokesman was, nor how high his position. I do submit
ihat such interviews go far to proving the assertion that OPA has been prejudiced
and that the case was prejudged long ago.

I should like to refer again to the expression in the law, “and shall give con-
sideration to their recommendations,” and the still further emphasis given by
Congress in the expression, “and such recommendations shall be considered by
the Administrator.”

Your committee and the industry, through the National Crude Oil Industry
Advisory Committee, recommended consideration of cost of replacement of crude
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oil in setting price ceilings. OPA makes some show of compliance with the
eongressional mandate by including in the cost questionnaire a form recom-
mended by the industry committee. But—and this point cannot be overstressed—
before the guestionnaire was in the mails, OPA ofiicials, usually referred to as
“spokesmen,” were telling the publie through the press that no attention would
be paid to cost-of-replacement figures even when reported on the form,

Is it “consideration” to say, in effect, “You may bring in all the evidence you
like along this line, but I have decided to pay no attention to it?”

I could extend this presentation of statements prejudiciat to a fair and im-
partial survey of costs if the committee desires. The press was filled with them
early in the year. There was much talk of the splendid profit position of the
industry. On examination before your conunittee, Mr. Green relied on the
statements of the large companies for support of his contention on profits. His
accounting system, he said, was of a high order of excellence, yet it took into
consideration only the methods and usages of the lurge companies. At oue
point he was asked this question:

“Mr. Harz, (Congressman Leonard W. Hall). Have you, at any time, investi-
gated the accounting system uvsed by these thousands of independents throughout
the country?”’

To which Mr. Green answered, “No.”

Mr. Green took exceptions to my statement in the June 12 hearing that he was
unfair and obtained permission to extend his remarks on this question?

Mr. Green has now filed his statement in which he not only pleads guilty in four
separate counts but elaboriites in some detail on each count in an effort to justify
the prejudice he entertains.

These counts indicate his prejudice against the economie operation of the
industry on these four points that have had the continuous approval of the
Congress of the United States in substance for more than a quarter of a century,

Mr. Green tries.to demonstrate that the petrolemm industry has been favored
and therefore in order to correct the errors the Congress has thus loug committed
he will punish us now by denying a chance for a fair hearing on the simple
question of price.

This is not the place or time to defend the Congress for this long-sustained
poliey. The Congress needs no defense by me. Suffice it to say that through
the wisdom demonstrated by Congress, the people of the United States have de-
veloped a strong, virile, dynamic petrolenm industry that is the envy of the
entire world. Many nations now seek to emulate the success our country has
enjoyed.

We have said and say again that there is no one system of accounting in the
petroleum-producing industry based on price determination. The records kept
furnish the facts from whieh necessary evidence can be obtained. That is why
the law contemplates industry advisory committees and required consideration
of their recommendations.

In peacetitue this industry has powered and lubricated the greatest industrial
development in the world. It has made possible the most convenient, extensive,
and widely distributed transportation system ever enjoyed by man.

It has made an abundant dependable supply of petroleum products of ever-
improving quality and at constantly decreased prices to the consumer.

It has built economically healthy communities throughout the oil-producing
areas of some twenty-odd States. 1t has provided a revenue producing and col-
lecting agency that brings more money to the various divisions of government
with less expense and difficulty than has any other industry.

In time of war, it has been our element of safety. In World War I it was
recognized as the greatest single element contributing to our success. In the
present war when the success of the submarine interrupted the ocenn trans-
portation systems of the Allied Nations, it was the oil supply from continental
United States that saved our allies and enabled us to build the greatest and
most effective defensive and offensive war power the world has ever known.
So important was our petroleurn that it constituted two-thirds of our tonnage
to the war fronts.

All this has been done by an industry under a policy of Congress through
which the industry has made no undue profits and has borne its due and pro-
portionate sharé of the Nation’s tax burden.

It was only under the operations of controlled price policy by the Office of Price
Administration that any part of the industry has made what may appear to be
excessive profits. 1 suspect that such profits will prove to be profitable only
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to the taxing agencies. At any rate, they have not gone to the producers of crude
oil,

I was amazed at this evidence of disrespect by one so new in Government for
an agency to which he owed his governmental existence. In search of some evi-
dence of the food on which he had fed to create in him such sureness of his own
ability to sit in judgment on the-Congress, I found these lines from his own
testimony (p. 754 of the Record) in which, while referring to the Office of which
he hus charge, he says, “We have accounting in the Office of Price Administra-
tion on a higher plane than it has ever been in- Government service.” In view
of the historic accomplishments of our Treasury Department and the success
of our many other departments of long and permanent standing and, in view
of the short time in which this young man has accomplished so much in his own
estimation with a new and femporary agency, his pride is understandable.

Conceding the state of perfection of this accounting system, ¥ am still puzzled
at the inability of the OPA to supply information on the distribution of the sfrip-
per well subsidy money. Mr, Judd informed Chairman Wright Patmau on April
17 that no records were available which would reveal a break-down of the pay-
ments. The plan was devised and is still supervised by OPA. The records of
Defense Supplies Corporation, which disburses the money, do ¢ontain the names
of the producers to whom the money was paid, if I am informed correctly. It
would seem that we should, somehow, be able to find out to whom the subsidy
goes.

I make no plea for any particular accounting system to be applied in the effort
to determine a fair base for the fixing of ceiling prices on crude petrolenm. I
do believe that the books of the industry reflect statistical accounting data that
may properly be used in the determination of this base. I believe that the in-
dustry committee is best qualified to assist the OPA in determining the material
necessaty to this inquiry.

The action of the OPA in stating in advance that they will not consider the
recommendations on essential points made by the industry committee is harm-
ful to the effort and has amounted to an absolute violation of the law. I illustrate
this with one point. We have not urged in advance of the survey the adoption
of any arbitrary formulas but rather a form of guestionnaire that would obtain
the material necessary to a final determination of the case. The question of using
statutory depletion allowanee in price fixing was raised by the coal industry be-
fore the Senate Banking and Currency Committee. That committee in its report
stated as follows (report 325, p. 9) :

“DEPLETION ALLOWANCES FOR COAL

“Representatives of the coal-mining industry protested to the committee about
the recent abandonment by the Office of Price Administration of the reporting
forms previously used by the industry under the Bituminous Coal Conservation
Act, which allowed depletion to be reported on a sustained or percentage basis.
They objected on the ground that it appeared that the Office of Price Administra-
tion was going to handle depletion costs in a manner inconsistent with the
requirements of the ‘accounting methods’ proviso to section 2 (a) of the Emer-
zency Price Control Act. They proposed an amendment which wonld authorize
the determination of depletion in the same manner in which it is determined for
the purposes of the income-tax laws. i

“The committee was assured by the officials of the Office of Price Administra-
tion that maximum prices for coal had been fixed in the past on & district basis
by a method which took into account the average depletion actually charged in
1942 by all the mines in such district whether sustained depletion or percentage
depletion ; that, in determining whether maximum prices should hereafter be
adjusied, they will not change the method by which depletion has heretofore
been taken into account; and that they will restore the form heretofore used
which ullows depletion to be reported on a sustained or percentage basis. The
committee felt, therefore, that no amendments are necessary at this time.”

Representatives of the coal industry again appeared before the House Banking
and Currency Committee, urging the same issue.

When the passage of the Price Control Extension Act was being debated in
‘the House, Chairman Spence, of the Buanking and Currency Committee, in re-
sponse to inquiry by Congressman Neely, stated that bis committee in its report
approved the position taken by the Senate committee in regard to depletion allow-
ance to coal producers. - Mr, Neely, quoting from the House committee’s report
‘4s to the belief that the present law is adequate, asked this question:
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“Is not the confidence thus expressed the result of the committee’s belief that
existing law reguires OPA to give proper consideration, for example, to such a
vital element as that of percentage depletion in fixing the price of coal?”

To which Mr. Spence replied that the Administrator should take into considera-
tion all elements of cost and other pertinent factors in price fixing and that
agency had the undoubted right to consider percentage depletion as a part of
production cost.

'This record indicates a clear intent on the part of Congress that the law would
permit the use of percentage depletion in price fixing and in admission by OPA
that they understand it to be the law, yet in spite of congressional intent and
OPA understanding, we have the open defiunce of Congress by OPA before your
columittee wherein they state they will not make nse of percentage depletion.
I do not know whether it will be finally determined to be the appropriate method
of aceounting in oil or pot, but I do say that an open declaration of intent fo
ignore the law seriously interferes with our effort to obtain the facts.

WasHINGTON, D, C., June 28, 19}5.

ExHmIT I

INDEPENDENT PETROLEUM ASSOCIATION OF AMERICY,
Washington, D. C., June 29, 1945
The Honor:able WERIGHT PATMAN,
Chairman, Relect Committee to Investigate and Stwdy Small Business,
Iouse of Representatives, Washington, D. C.
Dear Mr. PaTMAx @ Responding to the privilege accorded to me to extend my
remarks, I am enclosing herewith a supplemental statement on crude-oil prices.
Very truly yours,
JaMEs V. BROWN.

SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT oX OP'A CrUDE PETrOLEUM CosTS SURVEY BLFORE THE
SELECT COMMITTER ON SMALL BUSI1NESS OF THE HOUSE oF REPRESENTATIVES

(By James V. Brown, secretary, National Crude Oil Industry Advisory Comumittee,
and petroleum analyst, Independent Petroleum Association of America)

In response to the privilege which you granted me at the hearings, I submit for
your consideration and tor the record the {oliowing, in supplementing my previous
statements :

The principal reasons why, in my opinion, the OPA crude petroleum costs survey
has not been completed within the 80 days specified by the Select Committee on
Small Business of the House of Representatives are:

1. Refusal by OPA to accept the recommendations of the National Crude 0il
Industry Advisory Committee.

2. Refusal by OPA to adopt a simplified form of questionnaire for small oil
producers.

3. Inability of the majority of oil producers surveyed to supply complete
production-costs data frow: .heir existing accounting records in the form re-
quired by OPA.

4, Prejudgment of the case by Price Administrator Chester Bowles and
0. D. Judd, Associate Director, Tuel Price Division.

5. Indicated prejudice of OPA Deputy Administrator of Accounting and his
unwillingness to recognize all factors relevant fo the cost of finding, develop-
ing, and producing crude oil, contrary to the intent of Congress as expressed
in the law.

6. Partial disclosure of economiec and factual data by OPA officials, in
publications and before congressional committees, in support of their claims
that an increase in the price of crude oil is unwarranted.

OPA officials indieate some misconceptions on their part regarding the position
of the industiy on “replacement costs” and the mabxhty of small oil pwuucers to
supply complete and accurate statistical engincering and accounting data in a
manuner swhich conforms to the accounting Stalld‘llda as outlined by the Deputy
Administrator of Accounting.

The average independent oil producer’s records are such that it would be near]y
impossible to supply the details called for on the questionuaire now used by OPA
in its crude petroleum costs survey. -
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0il producers-whose volume of production is small, of whomn there are more than
18,000, do not keep detailed statistical engineering, financial, and economie infor-
mation for their general use which fits the pattern cut for them in OPA’s account-
ing and price policies. Consequently, many producers are unable to comply with
the requests of OPA to complete the complex guestiounaire which OPA sent out
to over 700 oil producers on April 9, 1945.

It was for this reason the National Crude Oil Industry Advisory Committee sug-
gested the use of a simplified guestionnaire for small oil producers. TUpon the
refusal of OPA to adopt that procedure, the comtiittee requested representation on
behalf of oil producers for the purpose of assisting OPA and the oil producers in
an expeditious completion, audit, interpretation, and analysis of returns, and to
avoid the delay incident to the completion of returns which are incomplete or
incorrect. Mr. Judd told your committee he believed the purpose of the industry
committee in requesting 1ep1eae1tatlon in the study of returns was that the com-
mittee questioned his integrity. Representation of individual oil producers was
denied by Mr. Judd. Aside from the fact that OPA appointed the National Crude
0il Industry Advisory Committee to advise and eonsult with it and fo represent
the oil producers on this cost study, it is my understanding that the Emergency
Price Control Act permits OPA to recognize an authorized representative of any
Derson or corporation who desires representation before OPA.

No industry witness has made any point before this committee or any other
committee regarding tax laws and regulations providing an acceptable basis for
cost determinations in accordance with OPA standards.. The indusiry’s problem
is— . .

1. That no uniform accounting system prevails in the crude petrolenm in-
dustry,

2. That methods of accounting used by a few large companies are no indi-
cation that such methods are used uniformly by all the thousands of small
companies,

3. That the majority of small oil producers. use statutory depletion or write
off intangible drilling costs, or both, and under these circumstances a complete
determination of costs of producing crude oil by small oil producers according
to OPA standards is a difficult problem, if not a practical inrpossibility,

4. That the OPA approach to the solution of the crude-oil price problem. is
incomplete, incorreet, and misleading.

It is my observation that over 86 percent of the reporting oil producers in the
enrrent OPA crude-petroleum costs survey either use statutory depletion or write
off intangible drilling costs on their questionnaires. In these individual ecases
complete basic data is not supplied which would be necessary to enable OPA
accountants, or any professional accountant, to accurately compute historic costs
of producing crude petroleum for the industry as a whole, aecording to the in-
flexible, dogmatic, and academic standards laid down by Mr. Green, head of the
OPA Accounting Department. QPA ean, by a full disclosure of the facts, verify
the accuracy of my statement from the questionnaires it now has on file.

Mr. Green informed your committee that only G out of 183 in the current crude
costs survey use. statutory depletion. He may have overlooked the faet that a
large percentage o fthe same 185 wrote off intangible drilling and development
costs. T believe that, if he investigates, he will discover that not less than 150 of
the 1%{5 questionnaires to which he referred show intangible drilling costs writ-
ten off.

REPLACEMENT COSTS

Mr. Green states replacement cost in finding and developing crude petroleum
is not a method of accounting accepted by leddmg accounting anthorities. Mr.
Judd contends that the use of veplacement cost in computing petroleum produe-
tion costs is not an established accounting practice.

Those of the accounting profession, whether engaged in public, Government, or
industry practice, recognize the last-in first-out method of accounting in the
valnation of inventories consumed in the produetion of goods sold. That method
embodies the principle of, and its use is, the apphmtmn of replacement costs. It
has been used for several yeals in those industries where the management under
a free economy determined, insofar as economic forces permitted, the price on the
commodity it sold. The cmde-petroleum producers have never had any control
over the price of the product they sold. Under a free enonomy the importance of
proper cost finding as it relates to the determination of price fixing was not gen-
erally eonsidered in the industry. - The views of industry experienced and industry
engaged accountants as to proper cost finding in the production of erude petroleum

Digitized for FRASER
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS 1421

were invited by the National Crude Oil Industry Advisory Committee, Studies
have been made by committees of the industry, made up of qualified and com-
petent, practical and experienced accountants. Their reports recognize replace-
ment costs as a proper factor in the determination of the cost of finding and devel-
oping crude petroleum:

Auyone responsible for the management of any business must and does in
the.contemplation of the continuance of his business determine and use replice-
uent costs. Humble Oil & Refining Co., Standard Oil Co. (New .Jersey), The
Texas Co., the Union Oil Co. of California, and many others have published their
views on replacement costs. Mr. Merle Becker and Mr. Russell B, Brown have
supplied excerpts from the financial statements of those companies and many
others who, in the management-of their companies, take into consideration re-
placement costs in their own caleulations of the cost of finding, developing, and
producing crude petroleam.

OPA in its crude petrolenm costs surveys uses a formula in determining indus-
try costs and margin which does not conform with the provisions of section 2 (a)
of the Emergency Price Control Act, which provides that the Price Administrator;
“thall make adjustinents for such relevant factors as he muy determine and
deem to be of general.applicability, including the following: * * ¥, general
increases or decreases in costs of production, * * * and general increases
or decreases in profits earned by sellers of the commodity. * * *: Propided,
That no such regulation or order shall contain any provision requiring the de-
termination of costs otherwise than in accordance with established accounting
methods.”

OPA’s cost standard as outlined by Mr. Green does not take into eonsideration
“relevant factors.” ¥t imposes upon the c¢rude oil producers an inflexible aca-
demic rule of accounting.

In aetual practice the publie accountant does not impose upon his client a
requirement that the books of account conform exactly to a specified pattern cut
out by the texbooks on accounting, or the academic thinking on abstract questions
as expressed by accounting societies. If the industry were bound to any such
hard and inflexible dogma, all published financial statements of the ecrnde
petroleum producing industry would be required to be on a uniform basis, and
in turn require uniform methods of accounting for all elements cf cost.

The facts are, there is no uniform acconunting in determining finding, develop-
ing, and producing costs in the crude petroleumn producing industry. Financial
statements are not based on an identical set of accounting methods.

COST ACCOUNTING

Cost accounting as such has not been generally adopted by crude petroleum
producers.

In manufacturing, the materials acquired for processing or for sale, while
still in the possession of the manufacturer, are classified as inventory, or part
of current assets held for conversion into finished products, and thence into
cash. Aceountants do not classify in their balance sheets, il reserves in the
ground, as inventory. They include the cost of these reserves in the property
accounts which, Mv. Green refers to as fixed assets,

These oil reserves, however, are the raw materialg which an oil producer is
holding for removal to the surface through development and production, and
thence into cash. The priuciple is the same: a manufacturer’s raw materials
stock pile which must be processed in producing a salable article is little dif-
ferent from an oil producer’s stock pile of oil reserves. Neither the raw ina-
terialg subject to processing, nor the oil reserves subject fo production, are
readily converted into cash, yet either may be sold in part or in total. One is
as much current as the other, so far as conversion into cash is concerned.

The purpose for which the manufacturer acquires the raw materials and the
purpose for which the oil producer acquires oil reserves are identical. They are
acquired to be processed and converted into cash. Bach requires an additional
expenditure of money and effort fo make the raw material, or oil reserves, readily
available for sale, The manufacturer in arriving at his cost of goods sold may
use, and OPA will recognize, the eost of the last raw material acquired.

The oil producer’s cost of his rav material is known as depletion. He is re-
stricted to the use of his oldest, or at best, average costs in OPA ealculntions
of “sustained depletion.” He is denied the same methods which are available
in manufacturing and merchandising, that of valuing his merchandise at current
costs in arriving at the cost of goods sold.
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LAST-IN FIRST-0UT METHOD RECOGNIZED BY OPA

Mr. Green stated: “We recognize the last-in first-out method, the same as we
recognize any accepted accounting practice * * ¥ We submit that last-in
first-out was never intended to be used for the valuation or charge-off for fixed
assets.”

This means that in any industry other than crude pctroleum or other ernde
minerals, the acquisition cost of the latest lot of materials purchased is used as
the price or cost of the materials processed or sold. For example—a refiner who
has purchased three lots of crude petroleum of 100,000 barrels each, the first
at 75.cents, the second at $1, and the third at $1.25 a barrel may, under the last-in
first-out method . in determining the cost of his first hundred thousand barrels
of refined produects sold, use $1.2% per barrel as the cost of the crude which
was used in manufacturing the refined produet sold.

The producers of crude petroleum are agking for no more than other indus-
tries are receiving. OPA practice recognizes, in its cost finding, the cost of
the last items acquired in pricing the first items produced or sold by a manu-
facturer, a merchant, or even a refiner of crunde oil. OPA should give practical
application of the same prineiple in its price fixing in arriving at the cost of-
crude oil sold. 'The theory which Mr. Green applies to-crude oil does not con-
template cost finding for a going oil producing business, but for the recovery of
capital in.a liguidating business.

The price at which goods are sold was never based on the book. earnings of
any company. More than one method of accounting can be, and is, used in any
one business. . The various methods are applied as they relate to the purpose
for which the accounting is made.  They may not all be recorded in the books,
but they are related to the books. Not all businesses make their cost-accounting
records a part of the general books of account.

PEARCENTAGE DEPLETION

Under the Internal Rlevenue Code, oil producers may deduct an allowance for
depletion equal to 27% percent of gross income, provided that it is not more
than 50 percent of net-income computed without bénefit of depletion; however,
in no case shall the allowance be less than the amount which would be allowable
if calculated on cost.

An aecurate calenlatiori of cost depletion is a technieal determination requiring
special engineering and accounting skill, gervices which are not always available
or can be afforded by smaller oil producers. Congress recognized this fiact by
adopting a provision pel‘mitting an alternative method, to make possible a
determination of depletion in leu of eost. Any special benefit over cost is
highly questionable. Latest availuble Treasury Department statistics on corpora-
tions engnaged exclusively in- the production of crude petrolenm (year 1940)
indicate that for those corporations who reported net income, the average amount
of depletion allowed—which in this case would be substantially percentage de-
pletion—was 1934 percent of gross income. Those corporations who reported a
pet loss, and therefore would use cost or “sustained” depletion, showed 188
percent of gross income. DMr. Green's opinion that the statutory provisgion is
unduly favorable and that oil companies can recover costs “six times” is not
substantiated by the official statistics of the Treasury Department.

Mr. Green states that oil in the ground is a fixed, or capital asset. TUnder
the Internal Revenue Code only 50 percent of the net profit from the sale of a
capital asset, as defined in the code, is subject to tax. “The tax on-this H50 percent
of net profit iz limited so that the total tax does not exceed 25 pelcent of the
net profit on the sale. Thig tax provision is available to anyone, in or out.of
business, and regardless of the nature of the éapital asset sold. This limitation
of taxable profit and limitation of tux is a Tight given by Congress to all who
recover their capital invested in a capital aszet. © Depletion is the caleulated
amount of capital recovered from a capital asset.,’ Congress -limits statutory
depletion to 50 percent of net gain. No special privilege is granted to the oil
industry. In fact, it docs not receive benefits equal to those which may be obtained
by any and all taxpayers upon the sale of a part or all of their capital asset.

ACCEFTED ACCOUNTING METHODS

Mr, Green filed in the record a letter addressed to him by Mr. Carman G.
Blough, director of research, Ameriean Institute of Accountants, who, aecording
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to Mr. Green, was a former partner of Arthur Andersen & Co., a firm of certified
public accountants. He also submits a letter from Eric L. Kobhler, at oue time a
staff member of Arthur Andersen & Co, )

I wish to express a high regard for the ability of both of these men and
the firm with which they were af one time associated. I find, upon referring
to published financial statements of some 30 or 40 of the largest petroleum com-
panies, that Arthur Andersen & Co. are the auditors for the Texus Co., the Pure
0il Co., Skelly Oil Co., and Pacific Western Oil Corp, for the year ended
Décember 81, 1944,

The notes of these auditors, made part of the consolidated financial statements
for the Texas Co., show intangibles capitalized since January 1, 1934, with
capitalized costs amortized “at the rate of 8 percent per annum” and “war
emergeney facilities * *. * amortized at the rate of 20 percent per annum,
both on the company’s books and for Federal income-tnx purposes,” with in-
ventories “at cost determined on the first-in, first-out method.”

In the Pure Oil Co. notes relating to and made a part of the consolidated
financial statements appears, “Inventories of crude and refined oils are priced
at cost, on the ‘last-in first-out’” method. * * * As at April 1, 1932, the
net ledger amount of the parent company’'s tanglble properties was re-
duced * * % to reflect fair value as determined in an appraisal. * * =*
Since January 1, 1934 the company has provided for depletion * * * A
applying to the total barrels produced an ‘over-all’ rate (per barrel) =* * =*
estimated by the company’s producticn engineers.” The president of the company
said, “Under 1wartime conditions: it is difficult to provide adequately through
norinal accounting channels for complete costs incident to current operations.”
[Italics supplied.]

In the Skelly Oil Co. statement appears the following: “Conforming to the
company’'s established poliecy * * * intangible drilling costg are capitalized.
These * * * costs are amortized * * * on the unit-rate-of-production
method applied to individual oil and gas properties.”

Pacific Western Oil Corp. statement shows intangible development costs were
capitalized up to September 1, 1935. The company now provides a reserve
currently from income in amounts equivalent to the intangible development in-
curred. In effect, the company writes off its intangibles currently through a
reserve account.

This one firm of aceountants, therefore, recognizes in its audits of four
petroleum companies, four separate and distinet methods of accounting on
one element of cost. In two companies where inventory methods were stated,
each handled this element of cost differently, This is evidence of the fact
that it is not the acecounting firms who determine the method of accounting
which is used. It is the management of a company that determines what
method of accounting its company shall use. How, therefore, could OPA deter-
mine accurately from these four financial statements average costs of pro-
duecing crude petroleum or net earnings, in accordance with its inflexible stand-
ards? - Congress wisely provided that “relevant” factors should be considered.

OPA USE OF PARTIAL QUOTES MISLEADING

Mr. Green cites four provisions in the Internal Revenue Code which, in his
“humble opinion,” are “special provisions in favor of the oil companies.” He
submitted: a letter from Mr, Carman G. Blough, director of research, Ameriean
Institute of Accountants, in support of his attack on the merits of (1) per-
centage depletion, (2) write-off of intangible drilling and development costs,
(8) write-off of excessive amounts of expense, and (4) separability of properties,
and claimed that Mr. Blough's letter “specifically eovers replacement costs and
points out the indirect subsidy nature of these things.”

I have read Mr. Blough's letter. I am unable to find where he specifically
covered ‘all of the above four opinions or mude any reference to these items
being an indirect subsidy. He specifieally stated that his expressions were
entirely personal and emphasized that he was not expressing any opinion . as
to the factors that should be taken into consideration in fixing of prices. With
regard to percentage depletion, Mr. Blough writes that it is, “For the purpose,
I-believe, of inducing the risk of eapital in the exploitation of nafural resources,”
and, “It is not uncommon for companies to ignore the element of depletion in
ealeulating  their costs-—other companies have treated all income as recovery
of cost until the entire cost of the deposit is written off. 'Although neither of
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these two procedures is theoretically sound, one or the other may be necessary
in some cases.”

The position of the oil industry is in agreement with Mr. Blough, that certain
established metheds of accounting in the industry may not be theoretically sound.
They may be necessary in the absence of what is theoretically sound, and in such
case sympathetic and professional understanding of such problems should be
given, rather than a condemnation of the indusiry and an attack on those pro-
visions which Congress so wisely provided to meet such situations.

Mr. Blough further writes that “where the mineral is discovered after the
property is acquired, so that the cost does not represent the fauir value of the
deposit at the time it is discovered, it has been considered proper to determine
depletion charges on the basis not of the actual cost of acquiring the property,
but on what might be called an alternative cost—that is, the amount which could
have been obtained for the property had the discoverer chosen to gell it after
its discovery.”

Although Mr. Blough does not consider it proper accounting to treat as “cost”
percentage depletion, he does recogunize it to be proper accounting to treat dis-
covery value as “alternative cost.” A look at the record will show that one
reason for percentage depletion wuas to provide an alternative method of com-
puting depletion on diseovery value, and therefore—to that extent—statutory
depletion is “alternative cost.” The theory behind *“alternative cost” is not unlike
that of replacement ecost.

Mr. Blough did not commment on the write-off of intangible drilling and develop-
ment costs and  did not comment on replacement cost as it applies to current
costs of finding and developing a barrel of new oil.

Mr. Green, in his extended remarks for the record, where he again attacks the
merits of percentage depletion, turns for support to the thesis of Mr. Paul Foraste,
of the Standard Oil Co. of New Jersey, on Depletion in the Qil Industry. This
thesis, prepared in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of
master of commereial sciences, is based on a collection of data from 32 companies
in answer to 38 questions sent out to 190 companies in the United States.

Mr. Green makes it appear that Mr. Foraste “pointed out,” regarding per-
centage depletion, the Treasury Department’s claim that “itis * * * g third
loophole” and constitutes “favored treatment” of the oil industry.

Mr. Foraste in his thesis said, ‘“To take sides in a public controversy is con-
trary to the author’s purpose, and not within the scope of this thesis. Neverthe-
less, even a thoroughly impartial observer would feel compelled, after reading
the foregoing excerpts from the Treasury's denunciation, to conclude either (@)
that Congress has been wrong in this matter for 25 years, or (b) that there must
also be many strong points in favor of percentage depletion. In other words,
the principle had to have gentiine merit in order to remain alive so long.” Mr,
Foraste cited at considerable length a summary of the testimony before the Ways
and Means Committee in March and April 1942 by the cochairmen of the general
depletion commiittee for the petroleum industry. Mr. Green did not quote that
part of the thesis.

With regard to intangible drilling costs, Mr. Foraste, on page 25 of his thesis,
says: “Three companies with exactly the same income and expenditures in a
particular year ean report widely different earnings for that year to their stock-
holders, depending upon which method they use to account for intangible develop-
ment costs, although there will be no difference in the long run.” [Italics
supplied.] ‘ ) .

He further said, “The right to charge intangible development costs to expense
under the option is granted in recognition of the hazardous and speculative
nature of the oil business, in order to encourage exploration and development
of the country’s oil reserves. That purpose, although clearly recognizable in
periods like the present, when the need of expanded exploratory drilling effort
is so urgent, iz sometimes overlooked by administrative officials, with the result
that attempts are made occasionally to eliminate or modify the regulation.”
{Italies supplied.}

Mr. Green's allegation in his third point, that the oil industry is permitted to
write off excessive amounts of expenses for income-tax purposes, is contrary to
fact and wholly without foundation. The source of Mr. Green’s information on
that subject is considerably confused or misinformed. The fourth point, “separa-
bility of properties,” is a requirement and not a privilege. The principle is sound,
It is applied generally in the calculation of depreciation or depletion of all sepa-
rate properties in any industry.

Digitized for FRASER
http://fraser.stlouisfed.org/
Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis



FINANCIAL PROBLEMS OF SMALL BUSINESS 1425

None of Mr. Green’s four points of attack on Internal Revenue statutes has any
bearing on the subject of cost of finding, develnpmg, and producing crude petro-
leum.  The industry asked that replacement costs and prevailing established
methods of accounting be considered. OPA said “No” to replacement costs and
insisted upon unifornmr reporting of academic theoretical accounting formula.
The many producers who cannot ¢comply are offered no alternative by Mr. Gxeen,
but redeived instead, an unwarranted attack on their tax rights established &5
years ago in Congress, which have been reviewed and renewed several times in
that period.

Mr. Green stated that the Treasury Department “told us this morning” that 95
percent of oll operators show cost depletion. . I do not find any published Treas:
ury statistics on that subject.

My observatious—while an income tax auditor with the Treasury Department
on natural resources cases for § years, and as petroleum specialist with the United
States Tariff Commission on the Crude Petroleum Production Costs Survey of
193942 for 1 year, and through public and private practice in oil-field accounting
for 20 years—are, that between 80 and 90 percent of the oil producers expense
intangible drilling costs. A large percent record percentage depletion in lieu of
sustained depletion. Many attempt to calculate an estimated sustained or cost
depletion. Few make any attempt to estimate amortization of intangible drilling
and development costs,

In rebuttal to mry elaim that the crude petrolenw cost suyvey returns of 2,500
companies which. came to the Tariff Commission show that the practice of the
majority is to follow statutory depletion and write off intangibles, Mr. Green said
on the following morning, “We looked into that a bit, and only a few of the 2,800
companies involved did not report sustained depletion.” It is a physical impossi-
bility overnight to make any such determination. The 2,500 compauies sub-
mitted nearly 15,000 separate reports of two pages each—about 30,000 pages in
all. I spent 1 year examining these returns as assistant in charge. I ean say
with full knowledge of the facts that many failed to report any depletion and that
many did not report amortization of intangible drilling costs, indicating that their
method of accounting made it difficult to supply such data.

I visited the offices of a large number of oil producers during that survey.
The majority of the small oil producers whom I visited use percentage depletion
and write off intangible drilling costs. Some find it difiicult or impossible to
calculate theoretical sustained depletion and theoretical amortization of in-
tangible drilling costs, hence they are unable to provide OPA with accurate costs
which conform to academic theories.

The Army, the Navy, or the Maritime Commission do not buy crude oil as such,
and, therefore, in contract resettlements have no occasion to piss on the accounts
of oil producers. They do buy refined petrolenm products. .Accountants in those
branches of our Government recognize last-in fivst-outs costs of crude oil and
petrolenm products in determrining proper contract prices on refined products

purchased under Government contract. The principle of Jast-in first-out is in line
with replacement costs which erude producers have requested OPA to consider
in pricing erude oil.

Mr. Judd claims that ceiling prices have not prevented the independent oil
pmduoem from increasing their exploratory efforts during price-control years.
He gives the following figures, to which I add percentages and average during
price-control years, for comparison with 1941 :

Eaxploratory wells completed

Independ-

Year ents

Percent| Majors |[Porcentt Total

This proves that the independent oil producers have not been able to increase
their exploratory efforts under price control, In.the 3 yeurs of pnce control
independents, according to Mr. Judd's figures, drilled an average of 2,462 explora-
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tory wells per year, a drop of 154 exploratory wells per year below their prewar
fizure. 'The majors, accordjng to Mr. Judd, “materially increased the number of
wells drilled in 1944 over those drilled in 1941”—in fact, the majors more than
doubled their exploratory well completions, This was made possible under OPA
price control—and is further indication that that policy is aiding in the trend
towurd monopoly. 'The Petroleum Administrator for War stated 5,000 exploratory
wells were needed in 1944 to make available adequate supplies of petroleum, M.
Judd's figures show the industry was unable to reach that goal by over 1,000
exploratory wells, although the material was available.

The independents have not been able to increase their aggregute production.
Domestic company interest production data for the 26 largest companies in the
United States, 1941-44, is shown in the following table:

Crude petroleum—Net domestic company interest production (26 companies)

[Relation to total United States net crude petroleum production]

Barrels
Company
1941 1942 1943 1944

Amernda Petrolenm Corp.oooooooeoen. 12,312,065 11,720, 489 13, 565, 124 17, 881, 741
The Atlantic Refinery Co_ .- S 15, 091, 0CO 14, 515,000 17, 678, 00C 24, 631, 000
Barnsdall 01l COiommm el 7,235,176 7,713, 6566 8,082, 445 9, 835, 324
Cities Serviee CO. - ooooe oo 24, 960, 600 206, 592, 000 27,621,900 26, 800, 000
Continental Ol Co______.. ____.____ 29,904, 247 30, 396, 466 29, 544, 272 31, 566, 564
Gult Ol Corp ool 47, 196, 000 46, 664, 830 85,642, 782 68, 929, 628
Honolalu O3} Corp. oo 4, 254, 812 5, 190, 959 6, 992, 058 9,681, 675
The Ohip O Co_ ol 24,059, 327 27, 743, 046 29,774, 889 131,941,680
Phillips Petroleum CO_____________.____ 24, 277, 656 23, 085, 624 24, 698, 189 28, 584, 412
Plymouth Qil Co. and Big Lake_ 3, 065, 395 4,224,913 4, 869, 585 5,083, 058
The Pure Ol Co_____________ 25,164, 000 25,040, 000 26 233, 000 31, 200, 000
Richfield 0il Corp___.___ 7, 210, 000 , 200, 000 7, 400, 600 8, 236, 000
Seaboard Oil Co. of Delaware 4,129,112 4, 661, 308 6, 432, 000 . 8,222,000
Shell Uninn Ofl Corp___. 55,638, 635 60, 041, 02 67, 708, 000 72, 395, 000
Sinelair Ot Corp..____ 27,241, 0609 36 040, 052 2(‘) 255, 160 27,354, 222
Skelly OitCo____________ 9,827, 541 9 818, 590 11, 191. 632 12, 621, 279
Soocony-Vacuum Oil Co.__ 52,095, 893 51, 690, 071 “56, 399, 485 61, 707, 600
Standard Oil Co. of California__ 36, 196, 361 43,974, 763 52,665, 140 63, 410, 000
Standard Oil Co. of Ohio_____ 63, 835 681, 320 2, {62, 250 3,771,630
Standard Qi! Co. of Indiana__ 38, 185, 109 40, 480, 720 50, 954, 002 62, 682, 503
Standard Oil Co. of New Jersey. 79, 984, 799 79,141,033 108, 763, GO0 134, 874, 000
SunOi1Co ____________.._.__ 13, 609, 650 12,979, 202 18,122, 142 24,624,224
SBuperior-0il Corp, 13,138, 212 13, 441, 000 13, 843, 0600 18, €00, 000
The Texas Co___________. 73, 866, 000 65, 310,919 71, 900, 500 83,833, 215
i 23, 820, 960 24, 668, 491 27, 520, 603 31,185,770
Union Oit Co. of California.__.__..__.._ 15, 484, 000 18, 073, 000 21,719,000 | 24, 658, 000
Total, 26 companies. ... ... 669, 039, 924 681, 069, 982 789, 067, 258 921,720,425
Inecrease over 19041l el 12, 030, 058 120,027, 334 252, 680, F01

Total United States net (85.5 percent of
4 01 N U S 1,198,904, 840 | 1,185, 581,475 | 1,287,299,115 | 1,434 478,815

FPercent 26 companies net to Usited
States net. oo oo e amea 55.80 57.45 61.30 64.25
Toml United States net increase over .
B2 S (RN (13, 323, 463) 88,394,175 235, 573, 875

26-company percent of total United
States increase over 1841 .. oaomafoooooooooooo ool 135.79 107.26

Source: Moody’s or company financial statements.
Note.—Where companies report gross, nét is estimated.

PRODUCTION INCREASES

Crude-petroleum production in the United States in 1944 was 19.6 percent
greater than in 1941, an aggregate increase of 275,000,000 barrels, or 750,000
barrels daily.
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Excluding royalties paid to landowners, farmers, and others, the producing
0il companies’ net domestic increase in production in 1944 over 1941 was 236,
000,000 barrels. )

Twenty-six eompanies account for an increase in net domestic crude produection
in 1944 over 1941 of nearly 253,000,000 barrels, which means that in the aggregate
the remainder of the 20,000 oil producers are producing less oil now than before
the war, at higher cost per barrel. With a frozen price at 1941 level, there could
not be any over-all increase in earnings to this large group of oil producers.

In 1943 just seven compames increased their net domestic crade production over
1941, in an dmount which is greater than the whole increase in net United States
domestic production in that period. In 1944 the number of companies accounting
for a production increase equal to the total United States increase would not
exceed 20 companies.

In 1941, 26 large oil companies produced 56 percent of the total United States
net crude production. In 1944 these same companies produced 64 percent of the
total United States net production in that year. On the basis of 1941 production,
the 26 companies in 1944 produced an amount equal to 77 percent of the 1941
United States net production—another. evidence of the trend toward monopoly.

SUPPLY AND DEMAND REQUIREMENTS

The demand for petroleum during the first 5 months of this year to meet war
requirements and rationed allowances was nearly 5% million barrels daily,
Current demand still exceeds that figure. The Petroleum Administration for War
hag announced that there will be no reduction in demand until the war in the
Pacific has been won.

PRODUCTION

To fill the first quarter demand, 4,777,000 barrels of crude and 317,000 barrels
of natural petreleum products, or .)09-1 000 barrels of all petroleum were pro-
duced daily. Crude production is now about 4,870,000 barrels daily, with natural
products -about 350,600 barrels daily, or a total daily production of all crude and
natural of about 514 million barrels daily.

MAXIMUM EFFICIENT RATE EXCEEDED

. Production in the first quarter was running 250,000 barrels daily in excess
of the maximuin efficient rate ; therefore, it is currently about 850,000 barrels daily
in excess of maximum efficient operating levels,

SHOBTAGE

Production failed to meet requirements in the first quarter by 380,000 barrels.
daily. The shortage in April and May averaged more than 400,000 barrels daily.
Withdrawals from above ground stocks and imports met the bhalance of require-
ments.

STOCK DECLINE

To meet the shortage in the first quarter withdrawals from storage averaged
200,000 barrels daily. Withdrawals continued through April and May at an
average of over 170,000 barrels daily.

ARBROVE GROUND STOCES BELOW WORKING LEVELS

Stocks of crude petroleum are about 227,000,000 barrels. All petrolenm stocks
are about 448,000,000 barrels, Both cmde stocks and products stocks are below
their minimum efficient working levels. Crude is over 8,000,000 barrels below a
proper working level.
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Well completions—Total exploratory and development well competions, 1937-44

Alloeation
Total well
Year €om- Ex .
f xplora- | Develop-
pletions ! tory comn- | ment com-
pletions ? | pletions @
31,1068 2,224 28, 882
27,149 2, 638 24, 511
25, 888 2, 589 23, 299
28, 094 3,038 - 25,056
29, 070 3, 264 -25, 806
18,151 3,219 - 14,932
17,884 3,843 |- 14, 4L
23, 108 4, 796 18,310
S-year average, 193741 e 98, 261 2,751 25, 510
3-year average, ¥042-44_ .l ... 19,714 3,053 15,761

1 Buregu of Mines.
2 ¥. H. Lahee, Sun 0i} Co.
s Caleulsted.

NoOTE,—Basis of classification of exploratory wells as roported here differs from the basis used in Mr
Judd’s table on exploratory wells,

EXPLOBATORY AXD DEVELGPMENT EFFORT IS INADEQUATE

I submit a table showing a few items relating to price, reserves, production,
and well completions -by periods; first, the 14 years 1917-30, a representative
period of economic gain in the industry benefiting materially the Nation. The
depression period of 1831 to 1941, covering 11 years, is followed by tlie data for
the combined 25-year period. The OPA base period of 1936 to 1939 is- set out.
then the years 1940 and 1941 separately, and concluded with the war price-
controlled years 1942 to 1944,

The 1d4-year period of an average normal price added an average of nearly a
billion barrels.of crude annually during that period to our oil reserves in excess
of production. In the 11 years the depressed price brought-us only an average
of slightly over 400,000,000 barrels excess réserves annmally, or throughout the
25 years’ exploratory activities we were rewarded with an average of about
750,000,000 barrels excess reserves per year. That was the backlog built up with
which we have won the first phase of our war. ‘The 1936-39 period found us some
excess reserves over production nearly 700,000,000 barrels on the average an-
nually, but in 1940 that fell to about 300,000,000. In 1941 production exceeded
reserves found by over 200,000,000 barrels, and in the war OPA controlled years
of 142 to 1944 we have produced on the average in each of those years over
730,600,000 barrels more oil than we found. All reserve figures used take into
consideration estimated ultimate reconverable reserves, with proper allowance
for expected future revisions and extensions.

Production continued to climb feeding on the backlog of excess reserves.
However, the effort to replace those reserves has continually declined as indicated
by over-all well completions. Exploratory or wildeat activity is best measured
by the number of dry holes drilled. Tn 1917 to 1930 we averaged 6,348 dry holes
annually, or 1 dry hole to every 103,000 barrels of production. Since the war,
through limitations on material, manpower, and money, we averaged 6,273 dry
holes annually, 1 to every 243,000 barrels produced.

In 1917-30 we averaged an annual addition of 9,900 producing oil wells per
annum. In the 1942-44 war period, the average additional oil wells was 3,000.

In 1917-30 we averaged annually abandonments of 6,600 producing oil wells.
In the price-controlled years of 1942-44, the average has exceeded 7,700.

Over the last 20-year period we found 25 barrels of oil reserves to each foot of
well drilled. We drilled in that period 1 foot of well to every 15 barrels produced.
On this basis, to maintain a normal produetion of 114 billion barrels of crude
oil, we should drilt not less than 100,000,000 feet of hole. A normal average well
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depth is approximately 8,000 feet. This would indicate that we should drill no
less than 33,000 wells per anpum to maintain in this Nation an adequate backlog
of producible petroleum reserves and an adequate available supply of erude oil
to meet civilian and security requirements of this Nation.

“The cost of producing wells complete(l increased from an average of $30,000
in 1942 to $47,000 in 1943 and $66,500 in 1944,” per Humble 0il & Refining Co.
in its 1944 annual statement. On this basis, it appears that the petroleum in-
dustry must have funds to ploungh back into the business, in acquisition of -
properties, exploration and development of petroleum reserves, over 115 billion
dollars annually—to say nothing of lifting costs and a fair margin ol profit. To
accompligh the job the national average price of crude oil may have to be between
$1.80 and $2 per barrel.

Crude petroleum-—Average price per barrel, reserves discovered, production, well
completions, additions, and abundonments, by stated periods

1017 to | 1031 to | 1617 to | 1936 to 1942 to
1930, in- {1041, in-11941, in-{1939, in- 1940 1041 1944, in-

clusive,iclusive, clusive, elusive, clusive,
14 years|11 years 25 years| 4 years 3 years
Average price, per barrel, during penod -] $1.66 | $0.98 ( $1.36 | $1.11 $1.02 | $L14 $1.20

New reserves, extensions and revisions (A PT)
million barrels, average per annum durmg
period_. . .. 1,209 § 1,641 1 1,309 | 2,734 | 1,893 | 1,969 1,810

New crude-oil reserves discovered, revised to
revert extensions and revisions oack to year
of discovery and include estimated future
extensions and revisions 1917-33 per H. J.
Struth, 1934—44 per PAW, million barrels,
average per annum during period .o _..__ 1,607 { "1,534 | 1,5757 ) 1,887 | 1,664 | 1,180 7493

Average annual produetion, million barrels. _ _ 659 1 096 852 | 1,215} 1,353} 1,402 1,523

Average annual excess new reserves  dis-
covered over average annual production,
million barrels. ... ... 048 438 723 672 311 | {~216)| (—730)

Average annual nu.mber of well completions:
0il 16,004 | 19,137 ( 19,125 19 195 | 11,090
2,147 ¢ 2,161 2,352 | 2,990 2, 3:)0
5,850 | 6,020 | 6,617 b, 885 273

5, 22, 24,001 ( 27,327 | 28,004 | 20,070 | 19,713

Average number of barrels produced from old
producing oil wells as related to each new
well completion:

Total wells 26,052 | 48,800 | 35,499 | 44,462 | 48,160 | 45,228 | 77,259
Dryheles.. _____.._._.

103, 812 1210, 012 {145, 641 201, 526 |204,473 {203,631 ; 242,786
Average number of new productive oil wells )

placed in operation each year during period.{ §,926 | 6,263 | 8,314 | 9,850 { 8,620 | 10,950 3, 680
Average number of producing oil wells aban-
doned each year during period_ __..__.__._. 6,667 | 8,982 7,600 | 9,287 | 10,505 | 8§, 245 7,710

RATE OF FINDING NEW RESERVES

On the basis of API new reserves plus extensions and revisions, and using
Bureau of Mines total well completions, we drilled on an average of 10.9 wells
(1937—44) to find a million barrels of reserves.

Using API reserves and F. H. Lahee wildeat completions, in the 5 prewar years
we drilled 4.9 wildeats to find a wmillion barrels of new reserves. -In the 3 price-
controlled yeiars of 194244 it required on an average of 11.3 wildeats to find a
million barrels of new reserves, or 214 times as many wells. However, the 3
price-controlled-yvear rate (1942—44) of 11.3 wells per millidn reserves is 4.7 times
greater than the 2.4 wells required to find a million barrels of reserves in 1937.

Revisions and extensions as reported by API reluted to development wells
(total completions less F. H. Lahee’s wildcat wells), indicate additional reserves
were developed 183741 at a million barrels to 121/» wells, In*942~44 we drilled
10.8 wells in developing a million barrels of oil, vet the industry was unable to
drill an average of 9,750 development wells each year.
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Exuamit G i
OPA Form 652-2223 Budget Bureau No. 08—R4509
(2-45) Approval expires July 31, 1945
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
OFFICE OF PRICE ADMINISTRATION
PETROLEUM DPrICE BRANCH
WASHINGTON, D. C.

CRUDE PETROLEUM PRODUCTION REPORT

Desr Sies: The Committee on Small Business of the House of Representatives
in the sixth interimn report of the committee recommended that the Office of Price
Admninisiration survey the current costs of producing crude petroleum. A smilar
recowmtuendation, coupled with a request for an increuse in ceiling prices, was
made by a nunber of erude oil producers. In accordance with these recommen-
dations the National Crude Oil Industry Advisory Committee, representative of
the various segments of the crude oil producing industry and of the oil producing
regions of the United States, was formed- for the purpose of advising and con-
sulting with the Office of Price Administration.

The Industry Comtnittee met with the Office of Price Administration and agreed
that the proposed survey should be made #s soon as possible. A subcommittee
was appointed from the general committee to assist in drafting the form to be
used in the collection of the data and to advise in the selection of the list of
producers to which the reports should be sent.

It'is the position of this Oflfice that it iz necessary to obtain data on earnings,
both currentdy and for prewar years. It is the position of the National Crude
Oil Ipdustry-Advisory Committee that the cost of replacing oil reserves should
be fully considered. The Industry Committee wishes, therefore, to obtain infor-
mation which will show expenditures made for finding and developing oil reserves.

This report form is being circulated in order to develop adequate data upon
which to base fair decisions. Your operation is one of u small sample of crude
oil producers, carefully selected as representiative of the industry. We concur
with the belief of your Industry Committee, therefore, that it is incumbent upon
F¥ou to cooperate in muking this study. We hope that every rccipient will return
this forin. Unless a sufficiently large percentage of the forms is refurned, we
shall not be able to use the information received as a basis for determining the
position of the industry as a whole. )

We shall, of course, treat all reported data as strictly confidential, and the
material obtained will be made available in over-all totals only so that the identity
of information from any reporting company will not be disclosed.

The Office of Price Administration welcomes this study as a means of obtaining
information on the current problems of the industry, and on any measures
which may be necessary for the effective prosecution of the war. We wish to
assure you that your cooperation will be appreciated not only by this Office but
also by the National Crude Qil Industry Advisory Committee,

Very truly yours,
Orviiie D. Jupp,
Associate Director, Fuel Price Division.

GENEEATL INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING SURVEY REPORT

1. Please fill out this form in full and return one cértified copy to the Office of
Price Administration, Petroleum Price Branch, YWashington 25, D. C., not later
than May 1, 1945, Two extra copies of the form are enclosed for your own use.
Additional copies may be secured upon request. The report should be type-
written ; however, where long carriage machines are not available, the report may
be written.

2, Thig report is fo cover only the net company working interest in leased and
other properties producing domestic crude petroleum. Submit but one report to
inelude your entire domestic production activities, regradless of the number of
puols or ficlds in which you operate. In case you have ownership in othern
producing corporations, submit data for your company only. Separate reports
on erude-oil producticn are being requested from subsidiaries and affiliates. 1f you
own a controlling interest (50 percent or more) in another company preducing
crude petroleum, we wish to obtain data from this company, Accordingly, if you
are pot advised in an accompanying letter that your subsidiary corporation is being
asked to report, kindly inform us and copies of this form will be mailed to your.
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subsidiary. Include for the periods-covered in this report, data on operations of
former subsidiaries or affiliates that have been absorbed by merger or otherwise.
Dry gas only wells and/or leases are not to be reported. All statistics, income,
costs, and assets relating to dry gas operationsg are to be execluded.

3. The information reported should cover all of your domestic production
operations by year for the years 1036 through 1944, except 1940. Producers
operating on a fisecal year ending July 31 or later should report in each column
the data for the fiscal year ended in the year called for by the columnar heading.
Those whose fiscal year ends earlier than July 31 should report in each column the
data for the fiscal year which ended in the calendar year immediately following
the year indicated in the columnar heading and should change the headings
accordingly. In the latter case, the figures for 1944 should cover as many months
of the fiseal year ending in 1945 as are available when the report is'prepared and
the number of months should be clearly indicated if less than 12, The month
and day on which the fiscal year ends, if other tban December 31, should be
inserted in the space provided in the headings.

4. Cents and fractions of barrels should be omitted.

5. Instructions for individual items of the report are on Page 4. All instructions
should be read carefully before filling out the report. Please communicate promptly
with the Office of Price Administration about any item or instruction which you
do not fully understand.

T4113—-45—pt. 3—10
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR INDIVIDUAL ITEMS IN REPORT

4. Well and engineering data.

The number of wells reported in this section should be adjusted to correspond
to the proportion of the net company working interest owned,

Line A-1: Insert here, for each period, in net company working interest propor-
tion, the yearly average of the number of oil and distillate wells produeing each
month.

Line A2 (¢) : Report here only the net company working interest oil reserves
expected to be recovered from wells completed during each period, as reported on
line A—2 (a). The estimated recoverable oil reserves should be based on latest
data available, applied retroactively. Exclude reserves estimated for undrilled
loecations, wells completed in previous years, and wells purchased.

Line A-5 (a): Report here all exploratory wells whether productive or dry
which are included in lines A~2 (a) and A-3 (a).

B. Production in barrels.

Line B-1: Report here the quantity of net company working inferest in
merchantable oil produce by the wells reported on line A-1, the operating ex-
pense of producing which oil is reported on line E-1.

C. Value of oil and other production income.

Line C-1: Report here the sales value of net company working interest oil
reported on line B-1. If the oil is processed in your own refinery, compute the
value at posted prices in effect when the oil was produced. If no posted price
was in effect for a given field, use “going” selling price to arrive at sales value of
company working interest oil produced in such field. Do not include on this
line any subsidies received or acerued. Do not deduct any production or sever-
ance taxes; these should be included in lines D-1 (a) and E-1.

Line C-2: Report here subsidies on oil included in Line B-1 sold after July
31, 1944,

Line C-3: Report here sales value at well of casinghead gas produced coinci-
dently with crude oil, where this gas was sold or transferred to gasoline plants
or elsewhere. If any such gas was consumed in producing oil or drilling wells
and was charged to operating or development costs, the resultant credits should be
included here.

Line C—4: Report here any other income strictly incidental to producing erude
oil, such as equipment rentals, sales of water or steam, etc.

D. Production, development, and finding costs.

The purchase price of properties which were producing when acquired and all
charges in amortization thereof shouald be excluded from this seection.

In the case of partnership or sole proprietorship, where no salaries are recorded
iun the accounting records for the services of the owners, include a reasonable esti-
mate of the value of the personal services actually rendered by such owners.

Lines D-1 (a), 2 (a), 3 (a), and 4 should in no case include any of the same
items of cost, as they represent four separate and distinet funetions.

Line D-1 (n) : Report here lifting costs and all other costs which are directly
applicable to the production and sale of oil, as distinguished from drilling of wells
and exploratory activity. Such costs include labor, field supervision, repair and
maintenance, fuel, power and water, small tools and supplies, bailing, shooting
and acidizing, cost of treating oil, teaming and trucking, insurance, faxes (in-
cluding production and ad valorem taxes, but not including Federal and State
income and excess-profits taxes), ete. Field supervision includes superin-
tendence, if any, and expense of maintaining a fleld office. Producers whose
accounting systems do not provide for charging productive properties directly
with items such as pay-roll taxes, workmen’s compensation insurance, pension-
plan costs, etc., should include such items through allocating on some appto-
priate basis. Where an operator performs work on the lease without direct
compensation, an estimated amount based on the prevailing wage for the class
of work done may be included in production costs.

Do not include depreciation, retivrement losses, or other charges in amortization
of equipment or facilities of the kind that would be included in “Development
cost’ reported on line D-2.

Line D2 (a) : Report here all expenditures or other costs (total cost without
regard to year incurred) for productive oil wells completed during year. Include
with respect to properties under development, cost of general lease or field equip-
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ment or facilities, input or service wells, pumping equipment or other installations
during year of completion, and of depreciation or usage charges on all company-
owned equipment used in drilling but not required for producing. Pay-roll taxes,
workmen’s compensation insurance, etc., related to productive drilling, also
should be included. The costs shown on this line should relate only to the wells
reported on lines A-2 (a) and A—4 and to the oil reserves reported on line A-2
(c¢). The reporting companies are not expected to make a detailed analysis of
their investment account to obtain figures reported on line D-2 (a) but may use
book figures as reflected by control accounts or other records covering develop-
ment, provided such figures will be reasonably accurate in reflecting the total
cost, exclusive of finding costs, of all producing weils completed during the period.

Line D-3 (a) : Report here all expenditures each year which relate to finding
oil, whether capitalized or expensed. Include depreciation (but exclude cost)
of equipment used in geophysical or other exploratory work. Include deprecia-
tion or usage charges on all company-owned drilling equipment used in drilling
dry holes. Insofar as practicable include pay-roll taxes, workmen's compensa-
tion insurance, and other expenses directly related to exploratory work.

Line D-4: After directly allocating, insofar as such direct allocation is prae-
ticable, expenses and charges to producing, development, and finding costs as
reported on lines D-1 (a), D-2 (a), and D-3 (a), report here the remainder
of all general company overhead of the crude-oil production department. In-
clude salaries and office eXpenses (including district or division offices if any),
depreciation of furniture and fixtures and other general equipment, general
taxes such as capital stock, franchise, etc. Do not include interest or State and
Federal income and excess-profits taxes.

E. Produciion e2Zpense

In this section should be reported for each period all amounts relating di-
rectly to operating expenses, development, and finding of ofl which have been
charged to profit and loss on the operator’s corporate or general books of account,
with the following exception: :

i. All interest and financing expenses, gaing or losses in securities, ete, and
State and Federal taxes on income and excess profits should be excluded;

ii. Any large amounts charged or credited to profit and loss applicable to prior
years should be reported if practicable under the years to which they are proper-
1y applicable; '

iii. Debits or eredits made to surplus or capital accounts or reserves estab-
lished from surplus, applicable to items called for in this section, should be
included to the extent that they relate to the reporting periods called for.

iv. If your general accounts show depletion or amwortization of emergency
facilities other than on the basis of actual, sustained cost, the amounts reported
herein should be adjusted to reflect actual cost.

Xixpenses and charges in this section should be reported as closely as possible
in accordance with the classifieation requested; but to the extent that such
break-down is not readily available, items may be grouped and totals shown, No
amounts should be duplicated by being reported on more than one line.

Line E-1: Report here all direct operating costs of lifting oil, such as labor,
field supervision, repairs and maintenance, fuel, power and water, small tools and
supplies, cleaning out (bailing, shooting, and acidizing), cost of treating oil, team-
ing and trucking, insurance, taxes (including production and ad valorem taxes),
ete. Field supervision includes superintendence, if any, and expense of maintain-
ing a field office. Operating costs should include all expenses and charges inei-
dental to the operation of wells, such us pay-roll taxes, workmen’s compensation
insurance, pension-plan costs, ete. Where an operator performs work.on the
lease without direct compensation, an estimated amount based on the prevailing
wage for the class of work done may be included in operating costs.

Line E-2: Report here all expenses relating to the exploration for new oil re-
serves which were charged off during each period, including dry-hole losses, dry-
hole contributions, and undeveloped leases abandoned. ,

Line E-3: Include here general salaries and office expenses (including district
or division offices, if any). If engaged in activities other than the production of
oll, include under this heading that portion of general and administrative expense,
including insurance and general taxes, allocated to the crude-oil-production de-
partment. Also report here any portion of your engineering,. geological and
geophysieal, land and lease department expenses, and lease reantals, which was
not included in line E-2 or charged to fixed assets. Do not include interest or
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other nonoperating expenses or State and Federal income and excess-profits taxes.
In the case of partnerships or sole proprietorships, where no salaries are recorded,
in the accounting records for the services of the owners include a reasonable esti-
mate of the value of the general services rendered.

Line B—4: Report here for each period the amounts chargeable to depletion on
the basis of actual, sustained cost. The depletion charge may be calculated as
follows: For each period, divide the number of barrels produced by the recover-
able reserves; apply this ratio to the unamortized general ledger balance of actual
land and leasehold costs after dedueting any residual land values. Write-offs of
unamortized land and lease costs of developed properties abandoned should also
be inclued in this line.

Line F-5: Report here for each period the amounts chargeable to depreciation
of tangible producing plant and equipment such as derricks, casing, tubing, rods,
pipe and fitting tanks, buildings, ete. Compute depreciation on the basis of actual
cost, less salvage value, spread over the estimated useful service life of the prop-
erty. Also include here charges made for losses on tangible equipment on devel-
oped properties abandoned.

Line E-6: Report here for cach period amounts charged off covering intangible
drilling and development costs of productive wells. If it has been your practice
to capitalize these costs, report amortization, computed on the basis of actual cost,
on line B~6 (a). If these costs have not been capitalized report expenditures for
this purpose on line -6 (b).

G. Officers’ and owners’ compensation

Line G—1: Report here all compensation to officers or owners which was included
directly in expenses reported in section B.

Line G-2: Report here compensation, if any, to officers or owners which was
charged to fixed assets.

H. Crude oil production assels

Report here fixed assets, inventories, and related reserves devoted exclusively fo
domestic produetion of crude oil, as carried on your corporate or general books
of account as of the close of each period. Where intangible drilling and develop-
ment costs have not been capitallzed, the total of such amounts expended ou all
properties productive at the end of each period should be included in both lines
H-1 (¢) and H-4 (¢), if sach amounts can be appreximated with reasonable
accuracy from records readily available, The assets reported should be those used
in relation to all operations in other sections of this report. Assets of former
subsidiaries or affiliates that have been absorbed should be included for the periods
prior to such abserption.
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